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I

INTRODUCTION

Whistleblowers have uncovered a potential fraud at Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. ("Catalyst"
or the "Firm"), a $6 billion private equity firm and the publicly traded Callidus Capital Corporation
("Callidus").' With one individual, Newton Glassman ("Glassman"), firmly at the helm, it appears
that Catalyst is using various related parties under Glassman's control — including Callidus, a company
traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange — to artificially inflate the valuation of Catalyst's and Callidus's
investments, thereby enabling them to report exemplary, but false, returns.'
Catalyst purportedly generates its returns through loans to troubled companies.' Catalyst
employs a distressed lending strategy whereby the Firm and/or other related entities take a debt stake
in its debtors'business when those companies inevitably fall into distress or bankruptcy.' That control,
in turn, allows Glassman to play a shell game with the impaired assets, presenting a facade to investors
that the financial condition of the Glassman-controlled entities is strong when, in fact, often the
opposite is true.'
To perpetuate the scheme, Glassman also uses publicly-traded Callidus, which is majorityowned by various Catalyst funds.' Callidus acts as a lender to many of the struggling companies that
ultimately become overvalued assets on Catalyst's books.' The scheme is relatively simple: Callidus
loans money to distressed companies under terms that allow Callidus to have significant control over

See Press Release, The Catalyst Capital Group Receives 2017 Cross Border Turnaround ofthe Year A2vardfrom the Global
M&A Network,for Pacific E&P Restructuring(Mar. 17, 2017)(Ex. 1); Catalyst Capital Group Inc., Form ADV — Part I
(Mar. 27, 2017), available at
https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/IAPD/content/ViewForm/crd_iapd_stream_pdfaspx?ORG_PK=155299 (Ex. 2); Catalyst
Fund Limited Partnership IV,Pitchbook, at 3-4 (Ex. 3).
2
See Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV,Pitchbook, at 3-4 (Ex. 3); Callidus Capital, Annual Report (2015), at
9(Ex. 4).
3
See Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV,Pitchbook, at 3(Ex. 3).
4
See infra Section N.B.
5
See infra Sections IV.B-C.
6
See Callidus Capital, Annual Report (2016), at 17-18 (Ex. 5).
7
See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6);
Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28-29 (Ex. 7).

1
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the debtor companies.' Once they fall(or are forced)into bankruptcy, Callidus acquires the companies
or their assets and then reports artificially high valuations for those companies.' When the positions
sour even further, Glassman either: (1) causes Catalyst to purchase the companies (or their assets); or
(2) orchestrates a transaction to move the distressed positions from one Catalyst-controlled company
to another.1° Glassman's corporate tag team process allows Catalyst and the other companies under
Glassman's control:(1) to overvalue distressed assets;(2) to avoid/delay losses; and (3) to misrepresent
the true financial condition of the entities involved in Glassman's fraudulent enterprise."
In some cases, the misrepresentations are blatant. For example,in early 2016 Callidus reported
to investors that Catalyst funds had acquired an impaired Callidus position for $101.3 million, while
Catalyst simultaneously told its investors that the same investment cost only $54 million.12 Obviously,
one of those representations is false.
This submission details Glassman's scheme as well as several additional red flags of fraud that
Whistleblowers have uncovered, most prominently the alarming conflicts of interest between and
among the Glassman-controlled entities."

Whistleblowers submit that regulators must closely

examine the business activities of Glassman, Catalyst, Callidus and all other Glassman-controlled
entities to limit losses from what appears to be a massive and ongoing fraud.

8

See Callidus Capital, Annual Report (2014), at 8 (Ex. 8).
See Callidus Capital Corp., Annual Report(2014), at 68 (Ex. 8); Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special
Meeting of Shareholders (May 17,2016), at 19 (Ex. 6).
10
See infra Sections IV.B-C.
11
See infra Sections IV.B-C.
12
See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6);
Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28-29 (Ex. 7).
13
See infra Section IV.C.

9
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II.

WHISTLEBLOWER BACKGROUND14

Nathan Anderson, CFA,CAIA: Mr. Anderson is the CEO of ClaritySpring, a company that
manages hedge fund and private equity fund due diligence for its investors clients. In that capacity,
Mr. Anderson oversees the company's strategy and operations. Prior to founding ClaritySpring, Mr.
Anderson served as Alternatives Director at Tangent Capital, a New York City boutique bank, where
he managed due diligence and was responsible for hedge fund and private equity research and capitalraising. He began his career at FactSet Research Systems, a multinational financial technology firm
that worked with institutional investors, portfolio managers, and investment banks to streamline their
investment processes. Mr. Anderson earned his Bachelor in Business Administration from the
University of Connecticut and has since earned the right to use the CFA and CAIA designations. He
is also a holder of the Series 7, 79, 82, 24 and 63 securities licenses.
Mr. Anderson has submitted several tips to the SEC concerning fraudulent hedge funds,
including one concerning a suspected multi-billion fraud that has resulted in the initiation of civil
proceedings by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and criminal proceedings by
the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ"), another that has resulted in the filing and trial of an SEC
administrative action (in which he was deposed), as well as others that are currently being investigated
by the SEC, DOJ, the Internal Revenue Service, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
("CFTC"), and/or the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI").
This submission is based, in part, on Mr. Anderson's detailed investigation, which included a
review of the financial statements of Catalyst and other Glassman-controlled entities, as well as
information from numerous sources developed by Whistleblowers, including: (1) former employees
and senior executives of Catalyst and Callidus; (2) Catalyst investors; (3) Catalyst counterparties; and

14

An additional Whistleblower is involved in this case but wishes to remain anonymous at this time.

3
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(4) members of Canada's financial services sector with knowledge of Catalyst, Glassman and other
principals at the Glassman-controlled entities.
III.

FIRM BACKGROUND

BACKGROUND ON CATALYST

A.

Catalyst is a private equity firm that invests in distressed, undervalued and under-performing
companies in the Canadian and U.S. markets.' Glassman serves as Catalyst's Managing Partner and
is the sole indirect shareholder of the voting securities of Catalyst!' Catalyst's other main principals
are Gabriel de Alba, Catalyst's Managing Director and Partner, and Jim Riley, Catalyst's Chief
Operating Officer and Partner!'
Catalyst manages five main private equity funds:
o

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership I ("Catalyst I"), a vintage 2002 fund that raised $186
million.'

o

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership II("Catalyst II"), a vintage 2006 fund that raised $635
million, along with Catalyst Fund II Parallel Limited Partnership ("Catalyst Parallel
II"), a vintage 2008 fund that invests alongside Catalyst II.19

e

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership III ("Catalyst III"), a vintage 2011 fund that raised
roughly $1 billion.'

• Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV ("Catalyst IV"), a vintage 2013 fund that raised
roughly $1 billion, and Catalyst Fund IV Parallel Limited Partnership ("Catalyst
Parallel IV"), a fund that invests alongside Catalyst IV.21

See Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV,Pitchbook,at 3(Ex.3); Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual
Meeting (2016), at 25 (Ex. 7).
16
See Catalyst Capital Group Inc., Form ADV — Part I (Mar. 27, 2017), at 35, available at
https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/IAPD/content/ViewForm/crd_iapd_stream_pdfaspx?ORG_PK=155299 (Ex. 2); OSC
41-42),
available
at
2.1.4
(Pg.
at
Section
Issue
51,
Volume
35,
Bulletin,
http://www.osc.gov.on.ca/documents/en/Securities-OSCB/oscb_20121220_3551.pdf(Ex. 9).
17
See Catalyst Capital Group Inc., Form ADV — Part I (Mar. 27, 2017), at 35, available at
haps://adviserinfo.sec.gov/IAPD/content/ViewForm/crd_iapd_stream_pdf.aspx?ORG_PK=155299(Ex. 2).
18
See Catalyst Capital Group, Preqin Profile (Prepared on Feb. 28, 2017)(Ex. 10).
19
See id; Catalyst Fund II Parallel Limited Partnership, Audit(Period from June 13, 2008 — Dec. 31,2008), at 6(Ex.
11).
20
See Catalyst Capital Group, Preqin Profile (Prepared on Feb. 28, 2017)(Ex. 10).
21
See id.; University of Michigan Regents Communication — Alternative Asset Commitments(Nov. 2014)(Ex. 12).
15

4
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Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership V ("Catalyst V"), a vintage 2015 fund that raised $1.5
billion.22
Catalyst's clients include some of the largest institutional private equity investors in Canada
and the United States, including: (1) McGill University;(2) Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada;
(3) the University of Toronto; (4) the Arizona State Retirement System; (5) the Montana Board of
Investments; (6) Harvard Management Private Equity; (7) Alaska Permanent Fund Corp.; and (8)
Morgan Stanley AIP.23 Catalyst has obtained that "top-tier" investor base, in part, because its funds,
especially Catalyst I, claim excellent performance results.' In May 2015, The WallStreetJournalreported
that "Catalyst boasts the second-most consistent performance record among distressed-debt funds
globally, . . . after Cerberus."25 Similarly, a profile of Glassman in Financial Post Magc4ne trumpeted
Catalyst's success and near-perfect record:
The average annual return of Catalyst's three funds is a robust 46%, and its distressfor-control funds are currently top international performers: The Catalyst Fund
General Partner II and III, according to independent research firm Preqin, are the
best-performing funds on a risk-adjusted basis. Since its inception, Catalyst has
completed 50 transactions — and made money in 47 of those deals.26
According to Whistleblowers' calculations, Catalyst I generated a 32.36% internal rate of return
("IRR") and distributed 2.03x the original paid-in capital, purportedly doubling investors' capital over
a short timeframe.27 After Catalyst I, each subsequent fund failed to reach Catalyst I's performance.
Specifically, Catalyst Fund II, Catalyst Fund III and Catalyst Fund IV had Internal Rates of Return of

22

See Catalyst Capital Group, Preqin Profile (Prepared on Feb. 28, 2017)(Ex. 10).
See Catalyst Fund II, Preqin Profile (Ex. 13); Catalyst Fund III, Preqin Profile (Ex. 14); Catalyst Fund IV,Preqin
Profile (Ex. 15); Catalyst Fund V,Preqin Profile (Ex. 16).
24
See Catalyst IV, Pitchbook, at 3(Ex. 3).
25
See Ben Dummett and Elena Cherney,Manager Feels Heat on IPO,The Wall Street Journal(May 11,2015), available
at https://www.wsj.com/articles/manager-feels-heat-on-ipo-1431386833 (Ex. 17); Callidus Capital, Annual Report
(2014), at 72(Ex. 8).
26
See Theresa Tedesco, The fixer, Financial Post Magazine (Sept. 13, 2011), available at
http://business.financialpost.com/finandal-post-magazine/the-fixer (Ex. 18).
27
See Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV,Pitchbook, at 20(Ex. 3).
23

5
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12.5%,9.6% and 11.1%,respectively, as of September 30, 2016.28 Whistleblowers' analysis, presented
herein, makes clear that those numbers are highly likely to be fictional.
B.

BACKGROUND ON CALLIDUS
Callidus was established in 2003 and went public in April 2014.29 Callidus, which now trades

on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE: CBL), currently has a market capitalization of approximately
$700 million.' As of December 31, 2016, Catalyst owned approximately 66.7% of Callidus's shares
outstanding.31
Callidus purports to "specializefl in innovative and creative financing solutions for companies
that are unable to obtain adequate financing from conventional lending institutions."32 As of
December 31, 2015, Callidus's loan portfolio allegedly consisted of 39 loans with an aggregate Gross
Loans Receivable amount outstanding of $1.221 billion.33 Like Catalyst, Callidus has a history of
purported successes. The Wall StreetJournal reported that "[t]he size of Callidus's loan book has more
than doubled in each year since 2012" and that "Callidus said it hasn't realized any losses on the
principal ofloans it has originated between 2011 and 2014, and that Catalyst guarantees to cover losses
incurred by Callidus on loans with the highest risk of default."'
Glassman unquestionably controls Callidus, serving as its Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer.' Notably, Callidus shares other senior management with Catalyst,including Riley, who serves

28

See The Catalyst Capital Group, Preqin Profile (Ex. 10).
See Ben Dummett, Callidus Capital IPO Raises 43% More Than Minimum Target, The Wall Street Journal (Apr. 14,
2014), available at h ttps://www.wsj.com/articles/callidus-capital-ipo-raises-43-above-minimum-target-1397500795 (Ex.
19).
30
See
Callidus
Capital Profile, Bloomberg (last
accessed
May
8, 2017), available
at
https://www.bloomberg.com/quote/CBL:CN (Ex. 20).
31
See Callidus Capital Corp., Annual Report(2016), at 17 (Ex. 5).
32
See Callidus Capital Corp., Annual Report(2015), at 73(Ex. 4).
33
See id., at 2.
34
See Ben Dummett and Elena Cherney,Manager Feels Heat on IPO,The Wall Street Journal(May 11, 2015), available
at https://www.wsj.com/articles/manager-feels-heat-on-ipo-1431386833 (Ex. 17).
35
See Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV,Pitchbook, at 4(Ex. 3).
29

6
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as Callidus's Secretary.' The following chart illustrates the web that Glassman has woven between
Catalyst and Callidus, allowing him to use the two entities as the anchors for his fraudulent scheme:37

CATALYST CAPITAL GROUP,INC.

C,ARRIE I DE AI RA
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IV.

ANALYSIS OF THE ALLEGED FRAUD

A. NUMEROUS FORMER CATALYST/CALLIDUS EMPLOYEES ARE LIKELY TO
WHAT
CORROBORATING
MUCH
OF
POSSESS
INFORMATION
WHISTLEBLOWERS HAVE UNCOVERED
This submission details the information that Whistleblowers have uncovered to date regarding
the fraud they believe Glassman to be perpetrating at Catalyst and Callidus. But regulators need not
rely solely on their analysis of the potential fraud. Several former Catalyst/Callidus employees with
whom Whistleblowers have spoken — including several high-ranking employees — have confirmed
their theories regarding Glassman's misrepresentations. For example, Chester Dawes ("Dawes"),
Catalyst's CFO and Treasurer from April 2009-September 2016, confirmed to Whistleblowers that

36
See Callidus Capital Corp., Q2 2016 Earnings Call (Aug. 12, 2016), at 2 (Ex. 21); Catalyst Capital Group, Inc.,
Form
ADV
—
Part
I
(Mar.
at
available
at
27,
2017),
35,
https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/IAPD/content/ViewForm/crd_iapd_stream_pdf.aspx?ORG_PK=155299 (Ex. 2).
37
See Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV, Pitchbook, at 4(Ex. 3); Callidus Capital Corp., Q2 2016 Earnings
Call(Aug. 12, 2016), at 2(Ex. 21); Callidus Capital, Annual Report(2016), at 17-18, 20(Ex. 5).

7
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Glassman is likely to have knowingly misrepresented the valuation of a material portion of Catalyst's
positions.' Numerous other employees who have spoken to Whistleblowers on condition of
anonymity have expressed similar sentiments.' Finally, one former Catalyst/Callidus executive (who
declined to divulge specifics) indicated that regulators would have a productive conversation with Ann
Davis ("Davis"), a former KPMG auditor who worked on the Catalyst/Callidus engagement for years
before becoming the chair of Callidus's audit and risk committee until 2016.' Significantly, the former
executive noted that Davis left Callidus for professional differences, rather than for personal reasons.
All told, there appears to be a wealth of corroborative information available for the asking
from former Glassman associates about the activities taking place at Calalyst, Callidus, and other
Glassman-controlled entities.
B. GLASSMAN IS USING CATALYST-CONTROLLED ENTITIES AS PART OF A
CORPORATE SHELL GAME TO MISLEAD INVESTORS AS TO THE VALUE OF
THE COMPANIES IN HIS FRAUDULENT ENTERPRISE
Whistleblowers have discovered that Glassman employs a pattern of using numerous Catalystcontrolled entities to help Catalyst underreport losses and/or transfer and obfuscate asset
impairments. That shell game succeeds because loan agreements between Catalyst and Callidus allow
Glassman to shift assets between the two entities.' According to Callidus's presentation, which
explains the relationship between Callidus and Catalyst, Callidus has the "[e]xclusive right to acquire
current and future Catalyst Funds' loan participation interests at par" and Catalyst provides a

See Chester Dawes, Linkedin (last accessed Apr. 24, 2017), available at
https://www.linkedin.com/in/chesterdawes/(Ex. 22).
39
Whistleblowers may be able to provide regulators with names of some or all of those individuals at a later date if
they are able to obtain permission to disclose their names.
40
See Callidus Capital, Annual Report(2014), at 17 (Ex. 8). Notably, Callidus does not list Davis's previous role as
Catalyst's auditor in her Callidus biography. See id. That omission is suspect in light of the intertwined relationship
between Catalyst and Callidus, the potential conflict of interest and "revolving door" nature of Davis's hiring. See id.;
Catalyst Fund III, Due Diligence Questionnaire (Ex. 8), at 3(Ex. 23).
41
Capital Corp., Investor Presentation (Nov. 2015), at 16, available at
See Callidus
http://www.calliduscapital.ca/download/Q3+2015+Earnings+Presentation.pdf(Ex. 24).
38
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"[p]rincipal guarantee on all participation interest amounts acquired from Catalyst Funds."' In other
words, Glassman gives himself the right to cause Callidus to purchase assets from Catalyst at par,
while Catalyst guarantees Callidus against losses by agreeing to purchase any asset for no less than
Callidus's original investment, regardless of impairment status.'
As the following examples demonstrate, the inappropriate relationship between Catalyst and
Callidus (and other related parties) allows Glassman to cause Callidus to report consistently positive
returns, while shuttling attendant risks to Catalyst, where those losses are ultimately buried through
inflated valuations.' The end result is that Catalyst's investors are unaware of the true value of its
funds' portfolios, while Callidus's investors are likewise oblivious to the ticking time bomb of
fraudulent loss transfers that props up the value of their publicly traded stock.
1

Xchange Technology Group,LLC
Xchange Technology Group, LLC ("Xchange") is an international distributor of computer

equipment.' The story of Catalyst's involvement with Xchange began when Glassman caused
Callidus to advance a $22 million loan to Xchange in October 2012.46 Just a year later, Callidus
allegedly forced Xchange into receivership.' Only three groups submitted a bid for Xchange in
receivership, with Catalyst being the successful bidder at $35 million — more than double the next
highest bid of 17 million.' That acquisition, which was subject to regulatory approvals, was supposed
to close in December 2013.49 Although all regulatory approvals were obtained on time, the transaction

42

See id.
See id. Callidus has hired PwC to "review" its valuations and employs KPMG as its auditor. See id., at 25. Callidus
still heavily controls the valuation process because Catalyst's positions are all private and illiquid. See Catalyst Fund Limited
Partnership IV, Pitchbook, at 19-21 (Ex. 3).
44
See iqfra Sections IV.B-C.
45
See Hilco Appraisal Services, LLC, Evaluation and Appraisal of Xchange Technology Group Gan. 8, 2013), at 3
(Ex. 25).
46
See Xchange Technology Group LLC and Callidus, Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (Oct. 2012)(Ex.
26).
47
See Initial Report of Receiver of Xchange Technology Group (Oct. 25, 2013), at 1 (Ex. 27).
48
See id., at 15, 18.
49
See Second Report of the Receiver of Xchange Technology Group (Dec. 12, 2013), at 4-5 (Ex. 28).
43
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did not close until January 2, 2015.' Significantly, during the period between bid and close, Xchange
lost key customers and employees and accrued substantial additional losses.'

According to

Whistleblowers' analysis, Xchange lost so much value during that waiting period that it could not
possibly have been worth more after the receivership sale closed than before.
Yet that is exactly what Glassman expected investors to believe. For example, Callidus
inexplicably reported Xchange's "carry value" at $60.184 million in 2014 — more than 70% higher than
the inflated price Callidus paid for the company in bankruptcy (which,in and of itself, was more than
twice as much as anyone else was willing to pay).52 Xchange's deteriorating financial condition
subsequent to Callidus's winning bid — a fact that Glassman failed to disclose to investors — further
erodes the credibility of Callidus's baseless valuation of that position.'
The next step in the fraud is truly astonishing in its brazenness. In early 2016, Callidus forced
Catalyst to purchase Xchange from Callidus through the "Catalyst Guarantee.' By that time, the
total cost of the loan — principal and interest — had ballooned to $101.3 million:
In March 2016... the Company required payment by the Catalyst Funds of a guarantee
. . . in an amount equal to the total outstanding principal plus accrued and unpaid
interest of $101.3 million. The Catalyst Funds acquired the assets in question for an
amount equal to the guarantee and are now the owners of the business[.]55

See id., at 4-6; Receiver's Certificate of the Receiver of Xchange Technology Group (Jan. 2, 2015)(Ex. 29).
Based on Whistleblowers' conversation with a former Xchange senior executive, Xchange was distressed prior
to the bankruptcy and it continued to deteriorate as it remained in receivership.
52
See Callidus Capital, Annual Report (2014), at 68 (Ex. 8); Receiver's Certificate of the Receiver of Xchange
Technology Group (Jan. 2, 2015)(Ex. 29); Initial Report of Receiver of Xchange Technology Group (Oct. 25, 2013), at
15, 18(Ex. 28). Whistleblowers believe that the company referenced in the annual report is Xchange. See Callidus Capital,
Annual Report (2014), at 68 (Ex. 8). Notably, the materiality of the Xchange position is not in doubt, as it comprised
approximately 10% of Callidus's loan portfolio at the time of its April 2014 IPO. See Ben Dummett and Elena Cherney,
Manager Feels Heat on IPO, The Wall Street Journal (May 11, 2015), available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/managerfeels-heat-on-ipo-1431386833 (Ex. 17).
53
See Callidus, Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Period Ending Mar. 31, 2014) (Ex. 30); Callidus,
Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Period Ending June 30, 2014) (Ex. 31); Callidus, Consolidated Interim
Financial Statements (Period Ending Sept. 30, 2014)(Ex. 32); Callidus Capital, Annual Report(2014), at 68 (Ex. 8).
54
See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19(Ex. 6).
55
See id. Whistleblowers believe that the Xchange Technology amount included interest, which accounted for the
amount larger than the recorded principal. See Callidus v. McFarlane, No. CV-15-11163-00CL, Letter to Justice Newbould
(Ex. 33).
50
51
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Notably, despite language indicating that Catalyst's guarantee only covers the principal of Callidus's
loans — which in the case of Xchange was only $22 million — Catalyst purportedly purchased the
Xchange loan for both principal and interest, an amount nearly five times greater than apparently
required and much more than the impaired asset was worth.' Thus, by purportedly making Callidus
whole on the troubled Xchange deal, that transaction artificially inflated Callidus's earnings by
dumping the interest and loan impairments onto Catalyst's books.'
Yet that was not the end of the fraudulent manipulations in Glassman's scheme. There were
additional misrepresentations at Catalyst. After being acquired by Catalyst, while Xchange managed
to limp along as a "going concern," its financial condition significantly deteriorated.' Indeed, an exemployee's February 2016 review on Glassdoor described Xchange as a company "hemorrhaging
money" with little chance for survival.' Based on Whistleblowers' review of available documentation,
Glassman failed to write down the Xchange position until December 2016, when Catalyst revalued
the Xchange position to an unrealized total value of $9,398,000 — representing a $91,902,000 loss to
Catalyst investors.'
The deception continues to this day,however,as Catalyst is still misleading investors and vastly
underreporting the Xchange loss.61 In direct contradiction to Callidus's public statement that Catalyst
came through on its guarantee and assumed the Xchange loan/portfolio for $101.3 million, the

56

See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting ofShareholders(May 17,2016), at 19(Ex. 6); Callidus
2015),
at
16
available
at
Capital
Corp.,
Investor
Presentation
(Nov.
http://www.calliduscapital.ca/download/Q3+2015+Earnings+Presentation.pdf (Ex. 24); Xchange Technology Group
LLC and Callidus, Amended and Restated Loan Agreement(Oct. 2012)(Ex. 26).
57
See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6);
Delaware UCC Filings Obtained by Whistleblower, at 26 (Ex. 34). Delaware Uniform Commercial Code("UCC") filings
show that Catalyst — via Catalyst Fund III and Catalyst Fund IV — obtained the Xchange loans from Callidus in June 2016.
See id.
58
Based on Whistleblower's conversation with a former Xchange executive.
59
See Xchange Technology Group Reviews, Glassdoor (last accessed Apr. 20, 2017), available at
https.//www.glassdoor.com/Reviews/Xchange-Technology-Group-Reviews-E829454.htrn (Ex. 35).
60
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016),at 28-29 (showing Xchange's unrealized value
of $3,132,667 from Catalyst III and $6,265,333 from Catalyst IV)(Ex. 7).
61
See id.
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following chart from Catalyst III and Catalyst IV investor materials stated that those funds had
"committed" only $60 million and "invested" only $54,828,711, as show below.'
Date at
leftist

Fund III in US$
ri.od

Tatar
taptvl

'age! gmateleu-d"

3.049
1
SW*
1. .i4
Ider-14
ealedu

Ordeal'
Substantial

Apr-14
trat
1114
WA

2940301120

Tout
Capital
betide]"f

197.3Z1,399
'41

.7 ,:,-.1 t 1: ..S.'77.7'•,..:' • ..'•

404.

975.730.207

231,i171 016
37

Pate,4
Sub tI r:1

Total
Capital

244,601,701

676.4.;

Tour
Tolle
CapiROOM

Tat
MritMr

nisadati

MuHlpla
9rSfig.

i.Sx
214
1 3i
Q4xl
1.4x

Maelple
clew

IV.PP

,._:awn'.17

derk
xc
ChiraJa•.

231001 t • 5

Tata

20.044400

COWainie

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV

theaeltrad
tAltl

134':ee

awn Total

Pus of
Mid

total
Deallarel
ancisrei

Jun-12
dr3
,
3t
te..,.14
filar-16

Aar 14
NIA
WA
MrA

201,tni 4011

2I

203.1919,D2
37
27: 193

1

7t3

230,44,232

+ Taut

203,190,912
1217 _ ^;:e)

554,, n,1Ia3

1.1x
1.ar
1.1x
031.
to%

The duplicity is striking. On one hand, Callidus reported to public shareholders that Catalyst
acquired the Xchange loan for $101.3 million, covering both principal and interest and allowing
Callidus to write off the impairment associated with Xchange." On the other hand, Catalyst reported
to its investors that it purchased Xchange's loan for at most $60 million — more than 40% less than it
would have to have paid if Callidus's financial statements are to be believed.' So Glassman's shell
game allowed Callidus to report a wildly successful loan transaction (that at one time accounted for
10% ofits entire portfolio), while Catalyst assumed,delayed recognizing, and massively underreported
associated losses.' In reality, somewhere north of $45 million is missing and either Callidus's or
Catalyst's representations to investors about the whereabouts of those funds is false.66

62
See id.(showing total capital invested in Xchange at $18,276,237 from Catalyst III and $36,552,474 from Catalyst
IV); Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6).
63
See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6).
64
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28-29 (Ex. 7); Callidus, Notice of Annual
General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6).
65
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28-29 (Ex. 7); Callidus, Notice of Annual
General and Special Meeting of Shareholders (May 17, 2016), at 19 (Ex. 6); Ben Dummett and Elena Cherney,Manager
Feels Heat on IPO, The Wall Streetjournal(May 11, 2015), available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/manager-feels-heaton-ipo-1431386833 (Ex. 17).
66
Based on Whistleblowers' conversations with former senior management at Xchange, the participation
agreement entered concerning Xchange involved only Catalyst Funds III and IV. That is consistent with the Delaware
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2. Bluberi Group, Inc.
Bluberi Group Inc.("Bluberi") is another example of Glassman's game of"hide the impaired
asset."
Bluberi is a technology company specializing in the casino gaming business, conceptualizing
and developing games,gaming machines, and management systems for gambling operations.' Since
its founding in 2012, Bluberi has operated as a "full-service manufacturer, distributor, installer, and
servicer of electronic gaming machines."' In 2012, Bluberi's CEO, Gerald Duhamel ("Duhamel"),
approached Callidus about funding Bluberi's growth plan.' Bluberi detailed a business plan that
projected an increase of$25 million in EBITDA and Bluberi's deployment of 3,300 gaming machines
by May 2013.7° Callidus provided Bluberi with a credit line of $24 million as of November 2012,
securing the loan with a lien of $30 million.'
Thus began a yearly pattern of Callidus purportedly increasing Bluberi's credit line/lien at the
same time as the company's financial circumstances steadily — and obviously — deteriorated. A
summary of those events is as follows:
2013
a

Callidus's Credit Line Increase: On April 16, 2013, Callidus increased Bluberi's original line
to $30 million and lien to $37 million.72
o Bluberi's Increasing Financial Difficulties: Bluberi had a cash burn rate that was higher
than Callidus expected.' In addition, after originally projecting the deployment of 3,300
machines by May 2013, as of December 2013 Bluberi had only deployed 324 machines.'

U.C.C. filings showing that the Xchange loans were transferred to Catalyst III and Catalyst IV. See Delaware UCC Filings,
at 26 (Ex. 34). Thus, Catalyst cannot claim that an additional $45 million came from other Glassman-controlled entities.
67
See Bluberi, Ninth Report of the Monitor (Oct. 25, 2016), at 7(Ex. 36).
68
See id.
69
See In the Matter of Bluberi Gaming Technologies, et al., Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of
Montreal)(Nov. 16, 2015), at 7(Ex. 37).
70
See id.
71
See id., at 3-4.
72
See id., at 4.
73
See id., at 7.
74
See id.
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Furthermore,Bluberi's EBITDA for 2013 was a woeful -$2,590, which fell more than $25
million short of projections.' Indeed, by year end 2013 Bluberi's balance sheet showed
$21,215,301 in total assets, indicating that Callidus's investment in Bluberi was
unquestionably impaired at that time due to a lack of collateral.'
2014
• Callidus's Credit Line Increase: In June 2014 Callidus increased Bluberi's credit line to $54
million (with a lien of $65 million).77
o Bluberi's Increasing Financial Difficulties: By year-end 2014, Bluberi had only about $27.7
million in total assets.'
2015
• Callidus's Credit Line Increase: In June 2015 Callidus increased Bluberi's credit line to $83
million, with a lien of $100 million.'
o Bluberi's Increasing Financial Difficulties: Phil Sherwood, Bluberi's Chief Operating
Officer, stated in August 2015 that Bluberi was not receiving reorders and had
underperformed competitors' machines that were located in the same casinos.' Later in
2015, Callidus and CEO Duhamel had major disagreements that caused severe business
disruptions.' Then, on November 3, 2015, Duhamel dismissed almost his entire staff."
The following day, Bluberi's sole hardware supplier, Cole Kepro International, LLC
("Cole"), attempted to collect on Bluberi's debts by legally entering Bluberi's warehouse
and seizing the unpaid hardware — which in itself shows that Callidus's "lien" was second
in line at best with respect to those assets." On November 12, 2015,Bluberi commenced
insolvency proceedings in Canada, with $54,000 cash in its bank account.' According to
Bluberi's court filings, Bluberi's customers slowed or halted orders because of the
uncertainty around Bluberi's operations, the company's ability to service the machines,
75

See id.
See Bluberi, Summary of FY2016 and FY2017 Financial Projections, at 2(Ex. 38).
77
See In the Matter ofBluberi Gaming Technologies, et al, Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of
Montreal)(Nov. 16, 2015), at 4-5 (Ex. 37).
78
See Bluberi, Summary of FY2016 and FY2017 Financial Projections, at 2(Ex. 38).
79
See In the Matter ofBluberi Gaming Technologies, et al., Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of
Montreal)(Nov. 16, 2015), at 5 (Ex. 37); Bluberi Group, Consolidated Balance Sheet(June — August 2015)(Ex. 39).
80
See In the Matter of Bluberi Gaming Technologies, et al., Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of
Montreal)(Nov. 16, 2015), at 9(Ex. 37).
81
See id., at 11.
82
See id., at 15.
83
See Bluberi, Eighth Report of the Monitor (Oct. 7, 2016), at 7 (Ex. 40).
84
See Bluberi,Initial Report of the Monitor(Nov. 16,2015),at 4,7(Ex.41); In the Matter ofBluberi Gaming Technologies,
et al., Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of Montreal)(Nov. 16, 2015), at 5(Ex. 37). A former Bluberi
executive informed Whistleblowers that following Bluberi's bankruptcy filing critical research and development investment
("R&D") ceased, causing Bluberi, which already trailed many competitors in gaming development, to fall even further
behind the pack. See In the Matter ofBluberi Gaming Technologies, et al., Petition for Initial Order (District of Montreal)(Nov.
11, 2015), at 5 (Ex. 42).
76
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and its future product development potential.' By Whistleblowers' calculations, Bluberi
had only about $34.17 million in tangible assets at year-end 2015.86
The following chart showing the stark difference between Bluberi's projected and actual
performance reveals just how obvious that company's path to financial ruin was from 2013-2015:87
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85

See In the Matter ofBluberi GamingTechnologies, et al., Petition for Initial Order (District of Montreal)(Nov. 11, 2015),
at 5 (Ex. 42).
85
See In the Matter of Bluberi Gaming Technologies, et al., Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of
Montreal) (Nov. 16, 2015), at 5 (Ex. 37); Bluberi Group, Consolidated Balance Sheet (June — August 2015) (Ex. 39).
Bluberi reported total assets of 550.478 million, but that amount included a $16.304 million "intercompany advance" offset
by a corresponding liability. See Bluberi Group, Consolidated Balance Sheet (June — August 2015)(Ex. 39). It is unclear
whether Callidus reported that "security" as actual collateral, which would artificially lower its risk profile. If the "secured"
interests were unsupported by tangible collateral, it would be another material misrepresentation. While Whistleblowers
do not have access to the itemized collateral levels of Callidus's underlying loan portfolio, such documents likely exist at
Callidus.
87
See In the Matter ofBluberi Gaming Technologies, et al, Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation (District of
Montreal)(Nov. 16, 2015), at 8 (Ex. 37).
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Not unexpectedly,Bluberi put itself up for auction in early 2016.88 Including Callidus's winning credit
bid, only four bids came in — none for the entire business aside from Callidus's.89

Callidus

consummated its purchase of Bluberi and assumed control of operations on February 6, 2017.90
At all relevant times, Callidus was well aware of Bluberi's precarious financial condition.
Indeed, Callidus specifically acknowledged a lack of consumer interest in Bluberi's products and
intellectual property.' Moreover, Callidus later conceded in court filings that "Bluberi's games were
either too complex or otherwise inappropriate for the target audience; they were games that Duhamel
wanted, not what the market wanted."' Thus, by all tangible measures, Bluberi's implosion from
2013-2015 should have caused Callidus — repeatedly — to write down the Bluberi loan.93 But it was
not until 2016 that Callidus recognized a full impairment of both the loan's principal and interest, on
an International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") basis,indicating that the Bluberi position had
not been marked down at all from 2012-2016, despite the consistent deterioration of Bluberi's
business."
Remarkably, however, the same filing that finally wrote down the Bluberi position actually
valued it at an astounding $110.7 million.' Here is where Glassman used the Catalyst entities to fool
investors. To falsely justify that outlandish carrying value, Glassman cited "significant new business

88

See Bluberi, Fourth Report of the Monitor (Mar. 28, 2016), at 11 (Ex. 43). When Bluberi entered bankruptcy it
employed roughly 150 people; by October 2016, that number had dropped to 67. See Bluberi, Initial Report of the
Monitor (Nov. 16, 2015), at 5 (Ex. 41); Bluberi, Ninth Report of the Monitor (Oct. 25, 2016), at 7(Ex. 36).
89
See Bluberi, Fourth Report of the Monitor (Mar. 28, 2016), at 11 (Ex. 43). According to Whistleblowers' source
familiar with the bidding process, the second highest bid was for only $9 million.
90
See Bluberi, Eleventh Report of the Monitor (Feb. 14, 2017), at 8 (Ex. 44).
91
See In the Matter ofBluberi Gaming Technologies, et al., Contestation of Callidus Capital Corp. (District of Montreal)
(Nov. 16, 2015), at 9(Ex. 37).
92
See id.
93
See id.
94
See Callidus Capital, Annual Report (2016), at 29 (Ex. 5); In the Matter of Bluberi Gaming Technologies, et al.,
Contestation of Callidus Capital Corp. (District of Montreal) (Nov. 16, 2015), at 9 (Ex. 37); International Accounting
Standards (IAS), Rule 36, available at https:/ woov.ia.Olus.com/en/standards/iaslias36 (Ex. 45). 'The IFRS are a set of
accounting standards developed by the International Accounting Standards Board..
95
See Callidus Capital Reports 2016 Full Year and Fourth,Quarter Results, Press Release (Mar. 30, 2017), available at
http://calliduscapital.ca/2017-03-31-Callidus-Capital-Reports-2016-Full-Year-and-Fourth-Quarter-Results (Ex. 46).
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from a large diversified gaming company in Canada that is commonly controlled by the Catalyst
Capital Group Inc." and an agreement to deploy 7,000 slot machines." Based on Whistleblowers'
knowledge of Catalyst's portfolio, that "large diversified gaming company" is Gateway Casinos and
Entertainment Limited ("Gateway") — a company with only 6,700 total machines.'
So Glassman would have investors believe that Bluberi is worth $110 million because Bluberi
— a company with a skeleton staff and limited prospects — is somehow supposed to manufacture and
sell 7,000 machines to a company that does not even own that many machines — effectively doubling
its roster of games." None of that is based in reality. In fact, when asked about the possibility of
such a deployment, a former Bluberi executive described it to Whistleblowers as "a deranged lunatic
dream."' Regardless, Glassman's fraudulent Catalyst/Callidus enterprise provides the perfect cover
for Callidus to justify a $100 million markup of an otherwise failed position (which directly benefited
100
the Catalyst funds that own a majority stake in Callidus).
3. Sher-Wood Hockey Inc.
Another example of Glassman's sleight of hand is Catalyst's investment in Sher-Wood
Hockey, Inc. ("Sher-Wood"), an athletic company that primarily manufactures hockey equipment.101
Callidus extended a loan to Sher-Wood,but after the company faltered in 2011 Callidus assumed 100%
of Sher-Wood's equity.102 After Callidus's IPO in 2014, Callidus accounted for its Sher-Wood equity

96

See id. (emphasis added).
See id.; Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP, Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28-29 (Ex. 7); About Us, Gateway
Casinos, available at http.//www.gatewaycasinos.com/(Ex. 47).
98
See About Us, Gateway Casinos, available at http://www.gatewaycasinos.com/ (Ex. 47); Callidus Capital Reports
2016 Full Year and Fourth Quarter Results, Press Release (Mar. 30, 2017), available at http://calliduscapital.ca/2017-03-31Callidus-Capital-Reports-2016-Full-Year-and-Fourth-Quarter-Results (Ex. 46).
99
Based on Whistleblowers' conversation with a former Bluberi executive.
loo
See Callidus Capital Reports 2016 Full Year and Fourth Quarter Results, Press Release (Mar. 30, 2017), available at
http://calliduscapitalca/2017-03-31-Callidus-Capital-Reports-2016-Full-Year-and-Fourth-Quarter-Results (Ex. 46).
101
See James Fink, Gracious Living acquires Sher-Wood Hockey, Buffalo Business First (Sept. 11, 2014), available at
http://www.bizjoumals.com/buffalo/news/2014/09/11/gracious-living-acquires-sherwood-line-assets.html(Ex. 48).
102
See Callidus, Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Period Ending Sept. 30,2014), at 13(Ex. 32). Based on
Whistleblowers' knowledge of Callidus, it can be inferred that the referenced "athletic company" is Sher-Wood. See id.
97
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as an "asset held for sale."' Then,in the third quarter of2014, Callidus reported that Gracious Living
Corp.("Gracious") had acquired Sher-Wood for the precise cost of Callidus's position.'
There is ample reason to question whether the Gracious/Sher-Wood deal was an arms-length
transaction. First, Gracious was formerly owned by Royal Group Technologies Inc., a Catalyst I
portfolio investment.w5 Second,it is unclear whether any net cash traded hands.106 Instead, it appears
that Callidus loaned Gracious funds, which tied repayment to Sher-Wood's performance, that
Gracious then used to "pay" the precise carrying value of Callidus's position ($12.6m).107 Moreover,
both Callidus's equity stake in Sher-Wood and Callidus's loan to Gracious required positive
performance from Sher-Wood, a significantly unlikely prospect.'
Under IFRS accounting rules, Callidus was required to write down the carrying value of its
failed loan to Sher-Wood.109 Instead, Callidus marked the position at par once it "sold" the asset for
the precise carrying value of the loan, showing no loss.11° Callidus then simply extended a "new" loan
to Gracious with the repayment tied to Sher-Wood's performance.' As a result, the SherWood/Gracious transaction allowed Glassman to remove a bad loan from Callidus's balance sheet
just prior to its first annual audit as a public company.112 Those aforementioned transactions are just
several examples of a pattern covering numerous assets.

103

See id.
See id.; James Fink, Gracious Living acquires Sher-Wood Hockg, Buffalo Business First (Sept. 11, 2014), available at
http://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/news/2014/09/11/gracious-liying-acquires-sherwood-line-assets.html(Ex. 48).
105
See Michael Lauzon, Canadian molder Gracious Living eyes USfacilities, Plastics News (Sept. 27, 2013), available at
www.plasticsnews.com/article/.../canadian-molder-gracious-liying-eyes-us-facilities (Ex. 49); Catalyst IV, Pitchbook, at
20 (Ex. 3).
106
See id.
107
See id.
108
See id.
109
See International Accounting Standards (IAS), Rule 36, available at https:/ www.implus.com/en/standards/ias/ias36
(Ex. 45); see also Callidus, Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Period Ending Sept. 30, 2014), at 13(Ex. 32).
110
See Callidus, Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Period Ending Sept. 30, 2014), at 13(Ex. 32).
111
See id.
112
See id.
104
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C. WHISTLEBLOWERS HAVE UNCOVERED NUMEROUS ADDITIONAL RED
FLAGS INDICATING THAT GLASSMAN IS USING CATALYST AND CALLIDUS AS
PART OF A MASSIVE FRAUDULENT SCHEME
1. There Are Several Dubious Conflicts OfInterest Between And Among GlassmanControlled Entities
Private equity funds are typically structured to limit even the appearance of a conflict of
interest, much less an actual conflict. To that end, each fund within a private equity firm is structured
as a separate entity with its own limited partners and fund terms. Glassman flatly defied that industry
norm with Catalyst.' As discussed supra Section IV.B, the companies in Glassman's fraudulent
enterprise permit assets to flow freely between themselves and other related entities.' That, in and
of itself, is a serious conflict of interest that merits investigation. In addition, however, Catalyst uses
"new money" to compensate earlier investors when the underperformance of impaired assets does
not support historically stated returns.' The following section examines the flagrant conflicts that
call into question the legitimacy of Glassman's financial enterprise.
a. In Contravention Of Well-Known Industry Standards, Glassman Has
Constructed Several Serious "Cross-Ownership" Conflicts OfInterest
Private equity firms almost universally avoid cross-ownership between funds, especially when
such a relationship may appear to be driven to alleviate liquidity issues and help earlier funds realize
returns. Despite that common industry practice, Glassman appears to have done just that in at least
two highly material circumstances.

113
114
115

See infra Section IV.C.a.i.
See supra Section N.B.
See infra Section IV.C.a.i.
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i.

Catalyst III Bailed Out Catalyst II During A Liquidity Crisis

In a March 2009 letter to Catalyst II investors during a near-term liquidity crisis, Catalyst
explained that Catalyst III investors could bail out Catalyst II investors by injecting capital."' The
letter stated,in part, that "highlighting that [Catalyst II] is now liquidity constrained ... a first close of
[Catalyst III] will therefore alleviate [Catalyst II's] potential future liquidity situation."' The letter
further stated that,"[w]e believe that the successful fundraise of[Catalyst III] will in fact augment and
improve [Catalyst II's] future realized returnsil 7/118
Given Glassman's blatant disregard for the well-established industry norm of avoiding "crossownership" of funds, the Catalyst II bailout is perhaps the most egregious conflict of interest
Whistleblowers have identified. Indeed, it is unclear whether Catalyst III investors were even
informed to the extent that their investment was intended to bailout Catalyst II investors from their
own distressed portfolio positions.
ii.

Catalyst Owns Two-Thirds Of Callidus's Stock

As shown below, Glassman's investor materials for Catalyst III and Catalyst IV disclose the
number of Callidus shares owned by Catalyst:119
Calliduq
Funds II, II-PP, III, and IV ow'approximately 3.8MM, 0.711M, 20.1MM, and 8.8MM shares,
respectively, as of December 31, 2016
Net of"carry shares", Funds 11, II-PP, 111, and IV own approximately 1.714M, 0.5MM, 18.6MM, and
8.8MM shares, respectively, as of December 31, 2016
Effect of difference In Fund terms likely to be that Fund 1t sells. Its stake in Calildus.ahead of Fund lit,
and Fund IV sells along with Fur,d III (proportionaffy or otherwise to be determined at a later date
when all information at that time becomes avaiabie)
No conflict therefore currently envisioned as between Funds III and IV

116
117
118
119

See Catalyst Fund II, Monthly Update (Mar. 30, 2009), at 3(Ex. 50).
See id.
See id.
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 31 (Ex. 7).
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Notably, those materials claim that no conflict will exist simply because Catalyst III and Catalyst IV
are "likely" to sell their Callidus shares at the same time.12° In addition to the absurdity of that
explanation, the investor materials fail to eliminate the following additional — and obvious — conflicts:
• The Callidus assets guaranteed by Catalyst III and Catalyst IV (such as Xchange) have
all served to increase the valuation of Callidus's stock, so that Catalyst II can exit first
without experiencing a loss — all to the detriment of Catalyst III and Catalyst IV
investors;121
• The ownership interest in Callidus by Catalyst III and Catalyst IV artificially supports
the investments by Catalyst II investors — again, all to the detriment of Catalyst III and
Catalyst IV investors;122
• Catalyst collectively holds 66.7% of the outstanding stock in Callidus (29.6 million
shares).123 If past is prologue, Catalyst V will only sell its Callidus shares after Catalyst
II-IV sell their shares.' That downward selling pressure will put Catalyst V investors
in tremendous peri1;125 and
• Both Catalyst III and Catalyst IV investors are disadvantaged by the requirement to
simultaneously exit their Callidus positions.126
In effect, Catalyst's proposed scenario whereby the earliest Catalyst funds to invest in Callidus exit
before the Catalyst funds that subsequently invested in the company — in some cases, with the latter
funds guaranteeing the earlier funds against losses — creates a defacto pyramid scheme.'" There is
no scenario under which that type of arrangement should be deemed appropriate.
b. Glassman's Attempt To Minimize Cross-Ownership Conflicts Is Illusory
In tacit acknowledgement of the rampant cross-ownership conflicts, Catalyst attempts to
minimize them through various "participation agreements" with Callidus.128

120

The participation

See id.
See Callidus, Notice ofAnnual General and Special Meeting ofShareholders(May 17,2016), at 19(Ex. 6); Catalyst
Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 31 (Ex. 7).
122
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 31 (Ex. 7).
123
See id.; Callidus Capital Corp., Annual Report (2016), at 17 (Ex. 5).
124
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 31 (Ex. 7).
125
See id.
126
See id.
127
See id.; Callidus Capital Corp., Annual Report(2016), at 17 (Ex. 5).
128
See Callidus, Notice of Annual General and Special Meeting of Shareholders(May 17, 2016), at 19-20 (Ex. 6).
121
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agreements appear to mandate that each Catalyst fund only "guarantees" the Callidus asset funded
through its specific capital injection.' For example, if Callidus invests in Acme Corporation when
only Catalyst IV is allocating to money into Callidus, then only Catalyst IV is responsible for the
guarantee on the Acme Corporation investment.' While that arrangement superficially appears to
address the conflict, Glassman can easily manipulate the situation if bad loans sponsored by earlier
Catalyst entities are then acquired by companies sponsored by later Catalyst funds, thereby
reintroducing the serious conflict of interest. Indeed, that concern is not hypothetical, but rather is
playing out in at least the following examples:
Leader Energy Services, Ltd.
Leader Energy Services, Ltd.("Leader"), was an oilfield services company that suffered from
Callidus funded Leader through
'
crude oil's decline in 2014, ultimately declaring bankruptcy in 2015.1
participating capital from Catalyst III and Catalyst IV.' In bankruptcy, Callidus was Leader's largest
secured creditor, owed $12.7 million.' At the time of the loan, a key source of collateral was Leader's
machinery and equipment, which Leader mostly sold prior to its bankruptcy.' Despite that fact, the
final report of Leader's receiver reflected that Horizontal Well Drillers ("HWD") — another Callidus
investment — was going to purchase Leader's assets for the precise amount that Leader owed to

See Press Release, Callidus Capital Cotporation Receives ClariO, on Catalyst Funds II, III and IV Timelines, Provides Update
on Catalyst Fund V Participation and Applies for Normal Course Issuer Bid (Apr. 27, 2015), available at
http://calliduscapital.ca/news?item=122505 (Ex. 51).
130
See id.
131
See Leader Energy Services Ltd., First Report of MNP Ltd., Trustee (Mar. 9, 2015), at 3, available at
http://mnpdebt.ca/Style%20Library/MNP/files/media/documents/Leader%20Energy%20Services%20Ltd/FirstReport-to-Court-Filed-March-9-2015.pdf(Ex. 52).
132
This assertion is based on Whistleblowers' conversation with one of the underwriters of Callidus's IPO.
133
See Leader Energy Services Ltd., List of Creditors (Feb. 19, 2015), at 7, available at
http://mnpdebt.ca/Style%20Library/MNP/files/media/documents/Leader%20Energy%20Services%20Ltd/List-ofCreditors.pdf(Ex. 53).
134
This assertion is based on a conversation that Whistleblowers' source had with Julie Kennedy("Kennedy") of
MNP,Leader's receiver. Notably, Kennedy stated that the value of the remaining assets were meaningfully below
Callidus's loan position.
129
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Callidus.' Thus, Callidus shifted the troubled loan to another company rather than recognizing a
tangible loss. In doing so, Callidus delayed or avoided recognizing an impaired loan and subtly
transferred the risk from the Catalyst III and IV investors(who were made whole) to the new investors
in Catalyst V.136
SFX Entertainment Inc.
SFX Entertainment, Inc. ("SFX") is an electronic dance music company that filed for
bankruptcy in February 2016.137 Just one month prior to SFX's bankruptcy, Catalyst V provided a
SFX subsidiary with $20 million in financing.' Shortly thereafter, Catalyst IV boasted ofits successful
exit from the SFX position.' Given the proximity of those transactions, it appears that Catalyst V
simply bought out Catalyst IV's position, thereby shifting the risk to the new Catalyst investors.'

Viewed holistically, it is clear that Glassman is playing fast and loose with conflict of interest
conventions throughout his entire enterprise. As a result, investors in later Catalyst funds (and other
recent vintage Glassman-controlled investment vehicles) are subject to increasing risk as they
continue to bail out Callidus and/or the impaired investors of earlier vintage Catalyst funds.

See Leader Energy Services LTD., First and Final Report of Receiver (Sept. 19, 2015), at 1, 4(Ex. 54). Callidus,
HWD's controlling lender, lent money to that company. See Horizontal Well Drillers, LLC, Oklahoma UCC Filing (Aug.
14, 2014)(Ex. 55).
136
This assertion is based on Whistleblowers' conversation with one of the underwriters of Callidus'IPO.
137
See Ben Sisario, SFX Entertainment Emerges From Bankrriptg With Nov Name: Livestyle, New York Times (Dec. 7,
2016), available at https.//www.nytimes.com/2016/12/07/business/media/sfx-entertainment-livesqle.html?_r=0 (Ex.
56).
138
at
2016),
available
(Jan.
7,
Inc,
Form
8-K
Entertainment,
See
SFX
https.//www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1553588/000110465916088697/a15-25742_18k.htm (Ex. 57).
139
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 6, 29 (Ex. 7).
140
available
at
(Jan.
7,
2016),
Entertainment,
Inc,
Form
8-K
See
SFX
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1553588/000110465916088697/a15-25742_18k.htm (Ex. 57); Catalyst
Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 6, 29 (Ex. 7).
135
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2. Callidus Obfuscates Loan Impairments Via Mass Deployment Of So-Called "Yield
Enhancements"
Among the host of schemes that Glassman appears to use to hide bad loans is a tactic called
"yield enhancements."'" Yield enhancements purportedly arise when Callidus and a client renegotiate
the terms of their original deal. Faced with a client unable to meet its obligations, Callidus agrees to
modify the terms of the loan conditioned on additional advantageous economic terms to Callidus,
including "royalty streams, periodic fee arrangement, warrants and limited equity participants."142
Thus, even when the loans go bad, Callidus finds a way to make them appear more valuable.
During a recent investor conference call, Dan Nohdomi ("Nohdomi"), Callidus's CFO,
referred to "yield enhancements" and "provisions," i.e., loan losses, as "two sides to the same coin,"
opining further that:
You can't have a provision unless there is a process or an impairment in the value,
which in turn would mean that we are by definition increasingly concerned and
increasing our influence in that business. But similarly, once we become more
involved in a business or there is a default under the terms of its indenture, we are
triggering the possibility for yield enhancement by definition.'
Thus, when viewed from a skeptic's angle, Nohdomi's statement concedes that the prospect of a yield
enhancement only arises when a loan is impaired. That is significant because in November 2016
Glassman reported to Callidus's investors that more than half of its loans were generating yield
enhancements — meaning that more than half of those loans were impaired.' Following Glassman's
comments, Callidus announced $134.3 million in loan write-downs for 2016.145 While it is impossible
to predict how many future loans will "benefit" from accounting markdowns offset by "yield

141

See Callidus, Earnings Transcript(Q2 2016)(Aug. 12, 2016), at 4(Ex.21).
See id.
143
See Callidus, Earnings Transcript(Q3 2016)(Nov. 4, 2016), at 15 (Ex.58).
144
See id., at 4.
145
See Callidus Capital Reports 2016 Full Year and Fourth Quarter Results, Press Release (Mar. 30, 2017), available at
http://calliduscapital.ca/2017-03-31-Callidus-Capital-Reports-2016-Full-Year-and-Fourth-Quarter-Results (Ex. 46).

142
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enhancement" markups,it is a sure bet that Glassman will continue to employ this misleading practice
in the coming months and years unless and until regulators stop him.
3. Whistleblowers Have Uncovered Other Indicators That Catalyst May Be Carrying
Impaired Assets At Artificially Inflated Valuations
Whistleblowers have identified numerous other Catalyst assets that appear to be showing signs
of material impairment that have not been adequately reported to the Firm's investors, including the
following:
a. Gateway146
As noted

supra, Gateway purports to be "one of the largest and most diversified gaming

companies in Canada."' As ofDecember 31,2011, Gateway was a $273,655,456 position for Catalyst
II, which represented 38% percent of that fund's portfolio as a percentage of "Total Value."'
Similarly, as of December 31,2016, Gateway was a $467,472,721 position for Catalyst III, representing
29% percent of that fund's portfolio as of "Total Value."' Since the investments were made,
Glassman has increased Gateway's valuation.' Whistleblowers, however, have uncovered evidence
indicating that, in fact, those positions are impaired.
First and foremost, the valuations for Gateway that Catalyst reports differ significantly from
valuations reported by Gateway's own co-owner.

Specifically, Tennenbaum Capital Partners

("Tennenbaum"), another private equity firm, co-owns Gateway with Catalyst.151 While Catalyst III
marked up its Gateway positions from 2011-2016 by roughly 50%, Tennenbaum has marked down

146
147
148
149
150

Gateway is the same company that bailed out Callidus by purchasing Bluberi. See supra Section N.B.Z.
See About Us, Gateway Casinos, available at http://www.gatewaycasinos.com/ (Ex. 47).
See Catalyst IV,Pitchbook, at 21 (Ex. 3).
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28 (Ex. 7).
See Catalyst IV, Pitchbook, at 21 (Ex. 3); Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP,Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28

(Ex. 7).
151

See Tennenbaum Opportunities Partners V,LP, Form N-CSR (Annual Report Year Ended Dec. 31, 2016), at 6,
available at https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1383812/000114420417014213/v461547_ncsr.htm (Ex. 59);
Tennenbaum Opportunities Partners V, LP, Form N-Q (Sept. 30, 2012), at 14, available at
haps://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1 383812/000114420412065543/v783596_nq.htm (Ex. 60).
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the same position by 16.4%.152 Needless to say, such a material divergence in valuations of the exact
same position by two private equity funds is troubling at best.
Still other events are cause for concern. Gateway is a highly levered, debt-saddled company.
Recently, Gateway completed a recapitalization of its debt and currently holds approximately $790
million of rated debt.' Yet the company is expected to generate net revenue of only $245 million
and negative free cash flow of$54.9 million and $32.95 million in 2017 and 2018, respectively.' Both
Moody's and S&P have rated Gateway's debt as "speculative," citing the company's high debt level
and lower than expected EBITDA,with S&P recently downgrading Gateway's debt.155 Moreover, it
is telling that Catalyst almost immediately scuttled an attempt to take Gateway public in early 2012,
indicating some form of disconnect between Glassman and the market with respect to Gateway's true

Despite those troubling signs, Catalyst values Gateway's equity at more than $1 billion, a
valuation that appears to be completely disconnected from reality and ripe for an impairment mark
down.157

152
This assertion is based on Whistleblowers' calculations using the following documents. See Catalyst Funds III
and IV/IV-PP, Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28 (Ex. 7); Catalyst IV, Pitchbook, at 21 (Ex. 3); Tennenbaum
Opportunities Partners V, LP, Form N-CSR (Annual Report Year Ended Dec. 31, 2016), at 6, available at
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1383812/000114420417014213/v461547_ncsr.htm (Ex. 59); Tennenbaum
at
(Sept.
30,
2012),
at
14,
available
Opportunities
Partners
V,
LP,
Form
N-Q
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1383812/000114420412065543/v783596_nq.htm (Ex. 60).
153
See Moody's affirms Gateway Casino's B2 CPR;rates new debt Ba3 and Caal, Moody's (Feb. 2, 2017)(Ex. 61).
154
See Gateway Casinos & Entertainment Limited, Moody's Investors Service (Aug. 30, 2016)(Ex. 62); Moody's affirms
Gateway Casino's B2 CFR;rates new debt Ba3 and Caal, Moody's (Feb. 2, 2017)(Ex. 61). All numbers were calculated with a
recently traded Canadian Dollar / US Dollar exchange rate of.7323 because Gateway presents it financials in Canadian
dollars.
155
See Moody's affirms Gateway Casino's B2 CFR; rates new debt Ba3 and Caal, Moody's (Feb. 2, 2017)(Ex. 61); Gateway
Casinos & Entertainment Ltd. Outlook To Negative From Stable On Slower-Than-Forecast Deleveraging, Standard and Poors (Dec.
6, 2016)(Ex. 63). One key driver of lower EBITDA was increased anti-money laundering regulations that could inhibit
revenue growth at the casino's VIP tables. See Gateway Casinos & Entertainment Limited, Moody's Investors Service (Aug.
30, 2016)(Ex. 62).
156
See Gateway Casinosplans Canadian IPO, Press Release Uun. 27, 2012)(Ex. 64); Ben Dummett and Elena Cherney,
Manager Feels Heat on IPO, The Wall Street Journal (May 11, 2015), available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/managerfeels-heat-on-ipo-1431386833 (Ex. 17).
157
See Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP, Joint Annual Meeting (2016), at 28 (showing an unrealized value of
$391,713,936 for Gateway, likely depicting half of the total equity ownership)(Ex. 7); Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership
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b. Therapure Biopharma,Inc.
Therapure Biopharma, Inc. ("Therapure"), purports to be an integrated biopharmaceutical
company focused on complex biological therapeutics and technologies.'

Catalyst II reports

Therapure as a $81,965,549 position, which represented 14.4% percent of the portfolio as a percentage
of "Total Capital Invested" as of December 31, 2011.159 As with Gateway, although the position
shows signs of material impairment, Glassman never marked it down.'
According to the prospectus for Therapure's aborted 2016 IPO,Therapure lost $11.99 million,
161

$11.8 million and $13.37 million in 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

For the nine months ended

September 30, 2015, Therapure generated a net loss of $10.87 million on only $29.49 million in
revenue.162 The prospectus also showed that Therapure had $31.7 million of debt and contractual
164

obligations.' Nevertheless, the company's IPO was valued at roughly $1 billion (Canadian dollars).

Presumably, that valuation was based on a series of approved and planned Phase I FDA trials that
were intended to contribute meaningfully to the company's prospects.165 Therapure,however,appears
to have halted or delayed its entire drug development pipeline:66

III, Quarterly Letter(2Q 2016), at 22(showing that Gateway is owned "50°/0/50°/0" between Funds II/II-PP and III)(Ex.
65). The second quarter letter shows that Catalyst, in aggregate, owns 74% of Gateway's total equity. See Catalyst Fund
Limited Partnership III, Quarterly Letter(2Q 2016), at 22(Ex. 65). Based on Whistleblowers' calculations, Catalyst values
Gateway's equity at $1,058,686,313 (($391,713,936*2)/.74).
158
See Therapure Biopharma Inc. Postpones Initial Public Offering, Press Release (Feb. 4, 2016), available at
http://www.therapurebio.com/news/therapure-biop harma-inc/therapure-biop harma-inc-postpones-initial-publicoffering (Ex. 66).
159
See Catalyst IV, Pitchbook, at 21 (Ex. 3).
160
See Therapure Biopharma Inc. Postpones Initial Public Offering, Press Release (Feb. 4, 2016), available at
http://www.therapurebio.com/news/therapure-biopharma-inc/therapure-biopharma-inc-postpones-initial-publicoffering (Ex. 66).
161
See Therapure Biopharma Inc., Amended Prospectus aan. 6, 2016), at 9(Ex. 67).
162
See id.
163
See id., at 71, AD-42 (showing $11.737 million in debt and contractual obligations). The prospectus shows the
assumption of $20 million in new credit facilities, totaling $31.7 million in contractual obligations. See id., at AD-42.
164
See Commodities: Therapure's Rich Valuation Likely Hindered IPO, Commodities-Report (Feb. 5, 2016), available at
http://commodities-report.com/commodities-therapures-rich-valuation-likely-hinders-ipo-market-talk.html (Ex. 68).
165
See Therapure Biopharma Inc., Company Presentation (Jan. 7, 2016), at 20 (Ex. 69).
166
Based on Whistleblowers' review of "ClinicalTrials.gov."
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If that were not enough to require a mark down, at least one former Therapure employee
confirmed to Whistleblowers that Therapure was losing money despite its revenue growth.' Another
doubted the business model due to the highly competitive blood fractionation market, which is
dominated by several established players.168
Given the foregoing, it appears that Therapure is a levered, money-losing operation with a
halted drug pipeline, and an uncertain future amidst intense competition — a fact pattern that appears
wholly disconnected from the more than $1 billion valuation that Glassman placed on the company.'
VII.

CONCLUSION

Current and prospective investors in Catalyst and Callidus face enormous risks because of the
fraud described herein.

Accordingly, the Ontario Securities Commission should initiate an

investigation into Glassman, Catalyst and Callidus, as well as the senior officers of those and other
Glassman-controlled entities), which Whistleblowers strongly believe to be involved in a scheme to
overvalue assets, avoid recognition of losses and shuttle impaired investors into private funds
capitalized by new money. Should the Ontario Securities Commission choose to pursue such claims
against any of the entities or individuals described herein, Whistleblowers are committed to assisting
in those efforts to end the unlawful practices described herein and will support the authorities in any
way possible, including the provision of additional written submissions, oral testimony and/or
document production, should such efforts become necessary or appropriate.

This assertion is based on Whistleblowers' conversations with former Therapure employees.
This assertion is based on Whistleblowers' conversations with former Therapure employees.
169
See Commodities: Therapure's Rich Valuation Likely Hindered IPO, Commodities-Report(Feb. 5, 2016), available at
http://commodities-report.com/commodities-therapures-rich-valuation-likely-hinders-ipo-market-talk.html (Ex. 68).
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I. INTRODUCTION
Whistleblowers submit this supplemental filing' to provide the OSC with information they
have recently learned regarding additional misconduct by Catalyst and its principals. Specifically,
Catalyst's investor materials appear to contain misrepresentations about the level of dedication that
Catalyst's principals have made to the Firm's business interests. Those materials plainly state that
Catalyst's executives will commit 100% of their professional efforts to Catalyst.2 Whistleblowers
have learned, however, that Catalyst's Managing Director and Partner, Gabriel de Alba ("de Alba"),
appears to have blatantly and openly violated that representation.' While seemingly technical in
nature, such a misrepresentation is highly material because it pierces the facade of trust and loyalty
to investors that Glassman has built in order to draw new investor capital into his scheme.
II. ANALYSIS
Catalyst Falsely Claims To Have "Rigorous Internal Controls" Preventing Senior
Executives From Forging Competing Loyalties to Outside Business Interests
Catalyst allegedly employs "rigorous internal controls" to ensure that the interests of its
employees and limited partners are aligned.' One such control reflected in Catalyst's offering
memorandum prohibits Firm professionals from sitting on the board of directors of any for-profit
entity other than a Catalyst portfolio company:
Subject to internal approval dependent on time commitments required, no Catalyst
professional may sit on a board of directors of a for-profit entity other than that of a
portfolio company and only one non-profit board.'
Driving home the significance of that loyalty-driven internal control, Catalyst's marketing documents
further emphasize that Catalyst team members "will devote 100% of their professional time to
[Catalyst's] investment activities."'
1
2
3
4
5

See Submission ID WBF1495489105335-601. All defined terms therein shall have the same meaning herein.
See infra note 6.
See infra note 7-9.
See Catalyst Fund IV, Offering Memorandum (Apr. 23, 2012), at 31 (Ex. 1).
See id.
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Such statements undoubtedly give investors comfort that that Catalyst's employees — whose
jobs are complicated and time-consuming given the Firm's sophisticated investment strategy —
spend their days prioritizing the interests of Catalyst's investors over their own personal business
interests.

Yet contrary to those important representations, Catalyst's Managing Director and

Partner, de Alba, has blatantly and openly dedicated substantial efforts to a billion dollar nonCatalyst deal involving telecommunications company Satelites Mexicanos ("Satmex"), seemingly
without the knowledge or consent of Catalyst's investors!
Satmex teetered on the brink of bankruptcy from 2006-2011. In early 2011, however, de
Alba and his family led efforts to present Satmex with a restructuring deal.' There is no doubt that
de Alba's involvement with Satmex betrayed his divided loyalties when it came to Catalyst. First, the
Satmex deal clearly reflected the supremacy of de Alba's familial loyalties, as he served on the
Satmex Board of Directors with his sister, while his mother and father served as alternate directors.'
Moreover, the deal demonstrated how deeply de Alba's business loyalties were compromised, with
two Catalyst competitors — Monarch Partners LP and Centerbridge — providing a substantial
amount of the financing necessary to support de Alba's proposed deal for Satmex.1°
Nor can there be any substantial doubt about the wide scope of de Alba's involvement in
the Satmex deal, which necessarily would have limited his ability to work on behalf of Catalyst's
investors. Indeed, his expertise was likely vital to the deal, as he previously led several other
°

See Catalyst Fund III, Due Diligence Information, at 4(Ex. 2).
26,
71,
20-F
(April
2013),
at
available
at
Satmex
Form
See
http://www.eutelsatamencas.com/files/contributed/PDF/investors/2013/20FForm_2012.pdf (Ex. 3).
Although
Whisdeblowers are unaware of whether de Alba obtained the required internal permission to be involved in the Satmex
deal, even if he had, Catalyst has failed to disclose it to investors. Regardless, given the time commitments discussed
herein, there was no reasonable basis on which Catalyst could have justified such approval.
8
See Przemek Bozek,Eutelsat expands its Latin Americafootprint by taking over Satmex,IHS Markit(Aug. 1, 2013),
available at https://technology.ihs.com/440950/eutelsat-expands-its-latin-america-footprint-by-taking-over-satmex (Ex.
4); Dario Cells, Rabobank, concurs° de Covadongay atras Amerrra, CIBancoy AgrofinaRas, Excelsior (January 25, 2011),
available at http://www.excelsior.com.mx/node/707110 (Ex. 5).
9
(April
26,
2013),
at
71,
73
available
at
Form
20-F
See
Satmex
http://www.eutelsatamericas.com/files/contributed/PDF/investors/2013/20FForm_2012.pdf(Ex. 3).
io
See Dario Celis, Rabobank, concurs° de Covadonga y atras Amerrra, ClBanco y Agrofinanas, Excelsior (January 25,
2011), available at http://www.excelsior.com.mx/node/707110 (Ex. 5).

7
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turnaround and activist investments at telecommunications companies such as AT&T Canada Inc.,
AT&T Latin America Corp., and Call-Net Communications Inc.' Closing the Satmex deal would
have required de Alba to be intimately involved in the following all-consuming aspects of the
transaction: (a) complex negotiations; (b) the purchase of a bankrupt company; (c) substantial
financing;(d) turnaround work; and (e) the negotiation and sale of Satmex to a strategic partner.12 It
is thus hard to imagine how de Alba could have been focusing any attention on Catalyst's endeavors
while he was engaged in those activities.
By all accounts, the Satmex deal was a huge money-maker for de Alba and his non-Catalyst
partners. In 2013, global satellite operator Eutelsat acquired Satmex for $1.142 billion (including the
assumption of Satmex's debt).13 Analysts estimated that de Alba and other equity holders gained
approximately $250 million on the deal — indisputably a stunning success.' From the vantage point
of the Catalyst investors with whom Whistleblowers spoke, however, the Satmex deal was no such
success: At a time when de Alba was supposed to be dedicating 100% of his business efforts to
Catalyst, he and his non-Catalyst partners made a quarter of a billion dollars while Catalyst's
investors made absolutely nothing on the deal.

11

See
Gabriel
Bloomberg,
available
at
de
Alba,
http://www.bloomberg.com/research/stocks/private/person.asp?personId=25263493&privcapId=2581603 (Ex. 6);
Boyd Erman, Newton Glassman, aprivate man in the stressful world ofprivate equity, The Globe and Mail (Dec. 6, 2013), available
at http.//www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/careers-leadership/newton-glassm an-a-private-m anin-the-stressful-world-of-private-equity/article15807246/?page=all(Ex. 7).
12
See Przemek Bozek, Eutelsat expands its Latin Americafootprint by taking over Satmex, IHS Markit (Aug. 1, 2013),
available at https://technology.ihs.com/440950/eutelsat-expands-its-latin-america-footprint-by-taking-over-satmex (Ex.
4).
13
See id.
14
See Dario Celis, Dinero en Imagen: Venden Satmex a Eutelsat en 1,161 mddy sera cabea de playa Parafranceses en AL,
August 1, 2013, available athttp://www.dineroenimagen.com/2013-08-01/23902 (Ex. 8).
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Therefore, given de Alba's actions involving a very lucrative outside business investment, the
purported existence at Catalyst of a rigorous internal control regime — including its "100%
dedication" pledge on behalf of the Firm's employees — was a clear misrepresentation to investors.15

at
71,
available
at
26,
2013),
(Apr.
20-F
Satmex,
Form
See
http://www.eutelsatameficas.com/files/contributed/PDF/inyestors/2013/20FForm_2012.pdf (Ex. 3); Catalyst Fund
III, Due Diligence Information, at 4(Ex. 2).
15
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Court File No.: CV-17-587463-00CL
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
BETWEEN:
THE CATALYST CAPITAL GROUP INC. and CALLIDUS CAPITAL
CORPORATION
Plaintiffs
- and WEST FACE CAPITAL INC., GREGORY BOLAND, M5V ADVISORS INC.
C.O.B. ANSON GROUP CANADA, ADMIRALTY ADVISORS LLC, FRIGATE
VENTURES LP, ANSON INVESTMENTS LP, ANSON CAPITAL LP, ANSON
INVESTMENTS MASTER FUND LP, AIMF GP, ANSON CATALYST MASTER
FUND LP, ACF GP, MOEZ KASSAM, ADAM SPEARS, SUNNY PURI,
CLARITYSPRING INC., NATHAN ANDERSON, BRUCE LANGSTAFF, ROB
COPELAND, KEVIN BAUMANN, JEFFREY MCFARLANE, DARRYL LEVITT,
RICHARD MOLYNEUX, GERALD DUHAMEL, GEORGE WESLEY VOORHEIS,
BRUCE LIVESEY and JOHN DOES #4-10
Defendants
REQUEST TO ADMIT
YOU ARE REQUESTED TO ADMIT, for the purposes of this proceeding only,
the authenticity (see rule 51.01 of the Rules of Civil Procedure) of the following
documents:
1.

The following documents included in Exhibit K of the Affidavit of Nathan

Anderson, sworn November 8, 2019, delivered to you on November 8, 2019:
(a)

Press release titled The Catalyst Capital Group Receives 2017 Cross
Border Turnaround of the Year Award from the Global M&A Network for
Pacific E&P Restructuring , dated March 17, 2017 [Exhibit 1 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(b)

Form ADV Uniform Application for Investment Adviser Registration and
Report by Exempt Reporting Advisers of The Catalyst Capital Group. Inc,
dated March 27, 2017 (CRD Number: 155299, Rev. 10/2012) [Exhibit 2 to
OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
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(c)

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV pitchbook [Exhibit 3 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(d)

Callidus Capital 2015 Annual Report [Exhibit 4 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].

(e)

Callidus Capital Corporation Consolidated Financial Statements For the
Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 [Exhibit 5 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].

(f)

Notice of Meeting and Management Information Circular for the Annual
General and Special Meeting of Common Shareholders of Callidus Capital
Corporation dated April 13, 2016 [Exhibit 6 to OSC Submission: Catalyst
Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(g)

Presentation for The Catalyst Funds III and IV/IV-PP Joint Annual
Meeting, presented by The Catalyst Capital Group Inc., dated April 4,
2017 [Exhibit 7 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and
Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(h)

Callidus Capital 2014 Annual Report [Exhibit 8 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].

(i)

Decision (Section 15.1 of NI 31-103) In the Matter of the Securities
Legislation of Ontario (the Jurisdiction) and In the Matter of the Process
for Exemptive Relief Applications in Multiple Jurisdictions and In the
Matter of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements,
Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations (NI 31-103) and In the
Matter of The Catalyst Capital Group Inc. (Catalyst), nd [sic] Callidus
Capital Management Inc. (Callidus) (collectively, the Filers), dated
December 13, 2012, (2012) 35 OSCB 11486-11487 [Exhibit 9 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(j)

Excerpt of Financial Statements of Catalyst Fund II Parallel Limited
Partnership (A Canadian Limited Partnership), Period from June 13, 2008
to December 31, 2008 [Exhibit 11 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(k)

The University of Michigan Regents Communication Item for Information,
dated November 2014 [Exhibit 12 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
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(l)
Dummett and Elena Cherney, dated May 11, 2015 [Exhibit 17 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].
(m)

Theresa Tedesco,
dated September 13, 2011 [Exhibit 18 to OSC Submission: Catalyst
Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(n)
Ben Dummett, dated April 14, 2014 [Exhibit 19
to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
(o)

Corrected transcript of Callidus Capital Corp. Q2 2016 Earnings Call dated
August 12, 2016 [Exhibit 21 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group,
Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(p)

Exhibit 8 of Catalyst Fund III Due Diligence Information [Exhibit 23 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(q)

Callidus Capital Corporation Investor Presentation dated November 2015
[Exhibit 24 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(r)

Hilco Appraisal Services, LLC Evaluation and Appraisal of Xchange
Technology Group dated January 8, 2013 [Exhibit 25 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].

(s)

Excerpt of Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated as of October
11, 2012 among Xchange Technology Group LLC, IT Xchange Corp, I.T.
Xchange Inc., ITXchange Financial Services LLC, BlueRange Technology
Corp., BlueRange Technology Inc., and Partstock Computer LLC, as
Borrowers and Callidus Capital Corporation as Lender [Exhibit 26 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(t)

Excerpt of Report of Duff & Phelps Canada Restructuring Inc. as
Proposed Receiver of Xchange Technology Group LLC, IT Xchange Inc.,
IT Xchange Corp., BlueRange Technology Corp., BlueRange Technology
Inc., IT Xchange Financial Services LLC and Partstock Computer LLC
dated October 25, 2013 in Court File No. CV-11-9498-00CL [Exhibit 27 to
OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(u)

Excerpt of Second Report of Duff & Phelps Canada Restructuring Inc. as
Receiver of Xchange Technology Group LLC, IT Xchange Inc., IT
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Xchange Corp., BlueRange Technology Corp., BlueRange Technology
Inc., IT Xchange Financial Services LLC and Partstock Computer LLC
dated December 12, 2013 in Court File No. CV-13-10310-00CL [Exhibit 28
to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
(v)
delivered January 2, 2015 in Court File No. CV-13-10310-00CL [Exhibit 29
to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
(w)

Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Unaudited) of
Callidus Capital Corporation for the three months ended March 31, 2014
and March 31, 2013 [Exhibit 30 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(x)

Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Unaudited) of
Callidus Capital Corporation for the three and six months ended June 30,
2014 and June 30, 2013 [Exhibit 31 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(y)

Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements (Unaudited) of
Callidus Capital Corporation for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013 [Exhibit 32 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(z)

Letter from Michael J. Brzezinski to The Honourable Mr. Justice Newbould
dated May 26, 2016 in Court File No. CV-15-11163-00CL [Exhibit 33 to
OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(aa)

Glassdoor reviews of Xchange Technology Group [Exhibit 35 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(bb)

Excerpt of Ninth Report of the Monitor dated October 25, 2016 in Quebec
Superior Court File No. 500-11-049737-154 [Exhibit 36 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(cc)

Contestation of Callidus Capital Corporation dated November 16, 2015 in
Quebec Superior Court File No. 405-11-002902-151 [Exhibit 37 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(dd)

Excerpt of Eighth Report of the Monitor dated October 7, 2016 in Quebec
Superior Court File No. 500-11-049737-154 [Exhibit 40 to OSC
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Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].
(ee)

Report of the Monitor dated November 16, 2015 in Quebec Superior Court
File No. 500-11-049737-154 [Exhibit 41 to OSC Submission: Catalyst
Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(ff)

Excerpt of Fourth Report of the Monitor dated March 28, 2016 in Quebec
Superior Court File No. 500-11-049737-154 [Exhibit 43 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(gg)

Eleventh Report of the Monitor dated February 14, 2017 in Quebec
Superior Court File No. 500-11-049737-154 [Exhibit 44 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017]

(hh)

International Accounting Standards (IAS), Rule 36 [Exhibit 45 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(ii)
[Exhibit 46 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].
(jj)
[Exhibit 49 to
OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
(kk)

March 2009 Letter from Newton G. Z. Glassman to Catalyst Fund Limited
Partnership II investors [Exhibit 50 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(ll)

poration Receives Clarity on
Catalyst Funds II, III and IV Timelines, Provides Update on Catalyst Fund
2015 [Exhibit 51 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and
Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(mm) First Report of MNP Ltd., Trustee filed March 9, 2015 in Alberta Court of
-094496 [Exhibit 52 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].
(nn)

Excerpt of List of Creditors as at February 19, 2015 in the Matter of the
Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal of Leader Energy Services Ltd.
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[Exhibit 53 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
(oo)

First and Final Report of Receiver dated September 19, 2016 in the matter
of Leader Energy Services Ltd. In Receivership (25-094508) [Exhibit 54
to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(pp)
December 7, 2016 [Exhibit 56 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].
(qq)

United States Securities and Exchange Commission Form 8-K of SFX
Entertainment, Inc. signed January 7, 2016 [Exhibit 57 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(rr)

Corrected transcript of Callidus Capital Corp. Q3 2016 Earnings Call dated
November 4, 2016 [Exhibit 58 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital
Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(ss)

United States Securities and Exchange Commission Form N-CSR of
Tennenbaum Opportunities Partners V, LP for the reporting period
December 31, 2016, signed March 13, 2017 [Exhibit 59 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(tt)

United States Securities and Exchange Commission Form N-Q of
Tennenbaum Opportunities Partners V, LP for the reporting period
September 30, 2012, signed November 29, 2012 [Exhibit 60 to OSC
Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation
dated May 22, 2017].

(uu)

Excerpt of Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership III Q2 2016 Quarterly Letter
[Exhibit 65 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(vv)

ma Inc. Postpones Initial Public
Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017]

(ww) Therapure Biopharma Inc. Amended and Restated Preliminary Prospectus
dated January 6, 2016 Amending and Restating the Preliminary
Prospectus dated November 23, 2015 [Exhibit 67 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May
22, 2017].
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(xx)

Therapure Biopharma Inc. Company Presentation dated January 7, 2016
[Exhibit 69 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(yy)

First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of October 16, 2014 among
ESCO Marine, Inc., ESCO Metals, LLC, ESCO Shredding, LLC, Texas
Best Recycling LLC, Texas Best Equipment LLC, Richard Jaross, EMJ
Holdings, LLC, Elka Jaross, Andrew Levy, Redstone Capital Corporation
and Callidus Capital Corporation [Exhibit 73 to OSC Submission: Catalyst
Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation dated May 22, 2017].

(zz)

Excerpt of Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV Private Placement
Offering Memorandum dated April 23, 2012 [Exhibit 1 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation (supplement
to ID WBF1495489105335-601) dated May 30, 2017].

(aaa) Excerpt of Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership III Due Diligence Information
[Exhibit 2 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation (supplement to ID WBF1495489105335-601) dated
May 30, 2017].
(bbb) Excerpt of Securities and Exchange Commission Form 20-F of Satélites
Mexicanos, S.A. de C.V. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012
[Exhibit 3 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation (supplement to ID WBF1495489105335-601) dated
May 30, 2017].
(ccc)

Eutelsat expands its Latin America footprint by
taking over Satmex
[Exhibit 4 to OSC Submission:
Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus Capital Corporation (supplement
to ID WBF1495489105335-601) dated May 30, 2017].

(ddd)

Rabobank, concurso de Covadonga y atrás
Amerra, CIBanco y Agrofinanzas
[Exhibit 5 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation (supplement to ID WBF1495489105335-601) dated
May 30, 2017].

(eee)
[Exhibit 7 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc. and Callidus
Capital Corporation (supplement to ID WBF1495489105335-601) dated
May 30, 2017].
(fff)

Venden Satmex a Eutelsat en 1,161 mdd
y será cabeza de playa para franceses en AL y Darío Celis, dated
August 1, 2013 [Exhibit 8 to OSC Submission: Catalyst Capital Group, Inc.
and Callidus Capital Corporation (supplement to ID WBF1495489105335601) dated May 30, 2017].
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Copies of the above documents are not attached, as all of the above documents are
already in the possession of the Plaintiffs.
YOU MUST RESPOND TO THIS REQUEST by serving a response to request to
admit in Form 51B prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure WITHIN TWENTY DAYS
after this request is served on you. If you fail to do so, you will be deemed to admit, for
the purposes of this proceeding only, the truth of the facts and the authenticity of the
documents set out above.
November 28, 2019

LERNERS LLP
130 Adelaide Street West, Suite 2400
Toronto, ON M5H 3P5
Lucas E. Lung LSO#: 52595C
llung@lerners.ca
Tel: 416.601.2673 / Fax: 416.601.4192
Rebecca Shoom LSO#: 68578G
rshoom@lerners.ca
Tel: 416.601.2382 / Fax: 416.601.4185
Lawyers for the Defendants,
ClaritySpring Inc. and Nathan Anderson

TO:

GOWLING WLG (CANADA) LLP
1 First Canadian Place
100 King Street West, Suite 1600
Toronto, ON M5X 1G5
John E. Callaghan LSO#: 29106K
john.callaghan@gowlingwlg.com
Benjamin Na LSO#: 40958O
Benjamin.na@gowlingwlg.com
Matthew Karabus LSO#: 61892D
matthew.karabus@gowlingwlg.com
Tel: 416.862.7525
Fax: 416.862.7661
MOORE BARRISTERS
Barristers and Solicitors
393 University Avenue, Suite 1600
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Toronto, ON M5G 1E6
David C. Moore LSO#: 16996U
david@moorebarristers.ca
Tel: 416.581.1818, Ext. 222 / Fax: 416.581.1279
Kenneth G.G. Jones LSO#: 29918I
kenjones@moorebarristers.ca
Tel: 416.581.1818, Ext. 224 / Fax: 416.581.1279
Lawyers for the Plaintiffs/Defendants by Counterclaim,
The Catalyst Capital Group Inc. and Callidus Capital
Corporation and the Defendants to the Counterclaim,
Newton Glassman, Gabriel De Alba and James Riley
AND TO: DAVIES WARD PHILLIPS & VINEBERG LLP
155 Wellington Street West, 40th Floor
Toronto, ON M5V 3J7
Kent Thomson LSO#: 24264J
kthomson@dwpv.com
Tel: 416.863.5566
Matthew Milne-Smith LSO#: 44266P
mmilne-smith@dwpv.com
Tel: 416.863.5595
Andrew Carlson LSO#: 58850N
acarlson@dwpv.com
Tel: 416.367.7437
Tel: 416.863.0900 / Fax: 416.863.0871
Lawyers for the Defendants, Plaintiffs by Counterclaim,
West Face Capital Inc. and Gregory Boland
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AND TO: TORYS LLP
Barristers and Solicitors
79 Wellington Street West, Suite 3000
Box 270, TD South Tower
Toronto, ON M5K 1N2
Linda M. Plumpton LSO#: 38400A
lplumpton@torys.com
Tel: 416.865.8193
Andrew Bernstein LSO#: 42191F
abernstein@torys.com
Tel: 416.865.7678
Stacey Reisman LSO#: 72184U
sreisman@torys.com
Tel: 416.865.7537 / Fax: 416.865.7380
Lawyers for the Defendants, M5V Advisors Inc. c.o.b.
Anson Group Canada, Admiralty Advisors LLC, Frigate
Ventures LP, Anson Investments LP, Anson Capital LP,
Anson Investments Master Fund LP, AIMF GP, Anson
Catalyst Master Fund LP, ACF GP, Moez Kassam,
Adam Spears and Sunny Puri
AND TO: MILBURN & ASSOCIATES
20 Toronto Street, Suite 860
Toronto, ON M5C 2B8
A. Jane Milburn LSO#: 39199U
jmilburn@milburnlaw.ca
Tel: 647.728.8081 / Fax: 647.689.2983
Devin M. Jarcaig LSO#: 62223U
djarcaig@milburnlaw.ca
Tel: 647.728.8083 / Fax: 647.689.2983
Lawyers for the Defendant, Bruce Langstaff
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AND TO: ST. LAWRENCE BARRISTERS LLP
144 King Street East
Toronto, ON M5C 1G8
Phil Tunley LSO#: 26402J
Phil.Tunley@stlbarristers.ca
Tel: 647.245.8282 / Fax: 647.245.8285
Alexi N. Wood LSO#: 54683F
Alexi.Wood@stlbarristers.ca
Tel: 647.245.8283 / Fax: 647.245.8285
Jennifer P. Saville LSO#: 68564F
Jennifer.Saville@stlbarristers.ca
Tel: 647.245.2222 / Fax: 647.245.8285
Lawyers for the Defendant, Rob Copeland
AND TO: KEVIN BAUMANN
Box 109
Bluffton, AB T0C 0M0
Email: pekiskokb@gmail.com
Defendant, Acting in Person
AND TO: DARRYL LEVITT
100-400 Applewood Crescent
Vaughan, ON L4K 0C3
darryl@dlevittassociates.com
Defendant, Acting in Person
AND TO: SOLMON ROTHBART GOODMAN LLP
Barristers
375 University Avenue, Suite 701
Toronto, ON M5G 2J5
Melvyn L. Solmon LSO#: 16156J
msolmon@srglegal.com
Tel: 416.947.1093, ext 333 / Fax: 416.947.0079
Nancy Tourgis LSO#: 37349I
ntourgis@srglegal.com
Tel: 416.947.1093, ext 342 / Fax: 416.947.0079
Lawyers for the Defendant, Richard Molyneux
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AND TO: WHITTEN & LUBLIN
141 Adelaide St. West, Suite 1100
Toronto, ON M5H 3L5
Ben J. Hahn (LSO #64412J)
T: 416.640.2667
F: 416.644.5198
ben@whittenlublin.com
Lawyer for the Defendant, Gerald Duhamel
AND TO: MCCARTHY TÉTRAULT LLP
Suite 5300, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto, ON M5K 1E6
R. Paul Steep LSO#: 21869L
psteep@mccarthy.ca
Tel: 416.601.7998 / Fax: 416.868.0673
Daniel Goudge LSO#: 69632J
dgoudge@mccarthy.ca
Tel: 416.601.7598 / Fax: 416.868.0673
Lawyers for the Defendant, George Wesley Voorheis
AND TO: JEFFREY MCFARLANE
220 Dominion Drive
Suite B
Morrisville, NC 27560
Email: jmcfarlane@triathloncc.com
Defendant, Acting in Person
AND TO: A. DIMITRI LASCARIS LAW PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
360, Rue St. Jacques, Suite G101
Montreal, QC H2Y 1P5
A. Dimitri Lascaris LSO#: 50074A
Tel: 514.941.5991 / Fax: 514.941.5991
Lawyer for the Defendant, Bruce Livesey
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THE CATALYST CAPITAL GROUP INC., et al.

and

WEST FACE CAPITAL INC., et al.

Plaintiffs

Court File No.: CV-17-587463-00CL

Defendants

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST
Proceeding commenced at Toronto

REQUEST TO ADMIT

LERNERS LLP
130 Adelaide Street West, Suite 2400
Toronto, ON M5H 3P5
Lucas E. Lung LSO#: 52595C
llung@lerners.ca
Tel: 416.601.2673 / Fax: 416.601.4192
Rebecca Shoom LSO#: 68578G
rshoom@lerners.ca
Tel: 416.601.2382 / Fax: 416.601.4185
Lawyers for the Defendants,
ClaritySpring Inc. and Nathan Anderson
6009021.2
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Court File No. CV-17-587463-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
B E T W E E N:
THE CATALYST CAPITAL GROUP and CALLIDUS CAPITAL
CORPORATION
Plaintiffs
and
WEST FACE CAPITAL INC., GREGORY BOLAND, M5V ADVISORS INC.
C.O.B. ANSON GROUP CANADA, ADMIRALTY ADVISORS LLC,
FRIGATE VENTURES LP, ANSON INVESTMENTS LP, ANSON
CAPITAL LP, ANSON INVESTMENTS MASTER FUND LP, AIMF GP,
ANSON CATALYST MASTER FUND LP, ACF GP, MOEZ KASSAM,
ADAM SPEARS, SUNNY PURI, CLARITYSPRING INC., NATHAN
ANDERSON, BRUCE LANGSTAFF, ROB COPELAND, KEVIN
BAUMANN, KEVIN BAUMANN, JEFFREY MCFARLANE, DARRYL
LEVITT, RICHARD MOLYNEUX, GERALD DUHAMEL, GEORGE
WESLEY VOORHEIS, BRUCE LIVESEY and JOHN DOES #4-10
Defendants

RESPONSE TO REQUEST TO ADMIT
In response to the request to admit of Nathan Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc.,
dated November 28, 2019, for the purposes of this proceeding only, the plaintiffs:
1.

Admit the authenticity of documents numbered: (a)-(j), (l)-(z) and (bb)-(fff).

2.

Refuse to admit the authenticity of documents numbered: (k) and (aa) on the basis
that these documents are authored by parties other than the plaintiffs and the
plaintiffs are unable to independently verify the authenticity of the documents.
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GOWLING WLG (CANADA) LLP
Barristers & Solicitors
1 First Canadian Place
100 King Street West, Suite 1600
Toronto ON M5X 1G5
Tel:
Fax:

416-862-7525
416-862-7661

John E. Callaghan (LSO#29106K)
Tel:
416-369-6693
Fax:
416-862-7661
john.callaghan@gowlingwlg.com

Benjamin Na (LSO#40958O)
Tel:
416-862-4455
Fax:
416-863-3455
benjamin.na@gowlingwlg.com

Matthew Karabus (LSO#61892D)
Tel:
416-369-6181
Fax:
416-862-7661
matthew.karabus@gowlingwlg.com

MOORE BARRISTERS
Professional Corporation
393 University Avenue, Suite 1600,
Toronto ON M5G 1E6
David C. Moore (#16996U)
david@moorebarristers.com

Tel:
Fax:

416.581.1818 x.222
416.581.1279

Lawyers for the plaintiffs
TO:

SERVICE LIST
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THE CATALYST CAPITAL GROUP et al.

- and Plaintiffs

Court File No. CV-17-587463-00CL
WEST FACE CAPITAL INC. et al.
Defendants
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT
TORONTO

RESPONSE TO REQUEST TO ADMIT
GOWLING WLG (CANADA) LLP
Barristers & Solicitors
1 First Canadian Place
100 King Street West, Suite 1600
Toronto ON M5X 1G5

Tel:
Fax:

416-862-7525
416-862-7661

John E. Callaghan (LSO#29106K)
Tel:
416-369-6693
Fax:
416-862-7661
john.callaghan@gowlingwlg.com
Benjamin Na (LSO#40958O)
Tel:
416-862-4455
Fax:
416-863-3455
benjamin.na@gowlingwlg.com
Matthew Karabus (LSO#61892D)
Tel:
416-369-6181
Fax:
416-862-7661
matthew.karabus@gowlingwlg.com
Lawyers for the plaintiffs

TOR_LAW\ 10152317\2
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MOORE BARRISTERS
Professional Corporation
393 University Avenue, Suite 1600,
Toronto ON M5G 1E6

David C. Moore (#16996U)
david@moorebarristers.com
Tel:
Fax:

416.581.1818 x.222
416.581.1279

Past Employees

Name
Phone
Email
Former Title
Albert Ngo 1.800.588.48 albert.ngo@invesco Former
80
.com
Associate

Current Firm Current Title Notes
Invesco
VP
Left Invesco. Left Albert a Linkedin message on 1/11/2017

Alanna
Ostvik
Alex
Eiseman

Allianz
Project
Australia
Manager
Zama Capital Co-founder

61 7 3023
9322 (Main)
(212) 4181235 (Main)

alanna.ostvik@allia Receptionist
nz.com.au
Alex@zamacap.com Investment
Professional

He was a bit circumspect but mentioned that the questions he'd be looking
at are about the number of realizations they've had. He suggested there is
a lot of public information out there (west face) that could be helpful as
well. He was very cautious but seemed to have his doubts. Asked about a
follow-up meeting to discuss hedge fund marketing in general.

Ally Lesniak 416.887.0421
(cell)

Receptionist

Girls of
Toronto

Founder

Only worked @ Catalyst for 4 months

Amber
Darrell

Executive
Assistant

Nasdaq

Executive
Assistant to
the CEO

Seemed to pride herself on confidentiality

Analyst

Rothschild

Distressed

Called left VM

Accountant

Turtle Creek

Executive
Assistant
Advisor

Called left VM

Andrew
Yeh
Ashley
Medeiros
Chris
Brown

212-403-3500 yeh.andrew@gmail.
com
416-306-3041 amedeiros@turtlecr
eek.ca
905-648-3588
Ext. 125, or 1- chris.brown@hollis
800-351-8264 wealth.com

CFO (Previously HollisWealth
worked KPMG) Advisors

Danielle
Likas

Receptionist

Danuta
Starowicz

Executive
Assistant

Canadian
Renovations
2000 ltd
IIROC

Project
Coordinator
Executive
Assistant to
CIO
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Past Employees

Darla
1-416-230bertling.darla@gma Executive
BMO
McPherson 1839 (direct) il.com
Assistant to
Managing
Director/Partn
er

Executive
Assistant to
SVP

Dezerai
647-776-7900 dezerai@vlaadco.co
McCormick
m
Diana Chow (416) 441
2888 (main
line)

Executive
Assistant
Executive
Assistant

Diana
Matovic

Office Manager ZS Associates Office
Manager

647-621-2070
(Cell)

Executive
Assistant
Harvey Kalles Executive
Real Estate
Assistant

Sent Linkedin Message on 2016.12.28. At first she expressed surprise that
a potential investor would contact her for references then seemed to
hesitate to confirm a time for the call. After a series of LinkedIn exchanges
(where she seemed very cautious and very suspicious of a basic reference
call) I had a call with her 9:45 AM on 2016.12.29. On the call she asked
again why anyone would want to speak with her for a reference and asked
several questions of me. I said often that administrative assistants are in
the best position to speak with everyone and learn about an organization.
She agreed with that and then spoke very cautiously about her experience.
She said she worked for Gabriel and was his main admin during her time
there. Any time I asked a question about the organization she very quickly
steered the conversation toward statements about how everyone was
great, it was a great place with great people, and everyone is brilliant. She
seemed unwilling to discuss anything beyond superficial platitudes and
seemed to measure every word very carefully. My sense was that she was
likely recording the call or at the very least was worried that I might be.

Vlaad & Co

Francis
Chan

Left VM on personal voicemail

Left VM on personal voicemail

Sent LinkedIn message

Heidi
Grantner

Administrative Synergy
Assistant

Jean Lepine

Head of
Corporate
Affairs and
Investor
Relations

Project
manager

Sent linkedin message. Included that she had to work with some "difficult"
personalities when at the firm
Only worked there for 8 months, left mid-2015

Jessica
Davis

Sent linkedin message 1/11/2017

Joshua
Bank

Worked at Catalyst in 2009
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Past Employees

Kail Ross

Katherine
Schultz

Kim
Lennert
Leanne
Henshall
Madeline
Clark
Manjot
Rana
Mark
Catania

Principal

Niska Gas
Storage,
Augyva
Mining
Resources,
New Divide
Energy
Services

Consultant,
Director, CoFounder

Seems to be involved with a bunch of weirdly structured energy
companies, including a Toronto Venture Exchange penny stock

(416) 6462656

Executive
Assistant

INFOR
Financial Inc

Executive
Assistant

Called 1.12.2017. Receptionist said that she was working from home that
day and would have to give me a call back. Linkedin: No details around
Catalyst experience although lots of details around other work experiences.
Mentioned "tolerant of various temperments". Spoke with her briefly on
1.16.2017 and she said she'd prefer not to participate. She said she didn't
want to ruffle feathers. I asked if there were any positive experiences and
she said there were both. She implied that she was afraid to say anything
given the Brandon Moyse experience that I had referenced.

N/A

N/A

Sent linkedin message 1/11/2017

1 416-5045900 (main)

Executive
Assistant
Executive
Assistant

Quark
Expeditions

Executive
Assistant

From Linkedin: "Travel arrangements using personal jets and helicopters".
"Preparation of all meeting Agendas" "Co-ordination of quarterly Advisory
Panel Meetings"

416-925-7228
(main)

Executive
Assistant
manjot.rana@gmail. Investment
com
Professional

Tricon Capital Executive
Assistant
CPP
Principal
Investment
Board

Left July 2011

Left Catalyst 2007
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Past Employees

Mark
Horrox

1 (416) 6012270 x1238
(direct)

Mary-Helen
Kistner
Melissa
Dempsey

(416) 3623658

Vice President Third Eye
Principal
Capital
Management

Mark has been gone for 3 years so not close to what happened now. Mark
managed some info on fund 3/fund 4. Mark thinks Catalyst is a large PE
firm in Canada. Its an outlier in that Canada is very relationship focused and
less transactioned focus. Deal origination/exits is the old boys network, not
necessarily putting the right pitchbook together. The value of the
relationships are typically more valuable. The antics are not much outlier
relative to others so they need to be taken in context. The reason that's
important in Canada is because its so relationship driven so they're not
likely to be the first call on a deal. In a restructuring context its not that
important because you are just taking a look at heavily discounted bonds
and figuring out what's going on. Their MO is to scrub the management
company out anyway. On the lack of realizations that is "a bigger issue".
The investments that they've made have taken longer to monetize than
they've ever thought. They've overestimated in terms of quantum or
quality. You'd want to sit in there with the finance team in terms of each
investment and how they are structuring them. Typically buying broken
businesses and typically an element of delay in their ability to make
money. It's a rare business that doesn't take operational restructuring. If
doing a fair DD on each individual asset each are quite different. When he
was there the valuations went through a fairly rigorous process. One of the
big 4 "not the auditor" was independently verifying each asset. He's not
sure what it is now as he was there 3 years ago but his sense was that there
was a process that had some independent credibility.

Receptionist

Left Catalyst 2007

Executive
Assistant

Imperial
Capital Ltd

Executive
Assistant

Michelle
Howsam
Mike
Weinczok

Left Catalyst 2009
O: 416-777- mweinczok@dickins Partner
4026, C: 416- onwright.com
301-4883

Dickinson
Wright

Partner

Sued the firm for wrongful dismissal. Called on 1/12/2017 and left VM

Millicent
Poon

Left Catalyst 2008

Olivia
Rebelo
Phil Bacal

Rachel
MacLeod

Left Catalyst 2015. Called 1/12/2017 but she's on maternity leave

Executive
Assistant
1 416 687
6590 (main)

Associate

Left 2012 after 3 months
Searchlight
Capital
Partners

Principal

Left 2012 after 2 years

Left 2011 at 3 months
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Past Employees

Sam Fleiser C: (416) 520- sfleiser@alignvest.c Former
3118, B: (416) om
Founder of
479-7345
Callidus

Northleaf
Senior
Capital
Associate
Partners
Office Manager Ingram Micro Facilities
Manager

Callidus started with his own capital and a line of credit with Wachovia.
Dearth of financing for distressed businesses in Canada. 2007 was
introduced to newton glassman at Catalyst. he wanted to get involved in
the space. They did a JV where Glassman agreed to supply $150m to
Callidus. He was always of the opinion that business financing the types of
credit had limited scalability. If you looked at their book at any point it
would turn every 14 months. If you're lending money at 18% there aren't
too many businesses that can survive for a long time paying that type of
interest. Either the companies would be successful in turning around and
migrating back to a traditional lender or they wouldn't make it and they'd
have to go into some sort of enforcement and liquidate the assets. when
they liquidated they were always in a going concern enivornment. It wasn't
scalable because the portfolio turned every 14 months, so the number of
deals you'd have to do to fund the growth with the turnover you'd have to
eventually compromise on your credit quality. The workouts become so
intense and time consuming and require a lot of expertise.
He left Callidus with a $180m portfolio. He always believed it was $150$250m Newton needed to take Callidus public. That was the end of the
relationship Sam left in 2011 and Newton proceeded with the strategy and
it’s a trainwreck waiting for a time and place to appen They've grown the
book because there's no shortage of businesses that desperately need
money. They did really bad credits when there's no such thing It was driven
by Newton's desire to get both in the portfolio. The book turns every 30
months. Credit bid and now own the businesses. Exchange technologies
has probably $80m in loan losses. They sold it at book value to Catalyst.
From an accounting perspective it disappeared off Callidus's book. It should
have been a loan loss. Bluberi is maybe worth $20m. $67m hit there. Value
of a credit where the major customer is Venezuela. Glassman is a brilliant
man intellectually. Anyone who does business with him will get screwed.
Left Catalyst October 2016, lateral move, after 2 years. Call back at 2pm. He
said he'd be reticent to talk about his experience but that I can call back in
an hour.
Left January 2015. Called 1/12/2017 but apparently she doesn't work in the
Toronto office

Stephanie
Jones

Administrative

Left 2010 after 7 months

Tabitha
Perry

Internal
Projects
Specialist
Exec Assist

Spencer
Ross

647-789-6794 spencer.ross@north Associate
(direct)
leafcapital.com

Stacey
Parsons

(800) 6683450 (main)

Tiffany King

Tradecap

Bank of
Montreal
Callidus

President

Executive
Assistant to
the CFO
Exec Assist

Left Catalyst 2013

Works for subsidiary in same position
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Past Employees

Andre Sa
Machado
Chester
Dawes

(914) 2194421

asm.one2@gmail.co Operator at
m
numerous
portfolio
416-887-9342 chester_dawes@ho CFO of Catalyst
tmail.com

Zach
1 416 324
Michaud
4392
Craig Boyer 4168849533

Zachary.Michaud@c VP Investments Colliers
VP, M&A
olliers.com
International

Had a call 2017.02.08. Left in 2016. He quit in January but formally
departed in August. Confirmed that Ann Davis was the lead auditor at
KPMG. He said Ann was a solid person and very above-board. She 'decided
not to stand for re-election' to the board but Chester could not disclose her
reasons for leaving. (The implication is that there are reasons beyond just
retirement.) Chester said that Satmex was not part of the fund at all, but
that it might have been Gabriel de Alba's dad or son which all have the
same name. (It's not the case, it was both Gabriel AND his dad but Gabriel
was involved.) He said that there was no misappropriation or anything of
that sort as he made sure of it in his capacity as CFO. He did say that there
was some different opinions regarding the valuation of the assets. He said
that one of the reasons he left is because he didn't expect to receive any
carry. He also suggested I look at preqin to see the lack of distributions for
fund II which should give an indication of how things are going. He said that
the gambling boards(Ontario and BC) did a thorough vetting of Glassman
and execs to make sure there was nothing that would disqualify them in
their backgrounds. He suggested some specific "areas of interest" to
research on some of the portfolio companies. Sonar entertainment has put
a lot of TV shows on but the board changes and the articles on the
company show the level of discord and the issues. Natural Markets there
are articles showing pictures of empty store shelves. Geneba sold a piece of
the portfolio off so that establishes some sort of real valuation. He said that
PWC does an internal valuation review after Catalyst puts their valuation
framework together so there is some level of independent oversight but he
didn't seem to place a high value on it. He suggested that the annual
general meeting decks are a good place to get information as are the
quarterly letters. Other than that the internal documentation is the best
source but he didn't seem inclined to hand any of it over. When asked how
he worked there fore 7.5 years he said he has "thick skin that's made of
Called left VM 4.5
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Company Execs
Name
Gene Stein

Phone
Email
(424) 281-5200 (main)

Jeremy Klein (405) 527-1232
Matt
Williams

Former Title
CEO @ Sonar
Entertainment
CEO @ Horizontal
Well Drillers
mwilliams@impa CEO Natural
rk.com
Markets

Current Firm
Gaumont
Television US

Current Title Notes
President
didn’t feel comfortable talking about it

Impark

Regional
Manager Eastern
Canada

COMP-62

Sent linkedin message 4/28. Was CEO in
2011 discussing an acquisition in a court
filing with rosy EBITDA projections and then
by next year he was out

https://w
ww.linkedi
n.com/in/
mattwilliams9065a559
/

288

Company Execs
Gary Fulena 847-226-8882

Andre Sa
Machado
Ms. Robin
Michel

(720) 446-0145

gfulena@gmail.c COO Advantage
om
Rent A Car

Arthon Industries
Former EVP Finance unknown
and COO at
Richtree
CEO @ Natural
Froozer
robin.s.michel323 Markets Foods
@gmail.com

COMP-63

They were the golden night that rode in 11th
hour to rescue them from Chapter 7.
Worked with Advantage. Hertz had sold
them (forced by FTC). Macquarie bought
them from Hertz. That transaction when
Macquarie bought it included Hertz leasing
25,000 cars to Advantage which was their
downfall. They were forced into bankruptcy
because the deal as was structured wasn't
good. Hertz had really put the pressure on
and was forcing them into a Chapter 7. At
last minute they were introduced to
Catalyst. The crazy thing from his
perspective is that they looked at them very
briefly with minimal due-diligence and
agreed to provide DIP financing and from
there they went through and financed a
bunch of cars even prior to purchasing them.
They went through the auction and secured
the company through the bankruptcy
auction. Gary was a little taken aback with
how little due-diligence they did. After they
bought the company they were extremely
involved. Invested a lot of money. Financed a
lot of the cars themselves. De Alba had a
couple of guys entrenched in the business.
They didn’t know or understand the business
but bright guys and did the best they could
but didn’t want to take the time to

CEO

Linkedin mail 4/27. Sued Glassman for
wrongful dismissal. Formerly worked at
Snowbear and Cable Sao for Catalyst
Emailed 4/28

289

Company Execs
Pat Brown

Matthew G.
Williams

14162882040

Colin T. West n/a

Steve Fox

(706)629-6489

n/a

Former CEO of
Natural Markets
Restaurant Corp
Former CEO of
Natural Markets
Restaurant Corp
Former CEO of
Richtree Markets

Sent linkedin message 4/28
https://www.linkedin.com/in/patrick-brown7227416/
Sent linkedin message 4/28
https://www.linkedin.com/in/matt-williams9065a559/
Passed away:
http://www.legacy.com/obituaries/montreal
gazette/obituary.aspx?pid=169157792

Automed
Owner of Bellwood
Properties, LLC/ Fox
& Brindle
Great Lakes
N64FD LLC
Newtek Automotive
Top Aces Inc

COMP-64

Address was 1216 North Wall Street,
Calhoun, GA. Mailing address also includes a
P.O. Box 1179 in Calhoun, GA
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Investors
Company
584981 Ontario
Limited

First
Ira

Aegon Investment Jon
Management

Last
Gluskin

Skaggs

Title
CoFounder

Email

Phone

Website Investments Notes
http://peo
Met with
ple.equila
r.com/bio
/iragluskingluskinsheff/sala
ry/819424
#.WHQ_7l
jskaggs@aegonu 5025603943 400 West www.aeg Fund 1/2?
emailed 4/28. On Catalysts
sa.com
Market St. onusa.co
2009 investor reference list
Louisville, m
KY

AIP MPI Partners

100 Front
St, West
Conshaho
cken PA
475-14th
Street,
Suite
1000,
Oakland
CA 94612
62
Fairfield
Drive,
Short
Hills, NJ

Alameda County
Employees
Retirement
System (ACERA)

Alan and Sharon
Portnoi

Alan

Address
333 Bay
Street
Suite
5100,
Toronto,
Ontario

Portnoi
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Sent LinkedIn mail 4/28
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Investors
Arizona State
Retirement
System

Braeside 9
Holdings Inc

Aldo

Bensadoun Founder

Con Edison
Pension

DMC (PED)
Limited

DTC Private Equity Samuel Fraundorf
IV

DWT Capital

CIO

3300 N.
Central
Ave. 14th
Fl,
Phoenix
AZ
9 Braeside
Place,
Westmou
nt,
Quebec
100 Front
St, West
Conshaho
cken PA
c/o
Golden
Arc, Inc.
444
Madison
Ave. 4th
Fl, New
York, NY
800.264.749 6075
8 (main)
Poplar
Avenue,
Memphis,
TN
1000 de la
Gauchetie
re West,
Montreal
Quebec

COMP-66

Have contact

292

Investors
Eastman Kodak
Company

John

Lane

Edelweiss
Development
(Owner)

Jayson Kuti

Director john.c.lane@kod 5857242030 343 State www.kod Fund 1/2?
of Pension ak.com
Street,
ak.com
Investmen
Rochester
ts
NY 14650

(son?)

Sent
Linkedin
Mail
4/28/2017
.
https://w
ww.linked
in.com/in/
jaysonkuti7a126013

Fednav Holdings

1000 de la
Gauchetie
re West,
Montreal
Quebec

COMP-67

Emailed new CIO (Thomas
Mucha) 1/12/2017. On
Catalyst's 2009 investor
reference list, has since left
firm for OPERS.

293

Investors
FNCD Investment
Inc. (likely owned
by the Don and
Joan Walker
Family Charity
Trust)

Foundation
John
Investments of
Ohio (Appears to
be the "Jack,
Joseph, and
Frances Searle
Charitable Trusts

LacRoske

15180
Bathurst
Street,
King City,
Ontario, ,
(also may
own
17555
Collins
Ave Unit
#2705
Sunny
Isles
Beach, FL)
https://w
ww.miami
dade.coun
tytaxes.com
/public/re
al_estate/
parcels/31
22110621
640
216.875.652 2829
3 (main)
Euclid
Avenue,
Cleveland
OH
111
Monroe
St,
Chicago IL

COMP-68

Called left VM 4/28
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Investors
GPK Investments Gerhar Kuti
d

Founder

7255
West 98th
St, Bldg 5,
Suite 150
Overland
Park,
Kansas

Harvard
Management
Private Equity

Rich

Hall

hallr@hmc.harva x6569
rd.edu

Harvard
Management
Private Equity

John

Shue

shuej@hmc.harv x6977
ard.edu

Hyperion (PED)
Limited

COMP-69

600
Atlantic
Avenue,
Boston,
MA
600
Atlantic
Avenue,
Boston,
MA
c/o
Golden
Arc, Inc.
444
Madison
Ave. 4th
Fl, New
York, NY

http://ww
w.bloomb
erg.com/r
esearch/st
ocks/priva
te/person.
asp?perso
nId=5980
477&privc
apId=3688
399&previ
ousCapId=
3688399&
previousTi
tle=Leopol
dstadt,%2
0Inc.
Emailed 1.13.2017
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Investors
J. Christopher
Reyes Trust

Jenal Investments
Inc

Jessen Family
Trust

John Searle
Charitable

561-4695600

Called left
message
with
receptioni
st. 6250
North
River
Road,
Rosemont
IL
1 Saint
Thomas
St., Suite
27A,
Toronto,
Ontario
8474468783 Called
Howard
Jessen
and he
wasn't
interested
in
speaking.
777 Bluff
Road,
Lake Bluff
111
Monroe
St,
Chicago IL

COMP-70

Contacted on 4/27 via
linkedin (Fraser)
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Investors
Johnson CAT LLC

Kinship Trust
Company

Jason

Einck

Investmen jason.einck@kins 847-291t
hiptrustco.com 1030
Profession
al

610 Fifth
Avenue,
2nd Floor,
New York,
NY
400
www.kins Fund 1/2?
Skokie
hiptrustco
Boulevard .com
, Suite 300

Kruger Inc Master
Trust

3285
Bedford
Rd.
Montreal
Quebec

KS Centoro

2450
Central
Avenue,
Windsor,
Ontario
303 W.
Madison
18th floor,
Chicago,

KTC Alternatives
Fund II LLC

COMP-71

Called left VM 4/28. On
Catalysts 2009 investor
reference list

Linkedin Mail George Bunze
on 4/28.
https://www.linkedin.com/in/
george-j-bunze966b1691/?ppe=1
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Investors
Lillard Family
Investments

M. Jude Reyes
Trust

MacArthur
Foundation

David

Greenwald

1340
North
Waukega
n Rd, Lake
Forest IL
6250
North
River
Road,
Rosemont
IL
Managing dgreenwa@macf 3129170207 140
www.mac Fund 1/2?
Director, ound.org
Dearborn found.org
Absolute
St, Suite
Return &
1100,
Fixed
Chicago,
Income
IL 60603

Manbro PE IV

McGill University
Met Life
Claudia Cromie
Insurance
Company

Called David left vm on 4/28.
On Catalysts 2009 investor
reference list

2829
Euclid
Avenue,
Cleveland
OH
Director

ccromie@metlife 9733554293 10 Park
.com
Avenue
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Fund III
www.metl Fund 1/2?
ife.com

Emailed on 4/28. On Catalysts
2009 investor reference list

Investors
Missouri State
Employees
Retirement
System
Montana Board of
Investments

Morgan Stanley

Karl

Morgan Stanley
AIP

John

907
Wildwood
Drive,
Jefferson
City, MO
2401
Colonial
Drive 3rd
Fl, Helena
Montana
Beinkampen Executive karl.beinkampen 6102607614 One
www.mor Fund 1/2?
Director, @morganstanley
Tower
ganstanle
Portfolio .com
Bridge,
y.com
Manager
100 Front
St, Suite
1100,
West
Conshaho
cken, PA
19428
Wolak
CIO
john.wolak@mor (610) 940- Conshaho
ganstanley.com 5000
cken
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On Catalysts 2009 investor
reference list

Called got transferred to
voicemail then sent email.
John suggested I give Ed
Goldstein a call. Ed covers
Catalyst

299

Investors
Morgan Stanley
AIP

Ed

Goldstein

edward.goldstein
@morganstanley
.com

610-2607330

Morgan Stanley
Private Markets
Fund IV

100 Front
St, West
Conshaho
cken PA
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He's on the advisory board for
fund 2/3/4. Good market
story- the empirical evidence
is waiting to be seen. Newton
difficult to manage and
unique personality. The
constants are he and Gabriel.
The team has churned.
Newton and Gabriel are in
ways like Obama and Biden.
Newton is very effusive with
his praise of Gabriel which
sounds non-authentic.
Operational issues related to
the funds that would not be
difficult to uncover. The
notion that they're investing
in relative protective markets
in an inefficient landscape.
The real estate business in
Europe. Guarantee to
backstop loan to PanAm-they
sat on a massive guarantee
and use of capital. "Fund
hygeine". Fund is very
overcommitted and tons of
cross-over between funds
which is "a problem for a lot
of reasons". 2 issues with
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Investors
MSF Private
Equity Fund

25701
Science
Park
Drive,
Cleveland
OH
1201
North
Market
Street,
Wilmingto
n DE
2829
Euclid
Avenue,
Cleveland
OH
4900
Main
Street,
Kansas
City, MO
1201 N.
Market
Street,
Suite
1501,
Wilmingto
n, DE

Nuclear Electric
Insurance Limited

Partners Fund LLC

PCM Private
Equity III

PCT Partners LLC
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Investors
Portmore
Holdings Ltd

Cayman
Corporate
Center,
3rd Fl, 27
Hospital
Road, P.O.
Box 10741
George
Town,
Grand
Cayman,
KY1-1007
Cayman
Islands
213
Washingt
on St.
Newark,
NJ
213
Washingt
on St.
Newark,
NJ
1
Corporate
Drive PO
Box 884,
Shelton,
Connectic
ut
751 Broad
St,
Newark,
NJ

Pruco Life
Insurance
Company

Pruco Life
Insurance
Company of New
Jersey
Prudential
Annuities Life
Assurance
Corporation

Prudential
Insurance
Company of
America
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Investors
Robert Wood
Johnson
Foundation

Rt 1 and
College
Road East,
Princeton,
NJ

Rockefeller
Saint-Zotique
Holdings Inc

2300
EmileBelanger,
Montreal,
Quebec
Centennia
l Place,
East
Tower,
1900-520
Third Ave
SW,
Calgary
111
Monroe
St,
Chicago IL
c/o
Northern
Trust. 801
South
Canal,
Chicago IL
150 King
Street
West,
Toronto
Ontario

Sea Dog Holdings

SFT Distressed
Securities

Sidley Austin
Master Pension
Trust

Sun Life
Assurance
Company of
Canada
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Investors
Tetral S.A.

The Rose
Company

Avenue
GeneralGuisan 70,
1009 Pully
Switzerlan
d
Norma Kraftchuk
n

VP

416-4493535

Universal
Prudential
Arizona
Reinsurance
Company
University of
Michigan

Verdis
Investments

Jamie

Dranoff

Senior
Analyst

http://ww
w.therose
co.com/a
bout/
2999
North
44th St,
Phoenix
AZ
101 North
Main
Street,
Suite 525,
Ann
Arbor, MI
200 Four
Falls
Corporate
Center
Conshaho
cken, PA
500 Grant
St,
Pittsburg,
PA

jdranoff@viosca
pital.com

WK Kellogg
Foundation
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Spoke with

Called spoke to receptionist

Industry Sources
Name
Mark Warnken
Mike Evans
Sander Doucette
Brendan Connor
Will Repath
Brey
Nick Gibbons

Firm
Bessemer
Rocaton
Hamilton
College
Grosvenor
Genspring
StepStone
Citadel LLC

Type
Industry Consultant
Industry Consultant
PE Investor
PE Investor
PE Investor
Industry Consultant
PE Investor

Phone

(212) 652-8918

Email

Notes

Spoke to Nick (cold call)
and he said he'd connect
with me offline
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Catalyst v West Face et al.
James Riley on 10/27/2020

1

385
A.

That I do not know.

Certainly it

2

was at that time that we -- that for sure that name

3

came up, but I don't recall prior to that.

4

MR. MOORE:

Mr. Lung, my recollection,

5

and I could be mistaken here, but my recollection

6

is that Mr. Anderson's name may well have come up

7

in some of the correspondence from Reuters in June

8

or early July, but I am going from memory when I

9

say that.

10

THE DEPONENT:

But my memory, and I

11

would have to go back and look at it for sure, is

12

that they mentioned McFarlane and Baumann.

13

believe that they mentioned ClaritySpring or

14

Anderson, but if you want, we can go back and check

15

that, the Reuters information.

16

U/T

17
18

MR. DEARDEN:

I don't

We'll check.

BY MR. LUNG:
1002

Q.

So in this case, Mr. Anderson

19

prepared -- he conducted research on Catalyst and

20

Callidus and he prepared a whistleblower report

21

that he delivered to the OSC; is that right?

22
23

326

1003

A.

Yes.

Q.

And would you agree with me that

24

there is nothing wrong with a member of the public

25

like Mr. Anderson researching the conduct of a
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386

public company like Callidus?

2

A.

I question how that research is

3

used and whether it is accurate, and I think that

4

the exhibit --

5

1004

6
7
8

Q.

Well, the question is --

A.

-- to which the Wall Street

Journal article is not correct.
1005

9

Q.

Okay, but the question is whether

you would agree that there is nothing wrong with a

10

member of the public researching the conduct of a

11

public company?

12
13

1006

A.

Like Callidus, yes.

Q.

And that person would have no

14

obligation to tell the public company that it is

15

doing that research; is that fair?

16

A.

I -- my concern is that I believe

17

that that kind of information, if it is being put

18

into the marketplace, should be accurate.

19

1007

Q.

Mr. Riley, Catalyst as part of its

20

normal business regularly conducts research on

21

public companies and --

22
23

327

1008

A.

Sorry, did you say Catalyst?

Q.

Yes, so as part of its business,

24

isn't it fair to say that it regularly conducts

25

research on public companies to determine whether
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1

they are potential acquisition targets or, you

2

know, potential investments; isn't that fair?

3

A.

Well, we do that research for the

4

purpose of determining whether we want to acquire a

5

security in that company and use that security as a

6

way of restructuring.

7

purpose -- we do our own assessment as to what the

8

value of that security is and what its utility

9

would be in a restructuring.

10

1009

Q.

So we use it for the

That is what you --

And do you feel that you have an

11

obligation to tell the public company that you are

12

researching that you are doing the research?

13

A.

Those companies are usually in

14

insolvency proceedings or in the vicinity of

15

insolvency proceedings, but we might --

16

1010

Q.

But does Catalyst --

A.

We might interact with them.

Q.

You might or --

19

A.

In order to make sure that we have

20

got the right information.

17
18

21

1011

1012

Q.

328

But are you saying that Catalyst

22

has an obligation to tell public companies that

23

they were doing research on their business --

24

A.

25

[Court Reporter intervenes for

No, no legal obligation.
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1
2

clarification.]
1013

Q.

3

Okay, let's reset this one.

The question for you is will you agree

4

with me that Mr. Anderson did not have an

5

obligation to tell Callidus that he was doing

6

research on their business, on its business?

7
8

1014

9
10

1015

11
12

1016

A.

No.

Q.

You wouldn't agree with me?

A.

No.

Q.

So you would agree with me?

A.

Yes.

Q.

And you would expect a person who

He has no obligation.

13

is doing that type of research would take certain

14

steps to verify the accuracy of information that he

15

is receiving; is that fair?

16
17
18

1017

1018

22

documents?

23

25

He should absolutely take those

Q.

And those steps might include or

probably include reading available documents?

20

24

A.
steps.

19

21

329

1019
that?

A.

Yes.

Q.

Obtaining and reviewing available

It is pretty easy stuff.
A.

Yes.

Q.

But those steps would include

Those steps would include that; is that
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1

1020

A.

Yes.

Q.

And they would include speaking to

4

people who have information and knowledge about the

5

business?

6
7

1021

A.

Yes.

Q.

And in the case of Callidus, you

8

would expect that person to speak to borrowers of

9

Callidus; isn't that fair?

10

A.

Well, actually, it is interesting.

11

I think our loan agreements have confidentiality

12

provisions so that discussing the lending

13

arrangements is actually probably a breach of the

14

loan agreement.

15

think if he was dealing with people who were

16

disgruntled, I think he has to have a higher level

17

of caution.

18

330

right?

2
3

389

1022

Q.

The other is in that assessment, I

But you would expect a person like

19

Mr. Anderson to speak to people like borrowers to

20

learn more about Callidus, wouldn't you, as part of

21

his process of verifying the information that he is

22

receiving?

23

A.

I think I have answered that,

24

haven't I?

25

it is the same question that you asked a few

I think I have answered that.
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OSC POLICY 15-601
WHISTLEBLOWER PROGRAM
PART 1 — PURPOSE AND INTERPRETATION
Purpose
The Ontario Securities Commission (the Commission) has adopted OSC Policy 15601 Whistleblower Program (the Policy) to
provide guidance on:
the Whistleblower Program (the Program)that has been implemented by the Commission;
the practices generally followed by the Commission and by Staff of the Commission (Commission Staff) in
administering the Program in accordance with the requirements of Ontario securities law;
the nature of the information that may be eligible for the payment of a financial incentive (whistleblower award)
and the criteria that would make an individual eligible for a whistleblower award; and
the factors considered by:(i) Commission Staff in recommending that a whistleblower be eligible for the payment
of a whistleblower award and the amount of a whistleblower award; and (ii) the Commission in determining a
whistleblower's eligibility and the amount of the whistleblower award.
The Commission has implemented the Program to encourage individuals to report information on serious securities- or derivativesrelated misconduct (excluding tips related to criminal or quasi-criminals matters) to the Commission or, where appropriate in the
circumstances, through an internal compliance and reporting mechanism. The Commission believes that the Program may assist
in preventing or limiting harm to investors that may result from such misconduct.
The Program is established in furtherance of the Commission's mandate to provide protection to investors from unfair, improper
or fraudulent practices and to foster fair and efficient capital markets and confidence in capital markets. It is also in keeping with
the principle that effective and responsive securities regulation requires timely, open and efficient administration and enforcement
of the Ontario Securities Act, RSO 1990, c S5, as amended (the Act) by the Commission.
Under the Program, individuals who meet certain eligibility criteria and who voluntarily submit information to Commission Staff
regarding a breach of Ontario securities law may be eligible for a whistleblower award if it is determined that the information
submitted was of meaningful assistance to Commission Staff in investigating the matter and obtaining a decision of the
Commission that results in a final order imposing monetary sanctions and/or the making of a voluntary payment of $1,000,000 or
more.
Definitions
1.

In the Policy

"award eligible outcome" means a Commission order made under section 127 of the Act or section 60 of the Commodity Futures
Act(Ontario), RSO 1990,c C.20, as amended (the CFA),including without limitation an order made in connection with the approval
of a settlement, as modified as a result of any appeal, that results in the imposition of total monetary sanctions against, and/or the
making of voluntary payments by, one or more respondents in an amount of $1,000,000 or more and the later of the following has
occurred:
(a)

the appeal period in section 9 of the Act or section 5 of the CFA has expired; or

(b)

the right to appeal the Commission's decision has been exhausted;

"information that has been voluntarily submitted" means:

1

(a)

information that the whistleblower voluntarily provided to the Commission before a request, inquiry or summons
related to the subject matter of the information provided, was directed at the whistleblower or anyone
representing the whistleblower, by the Commission, another securities regulator, an SRO,or a law enforcement
agency;

(b)

information that the whistleblower voluntarily provided to another securities regulator, a securities-related SRO
or a law enforcement agency, before receiving a request, inquiry or summons from the Commission; and

Offences pursued under section 122 of the Ontario Securities Act, RSO 1990, c S5.
(2018),41 OSCB 7745

October 4,2018
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(c)

excludes information:

(i)

provided in response to a request, inquiry or summons by the Commission, another securities
regulatory authority, an SRO or a law enforcement agency; or

(ii)

that is required to be reported by the whistleblower to the Commission, another securities regulatory
authority, an SRO or a law enforcement agency, as a result of a pre-existing legal duty;

"internal compliance and reporting mechanism" includes an individual's supervisor, a whistleblower hotline, an ombudsman, the
compliance department, or any other established mechanism for reporting misconduct at the entity at which the individual works;
"monetary sanctions" include administrative penalties ordered under paragraphs 127(1)9 of the Act or 60(1)9 of the CFA and
disgorgement ordered under paragraphs 127(1) 10 of the Act or 60(1) 10 of the CFA;
"Ontario securities law" includes Ontario securities law, as that term is defined in subsection 1(1) of the Act, and Ontario commodity
futures law, as that term is defined in subsection 1(1) of the CFA;
"original information" means:
information that is not already known to the Commission from any other source, that the whistleblower obtained:

(a)

from the whistleblower's independent knowledge, derived from the whistleblower's experiences,
communications and observations in employment, business or social interactions; or
(ii)

from the whistleblower's critical analysis of publicly available information, if the analysis reveals
information that is not generally known or available to the public; and

excludes information the whistleblower obtained in the following circumstances•

(b)

through a communication that was subject to solicitor-client privilege;
(ii)

from an allegation made in a judicial or administrative hearing, an enforcement matter of a securitiesrelated self-regulatory organization (SRO), a government report, hearing, audit or investigation, or
news media, unless the whistleblower is the source of the information; or

(iii)

by a means or in a manner that violates applicable criminal law;

"voluntary payments" mean payments made to the Commission, excluding any costs voluntarily paid;
"whistleblower means an individual, or two or more individuals acting jointly, who:
(a)

voluntarily provide(s) original information relating to a violation of Ontario securities law that has occurred, is
ongoing or is about to occur, to the Commission; and

(b)

submit(s)the information in the form described in sections 2 or 3 of the Policy;

"whistleblower award" means a financial award that the Commission determines should be paid to an eligible whistleblower
following an award eligible outcome in an enforcement proceeding through the process described in section 22 of the Policy.
PART 2 — HOW TO SUBMIT ORIGINAL INFORMATION TO THE WHISTLEBLOWER PROGRAM
Procedure for submitting original information
2.

The Commission expects whistleblowers who submit original information to the Program to:
(a)

complete the whistleblower submission form available at www.officeofthewhistleblower.ca;

(b)

read and certify in writing, among other things, that the whistleblower has read and understands the Policy and
has submitted information that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, is true and complete;

(c)

be aware that it is an offence under subsection 122(1) of the Act or subsection 55(1) of the CFA to make a
statement to the Commission that is misleading or untrue or does not state a fact that is required to be stated

(2018),41 OSCB 7746

October 4,2018
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to make the statement not misleading and that the whistleblower may be prosecuted for knowingly providing
misleading or untrue information to the Commission; and
(d)

submit the completed whistleblower submission form and certification online, or send it by mail to the address
in section 27 of the Policy.

Procedure for submitting original information anonymously
3.

A whistleblower may submit original information to the Program anonymously if:
(a)

the whistleblower is represented by a lawyer;

(b)

,the whistleblower completes the whistleblower submission form described in 2(a), signs the certification
described in 2(b), and provides the completed and signed form to the whistleblower's lawyer;

(c)

the whistleblower's lawyer completes the whistleblower submission form available at www.officeofthe
whistleblower.ca on an anonymous basis on behalf of the whistleblower;

(d)

the whistleblower's lawyer reads and certifies in writing, among other things, that the lawyer has been provided
with a completed and signed whistleblower submission form by the whistleblower; and

(e)

the whistleblower's lawyer submits the completed anonymous whistleblower submission form and lawyer
certification online or sends it by mail to the address in section 27 of the Policy.

Anonymous whistleblowers
4.

Before any payment of a whistleblower award will be made to a whistleblower who has provided information on an
anonymous basis under section 3 of the Policy, the Commission will generally require the whistleblower to provide the
Commission with his or her identity, and any additional information necessary to enable the Commission to verify that
the whistleblower is not ineligible for a whistleblower award under section 15 of the Policy.

Whistleblower assistance
5. (1) Beyond the whistleblower's initial submission, Commission Staff may request that a whistleblower provide certain
additional information, including:
(a)

explanations and other assistance so that Commission Staff may evaluate and use the information submitted
by the whistleblower;

(b)

where the whistleblower has knowledge of documents that support the whistleblower's submission to the
Program but does not have possession of the documents, a description of, and, when known, a precise location
for the documents;

(c)

all additional information in the whistleblower's possession that is related to the subject matter of the
whistleblower's submission, except information subject to solicitor-client privilege or obtained by a means or in
a manner that constitutes a criminal offence under applicable law;

(d)

testimony at a Commission proceeding, if necessary; and

(e)

information relating to whether the whistleblower is eligible for a whistleblower award.

(2) Commission Staff do not expect a whistleblower to obtain documents or other things that are not in the whistleblower's
possession or control.
Use of information and documents submitted
6.

Information or documents submitted to the Commission by a whistleblower are collected in accordance with Ontario
securities law.

7.

The Commission has no obligation to use the information or documents submitted by a whistleblower. Regardless of
whether the information or documents submitted by a whistleblower ultimately results in the payment of a whistleblower
award, the Commission may still use the information or documents for any purpose in carrying out its mandate.

(2018), 41 OSCB 7747
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8. (1) Any documents or things provided to the Commission may be used by the Commission, in its discretion, to determine
whether there has been a violation of Ontario securities law.
(2) Any documents or things provided to the Commission will not be returned to the person who submitted the documents
or things.
Confidentiality of information
9.

The Commission expects that whistleblowers will maintain as confidential any information provided to a whistleblower by
Commission Staff or of which the whistleblower becomes aware because of the whistleblower's ongoing participation in
the investigation of a matter.

Obtaining information about the status of a matter
10. (1) Commission Staff will generally not provide information about the status of a matter to a whistleblower or make public
any information about a matter it may be investigating, including whether an investigation has been undertaken. This is
in part because of Commission Staffs duty to comply with section 16 of the Act and section 12 of the CFA, as described
in OSC Staff Notice 15-703 Guidelines for Staff Disclosure of Investigations.
(2) Commission Staff may communicate information about a matter to a whistleblower in the following circumstances:
(a)

if no further action is to be taken on the basis of the information provided by the whistleblower, or if a decision
is made not to proceed with the matter, Commission Staff may, in Commission Staff's discretion, inform the
whistleblower who provided the information but need not provide an explanation or reasons;

(b)

if the information provided by the whistleblower leads to an investigation, this fact will not be communicated to
the whistleblower unless it is necessary for Commission Staff to inform the whistleblower of the investigation in
order to proceed with the investigation;

(c)

once there is a public announcement of a notice of hearing, statement of allegations or settlement agreement,
communication with a whistleblower who submitted information to the Program is in the discretion of
Commission Staff;

(d)

if there has been an award eligible outcome, and the Commission needs to determine whether the whistleblower
is eligible for a whistleblower award, Commission Staff may contact the whistleblower to request additional
information to confirm the whistleblower's eligibility for an award.
PART 3 — WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

Confidentiality
11. (1) Commission Staff will make all reasonable efforts to keep the identity of a whistleblower, and information that could be
reasonably expected to reveal the whistleblower's identity, confidential, subject to the following exceptions:
(a)

when required by law, including circumstances where Commission Staff is required to make disclosure of the
whistleblower's identity in connection with an administrative proceeding under section 127 of the Act or section
60 of the CFA in order to permit a respondent to make full answer and defence; or

(b)

subject to subsection (2), when Commission Staff determines that it is necessary for the purposes of the Act or
the CFA to disclose the information to any of the entities listed in section 153 of the Act or section 85 of the
CFA.

Consent to disclose to another regulatory authority
(2) The Commission will not disclose the whistleblower's identity, or information that could be reasonably expected to reveal
the whistleblower's identity, to any of the entities listed in section 153 of the Act or section 85 of the CFA without the
whistleblower's consent.
Freedom of information
12. (1) The Commission will recommend that requests for information relating to a whistleblower's identity, or information that
could be reasonably expected to reveal the whistleblower's identity, made under the Freedom of Information and
Personal Protection ofPrivacy Act(FOIPPA) be denied based on:
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(a)

section 14(1)(d) of FOIPPA, which provides protection for confidential sources of information in a law
enforcement context; and

(b)

section 21(3)(b) of FOIPPA, which protects personal information that has been compiled as part of an
investigation into the possible violation of the law.

(2) In the Commission's view,sections 14(1)(d)or 21(3)(b)of FOIPPA would apply to information provided to the Commission
by a whistleblower.
(3) The Commission cannot guarantee that requests for information made under FOIPPA and relating to a whistleblower's
identity, or information that could be reasonably expected to reveal the whistleblower's identity, will not be disclosed,
because the final decision with respect to access to records resides with the Information and Privacy Commissioner of
Ontario or a court of competent jurisdiction.
No reprisals
13.

Section 121.5 of the Act prohibits reprisals by an employer against an employee in certain circumstances and voids
certain contractual provisions between employers and employees that preclude or purport to preclude whistleblowers
from reporting securities- or derivatives-related misconduct to their employers, the Commission, recognized selfregulatory organizations or law enforcement agencies, which may include employee codes of conduct that would impede
such reporting. This provision may be enforced under section 122 or 127 of the Act.
PART 4 — ELIGIBILITY FOR A WHISTLEBLOWER AWARD

Information eligible for a whistleblower award
14. (1) The Commission expects that information that will be eligible for a whistleblower award under the Program will relate to
a serious violation of Ontario securities law and will be
(a)

original information;

(b)

information that has been voluntarily submitted;

(c)

of high quality and contain sufficient timely, specific and credible facts relating to the alleged violation of Ontario
securities law; and

(d)

of meaningful assistance to Commission Staff in investigating the matter and obtaining an award eligible
outcome.

(2) The Commission expects all of the criteria in subsection (1) to be met before the Commission makes a whistleblower
award. Information that meets only some of the criteria, such as information from an investor who believes that he or she
has suffered a loss as a result of an alleged breach of Ontario securities law, would generally not be eligible because the
information would not ordinarily meet the criteria set out in paragraphs (1)(c) and (d). The Commission recognizes that
there may be circumstances when an investor may submit information of sufficient depth and quality to meet all of the
criteria in subsection (1)and may therefore be eligible for a whistleblower award.
(3) No whistleblower award will be provided for information that Commission Staff determines is:
(a)

misleading or untrue;

(b)

speculative or lacks specificity;

(c)

subject to solicitor client privilege;

(d)

publicly known;

(e)

obtained by a means or in a manner that constitutes a criminal offence under applicable law; or

(f)

not related to a violation of Ontario securities law.
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Whistleblowers who are ineligible for a whistleblower award
15. (1) Subject to the exceptions in subsection (2), whistleblowers in one or more of the following categories will generally be
considered ineligible for a whistleblower award:
(a)

those who without good reason refused a request for additional information from Commission Staff under section
5 of the Policy;

(b)

those who disclosed information provided to a whistleblower by Commission Staff or of which the whistleblower
becomes aware because of the whistleblower's ongoing participation in the investigation of a matter, contrary
to section 9 of the Policy;

(c)

those who obtained information in connection with providing legal services to, or conducting the legal
representation of, a client that is, or that employs, the subject of the whistleblower submission, unless disclosure
of that information would otherwise be permitted by a lawyer under applicable provincial or territorial bar or law
society rules, or the equivalent rules applicable in another jurisdiction;

(d)

those who obtained information in connection with providing legal services to, or conducting the legal
representation of, an employer that is, or that employs, the subject of the whistleblower submission, unless
disclosure of that information would otherwise be permitted by a lawyer under applicable provincial or territorial
bar or law society rules, or the equivalent rules applicable in another jurisdiction;

(e)

those who obtained information in connection with providing internal audit or external assurance services to, or
conducting an internal or financial audit of, a client or employer that is, or that employs, the subject of the
whistleblower submission, unless disclosure of that information would otherwise be permitted by an auditor
under the applicable rules of professional conduct;

(f)

those who obtained information while conducting an inquiry or investigation into possible violations of law by a
client or employer that is, or that employs, the subject of the whistleblower submission;

(g)

those who were directors or officers of the entity that is, or that employs, the subject of the whistleblower
submission at the time the information was acquired;

(h)

those who had job responsibilities as Chief Compliance Officers(CCO)of or a functionally equivalent position
at the entity that is, or that employs, the subject of the whistleblower submission at the time the information was
acquired;

(i)

those who are or were employed by or an independent contractor for the Commission, another securities
regulatory authority, an SRO or a law enforcement agency at the time the information was acquired;

(j)

a spouse, parent, child, sibling or resident of the same household of an employee,former employee or contractor
of the Commission, another securities regulatory authority, an SRO or a law enforcement agency at the time
the information was acquired;

(k)

those who acquired the information from a person who is ineligible for a whistleblower award, unless the
information is about a possible violation of Ontario securities law involving that person;
those who have been convicted of a criminal offence in relation to the subject matter of the matter for which the
whistleblower could otherwise receive an award;

(m)

those who, in their dealings with the Commission, knowingly make statements or submit information that is
misleading or untrue or does not state a fact that is required to be stated to make the statement not misleading;

(n)

those who make a frivolous, vexatious or meritless submission to the Program; or

(o)

those who obtained or provided the information in circumstances which would bring the administration of the
Program into disrepute.

Exceptions
(2) A whistleblower listed in paragraphs (1)(€1)to (h) may be eligible for a whistleblower award if:
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(a)

the whistleblower has a reasonable basis to believe that disclosure of the information to the Commission is
necessary to prevent the subject of the whistleblower submission from engaging in conduct that is likely to cause
or continue to cause substantial injury to the financial interest or property of the entity or investors;

(b)

the whistleblower has a reasonable basis to believe the subject of the whistleblower submission is engaging in
conduct that will impede an investigation of the misconduct; or

(c)

at least 120 days have elapsed since the whistleblower provided the information to the relevant entity's audit
committee, chief legal officer, CCO (or their respective functional equivalents) or the individual's supervisor, or,
at least 120 days have elapsed since the whistleblower received the information, if in the circumstances the
whistleblower received the information, the whistleblower became aware that one or more of those individuals
were already aware of the information.

Internal reporting
16. (1) The Commission encourages whistleblowers who are employees to report potential violations of Ontario securities law
in the workplace through an internal compliance and reporting mechanism in accordance with their employer's internal
compliance and reporting protocols. However, the Commission does not require whistleblowers to do so, recognizing
that there may be circumstances in which a whistleblower may appropriately wish not to report to an internal compliance
and reporting mechanism.
(2) If a whistleblower reports information about a violation of Ontario securities law to an internal compliance and reporting
mechanism, and the whistleblower's employer organization provides the whistleblower's information to the Commission,
or the results of an audit or investigation initiated in response to information reported by the whistleblower to the employer
organization, and an award eligible outcome results from that self-report, the whistleblower may be entitled to a
whistleblower award provided the whistleblower reports the same information to the Commission within 120 days of the
initial internal report.
(3) If a whistleblower submits information about a violation of Ontario securities law to the Commission but delays doing so
to permit the whistleblower's employer organization to respond to a report made by the whistleblower to an internal
compliance and reporting mechanism, and another whistleblower has in the intervening period submitted information
about the same violation of Ontario securities law to the Commission, the Commission will generally consider the timing
of the initial internal report in determining who submitted the information first, provided that not more than 120 days have
passed since the initial internal report.
Culpable whistleblowers
17. (1) A whistleblower who is complicit in the violation of Ontario securities law about which the whistleblower submitted
information to the Commission may nonetheless be eligible for a whistleblower award.
(2) The degree to which a whistleblower is complicit in the conduct that is the subject of the information provided to the
Commission is a factor that may decrease the amount of any whistleblower award that may be made.
(3) In determining whether the required $1,000,000 threshold for an award eligible outcome has been satisfied for the
purposes of making any whistleblower award, the Commission will not take into account any voluntary payments made
by a complicit whistleblower or monetary sanctions that a complicit whistleblower is ordered to pay, or that are ordered
against any entity whose liability is based substantially on conduct that the whistleblower directed, planned or initiated.
(4) Any portion of the voluntary payment made by, and/or monetary sanctions awarded against, a whistleblower who is
complicit in the violation of Ontario securities law reported to the Commission, will be deducted from any whistleblower
award paid to a complicit whistleblower.
(5) The provision of information to the Commission by a culpable whistleblower does not preclude the Commission from
taking enforcement action against the whistleblower for the whistleblower's role in the violation of Ontario securities law.
PART 5 — WHISTLEBLOWER AWARDS
Amount of whistleblower award
18. (1) If there is an award eligible outcome,the Commission will pay an eligible whistleblower a whistleblower award of between
5 and 15% of the total monetary sanctions imposed and/or voluntary payments made in the relevant proceeding or
multiple related proceedings.
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(2) The Commission will determine the percentage amount of the whistleblower award based on the factors set out in section
25 of the Policy.
(3) If multiple related proceedings arise based on information provided by a whistleblower, the total monetary sanctions
imposed and/or voluntary payments made in each proceeding will be considered to determine whether the $1,000,000
threshold for an award eligible outcome has been met.
(4) If the total monetary sanctions imposed and/or voluntary payments made in a proceeding, or multiple related proceedings,
is equal to or greater than $10,000,000, the maximum amount of any whistleblower award is $1,500,000 subject to
subsection (5).
(5) If the total monetary sanctions imposed and/or voluntary payments made in a proceeding, or multiple related proceedings,
is equal to or greater than $10,000,000, and the Commission collects monetary sanctions and/or voluntary payments in
respect of that proceeding in an amount equal to or greater than $10,000,000, the whistleblower award will not be limited
to $1,500,000 and the whistleblower may receive a whistleblower award of between 5 and 15% of the monetary sanctions
or voluntary payments collected from that proceeding to a maximum of $5,000,000.
Enforcement outcome eligible for a whistleblower award
19.

To receive a whistleblower award, the Commission generally expects that a whistleblower will be eligible and have
voluntarily provided original information that was of meaningful assistance to Commission Staff in an administrative
proceeding under section 127 of the Act or section 60 of the CFA that resulted in an award eligible outcome following a
hearing or a settlement.

No award — circumstances
20.

The Commission will generally not make a whistleblower award if:
(a)

the information submitted is not eligible under section 14;

(b)

the whistleblower is not eligible under section 15; or

(c)

the outcome of any proceeding resulting from a whistleblower submission is not an award eligible outcome (e.g.,
the matter is pursued quasi-criminally, the voluntary payments made and/or monetary sanctions ordered are
less than $1,000,000 or the Commission's decision to order monetary sanctions is overturned on appeal).

Timeframe for an award
21.

The Commission works to conclude enforcement proceedings as efficiently as possible but it may take several years or
more from the date a whistleblower submits the whistleblower submission form and certification until an administrative
proceeding under section 127 of the Act or section 60 of the CFA has been concluded or a settlement reached, monetary
sanctions have been ordered or voluntary payments made and the respondent's appeal rights have expired, and a
whistleblower award can be made.

Whistleblower award process
22. (1) At the conclusion of any administrative proceeding under section 127 of the Act or section 60 of the CFA brought based
on information submitted by a whistleblower, Commission Staff will prepare a recommendation containing an analysis of:
(a)

the eligibility of the whistleblower for a whistleblower award, with reference to Part 4 of the Policy; and

(b)

the amount and effectiveness of assistance provided by the whistleblower based on the award criteria with
reference to section 25 of the Policy.

The recommendation will be prepared at this time to ensure that timely information is considered even if any appeals are
not yet exhausted, but the quantum may require adjustment as a result of any appeals.
Staff Committee
(2) A Commission Staff committee (the Staff Committee), including the Director of Enforcement, will review the Commission
Staff recommendation.
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Staff Committee recommendation
(3) The Staff Committee will then make a recommendation that will be provided to the Commission regarding the
whistleblower's eligibility and, if eligible, the recommended amount for the whistleblower award.
Eligibility — additional information
(4) To help the Staff Committee and the Commission assess whether a whistleblower is eligible for a whistleblower award,
the Commission or Commission Staff may request additional information from the whistleblower.
Commission discretion
(5) The Commission will review the Staff Committee recommendations and determine if a whistleblower is eligible for a
whistleblower award, and if so, may exercise its discretion to modify the amount of the whistleblower award recommended
by the Staff Committee.
Authorization for payment of whistleblower award
23.

The Commission will authorize the payment of a whistleblower award to a whistleblower once the Commission has
determined:
(a)

that the whistleblower is eligible;

(b)

that there was an award eligible outcome; and

(c)

the amount to be awarded.

Public disclosure
24.

The Commission may publicly disclose that a whistleblower award has been paid without disclosing the identity of the
whistleblower.

Determining amount of whistleblower award
25. (1) In exercising its discretion to determine the appropriate percentage of a whistleblower award, the Commission may
consider the factors set out in subsection (2)and (3) and may increase or decrease the percentage of the whistleblower
award based on its analysis of the factors, and/or use the factors to determine how to apportion an award among multiple
whistleblowers, if applicable in the circumstances.
Factors that may increase the amount of a whistleblower award
(2) The following factors may increase the amount of a whistleblower award:
Timing of Report
(a)

the timeliness of the whistleblower's initial report to the Commission or to an internal reporting mechanism of
the entity involved in committing, or impacted by, the violation of Ontario securities law;

Significance ofinformation
(b)

the significance of the information provided by the whistleblower, including:
(i)

whether the information provided by the whistleblower caused Commission Staff to open an
investigation or broaden the scope of an existing investigation;

(ii)

the truthfulness, reliability and completeness of the information;

(iii)

whether the allegations in the proceeding related, in whole or in part, to violations of Ontario securities
law identified by the whistleblower; or

(iv)

the degree to which the information meaningfully contributed to a successful investigation of the
violation and obtaining an award eligible outcome;
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Degree of assistance
(c)

the level of assistance the whistleblower provided to Commission Staff, including:
whether the whistleblower provided ongoing, extensive and timely cooperation and assistance by, for
example, helping to explain complex transactions, interpreting key evidence, or identifying new and
productive lines of inquiry; or
(ii)

whether the whistleblower appropriately encouraged or authorized others who might not otherwise
have participated in the investigation to assist Commission Staff;

Impact on Investigation or Proceeding
(d)

as a result of the whistleblower's assistance, less time was needed to investigate or bring an enforcement
proceeding;

Remediation and recovery
(e)

the whistleblower's efforts to remedy the harm caused by the violations of Ontario securities law that were
reported, including assisting the authorities in recovering any amounts obtained as a result of non-compliance
with the Act or the CFA;

Internal compliance and reporting systems
(f)

(g)

whether and the extent to which, the whistleblower or any legal representative of the whistleblower participated
in internal compliance and reporting systems by:

(i)

reporting the possible violations of Ontario securities law through an internal compliance and reporting
mechanism before, or at the same time as, reporting them to the Commission; or

(ii)

assisting in any intemal investigation or inquiry concerning the reported violations.

the impact the whistleblower's report to the Commission or an internal compliance and reporting mechanism
had on the behavior of the person or entity that committed the violation, for example by causing the person or
entity to promptly correct the violation;

Unique hardship
(h)

any unique hardships experienced by the whistleblower resulting from the whistleblower's report to the
Commission or an internal compliance and reporting mechanism;

Contribution to the Commission's mandate
the degree to which providing an award to the whistleblower would:

(I)

enhance the Commission's ability to pursue the purposes of the Act or the CFA;

(ii)

encourage the submission of high quality information from other whistleblowers, having regard to the
whistleblower's submission of significant information and meaningful assistance, even when the
monetary sanctions available for collection were limited or potential monetary sanctions were reduced
or eliminated by the Commission because, for example, the entity self-reported following the
whistleblower's report to an internal reporting mechanism;

Contribution to the Commission's priorities
a)

whether the subject matter of the action is a Commission priority because:
the reported misconduct involved regulated entities or fiduciaries;
(ii)

the violations of securities laws were particularly serious given the nature of the violation, the age and
duration of the violation, the number of violations and the repetitive or ongoing nature of the violations;
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(iii)

the danger to investors or others presented by the violations involved in the enforcement actions,
including the amount of harm or potential harm caused by the underlying violations, the type of harm
resulting from or threatened by the underlying violations, and the number of individuals or entities
harmed; or

(iv)

without the information, Commission Staff would have been unable or unlikely to investigate the
matter.

Factors that may decrease the amount of a whistleblower award
(3)

The following factors may decrease the amount of a whistleblower award:
Erroneous or incomplete information
(a)

the information provided by the whistleblower was difficult for Commission Staff to use because, for example,
the whistleblower had little knowledge of the violation of Ontario securities law, or the information provided by
the whistleblower contained errors, was incomplete or lacking in detail, unclear or not organized;

Whistleblower culpability
(b)

the degree to which the whistleblower was culpable or involved in the violations reported that became the subject
of the Commission's enforcement proceeding, including:
(i)

the whistleblower's role in the reported violations of Ontario securities law;

(ii)

whether the whistleblower benefitted financially from the violations;

(iii)

whether the whistleblower has violated Ontario securities law in the past;

(iv)

the egregiousness of the whistleblower's conduct; and

(v)

whether the whistleblower knowingly interfered with the Commission's investigation of the violations;

Unreasonable delay in reporting
(c)

whether the whistleblower unreasonably delayed reporting the violation(s) of Ontario securities law, including:

(i)

whether the whistleblower was aware of relevant facts but failed to take reasonable steps to report the
violations or prevent the violations from occurring or continuing;

(ii)

whether the whistleblower was aware of the relevant facts but only reported them after learning about
a related inquiry, investigation, or enforcement action; and

(iii)

whether there was a legitimate reason for the whistleblower to delay reporting the violations;

Refusal of assistance
(d)

the whistleblower refused to provide additional information or assistance to the Commission when requested
pursuant to section 5 of the Policy;

Interference with Commission Staff's investigation
(e)

the whistleblower or the whistleblower's lawyer negatively affected Commission Staffs ability to pursue the
matter;
the whistleblower or the whistleblower's lawyer violated instructions provided by Commission Staff;

Interference with internal compliance and reporting mechanisms
(g)

whether the whistleblower undermined the integrity of internal compliance and reporting systems by:

(i)

interfering with an entity's established legal, compliance or audit procedures to prevent or delay
detection of the reported violation of Ontario securities law;
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(ii)

making any material false, fictitious or fraudulent statements or representations that hindered an
entity's efforts to detect, investigate, or remediate the reported violation of Ontario securities law; or

(iii)

providing any false writing or document knowing the writing or document contained any false, fictitious
or fraudulent statements or entries that hindered an entity's efforts to detect, investigate, or remediate
the reported violation of Ontario securities law.

No appeal
26.

The Commission's determination whether or not to grant a whistleblower award and any amount awarded to a
whistleblower are not subject to appeal. No private right of action is conferred on a whistleblower to seek a whistleblower
award.
PART 6 — CONTACT

Contact information
27.

Potential whistleblowers who have questions about the Program or their eligibility should contact the Commission's Office
of the Whistleblower at:
1-888-0SC-5553
OR visit the website at
www.officeofthewhistleblower.ca

To submit information by mail, please send to:
Office of the Whistleblower — Confidential
Ontario Securities Commission
22nd Floor
20 Queen Street West,
Toronto, ON M5H 3S8
PART 7 — TRANSITION
Transition
28.

No one will be eligible for the payment of a whistleblower award under the Policy for information that is submitted to the
Commission before the Policy comes into force on July 14, 2016.
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4
REASONS AND DECISION
OVERVIEW
A.

Background

[1]

This was a hearing before the Ontario Securities Commission (the
“Commission”), pursuant to section 127 of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.
S.5, as amended (the “Act”), to consider whether 2196768 Ontario Ltd, carrying
on business as RARE Investments (“RARE”), Ramadhar Dookhie (“Dookhie”)
and Evgueni Todorov (“Todorov”) (collectively, the “Respondents”) breached
the Act and acted contrary to the public interest.

[2]

This proceeding was commenced by a Statement of Allegations, which was filed
by Staff of the Commission (“Staff”) on November 22, 2011, and a Notice of
Hearing, which was issued by the Commission on the same date. The Statement
of Allegations and the Notice of Hearing list the following respondents: RARE,
Dookhie, Todorov and Adil Sunderji (“Sunderji”). Prior to the hearing on the
merits in this matter, on March 15, 2013, the Commission approved a settlement
agreement between Staff and Sunderji (Re 2196768 Ontario Ltd et al. (2013),
36 O.S.C.B. 2909).

[3]

This case involves allegations by Staff of unregistered trading and illegal
distribution of securities that span a period of time between January 1, 2009 and
March 31, 2010 (the “Material Time”). Staff alleges that during the Material
Time, the Respondents solicited investment funds for the purpose of trading in
foreign currencies (“Forex” or “FX”) for profit and raised approximately $1.15
million from 15 investors (“RARE Investors”). Staff alleges that the RARE
Investors advanced funds to the Respondents, who issued promissory notes for
investor loans and subsequently lost the money in Forex trading or used the
funds to repay previous debts unrelated to RARE, and thereby engaged in
fraudulent conduct in breach of the Act and acted contrary to the public interest.

[4]

Staff alleges that the Respondents’ conduct breached the following sections of
the Act: subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act (between January 1, 2009 and
September 27, 2009) and subsection 25(1) of the Act (between September 28,
2009 and March 31, 2010) (unregistered trading); subsection 53(1) of the Act
(illegal distribution of securities); and subsection 126.1(b) of the Act (fraud). In
addition, Staff alleges that Dookhie and Todorov, as directors and officers of
RARE, authorized, permitted or acquiesced in breaches by RARE of sections 25,
53 and 126.1(b) of the Act by RARE and are therefore deemed to also have not
complied with Ontario securities law, pursuant to section 129.2 of the Act. Staff
also alleges that the Respondents have engaged in conduct contrary to the public
interest.
B.

History of the Proceeding

[5]

The first appearance in this matter was held on December 5, 2011. Subsequent
to that hearing, three pre-hearing conferences were held on May 2, July 19 and
September 14, 2012.

[6]

At the first appearance held on December 5, 2011, a pre-hearing conference was
scheduled for March 5, 2012. On March 1, 2012, at the request of counsel for
RARE, Dookhie, Todorov and Sunderji, the Commission adjourned the prehearing conference to May 2, 2012 to allow Sunderji and Todorov to retain legal
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[7]

At the pre-hearing conference held on September 14, 2012, the hearing on the
merits was set down to commence on March 18, 2013 and continue on March
19, 20, 21, 22, 25, 27 and 28, 2013 (the “Merits Hearing”).

[8]

On March 13, 2013, Todorov requested an adjournment of the Merits Hearing to
retain counsel. The Commission granted the adjournment request, vacated the
dates scheduled in March 2013 and scheduled the Merits Hearing to begin on
May 22, 2013 and continue on May 23, 24, 27, 28, 29, 30 and 31, 2013. The
Commission also ordered that the Merits Hearing be adjourned on a peremptory
basis as against Todorov.

[9]

As mentioned in paragraph 2 above, on March 15, 2013, the Commission
approved a settlement agreement entered into by Staff and Sunderji.

[10]

The Merits Hearing commenced on May 22, 2013. Evidence was heard on May
22, 23, 24 and 27, 2013. On May 27, 2013, upon the completion of the
submission of evidence by Staff and the Respondents, the Commission vacated
the remaining dates of the Merits Hearing, set the timing for the parties to file
written closing submissions and set the date of September 5, 2014 for the Panel
to hear oral closing submissions. Staff was ordered to serve and file written
closing submissions by June 28, 2013, the Respondents were ordered to serve
and file written closing submissions by August 9, 2013 and Staff was ordered to
serve and file any written reply by August 20, 2013.

[11]

On June 26, 2013, Staff served and filed its written closing submissions, a brief
of authorities and the Affidavit of Laura Filice, sworn on June 26, 2013. On
August 8, 2013, counsel for Dookhie and RARE, Behdad Hosseini (“Hosseini”),
informed Staff that he would not be able to serve and file the written closing
submissions of Dookhie and RARE by August 9, 2013, and indicated that he
expected to do so in the week of August 12, 2013. On August 12, 2013, I
ordered that:
1.

the [Respondents] shall serve and file any written
closing submissions on or by Friday, August 16, 2013
at 4:30 p.m., which date will not be subject to further
extension;

2.

Staff shall serve and file their written reply, if any, on
or by Tuesday, September 3, 2013 at 4:30 p.m.; and

3.

the hearing on the merits shall continue on Thursday,
September 5, 2013 at 10:00 a.m. for the purpose of
hearing oral closing submissions from the parties.

(Re 2196768 Ontario Ltd et al. (2013), 36 O.S.C.B. 8379)
[12]

On August 16, 2013, Todorov filed his written closing submissions. No written
closing submissions were filed by Dookhie or RARE.

[13]

The Merits Hearing continued on September 5, 2013 for the purpose of hearing
oral closing submissions from the parties. During the Merits Hearing, Dookhie
and RARE were represented by Hosseini and Todorov was self-represented.
Dookhie also attended the Merits Hearing in person throughout.
C.

The Respondents
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counsel. The pre-hearing conference held on July 19, 2012 was also adjourned to
a later date, in order to allow again these respondents to obtain legal counsel.

6
RARE

[14]

The corporate profile report of RARE lists the corporation name as “2196768
Ontario Ltd.” The evidence established that 2196768 Ontario Ltd. and RARE were
the same company. There was no record that either 2196768 Ontario Ltd. or
RARE has ever been registered with the Commission in any capacity.

[15]

RARE is a private Ontario corporation, which was incorporated by Dookhie on
January 30, 2009. The corporate filings for RARE list Dookhie and Sunderji as the
company’s directors and officers; Dookhie is listed as the president of RARE and
Sunderji is listed as its treasurer. In its corporation profile report, the registered
address of RARE is listed as a unit located at 1 Yorkgate Boulevard, North York,
Ontario (the “Yorkgate Mall Address”).

[16]

The Shareholders Agreement of RARE made June 2, 2009 (the “Shareholders
Agreement”) was signed by Dookhie, Sunderji, Todorov and RARE, and listed
the following individuals as the directors and officers of RARE: Dookhie (as a
director and President), Sunderji (as a director Secretary/Treasurer) and
Todorov (as a director). The Shareholders Agreement also listed the
shareholders of RARE as follows: Dookhie (with 40 common shares), Sunderji
(with 30 common shares) and Todorov (with 30 common shares).

2.

Ramadhar Dookhie

[17]

Dookhie is a resident of Brampton, Ontario and served as a director and the
President of RARE throughout the Material Time. During the Material Time,
Dookhie was registered with the Commission as a Dealing Representative in the
category of “Scholarship Plan Dealer” with a company called Children’s Education
Funds Inc. Dookhie was registered as a Dealing Representative until December
20, 2010.

[18]

Dookhie also owned 6322239 Canada Limited (“632 Company”), operating as
RANN Financial Services (“RANN”). The registered address for RANN is listed as
the same address of another business operated by Dookhie, Liberty Tax Services
(“Liberty Services”). RANN, Liberty Services and RARE were all located at the
Yorkgate Mall Address.
3.

Evgueni Todorov

[19]

Todorov is a resident of Toronto, Ontario. He is an engineer by profession and
was trained in Europe. Todorov has no training in securities, is not a registrant
and has never worked in the securities industry. Staff alleges that Todorov was
one of the directing minds of RARE, together with Dookhie and Sunderji. As
mentioned at paragraph 16 above, Todorov was listed as a director and a
shareholder of RARE in the Shareholders Agreement.

[20]

The evidence showed that during the Material Time, a cheque was written by
RARE on its first bank account to a business named Setenterprice and some
cheques were received by RARE from Setenterprice by deposit to the same bank
account. On January 23, 2006, Todorov’s wife registered Setenterprice as a sole
proprietorship under the Business Nam es Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. B.17, as amended.
Although the business was registered by Todorov’s wife, the evidence showed
that Setenterprice was jointly owned by Todorov and his wife. There was no
record that Setenterprice has ever been registered with the Commission in any
capacity.
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Adil Sunderji

[21]

Sunderji was listed as a director and officer of RARE in the corporate filings for
RARE and in the Shareholders Agreement. Sunderji was also a shareholder of a
company named Grey Tech Computing Inc. (“Grey Tech Computing”).

[22]

Sunderji was never registered in any capacity with the Commission. As
mentioned in paragraph 2 above, on March 15, 2013, the Commission approved
a settlement agreement entered into by Staff and Sunderji. Sunderji did not
participate in the Merits Hearing.

II.

PRELIMINARY ISSUES
A.

Hearsay

[23]

Staff tendered bank account statements obtained by way of summons, corporate
filings, emails and other written communications between Dookhie, Todorov and
other third parties. Staff submits that although these documents are hearsay
evidence, taken as a whole, the totality of the evidence is corroborative and
consistent.

[24]

The Commission has the discretion to admit hearsay evidence, subject to the
weight given to such evidence, pursuant to subsection 15(1) of the Statutory
Powers Procedure Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. S.22, as amended (the “SPPA”), which
provides as follows:
15. (1) What is admissible in evidence at a hearing –
Subject to subsections (2) and (3), a tribunal may admit as
evidence at a hearing, whether or not given or proven under
oath or affirmation or admissible as evidence in a court,
(a) any oral testimony; and
(b) any document or other thing,
relevant to the subject-matter of the proceeding and may
act on such evidence, but the tribunal may exclude anything
unduly repetitious.

[25]

Pursuant to subsection 15(1) of the SPPA, I am entitled to admit and rely on
relevant documents, which constitute hearsay, as evidence. I have exercised my
discretion as to the weight to be accorded to such documents in my analysis and
findings in this decision.

III.

THE POSITION OF THE PARTIES
A.

[26]

Staff

Staff alleges that during the Material Time the Respondents:
(a)

traded and engaged in or held themselves out as engaging in the business
of trading in securities without registration or an appropriate exemption
from the registration requirements, contrary to subsection 25(1)(a) of the
Act as that section existed at the time the conduct commenced in January
2009, and contrary to subsection 25(1) of the Act as subsequently
amended on September 28, 2009 and contrary to the public interest;

(b)

traded in securities when a preliminary prospectus and a prospectus had
not been filed and receipts had not been issued for them by the Director
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(c)

made misleading or fraudulent misrepresentations to investors and
misappropriated investors funds knowing or having reasonably ought to
have known that they would result in a fraud on a person, contrary to
section 126.1 of the Act and contrary to the public interest; and

(d)

the course of conduct engaged in by the Respondents compromised the
integrity of Ontario’s capital markets, was abusive to Ontario’s capital
markets and was contrary to the public interest.

B.

Dookhie and RARE

[27]

On May 27, 2013, I ordered the Respondents to submit their written closing
submissions by August 9, 2013. As discussed in paragraph 11 above, on August
8, 2013, one day prior to the filing date prescribed in the order, Hosseini,
counsel for Dookhie and RARE, faxed a letter to Staff indicating that he was
unable to send the written submissions for Dookhie and RARE until the week of
August 12, 2013. On August 12, 2013, I granted an extension for the
Respondents to provide their written closing submissions by Aug ust 16, 2013,
which was seven days following the originally scheduled deadline of August 9,
2013. Despite having been granted with an extension, Dookhie and RARE did not
provide any written closing submissions.

[28]

At the Merits Hearing, Dookhie and RARE did not make an opening statement or
make any oral closing submissions. Dookhie and RARE were represented by
Hosseini throughout the Merits Hearing and Dookhie attended the hearing in
person.

[29]

Dookhie testified at the Merits Hearing on May 27, 2013. Dookhie’s testimony
touched on several issues, including: his personal and business relationships with
Todorov and Sunderji, his cooperation with Staff during its investigation and his
involvement in the incorporation and operations of RARE. He also discussed his
remorse regarding his activities with RARE and the resulting loss of investor
funds.

[30]

At the Merits Hearing on September 5, 2013, Hosseini informed the Panel and
the other parties that he did not have any oral submissions ready because he
had limited access to Dookhie due to health issues that Dookhie had been
experiencing. Hosseini requested extra time to provide written submissions.
Staff, in reply, stated that this was the first time that Staff had heard that
Dookhie’s health has prevented his counsel from meeting with him to put
together submissions. Staff’s position was that if a request for additional time is
to be made, it should be properly constituted by a notice of motion together with
an affidavit outlining the medical issues and accompanied by medical evidence.
The Panel declined to grant additional time in view of the ample time that had
been provided in the order of May 27, 2013 and the extension that had already
been granted on August 12, 2013 for the late filing of written submissions.
C.

[31]

Todorov

Todorov attended the Merits Hearing in person and was self-represented.
Todorov testified at the Merits Hearing on May 27, 2013. Todorov’s testimony
covered his submission that he was hired to trade in Forex. He acknowledged
that he was a shareholder of RARE, he signed the Shareholders Agreement and
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[32]

Todorov filed written closing submissions, dated August 15, 2013. In his written
submissions, Todorov states that he firmly believes that he did not contravene
the Act, since he never acted as a director of RARE. He submits that he never
authorized or permitted any issuance of any documents as a director of RARE.

[33]

Todorov submits that his only function with RARE was to place trading orders in
the Forex market in the Euro-U.S. dollar pair. He submits that he was not
engaged in the incorporation of RARE or any of the company’s banking or trading
accounts, and adds that he did not have any banking or signing authority on any
of these accounts. He submits that for most of the time he was deprived of
access to the trading accounts of RARE and he was not the person executing the
trade orders. He further submits that he was acting as an employee of the
company, which he believed was in full compliance with the existing laws in
Ontario.

[34]

Todorov submits that Sunderji was supervising the trading activities of RARE to
ensure that the Forex trading was done according to the “rules”. He further
submits that he was confident that everything was filed correctly and done in
compliance with the law, given that Dookhie was an accountant who ran an
accounting business, Liberty Services. He never suspected that there was any
wrongdoing.

[35]

He submits that he did not obtain any personal financial gain from his trading
activity with RARE. He states that he tried to help the company by contributing
approximately $59,500. He submits that he currently suffers a hardship from the
consequences of the events tied to RARE. He further submits that with all his
actions, he tried to ensure that the company preserved its capital and complied
with its obligations.

IV.

ISSUES

[36]

Staff’s allegations raise the following issues for consideration:
1.

Did the Respondents trade in securities without registration in breach of
subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act (for the time period from January 1, 2009
to September 27, 2009) and subsection 25(1) of the Act (for the time
period from September 28, 2009 to March 31, 2010) and contrary to the
public interest?

2.

Did the Respondents engage in a distribution of securities without a
prospectus in breach of subsection 53(1) of the Act and contrary to the
public interest?

3.

Did the Respondents engage in fraud in breach of subsection 126.1(b) of
the Act and contrary to the public interest?

4.

Did Dookhie and Todorov (the “Individual Respondents”) authorize,
permit or acquiesce in breaches of subsection 25(1)(a) (for the time
period from January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009), subsection 25(1)
(for the time period from September 28, 2009 to March 31, 2010),
subsection 53(1) and subsection 126.1(b) of the Act by RARE, such that
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[37]

The standard of proof in administrative proceedings is the civil standard of proof
on a balance of probabilities. The balance of probabilities standard of proof
requires that the trier of fact assess each of these issues by examining the
evidence in this matter and determining whether on a balance of probabilities
“...it is more likely than not that the event occurred” (F.H. v. McDougall, [2008]
3 S.C.R. 41 at para. 44 (“McDougall”)). As stated by the Supreme Court of
Canada, “...evidence must always be sufficiently clear, convincing and cogent to
satisfy the balance of probabilities test” (McDougall, supra at para. 46).

V.

OVERVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE
A.

Evidence Presented

[38]

Staff submitted to the Panel documentary evidence electronically, totalling 81
exhibits. Staff called four witnesses: Staff’s senior forensic accountant, Mike de
Verteuil (“De Verteuil”) and three investor witnesses, M.A., R.E. and V.M. (the
“Investor Witnesses”).

[39]

Staff also relied on the transcripts of the compelled examinations of Dookhie held
before Enforcement Staff on April 26, 2010 and August 25, 2010, as well as the
compelled examinations of Todorov held on April 27, 2010 and May 28, 2010
(the “Compelled Examinations”). Staff tendered the transcripts and key
admissions contained in the Compelled Examinations as evidence at the Merits
Hearing.

[40]

Dookhie and Todorov testified on their own behalf at the Merits Hearing. The
Respondents did not call any additional witnesses. No evidence was tendered
through Dookhie at the hearing. Todorov tendered two exhibits. These exhibits
included a summary statement and the trading statements of an account set up
with GCI Financial Ltd. (“GCI Financial”) in the name of Todorov, spanning a
time period from January 7 to March 25, 2013.

[41]

In order to protect the privacy of investors, including the Investor Witnesses, I
have referred to them anonymously by initials, rather than using their respective
names. Staff also provided a redacted version of the record in accordance with
the Commission’s Practice Guideline – April 24, 2012 – Use and Disclosure of
Personal Information in Ontario Securities Com m ission’s Adjudicative
Proceedings.
B.

[42]

Overview of the Investment Scheme

The investment scheme in this matter involved the solicitation of funds from the
public for the purpose of engaging in Forex trading. In the Statement of
Allegations dated November 22, 2011, Staff alleged that the Respondents
solicited investment funds for the purpose of trading in foreign currencies for
profit and raised approximately $1.15 million from 15 investors in Ontario.
However, the evidence presented at the Merits Hearing demonstrated that,
during the Material Time, the Respondents actually raised $1,226,832 from 16
RARE Investors (the “RARE Investor Funds”). I note that the Respondents
were present throughout the Merits Hearing and did not present any evidence to
dispute or refute the truth or accuracy of the evidence that established that
$1,226,832 was raised from 16 investors.
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they are deemed to also have not complied with Ontario securities law
pursuant to section 129.2 of the Act?

[43]

In return for their investment in RARE, RARE Investors received promissory
notes that carried a monthly interest rate of approximately 1% to 3%. Staff
submitted that these promissory notes were securities that were sold to the
public and had not been previously issued.

[44]

RARE Investors were led to believe that the Respondents developed a leveraged
Forex trading strategy that could produce an attractive potential return on
investment, and that half of their investment would be secured in guaranteed
investment certificates (“GICs”). These investors were not informed by the
Individual Respondents of the extent of the trading losses suffered by RARE, or
that their investments would be used to make payments and loans to third
parties, who were not investors with RARE.

[45]

In his testimony, De Verteuil explained that Forex trading involves the
simultaneous buying of one currency and the selling of another. It is an overthe-counter market, or interdealer market, meaning that transactions are not
centralized on an exchange but conducted over the telephone or an electronic
network. Dealers will offer to retail speculators the opportunity to trade currency
in pairs, and, depending on how the currencies move in relation to each other,
profits or losses are incurred. De Verteuil described Forex trading to be highly
leveraged and stated that such trading was therefore “really only for experienced
investors” (Transcript, May 23, 2013, Testimony of De Verteuil, p. 77, ll. 9-15).

[46]

Dookhie was a director, the president and the directing mind of RARE throughout
the Material Time. He was the only respondent that was registered with the
Commission. He was registered as a Dealing Representative in the category of
“Scholarship Plan Dealer” with a company called Children’s Education Funds Inc.
Todorov and RARE were not registered in any capacity with the Commission. As
discussed in my finding set forth below in paragraph 207, Todorov was an actual
and de facto director of RARE during the Material Time.
1.

Prior to the Incorporation of RARE

[47]

Dookhie met Todorov for the first time in the spring of 2008 through Sunderji,
the latter of whom Dookhie characterized to be a good friend of his. Dookhie
testified that Sunderji had set up a meeting at the office of Grey Tech Computing
to see if Dookhie would be interested in some investment opportunities. At the
meeting, Sunderji introduced Dookhie to Todorov who was going to use funds to
trade in the FX market. Following the meeting, Dookhie decided to get involved
in Forex trading with Todorov and Dookhie began to solicit individuals to invest
in this opportunity (“Pre-RARE Investors”). In total, there were six Pre-RARE
Investors who invested a sum of $450,000 with Dookhie and 632 Company (the
“Pre-RARE Investor Funds”). In return for their investments, most Pre-RARE
Investors received debenture certificates that were issued by 632 Company and
signed by Dookhie. As part of his investigation in this matter, De Verteuil
testified that he did not investigate the accounts of 632 Company, which is not a
respondent in this matter.

[48]

Prior to the incorporation of RARE, the entire amount of $450,000 of Pre-RARE
Investor Funds was turned over by Dookhie in 2008 and January 2009 to
Todorov, who used the funds in Forex trading. For the investors that received
debenture certificates, Dookhie testified that he did not tell any of these PreRARE Investors that their funds would be given to Todorov. Dookhie also
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[49]

Dookhie testified that he had an arrangement with Todorov, in which Dookhie
paid Pre-RARE Investors a 2% monthly interest rate for the funds they invested,
while Dookhie loaned the same funds to Todorov at a 4% monthly interest rate.
Despite the fact that Dookhie was making money on the 2% spread on the PreRARE Investor Funds, he did not inform Pre-RARE Investors that he was lending
out the money to an unknown third party, Todorov, at a monthly interest rate at
4%.

[50]

De Verteuil testified that the only documentation between Dookhie and Todorov,
regarding the loan of the Pre-RARE Investor Funds, was a promissory note,
dated February 25, 2009, that was issued by Todorov as borrower to RARE for
$135,000 in respect of two amounts: an amount of $50,000 for investor R.R.
and an amount of $85,000 for investor S.G., representing funds turned over to
Todorov by Dookhie prior to the formation of RARE. Dookhie did not receive an
account statement from Todorov regarding the funds.

[51]

In January 2009, Todorov began to miss his interest payments on his loan of
$450,000 from Dookhie’s Pre-RARE Investors. Dookhie did not inform the PreRARE Investors that he could not repay their principal investments. Despite the
unpaid and outstanding loan, Dookhie continued to do business with Todorov and
formed a new company, RARE.

[52]

In total, three of the six Pre-RARE Investors invested additional funds in RARE.
During the Material Time, all six Pre-RARE Investors, including three investors
who did not invest any funds in RARE, received interest payments from the funds
in the main bank account of RARE. Moreover, one Pre-RARE Investor, who was
related to Dookhie’s wife and had not invested in RARE, was paid back his full
principal of $50,000 using the funds contained in the same bank account.
2.

Incorporation and Operation of RARE

[53]

Dookhie incorporated RARE on January 30, 2009. During the Material Time,
Dookhie opened a total of three bank accounts at the Bank of Montreal on behalf
of RARE. On February 4, 2009, Dookhie opened the first bank account of RARE,
being the account ending in 752 (“Account 752”). Dookhie testified that
Account 752 was main operating account for RARE. Dookhie was listed as the
president and sole authorized signatory in the opening bank account documents
of Account 752. De Verteuil testified, and Dookhie confirmed in his testimony,
that every cheque that was drawn on Account 752 had Dookhie’s signature on it.
Dookhie also testified that he signed all cheques associated with Account 752.
There was no evidence that indicated that Sunderji or Todorov were involved in
any of the banking transactions related to Account 752.

[54]

Among the 16 RARE Investors, the funds of 13 investors were deposited into
Account 752. Dookhie explained that Account 752 had an overdraft against the
GICs obtained by RARE.

[55]

On April 3, 2009, Dookhie opened the second bank account of RARE at the Bank
of Montreal (“Account 214”). Similar to Account 752, Dookhie was listed as the
president and sole authorized signatory of Account 214. This account was the
U.S. dollar bank account for RARE. The account was opened primarily to receive
the deposit of one investor and to make transfers to and from the U.S. dollar
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[56]

On July 8, 2009, Dookhie opened the third bank account of RARE at the Bank of
Montreal (“Account 736”). Account 736 was a U.S. dollar account that was
opened solely to receive the funds of two RARE Investors, N.M. and M.R. A total
of $175,000 was deposited into Account 736 by these two investors.

[57]

There were four authorized signatories in the account opening documents for
Account 736: Dookhie (as president of RARE), Sunderji (as treasurer of RARE),
Rouzbeh Vatanchi (as general manager of RARE, “Vatanchi”) and Kitty Ho (as
secretary of RARE, “Ho”). Dookhie met Vatanchi through Todorov in the spring
of 2009. Vatanchi was a friend of Todorov’s, and was the boyfriend of Ho when
the two investors deposited funds into the account in July 2009.

[58]

De Verteuil testified that before N.M. and M.R. deposited their funds into Account
736, they expressed concern over the safety of their funds. Vatanchi was added
as a signatory to Account 736 to provide comfort to these investors that their
investment in RARE was safe. De Verteuil testified that Vatanchi was not a
general manager of RARE, nor was Ho the secretary of RARE.

[59]

Starting in February 2009, shortly after the formation of RARE, Dookhie met with
potential investors to solicit them to invest in RARE. He represented that their
money would be used in Forex trading, a monthly return would be paid and they
would receive their principal back at the end of the year.

[60]

RARE Investors, as lenders, received promissory notes (the “2009 Promissory
Notes”) for their investments in the company. Dookhie drafted the 2009
Promissory Notes, based on a template that was provided to him by Todorov.

[61]

All the 2009 Promissory Notes contained the same substantive language and
only varied in the amount of the principal investment, the date of the promissory
note, the maturity date and the signatories of RARE, who were described as the
“borrowers”. The promissory notes provided that the borrowers named in the
promissory note “shall be jointly and severally liable for any debts s ecured” and
the borrowers would pay the lender a specified sum, together with a 2% monthly
interest, and with the repayment of the principal one year from the date of the
promissory note. The majority of the 2009 Promissory Notes guaranteed a 2%
monthly interest payment.

[62]

On February 18, 2009, Dookhie opened a Canadian-dollar Forex trading account
(“Account 32508”) at ODL Securities Limited (“ODL”). Dookhie was listed as
the sole contact for the account. Dookhie, Todorov and Sunderji all had access to
the account through usernames and passwords that were provided by ODL.
Nonetheless, Todorov was the primary trader in the account until May 2009.
Dookhie testified that he did not trade in the account. Account 32508 was RARE’s
only trading account until July 2009.

[63]

As a result of an aggressive trade made by Todorov on April 22, 2009, ODL
closed all of RARE’s open positions in Account 32508 on May 13, 2009. The
aggregate closed positions for Account 32508 amounted to a cumulative loss of
$473,437.61 and the closing account balance was $13.80. Dookhie testified that
he takes ownership and is accountable for this loss.
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trading account of RARE. This investor was Dookhie’s brother-in-law, and he
invested a total of USD$70,000 in RARE. As of March 31, 2010, the account
balance of Account 214 was USD$150.67, or CAD$148.82.

[64]

In July 2009, subsequent to the closing of Account 32508, RARE began to trade
in a second Canadian dollar ODL account (“Account 84500”). After a few
months, Account 84500 was closed at a negative balance of $569,379.81.

[65]

In April 2009, RARE opened a third ODL account that was first used in August
2009 (“Account 81216”). Account 81216 was a U.S. dollar account. In March
2010, Account 81216 was closed and had a cumulative loss of $114,271.78.

[66]

In March 2010, Dookhie met with all RARE Investors and renegotiated the terms
of their 2009 Promissory Notes, which were due to mature in various months in
2010. Following their discussions with Dookhie, the majority of RARE Investors
were persuaded to enter into new promissory notes, which guaranteed lower
monthly interest rates at 1% or 1.5% (the “2010 Promissory Notes”).

[67]

One difference between the 2009 Promissory Notes and the 2010 Promissory
Notes was that the latter bound the company – RARE – and not its principals,
being Dookhie, Todorov and Sunderji (the “RARE Principals”). In his Compelled
Examination on August 25, 2010, Dookhie stated that he informed all RARE
Investors that the RARE Principals were still personally responsible for the
renewed loans.

[68]

By March 2010, RARE was out of money, all of its ODL trading accounts were
closed and the company consequently could not complete any trades in the
Forex market. When he discussed the renewals of the 2009 Promissory Notes,
Dookhie did not inform investors of the true financial and trading status of RARE.
3.

Flow of the RARE Investor Funds

[69]

As part of his investigation in this matter, De Verteuil created a source and
allocation of funds spreadsheet, summarizing the use and flows of funds of the
bank accounts and trading accounts of RARE (Exhibit 37). Dookhie confirmed
that he had an opportunity to examine this spreadsheet.

[70]

Staff also tendered several supporting spreadsheets through the testimony of De
Verteuil (Exhibit 37). These supporting spreadsheets were created by De Verteuil
in his analysis of the bank statements of Account 752, Account 214 and Account
736, along with the trading statements of Account 32508, Account 84500 and
Account 81216. Dookhie also confirmed the accuracy of these supporting
spreadsheets.

[71]

De Verteuil’s source and application of funds analysis was based on RARE’s
banking documentation, including bank statements and cheques, as well as its
ODL trading statements. De Verteuil’s analysis was not based on any financial
statements, since no such statements were provided to him. When making his
calculations to convert U.S. dollar amounts to Canadian dollar amounts, De
Verteuil used an average exchange rate for the date of each respective
transaction.

[72]

The Respondents did not tender any evidence to refute the truth or accuracy of
De Verteuil’s analysis in this matter. I therefore accept De Verteuil’s analysis of
the banking and trading accounts of RARE to be true and accurate.

[73]

The evidence showed that the total source of funds for RARE amounted to
$1,226,846.47, which was comprised of the RARE Investor Funds ($1,226,832)
and approximately $14 that was attributed to income that was received from a
mutual fund investment account at the Bank of Montreal.
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The total use of funds of RARE amounted to $1,372,339.49. The uses of funds
throughout the Material Time were as follows:


net trading investments with ODL amounted to a loss of $688,757.73 ,
based on a 1.06310 average exchange rate of U.S. to Canadian dollars;



total funds placed into term deposits, being GICs, amounted to $275,000;



net payments made to Dookhie totalled $172,200.30, which was
calculated by subtracting the funds paid to Dookhie ($182,200.30) and
the funds Dookhie paid to a Pre-RARE Investor who did not invest in RARE
($50,000) from the funds RARE received from Dookhie through 632
Company ($60,000);



net payments made by Todorov and Setenterprice totalled $31,928.03,
which were calculated by subtracting the funds paid to Setenterprice
directly ($16,000) and the funds paid to a third party at Todorov’s
direction ($11,221.97) from the funds RARE received from Todorov and
Setenterprice ($59,150);



net payments made to Sunderji and Grey Tech Computing totalled
$6,000, which were calculated by subtracting the funds paid to Sunderji
($16,000) from the funds RARE received from Sunderji ($10,000);



third party payments consisted of a loan to Vatanchi ($5,712.50), a
referral fee to Viet Hoang (“Hoang”) ($8,400) and legal fees to the
company’s lawyer ($3,500);



identified monthly interest payments made to Pre-RARE and RARE
Investors amounted to $226,611.80;



an unidentified amount that was presumed to be a monthly interest
payment ($1,000); and



other unidentified amounts and balancing adjustments that totalled a
negative value of $17,085.18.

[75]

Staff presented evidence that payments were made to and from Account 752
after the Material Time in May to August 2010. Specifically, Dookhie made two
payments totalling $25,000 to one RARE Investor, one payment of $20,000 to
another RARE Investor and he made a direct deposit of $25,000 from his
personal funds into Account 752. During his testimony, Dookhie stated that he
took extreme steps to refinance his personal property to add funds into the bank
accounts of RARE. There was no evidence presented before me to support this
statement.

[76]

The evidence has shown that only two RARE Investors received partial payments
of their principal investments. Aside from several interest payments, most RARE
Investors have not been repaid any of their principal investments. Moreover,
through its trading activities with ODL, RARE lost a net total of $688,757.73.
Dookhie admitted that the funds that were transferred to the trading accounts at
ODL were traded and lost.

VI.

ANALYSIS
A.

Did the Respondents trade in securities without registration in
breach of subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act (for the time period from
January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009) and subsection 25(1) of
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the Act (for the time period from September 28, 2009 to March 31,
2010) and contrary to the public interest?
The Law

[77]

Staff alleges that the Respondents breached subsections 25(1)(a) and 25(1) of
the Act during the Material Time. The Act was amended on September 28, 2009,
which falls within the Material Time. It is therefore important to consider the
wording of the Act both before and after the amendment came into effect.

[78]

As stated in Re Limelight Entertainment Inc. (2008), 31 O.S.C.B. 1727 (“Re
Limelight”):
The requirement that an individual be registered in order to
trade in securities is an essential element of the regulatory
framework with the purpose of achieving the regulatory
objectives of the Act. Registration serves an important
gatekeeping mechanism ensuring that only properly
qualified and suitable individuals are permitted to be
registrants and to trade with or on behalf of the public.
Through the registration process, the Commission attempts
to ensure that those who trade in securities meet the
applicable proficiency requirements, are of good character,
satisfy the appropriate ethical standards and comply with
the Act.
(Re Lim elight, supra at para. 135)

[79]

Prior to September 28, 2009, subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act read as follows:
25. (1) Registration for trading – No person or company
shall,
(a) trade in a security or act as an underwriter unless the
person or company is registered as a dealer, or is registered
as a salesperson or as a partner or as an officer of a
registered dealer and is acting on behalf of the dealer;
[...]
and the registration has been made in accordance with
Ontario securities law and the person or company has
received written notice of the registration from the Director
and, where the registration is subject to terms and
conditions, the person or company complies with such terms
and conditions.

[80]

As of September 28, 2009, subsection 25(1) of the Act came into force and
provides as follows:
25. Registration – (1) Dealers – Unless a person or
company is exempt under Ontario securities law from the
requirement to comply with this subsection, the person or
company shall not engage in or hold himself, herself or itself
out as engaging in the business of trading in securities
unless the person or company,
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(a) is registered in accordance with Ontario securities law as
a dealer; or

[81]

The language of subsection 25(1) of the Act has become broader as a result of
the September 2009 amendments. Accordingly, if the Panel determines that the
evidence indicates that a respondent’s actions prior to September 28, 2009 were
contrary to the predecessor provision, then the same behaviour post -September
28, 2009 must also be in violation of the broader wording of the Act. The same
does not hold true in reverse; namely, acts that are found to be in contravention
of the amended subsection 25(1) of the Act post-September 28, 2009 are not
necessarily in contravention of subsection 25(1)(a) pre-September 28, 2009. In
this case, Staff has alleged that the Respondents’ behaviour and activities were
the same throughout the Material Time and contravened the applicable
provisions both before and after September 28, 2009.

[82]

The phrase “engaging in the business of trading” indicates that the Commission
must find that the activity of trading in securities is carried out for a business
purpose in determining whether a person or company needs to be registered
pursuant to subsection 25(1) of the Act, as amended. Section 1.3 of Companion
Policy 31-103CP enumerates a non-exhaustive list of factors that are considered
relevant in determining whether an individual or firm is trading or advising in
securities for a business purpose and subject to the dealer or advisor registration
requirement, including:
(a)

engaging in activities similar to a registrant;

(b)

intermediating trades or acting as a market maker;

(c)

directly or indirectly carrying on the activity with repetition, regularity or
continuity;

(d)

being, or expecting to be, remunerated or compensated; and

(e)

directly or indirectly soliciting.

[83]

The policy notes that the enumerated factors listed above are not exhaustive and
that no one factor on its own will determine whether an individual or firm is in
the business of trading or advising in securities.

[84]

Both the predecessor provision subsection 25(1)(a) and the successor provision
subsection 25(1) of the Act refer to a trade or trading in a security. The terms
“trade” and “trading” are broadly defined in subsection 1(1) of the Act, and
include, in clauses (a) and (e) of the definition:
“trade” or “trading” includes,
(a) any sale or disposition of a security for valuable
consideration, whether the terms of payment be on
margin, instalment or otherwise, but does not include
a purchase of a security or, except as provided in
clause (d), a transfer, pledge or encumbrance of
securities for the purpose of giving collateral for a
debt made in good faith,
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(b) is a representative registered in accordance with Ontario
securities law as a dealing representative of a registered
dealer and is acting on behalf of the registered dealer.
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[...]

[85]

Cases considering the issue of acts in furtherance of trading reflect a contextual
approach that examines the totality of the conduct and the setting in which the
acts have occurred, and the “primary consideration of which is the effects the
acts had on those to whom they were directed” (Re Mom entas Corp. (2006), 29
O.S.C.B. 7408 (“Re Momentas ”) at para. 77).

[86]

Examples of activities that have constituted acts in furtherance of trading,
include:


providing potential investors with subscription
agreements to execute;



distributing promotional materials concerning
potential investments;



issuing and signing share certificates;



preparing and disseminating of materials describing
investment programs;



conducting information sessions with groups of
investors;



meeting with individuals investors; and



accepting money from investors and depositing
investor cheques for the purchase of shares in a bank
account.

(Re Lim elight, supra at para. 133; Re Mom entas, supra at
para. 80)
[87]

The definition of “security” is also found in subsection 1(1) of the Act:
“security” includes,
[...]
(e) a bond, debenture, note or other evidence of
indebtedness...
[...]
(n) any investment contract,
[...]

[88]

The term “investment contract” is not a term defined in the Act, but its
interpretation has been the subject of a long line of established jurisprudence.
The Supreme Court of Canada established what constitutes an “investment
contract”:
(a)

an investment of money;

(b)

with an intention or expectation of profit;
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(e) any act, advertisement, solicitation, conduct or
negotiation directly or indirectly in furtherance of any
of the foregoing;

(c)

in a common enterprise, in which the fortunes of the
investor are interwoven with and dependent upon the
efforts and success of those seeking the investment
or of third parties; and

(d)

where the efforts made by those other than the
investor are the undeniably significant ones, those
essential managerial efforts which affect the failure or
success of the enterprise.

(Pacific Coast Coin Exchange of Canada Ltd. v. Ontario
(Securities Com m ission), [1978] 2 S.C.R. 112 (“Pacific
Coast Coin”) at pp. 128-129)
[89]

The Supreme Court of Canada considered the third and fourth parts together and
accepted that a common enterprise “exists when it is undertaken for the benefit
of the supplier of capital (the investor) and of those who solicit the cap ital (the
promoter)” (Pacific Coast Coin, supra at p. 129). The court further held that the
“commonality” necessary for an investment contract is between the investor and
the promoter (Pacific Coast Coin, supra at p. 129).

[90]

Once Staff has proven that the Respondents traded without registration and
distributed shares without qualifying those shares under a prospectus, the onus
shifts to the Respondents to prove an exemption from those requirements is
available in the circumstances (Re Lim elight, supra at para. 142, citing Re Euston
Capital Corp., 2007 ABASC 75, Re Lydia Diam ond Exploration of Canada Ltd.
(2003), 26 O.S.C.B. 2511, and Re Ochnik (2006), 29 O.S.C.B. 3929).

[91]

Exemptions are provided for in National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus and
Registration Exem ptions (“NI 45-106”) and in Part 8 of National Instrument 31103 – Registration Requirem ents, Exem ptions and Ongoing Registrant
Obligations (which came into force on September 28, 2009) (“NI 31-103”). In
this case, there was some indication that the Respondents may have relied upon
the “accredited investor” exemption and the “private issuer” exemption,
pursuant to sections 2.3 and 2.4 of NI 45-106, respectively.

[92]

The definition of “accredited investor” is found at section 1.1 of NI 45-106 and
includes:
“accredited investor” means
[...]
(j) an individual who, either alone or with a spouse,
beneficially owns financial assets having an aggregate
realizable value that before taxes, but net of any related
liabilities, exceeds $1 000 000,
(k) an individual whose net income before taxes exceeded
$200 000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years or
whose net income before taxes combined with that of a
spouse exceeded $300 000 in each of the 2 most recent
calendar years and who, in either case, reasonably expects
to exceed that net income level in the current calendar year,
(l) an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net
assets of at least $5 000 000, [...]
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[93]

The definition of a “private issuer” is found at subsection 2.4(1) of NI 45-106,
which provides as follows:
(a)

that is not a reporting issuer or an investment fund,

(b)

the securities of which, other than non-convertible
debt securities,

(c)

2.

(i)

are subject to restrictions on transfer that are
contained in the issuer’s constating documents
or security holders' agreements, and

(ii)

are beneficially owned by not more than 50
persons, not including employees and former
employees of the issuer or its affiliates,
provided that each person is counted as one
beneficial owner unless the person is created
or used solely to purchase or hold securities of
the issuer in which case each beneficial owner
or each beneficiary of the person, as the case
may be, must be counted as a separate
beneficial owner, and

that
(i)

has distributed its securities only to persons
described in subsection (2), or

(ii)

has completed a transaction and immediately
following the completion of the transaction, its
securities were beneficially owned only by
persons described in subsection (2) and since
the completion of the transaction has
distributed its securities only to persons
described in subsection (2).

Analysis

[94]

I find that the 2009 Promissory Notes and the 2010 Promissory Notes (together,
the “Promissory Notes”) are notes, “other evidence of indebtedness” and
investment contracts, and therefore constitute securities as defined under
subsections 1(1)(e) and 1(1)(n) of the Act, respectively.

[95]

In his cross-examination of V.M., Todorov alluded to the fact that the Promissory
Notes were loans and he was therefore not involved in any trading or investment
of securities. Although the language set forth in the Promissory Notes
characterized RARE and its principals as “borrowers” and investors as “lenders”,
suggesting the monies advanced were loans and not investments, the inclusion
of these terms do not detract from the true nature of the Promissory Notes as
investment contracts. As stated by the Supreme Court of Canada, “form should
be disregarded for substance and the emphasis should be on economic reality”
(Pacific Coast Coin, supra at p. 127, citing Tcherepnin v. Knight (1967), 389 U.S.
332 at 336).

[96]

The Investor Witnesses, M.A., R.E. and V.M., all testified that they believed that
they were investing funds in RARE and that the Promissory Notes they received

COMP-125

2014 ONSEC 17 (CanLII)

“private issuer” means an issuer

described the terms of their investment. Investors understood that they were
signing agreements to provide RARE with money to engage in Forex trading and,
as a result, investors would be entitled to receive monthly interest payments on
their investments. Hence, RARE Investors made their investments with the
expectation of profit, in which the returns were entirely dependent upon the
efforts and success of RARE and its principals. It is clear from investor
documents and the oral testimonies of the Investor Witnesses that the role of
RARE Investors was limited to the advancement of money into the bank accounts
of RARE. Upon the transfer of funds, RARE Investors relinquished all control over
their funds to RARE. They did not contribute to the profit generation of the
company.
[97]

Once the RARE Investor Funds were transferred to the bank accounts of RARE,
the RARE Principals maintained full control over the success of the investment.
The success of the Forex investments was dependent upon the managerial
efforts of the RARE Principals alone, but the benefits accrued to both RARE and
RARE Investors. The test of an investment contract is clearly met in this case.

[98]

Having determined that the Promissory Notes constitute notes, evidence of
indebtedness and investment contracts, and are therefore securities pursuant to
the Act, I also find, as discussed below, that the Respondents acted contrary to
subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act, for conduct prior to September 28, 2009, and
contrary to subsection 25(1) of the Act for conduct on and after September 28,
2009, and contrary to the public interest.
(a)

[99]

RARE

Staff filed certified statements pursuant to section 139 of the Act (the “Section
139 Certificates”), with respect to the registration status of the Respondents.
Based on Staff’s Section 139 Certificates, which were uncontroverted, I find that
RARE has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.

[100] I find that during the Material Time, RARE engaged in trades or acts in
furtherance of trades in securities. Examples of these acts include, but are not
limited to the following:


RARE obtained a total of $1,226,832 from 16 RARE Investors for the
purpose of investing with RARE;



RARE Investors were provided with and signed the Promissory Notes in
exchange for advancing funds that were meant to be used to generate
profits in the Forex trading accounts of RARE;



RARE Investors provided cheques or bank drafts made out to RARE for
their investments;



as the 2009 Promissory Notes matured, RARE issued the 2010 Promissory
Notes at lower interest rates to 13 RARE Investors;



promotional materials were distributed to potential investors concerning
the opportunity to invest in RARE; and



the Respondents regularly represented to investors that their funds were
safe, without disclosing the unfavourable financial situation of RARE, with
a view to inducing further investments and/or to maintain investor
confidence.
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M.A., who was both a Pre-RARE and a RARE Investor, testified that when
it came to RARE, Dookhie informed him that he had a team: “Mr. Todorov
was on his team. Mr. Sunderji was on his team. These were FX people and
understood currency trading and that this would be the basis of the
income on [his two promissory notes] that totalled [$100,000]”
(Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of M.A., p. 47, ll. 3-7).



R.E., who was a RARE Investor, signed a 2009 Promissory Note for
$50,000 with RARE. R.E. testified that when he met with Dookhie to learn
about the investment opportunity with RARE, “[he] was promised 24
percent per year, 2 per month. The monies [would be] invested in foreign
exchange which [sic] 50 percent of that amount of monies were going into
a GIC” (Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of RE., p. 84, ll. 19-24). A
friend of R.E.’s also attended the meeting, but this individual ultimately
did not invest in RARE.



Prior to his investment with RARE, V.M. and his brother invested funds
with Todorov. Todorov used Global Trader Canada (“Global Trader”) as
his online platform to conduct his trades at the time. Global Trader
eventually went bankrupt, causing the complete loss of the funds invested
by V.M. and his brother. V.M. testified that Todorov informed him “about a
fellow, Roy Dookhie, who had a company, [Liberty Services]. He was a
financial planner/tax consultant that had clients that were invested or
going to invest in a company called RARE, and it was an opportunity for
[V.M.] to recoup [his] monies” (Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of
V.M., p. 136, ll. 4-10). V.M. and his brother contributed a total of
$200,000 into a 2009 Promissory Note with RARE. V.M. testified that his
understanding of the $200,000 investment was that “[he] was going to
receive 50 percent of the profits on a daily basis. [He] was also to receive
an additional 3 percent per month, $6,000 every month” (Transcript, May
22, 2013, Testimony of V.M., p. 156, ll. 3-5). He stated that Dookhie
informed him that the profits were “going to come out of RARE”
(Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of V.M., p. 156, ll. 13-18).

[102] As a result of RARE’s solicitations, a total of 16 RARE Investors invested a total
of $1,226,832 in RARE securities.
[103] I conclude that RARE engaged in trades and acts in furtherance of trades in its
securities in Ontario within the meaning of the Act. RARE was not registered in
any capacity with the Commission and RARE and its principals were actively
engaged in the business of trading RARE securities. RARE contravened
subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act during the time period from January 1, 2009 to
September 27, 2009 and subsection 25(1) of the Act during the time period from
September 28, 2009 to March 31, 2010, and there were no registration
exemptions available to it, as discussed below. I find this conduct to be contrary
to the public interest.
(b)

Dookhie

[104] According to Staff’s Section 139 Certificates, Dookhie was registered as a
Dealing Representative in the category of “Scholarship Plan Dealer” with
Children’s Education Funds Inc. from September 23, 2003 to July 30, 2004. His
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[101] At the Merits Hearing, the Investor Witnesses described their investments with
RARE as follows:
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[105] Dookhie’s registration during the Material Time only extended to his activities as
a Dealing Representative with Children’s Education Funds Inc. There was no
evidence to show that Dookhie was registered as a dealer or as a dealing
representative of a registered dealer authorized to trade in the securities of
RARE, as required under subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act (as it exis ted prior to
September 28, 2009) and subsection 25(1) of the Act (as it existed on and after
September 28, 2009).
[106] I find that, during the Material Time, Dookhie, as the President and directing
mind of RARE, engaged in trades or acts in furtherance of trades in securities
without being registered, thereby breaching subsections 25(1)(a) and 25(1) of
the Act, as these sections existed during the Material Time. Examples of these
acts include, but are not limited to the following:


Dookhie incorporated RARE and established the bank accounts and
trading accounts of the company;



Dookhie was responsible for all the banking activity of RARE;



Dookhie received the RARE Investor Funds, made the deposits of RARE
Investors and wrote all the cheques drawn from the bank accounts of
RARE;



Dookhie was the sole signatory of Account 752 and Account 214, into
which the majority of the RARE Investor Funds were deposited;



Dookhie was one of four authorized signatories of Account 736, into which
funds of two investors were deposited;



Dookhie brought in 13 RARE Investors, whose invested funds represented
approximately $851,800, or approximately 69%, of the total funds
invested in RARE;



Dookhie had primary communication with all RARE Investors;



Dookhie drafted and distributed the promotional documents of RARE;



Dookhie drafted and distributed the Promissory Notes of RARE and signed
all but one of the Promissory Notes as President, Director, CEO and/or
accountant of RARE;



in March 2010, Dookhie met with all RARE Investors and renegotiated the
terms of their 2009 Promissory Notes, and 13 RARE Investors
subsequently entered the 2010 Promissory Notes with RARE;



Dookhie was the only signatory of RARE on the 2010 Promissory Notes;
and



all RARE Principals had the ability to trade in the trading accounts of
RARE, but from March 2010 onwards, Dookhie was solely responsible for
the trading activity of RARE.

[107] In his testimony, Dookhie stated that in hindsight, “...if I had known better [that
there could be very serious requirements and regulations with respect to
solicitation of funds, issuance of securities, etc.]...I would have done everything
to prevent this from happening. Perhaps would have spent my energy and effort
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registration was reinstated as a Dealing Representative under the same category
from September 24, 2004 to December 20, 2010.
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[108] I conclude that Dookhie engaged in trades and acts in furtherance of trades in
securities of RARE in Ontario within the meaning of the Act without being
registered. Accordingly, I find that Dookhie contravened subsection 25(1)(a) of
the Act during the time period from January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009 and
subsection 25(1) of the Act during the time period from September 28, 2009 to
March 31, 2010, and there were no registration exemptions available to him, as
discussed below. I find this conduct to be contrary to the public interest.
(c)

Todorov

[109] Based on Staff’s Section 139 Certificates, I find that Todorov has never been
registered with the Commission in any capacity. I also find that during the
Material Time, Todorov, a de facto director of RARE, engaged in trades or acts in
furtherance of trades in the 2009 Promissory Notes, which constitute securities.
Examples of these acts include, but are not limited to the following:


Todorov solicited three RARE Investors, directly and indirectly, whose
invested funds represented $375,000, or approximately 31%, of the total
funds invested in RARE;



the 2009 Promissory Notes were drafted by Dookhie, using a template
provided by Todorov;



Todorov signed 3 of the 2009 Promissory Notes as Trading Strategist of
RARE; and



Todorov was the chief trading strategist of RARE and was the primary
trader of RARE until May 2009.

[110] I conclude that Todorov engaged in trades and acts in furtherance of trades in
securities of RARE in Ontario within the meaning of the Act without being
registered. Accordingly, I find that Todorov contravened subsection 25(1)(a) of
the Act during the time period from January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009 an d
subsection 25(1) of the Act during the time period from September 28, 2009 to
March 31, 2010, and there were no registration exemptions available to him, as
discussed below. I find this conduct to be contrary to the public interest.
(d)

Exemptions

[111] The Respondents did not lead any formal submissions on the availability of any
exemptions at the Merits Hearing. However, there was some indication that the
Respondents may have relied upon the accredited investor exemption and the
private issuer exemption.
[112] Based on the evidence before me, I find that neither of the two exemptions was
available to the Respondents during the Material Time. The Respondents also did
not establish that they qualified for any other exemption under Ontario securities
law.
The Private Issuer Exem ption
[113] There was some evidence that the Respondents may have relied upon the
private issuer exemption. Specifically, there was a footnote in a promotional
document of RARE that read: “This is a private placement investment and not for
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to ensure that, you know...we were to follow the rules and get registered...t his is
a very expensive lesson for me” (Transcript, May 27, 2013, Testimony of
Dookhie, p. 34, ll. 16-21).
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[114] Under section 2.4 of NI 45-106, there is a private issuer exemption available for
an issuer that is limited to not more than 50 beneficial shareholders, excluding
current and former employees of the issuer or its affiliates, who fall into certain
categories, such as accredited investors, directors and officers of the issuer and
certain relatives, close personal friends or close business associates of a control
person of the issuer.
[115] The types of investors that qualify to be permitted private issuer security
purchasers are investors that are generally thought to have a relationship to the
issuer that allows them to, at least partially, mitigate the risks of the investment
because of the closeness of the relationship or the fact that they have access to
information from the issuer.
[116] Although I heard submissions that RARE Investors were family, friends and
clients of Dookhie and Todorov, the Respondents did not present any evidence
that provided details of the relationships they held with these investors. As such,
I find that the private issuer exemption was not available to any of the
Respondents during the Material Time.
The Accredited Investor Exem ption
[117] The accredited investor exemption is premised on an investor being an
institution or sophisticated organization, or an individual having the ability to
withstand financial loss or the resources to obtain expert financial advice.
[118] In his Compelled Examination on May 28, 2010, Todorov stated that he was
familiar with the term “accredited investor”. Todorov believed that Dookhie
created a document for the purpose of dealing with accredited investors and to
limit the number of investors RARE could raise capital from. Staff submits that
the document Todorov referred to in his Compelled Examination was a
promotional document that was given to the three Investor Witnesses, M.A., R.E.
and V.M.
[119] Additionally, during Todorov’s cross-examination of V.M., there was some
discussion about whether or not V.M. was an accredited investor. After I clarified
the definition of an “accredited investor” to V.M., he stated that he was probably
an accredited investor, after considering the value of his family trust, his holding
company and his personal assets. However, V.M. also testified that he did not
recall having a discussion about whether or not he was an accredited investor
during his dealings with either Dookhie or Todorov.
[120] In Staff’s cross-examination of Dookhie, Staff took Dookhie to the ODL account
opening documents for RARE (Exhibit 48, Vol. 1, Tab C, pp. 39-49). The
documents contained a section entitled “Where Securities May be Offered”, that
states the following:
The contracts for differences in spread trades (the
“Securities”) that are described in the offering
memorandum you are about to access are only being offered
to potential investors who are resident in the Canadian
provinces of ONTARIO, BRITISH COLUMBIA ALBERTA
AND QUEBEC (the “Offering Jurisdictions”) and in such
Offering Jurisdictions, the Securities are only being issued in
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public solicitation” (Exhibit 5, Vol. 2, Tab C, pp. 18-21 at p. 20; Exhibit 9, Vol. 2,
Tab G, pp. 41A; Exhibit 16, Vol. 2, Tab L, pp. 79-105 at p. 102).

reliance upon certain exemptions from the prospectus and
registration requirements prescribed under the applicable
securities laws of the Offering Jurisdictions. Only potential
investors who qualify as “accredited investors”... and who
are resident in one of the four Offering Jurisdictions will be
permitted to trade the Securities offered under the offering
memorandum.
[emphasis in original]
(Exhibit 48, Vol. 1, Tab C, pp. 39-49 at p. 44)
[121] The documents also contained a section entitled “Who Securities May be Offered
To”, that states the following:
The offering of Securities under this offering memorandum is
being made on a prospectus-exempt basis under the
applicable securities laws of the Offering Jurisdictions and
only to potential investors who are trading in the Securities
as principal and who qualify under National Instrument 45106 Prospectus and Registration Exem ptions (“NI 45-106”)
as an “accredited investor”...
[emphasis in original]
(Exhibit 48, Vol. 1, Tab C, pp. 39-49 at p. 44)
[122] Dookhie testified that there was perhaps one RARE Investor who was an
accredited investor. However, he testified that neither he nor RARE were
accredited investors, and further testified that he did not make any inquiries to
determine if RARE Investors were accredited or not. I note that the Dookhie had
primary communication with all RARE Investors during the Material Time.
[123] I find that the Respondents did not satisfy the requirements for the accredited
investor exemption or the private issuer exemption, and therefore neither of the
two exemptions was available to the Respondents during the Material Time.
There was also no evidence presented before me that any other exemption from
the registration requirements under Ontario securities law was available to the
Respondents.
[124] In light of all of the forgoing, I find that during the Material Time, RARE, Dookhie
and Todorov engaged in or held themselves out as engaging in the business of
trading in securities without being registered to do so in circumstances in which
no exemption was available to them, contrary to subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act
during the time period from January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009 and
subsection 25(1) of the Act during the time period from September 28, 2009 to
March 31, 2010, and contrary to the public interest.
B.

Did the Respondents engage in a distribution of securities without
a prospectus in breach of subsection 53(1) of the Act and contrary
to the public interest?
1.

The Law

[125] Subsection 53(1) of the Act sets out the prospectus requirement for trades that
comprise a distribution:
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[126] The definition of “distribution” is set forth in subsection 1(1) of the Act and
states that:
“distribution”, where used in relation to trading in securities,
means,
(a) a trade in securities of an issuer that have not been
previously issued,
[...]
[127] As the Commission held in Re Lim elight:
The requirement to comply with section 53 of the Securities
Act is important because a prospectus ensures that
prospective investors have full, true and plain disclosure of
information to properly assess the risks of an investment
and make an informed investment decision. The prospectus
requirements of the Act play a significant role in the overall
scheme of investor protection. As stated by the court in
Jones v. F.H. Deacon Hodgson Inc. (1986), 9 O.S.C.B. 5579
(Ont. H.C.) (at p. 5590), “there can be no question but that
the filing of a prospectus and its acceptance by the
Commission is fundamental to the protection of the investing
public who are contemplating purchase of the shares.”
(Re Lim elight, supra at para. 139)
[128] As stated in paragraph 90, once Staff has proven that the Respondents
distributed shares without qualifying those shares under a prospectus, the onus
shifts to the Respondents to prove an exemption from those requirements is
available in the circumstances. Exemptions from the prospectus requirement are
provided in NI 45-106 and include, among others, exemptions for a trade in a
security if the purchaser is an accredited investor or if the distribution in
question relates to securities of a private issuer to certain purchasers. As
previously discussed, there was some indication that the Respondents relied
upon the accredited investor and private issuer exemptions from prospectus
requirements that existed during the Material Time, as provided in sections 2.3
and 2.4 of NI 45-106, respectively, which are articulated at paragraphs 91 and
93 above.

2.

Analysis

[129] As established above in my discussion of subsections 25(1)(a) and 25(1) of the
Act, the Respondents all engaged in trades and/or acts in furtherance of a trade,
as defined in the Act. The Respondents have therefore met, and are caught by,
the trading element under the definition of “distribution” under the Act.
[130] The second element of the definition of “distribution” under the Act is that the
securities in question have not been previously issued. I find that at the time the
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53. (1) Prospectus required – No person or company
shall trade in a security on his, her or its own account or on
behalf of any other person or company if the trade would be
a distribution of the security, unless a preliminary
prospectus and a prospectus have been filed and receipts
have been issued for them by the Director.
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[131] De Verteuil testified that in the Compelled Examinations of Dookhie, Dookhie
referred to the fact that he was aware of the requirements to file prospectuses
and he indicated that RARE was not engaged in activities that would require the
filing of a prospectus. Furthermore, in his Compelled Examination on May 28,
2010, Todorov stated that it was illegal for a private corporation to “advertise for
capital, unless you have a prospectus or something” (Exhibit 77, Transcripts of
Compelled Examinations of Todorov, May 28, 2010, Qs. 191-193, pp. 39-40).
Dookhie and Todorov therefore understood that a prospectus was required to be
filed with the Commission when engaging in certain trading activities.
[132] De Verteuil testified that there was neither a prospectus filed with the
Commission nor a receipt issued from the Director regarding the Promissory
Notes issued by RARE to its investors. Staff further informed the Panel that there
was no prospectus included in the documents disclosed by Dookhie to Staff.
RARE was also not a reporting issuer during the Material Time.
[133] As discussed above, there was some indication that the Respondents relied on
the accredited investor and private issuer exemptions. For the same reasons set
forth in in paragraphs 111 to 123, neither the accredited investor nor the private
issuer exemptions from the prospectus requirement of subsection 53(1) of the
Act were available to the Respondents during the Material Time. There was also
no evidence that any other exemption from the prospectus requirement was
available to the Respondents in respect of the distribution of the previously
unissued Promissory Notes.
[134] I conclude that the Respondents engaged in trades or acts in furtherance of
trades. At the time of these trades, the Promissory Notes issued by RARE had
not previously been issued, and I therefore conclude that the trades constitute a
distribution. Since no prospectus was filed for these trades, I find that the
Respondents have contravened subsection 53(1) of the Act, as there were no
valid exemptions available to the Respondents. I further find that such
contraventions were contrary to the public interest.
C.

Did the Respondents engage in fraud in breach of subsection
126.1(b) of the Act and contrary to the public interest?

1.

The Law

[135] Staff alleges that each of the Respondents engaged or participated in securities
fraud, contrary to section 126.1(b) of the Act and contrary to the public interest.
[136] Section 126.1(b) of the Act provides as follows:
126.1 Fraud and market manipulation – A person or
company shall not, directly or indirectly, engage or
participate in any act, practice or course of conduct relating
to securities, derivatives or the underlying interest of a
derivative that the person or company knows or reasonably
ought to know,
[. . .]
(b) perpetrates a fraud on any person or company.
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Respondents engaged in trades and/or acts in furtherance of trades, the
Promissory Notes that were being traded had not previously been issued. I
therefore find that the trades constitute a distribution.
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Fraud is “one of the most egregious securities regulatory
violations” and is both “an affront to the individual investors
directly targeted” and something that “decreases confidence
in the fairness and efficiency of the entire capital market
system” (Re Capital Alternatives Inc. (2007), A.B.A.S.C. 79
at para. 308 citing D. Johnston & K. D. Rockwell, Canadian
Securities Regulation, 4th ed., Markham: LexisNexis, 2007
at 420).
The term fraud is not defined in the Act. Due to the recent
introduction of the fraud provision in the Act, there are no
decisions from the Commission interpreting this provision.
However, we can draw out guidance and principles from
criminal and administrative law jurisprudence and decisions
from other securities commissions.
The British Columbia Court of Appeal addressed the
application of the substantially identical fraud provision in
the British Columbia Securities Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 418,
as amended (the “BC Act”) in Anderson v. British Colum bia
(Securities Com m ission), 2004 BCCA 7 (B.C. C.A.)
(“Anderson”). The Supreme Court of Canada denied leave to
appeal the Anderson v. British Colum bia (Securities
Com m ission) decision ((S.C.C.)).
In Anderson, the British Columbia Court of Appeal reviewed
the legal test for fraud and relied on R. v. Théroux, [1993] 2
S.C.R. 5 (S.C.C.) (“Théroux”). In Théroux, Justice McLachlin
(as she then was) summarized the elements of fraud as
follows at paragraph 27:
...the actus reus of the offence of fraud will be
established by proof of:
1. the prohibited act, be it an act of deceit, a
falsehood or some other fraudulent means; and
2. deprivation caused by the prohibited act, which
may consist in actual loss or the placing of the
victim's pecuniary interests at risk.
Correspondingly, the m ens rea of fraud is established
by proof of:
1. subjective knowledge of the prohibited act; and
2. subjective knowledge that the prohibited act could
have as a consequence the deprivation of another
(which deprivation may consist in knowledge that the
victim’s pecuniary interests are put at risk).
Section 126.1 of the Act has the identical operative language
as the fraud provision in the British Columbia Act. In
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[137] The Commission first considered subsection 126.1(b) of the in Re Al-Tar Energy
Corp. (2010), 33 O.S.C.B. 5535 (“Re Al-Tar”), and the Commission set out the
following statement of the law at paragraphs 214 to 221 of that decision:
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...[the fraud provision of the BC Act] does not
dispense with proof of fraud, including proof of a
guilty mind... Section 57(b) simply widens the
prohibition against participation in transactions to
include participants who know or ought to know that
a fraud is being perpetrated by others, as well as
those who participate in perpetrating the fraud. It
does not eliminate proof of fraud, including proof of
subjective knowledge of the facts constituting the
dishonest act, by someone involved in the
transactions.
[emphasis in original]
The British Columbia Court of Appeal in Anderson further
explained at paragraph 29 that:
Fraud is a very serious allegation which carries a
stigma and requires a high standard of proof. While
proof in a civil or regulatory case does not have to
meet the criminal law standard of proof beyond a
reasonable doubt, it does require evidence that is
clear and convincing proof of the elements of fraud,
including the mental element.
The British Columbia Court of Appeal approach to the legal
test in the context of securities fraud as set out in Anderson
was adopted in Re Capital Alternatives Inc., 2007 ABASC 79,
which was affirmed in Alberta (Securities Com m ission) v.
Brost, [2008] A.J. No. 1071 (Alta. C.A.).
For a corporation, it is sufficient to show that its directing
minds knew or reasonably ought to have known that the
corporation perpetrated a fraud to prove a breach of section
126.1(b) of the Act.
[138] The category of “other fraudulent means” captures all other situations in which
dishonest acts are involved that cannot be simply characterized as “deceit” or
“falsehood”. The courts have defined the sort of conduct that may fall under the
category of “other fraudulent means”, which include the use of corporate funds
for personal purposes, non-disclosure of important facts, exploiting the weakness
of another, unauthorized diversion of funds and unauthorized arrogation of funds
or property (Théroux, supra at para. 18). The existence of conduct that
constitutes “other fraudulent means” is determined by what a reasonable person
considers to be dishonest dealing. On the other hand, in instances of fraud by
deceit or falsehood, it will not be necessary to undertake such an inquiry, since
all that needs to be determined is whether, as a matter of fact, the respondent
represented that “a situation was of a certain character, when, in reality, it was
not” (Théroux, supra at para. 18).
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interpreting the fraud provision in the British Columbia Act
and with respect to the mental element, the British Columbia
Court of Appeal in Anderson stated at paragraph 26 that:
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2.

Analysis

[140] For the following reasons, I find that during the Material Time, RARE, Dookhie
and Todorov breached subsection 126.1(b) of the Act and acted contrary to the
public interest.
(a)

RARE

[141] Based on the evidence before me, including De Verteuil’s source and allocation of
funds analysis, it is clear that RARE engaged in many acts of deceit, falsehood
and other fraudulent means that deprived RARE Investors of their funds. The
investment scheme arranged by RARE was an underhanded design that placed a
substantial amount of risk on the financial situation of its investors, most of
whom suffered a complete loss of their principal investments.
[142] Despite their knowledge to the contrary, the Respondents continually made
representations that: investor funds would be used in Forex trading, their funds
would be secured in GICs and RARE was a successful business that was active in
the Forex market. None of these representations was true.
Prom otional Materials of RARE
[143] Dookhie, the directing mind of RARE, drafted and prepared the promotional
materials of RARE. These documents were provided to investors to encourage
them to invest in RARE. Several RARE Investors received a document entitled
“How the program works!” (the “How the Program Works Document”), which
stated, among other things, that 50% of an investor’s funds would be invested
into the Forex market, while the other 50% would be placed in a GIC that would
be locked in for one year with the Bank of Montreal.
[144] In their testimonies, Staff’s Investor Witnesses, E.A., R.E. and V.M., all
confirmed that they received this document in relation to their investments with
RARE. R.E. testified that he was comfortable investing $50,000 in RARE because
half of his funds would be secured in a GIC, meaning that in the worst case
scenario he would lose half of his investment. He stated that the How the
Program Works Document described what he understood would be done with his
investment and how it would be kept.
[145] Although the How the Program Works Document represented to investors that
50% of their deposits in RARE would be placed into GICs, RARE only purchased
three GICs totalling $275,000 during the Material Time. I note that the
investments of RARE Investors amounted to $1,226,832.
[146] The three GICs were purchased using the funds in Account 752 and Account 736.
With regards to Account 752, which received the deposits of 13 RARE Investors,
only a single GIC of $100,000 was purchased with its funds. With regards to
Account 736, two RARE Investors deposited a total amount of $175,000 into the
account. Rather than using 50% of the funds to purchase GICs, the entirety of
these investor funds was used to purchase two GICs at a total amount of
$175,000.
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[139] The element of “deprivation” does not require that the respondent profited by
the fraud (Théroux, supra at para. 19). Moreover, where the conduct and
knowledge required by the definitions in Théroux are established, the respondent
is found to have engaged in fraud, “whether he actually intended the prohibited
consequence or was reckless as to whether it would occur” (Théroux, supra at
para. 25).

[147] In relation to investor funds that were used to purchase GICs, the evidence
indicated that the purpose of these GICs was not to guarantee the security of
investors’ principal investments. As admitted by Dookhie, the GICs were used to
keep the overdraft running on RARE’s main operating account, Account 752, in
order to fund RARE’s trading activities at ODL. In his testimony, Dookhie
admitted that when the GICs matured, the funds were deposited back into
Account 752 and used to reduce the overdraft in the account. Dookhie further
admitted that investors were not informed that their funds would be used to
keep a line of credit operating or to satisfy the overdraft obligations of RARE’s
bank accounts at the Bank of Montreal.
[148] A second promotional document entitled “RARE Investments” (the “RARE
Investments Document”) was also provided to the Investor Witnesses, E.A.,
R.E. and V.M. Among other things, this document stated the following:


“RARE Investments, a division of 2196768 Ontario
Ltd., is offering individuals a rare opportunity to earn
up to 24% a year on privately placed investment of
Canadian $50K.” [emphasis in original]



“RARE’s Investment main strategy is to trade in the
FOREX Market.”



“With average daily turnover of US$3.2 trillion, forex
is the most traded market in the world.”



“Based on our success over the past 18 months, we
are able to offer 24% yearly rate of interest on funds
borrowed from clients and also provide a security
against 50% of your initial investment.”

(Exhibit 5, Vol. 2, Tab C, pp. 18-21; Exhibit 9, Vol. 2, Tab G,
pp. 41A; Exhibit 16, Vol. 2, Tab L, pp. 79-105)
[149] I note that during the Material Time, the source of funds of RARE came solely
from the deposits of RARE Investors. The evidence showed that RARE was
unsuccessful in generating any profits from its trading activities, given that its
trading activities resulted in a net loss of $688,757.73.
[150] In his testimony, Dookhie acknowledged that the RARE Investments Document
was incorrect in describing RARE’s past success. He explained that RARE had just
been formed when this document was distributed to investors, and therefore did
not have 18 months of experience. Dookhie admitted that he presented this
document to investors at a time when the main trading account of RARE was
comprised, meaning that RARE was inactive in its trading activities. He also
admitted that the statement in the document, regarding RARE’s success “over
the past 18 months”, was a misrepresentation and anyone who thought RARE
had been a success at that point were mistaken.
[151] The RARE Investment Document was also misleading since it described RARE as
a “division of 2196768 Ontario Ltd.”. This language suggested that RARE was
part of a larger company, when in fact RARE and 2196768 Ontario Ltd. were one
and the same corporate entity that was owned by Dookhie, Sunderji and Todorov
and operated out of the same address, the Yorkgate Mall Address.
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[153] Apart from the How the Program Works and the RARE Investments Document,
the Individual Respondents provided investors with other promotional materials,
such as ODL trading statements. Investors were also shown computer screens of
trading activities in their discussions and meetings with Dookhie prior to making
their investments with RARE. For example, at his first meeting with Dookhie,
R.E. was shown some trading activities of RARE and was assured that there were
more gains than losses, which convinced R.E. that Dookhie was making money
with RARE. Dookhie promised R.E. an annual rate of return of 24%. Dookhie
informed him that that the return could be better, but his lawyer advised him to
be more conservative by offering a rate at 24%. Additionally, V.M. testified that
Dookhie showed him some screens and trades that were happening with other
accounts of his clients. Based on their discussions with Dookhie and the
promotional materials provided, both R.E. and V.M. decided to invest a total of
$250,000 in RARE.
[154] The promotional materials of RARE, most notably the How the Program Works
and the RARE Investments Document, were intended to create an impression of
the company’s success, based on the knowledge, experience and expertise of the
RARE Principals. The supposed guarantee of a 50% security in GICs for each
investment, coupled with what appeared to be a history of high returns, added to
the attractiveness of investing in RARE. Many statements contained in the
promotional materials of RARE were proven to be false by the evidence before
me. I therefore find the representations made in the promotional materials, as
discussed above, constitute acts of deceit, falsehood and fraud.
Misuse of the RARE Investor Funds
[155] RARE was represented as a company that engaged in Forex trading. The
evidence showed that investors were under the belief that their funds would be
used as capital to allow RARE to perform its trading activities in the Forex market
and that half of their investments would be safely placed in GICs. In reality,
RARE was formed to make interest payments to individuals who were not RARE
Investors and to service the past financial obligations of the Respondents. These
unauthorized uses of investor funds were not disclosed to RARE Investors.
[156] When asked about the formation of RARE, Dookhie testified that RARE was
formed to service and pay off debts that were incurred prior to the incorporation
of RARE. In his testimony, De Verteuil confirmed that money was transferred
from RARE’s main bank account, Account 752, to Pre-RARE Investors and to 632
Company, a company owned by Dookhie. The following funds were withdrawn
from Account 752 in relation to interest payments made to Pre-RARE Investors:


on March 11, 2009, the cheque of Account 752 was drawn and was made
out to a Pre-RARE Investor who did not invest in RARE;



on June 24, 2009, M.A. deposited $50,000 in RARE and on the same day,
a Pre-RARE Investor, who never deposited funds in RARE, received a
payment for the principal amount he invested with 632 Company, being
$50,000; and
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[152] Using the How the Program Works Document and the RARE Investments
Document, RARE represented itself as a company whose success allowed its
investors to receive a guaranteed return on investment of 24% per annum, using
half of the capital provided by investors. In reality, no such success had ever
been achieved by RARE.

34
throughout the Material Time, all Pre-RARE Investors, including three
investors who did not invest any funds in RARE, received interest
payments from Account 752.

[157] There was also evidence to show that some obligations that were incurred by the
Respondents prior to the formation of RARE subsequently became the liability of
RARE and its investors. For instance, two Pre-RARE Investors entered into a
$50,000 debenture certificate with 632 Company on October 6, 2008. There was
no evidence that either of these investors ever invested in RARE. However, on
April 8, 2009, a promissory note of $50,000 was issued by RARE to these two
investors.
[158] The evidence also demonstrated that RARE made payments to third parties, i.e.
non-investors of RARE:


In his Compelled Examination on August 25, 2010, Dookhie admitted to
facilitating a loan of $11,221.97 by RARE on behalf of Todorov to an
individual who was neither a Pre-RARE Investor nor a RARE Investor.
Dookhie made the loan to the individual at Todorov’s direction, despite
not knowing who this individual was or why Todorov wanted RARE to pay
her money.



A total of $8,400 in referral fees was paid to Hoang, who assisted in
soliciting one investor to RARE with Vatanchi. Hoang was the only
individual who received a referral fee from RARE.



On August 7, 2009, a transfer of $70,000 was drawn from Account 752 to
a company owned by Vatanchi, who was a friend of Todorov and solicited
two RARE Investors. The funds were connected to a loan that was
provided to Vatanchi with some bridge financing for a real estate
transaction. There was no interest payable in respect of this loan, nor was
there any documentation evidencing that this loan was made between
RARE and Vatanchi’s company.

[159] Looking at the investment scheme as a whole, I find that the main indicators of
fraud were as follows: false statements in the company’s promotional materials;
misrepresentations about the financial viability and trading success of the
company; and the undisclosed use of the RARE Investor funds to satisfy preRARE debt obligations of the Respondents, to pay Pre-RARE Investors with their
interest payments and principal sums and to provide referral fees and interest free loans to third parties.
[160] For the reasons above, I find that the evidence has established that the conduct
of RARE during the Material Time was dishonest and was objectively deceitful
and false. I also find that any reasonable person would conclude that the actions
of RARE were aimed to represent to RARE Investors that their investments were
safe when, in reality, their funds were put at risk and most of the principal
amounts invested by these investors were ultimately lost.
[161] With regards to a corporate respondent, the Commission has determined that it
is “sufficient to show that its directing minds knew or reasonably ought to have
known that the corporation perpetrated a fraud to prove a breach of subsection
126.1(b) of the Act” (Re Al-Tar, supra at para. 221).
[162] As discussed below, Dookhie controlled RARE and was its directing mind. The
evidence before me demonstrated that Dookhie knowingly interacted with
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investors in a deceitful manner that perpetrated the fraud of RARE. I therefore
conclude that RARE engaged or participated in acts, practices or courses of
conduct relating to securities that it knew or reasonably ought to have known
perpetrated a fraud on RARE Investors, contrary to subsect ion 126.1(b) of the
Act and contrary to the public interest.
Dookhie

[163] I find that Dookhie engaged in many acts of deceit, falsehood and other
fraudulent means that deprived investors of their funds.
[164] Dookhie stated that he was naïve to put his trust in Todorov and Sunderji and
takes full responsibility of the consequences of his misconduct. I do not find that
Dookhie played a passive role in perpetrating the investment scheme of RARE;
he was not naïve. On the contrary, I find that he was an active player in
soliciting funds from RARE Investors. It was through his representations, both
oral and written, on which RARE Investors based their decisions to invest.
[165] Moreover, although Dookhie expressed his remorse regarding his misconduct in
his testimony at the Merits Hearing, this does not excuse his active engagement
in RARE’s investment scheme during the Material Time.
Dookhie’s Dealings with RARE Investors
[166] In his Compelled Examination on August 25, 2010, Dookhie stated that RARE
Investors knew Dookhie well, they were confident in his abilities and they
invested in RARE based on the strength of their relationships with him (Exhibit
78, Compelled Examinations of Dookhie, August 25, 2010, Q. 785, p. 159, ll. 1 6). Dookhie used these relationships of trust and confidence to his advantage
and placed investors’ funds at risk by doing so.
[167] During the Material Time, Dookhie had relationships with all three of the Investor
Witnesses. Their relationships with Dookhie are described below:


M.A. invested a total of $100,000 with RARE. He has no knowledge of
securities or the capital markets and he characterizes himself as a naïve
investor. M.A. first met Dookhie around 2003. Dookhie had provided
M.A.’s father with services for his income taxes through Liberty Services.
When M.A. retired, he asked Dookhie to complete his income taxes as
When M.A. made his investments with RARE, Dookhie informed M.A. that
he had a team that included Todorov and Sunderji, who were “FX people
and understood currency trading” (Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of
M.A., p. 47, ll. 1-5). From his discussions with Dookhie, M.A. thought that
Todorov was an “FX specialist”, an “ethical financial investor” and an
“honest financial investor” (Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of M.A.,
p. 50, ll. 24-25; p. 51, l. 1). M.A. further testified that he was under the
impression that his money would “grow through [Todorov’s] work with
currency trading” (Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of M.A., p. 51, ll.
2-3). M.A. testified that he has not received any of his principal of
$100,000 from RARE or its principals. M.A. stated that he had “misplaced
confidence” when he decided to invest in RARE. M.A. has hired a lawyer to
recover his funds.



R.E. invested $50,000 in RARE, using funds obtained through a line of
credit. At the time of the Merits Hearing, R.E. had known Dookhie for over
20 years. When describing Todorov, Dookhie informed R.E. that Todorov
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(b)

would be in charge of carrying out the trading of RARE and that he was a
“mathematical whiz” who could make R.E. “some serious money”
(Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony of R.E., p. 86, ll. 14-18). Until the
day of his testimony, R.E. has not received the return of his $50,000 from
RARE or its principals. R.E. testified that when he is reminded of his
experience with RARE, he stated that “my blood boils. It is a tremendous
dollar amount. It is a major financial setback and it is just affecting
me...mentally, physically, emotionally...and I am diagnosed with high
blood pressure because of all this” (Transcript, May 22, 2013, Testimony
of RE., p. 96, ll. 23-25; p. 97, ll. 1-3). As of the date of his testimony, the
line of credit from which R.E. borrowed the $50,000 for his investment
with RARE was still outstanding, and he was uncertain when he would be
able to pay off this balance.


V.M. collaborated with his brother as an equal investment partner and
invested a total of $200,000 in RARE. Todorov solicited V.M. and his
brother to invest in RARE; however, both Dookhie and Todorov were
actively engaged in discussions with V.M. during the Material Time. When
asked why he invested in RARE, V.M. stated that one reason he invested
was because he was comfortable with Dookhie, who seemed to be “very
knowledgeable on what he was doing” (Transcript, May 22, 2013,
Testimony of V.M., p. 148, ll. 13-20). V.M. thought Dookhie was doing a
good job, he showed V.M. good returns on his trades and V.M. trusted
him. From November 2009 to June 2010, Dookhie sent emails to V.M.
promising favourable investment opportunities and the possibility to
secure V.M.’s investments through collateral. V.M. ultimately decided not
to secure his investments with collateral. V.M. also did not invest
additional funds in RARE. As of the date of his examination-in-chief on
May 22, 2013, V.M. had not received any interest payments or any of his
principal investment back from RARE.

[168] Dookhie was also responsible for drafting the How the Program Works and the
RARE Investments Document, which included statements that he admitted to be
false, as previously discussed.
[169] Dookhie also made representations to RARE Investors that he knew were untrue.
For instance, Dookhie sent an email to V.M. on February 8, 2010 that stated,
“There is an opportunity to take advantage of the falling or strengthening of the
Euro. Our account is well positioned and I doubled the funds I started with last
August” (Exhibit 32, Vol. 2, Tab L, pp. 159-160 at p. 159). On February 27,
2010, Dookhie sent another email to V.M. attaching several documents, including
a profit and loss statement of the U.S. dollar trading account, Account 81216.
The statement showed a monthly rate of return of 274% for February 2010. De
Verteuil testified that the rate of return was inaccurate, given that there was an
unrealized loss of approximately $369,000 at the end of February 2010. Around
March 10, 2010, approximately two weeks following the February 27, 2010 email
from Dookhie, Account 81216 was closed and showed a cumulative loss of
$114,271.78.
[170] I find that Dookhie was the directing mind and the main orchestrator of the
investment scheme of RARE. He exploited the trust, which RARE Investors
placed on him, in order to advance his own desire to make money in the Forex
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Not Disclosing Risks
[171] Dookhie was intimately aware of the dire financial situation of RARE during the
Material Time. He was the director, president and accountant of RARE, and he
was responsible for all the banking matters of the company. Dookhie admitted
that he reviewed the company’s accounts on a “regular basis” (Transcript, May
27, 2013, Testimony of Dookhie, p. 111, ll. 20-23).
[172] As previously discussed, RARE suffered a substantial loss that caused ODL to
close Account 32508 in May 2009. Dookhie did not inform RARE Investors or the
Bank of Montreal of this loss. Furthermore, as of July 17, 2009, the main bank
account of RARE, Account 752, was in an overdraft position, from which it never
recovered. Nonetheless, investor funds continued to flow to RARE until December
2009. Dookhie admitted the he never told RARE Investors that the company was
in “terrible shape” when he accepted their funds (Transcript, May 27, 2013,
Testimony of Dookhie, p. 111, ll. 2-5).
[173] By March 2010, RARE was completely out of money and no longer had an open
trading account at ODL. However, at this time, Dookhie engaged in discussions
with RARE Investors to enter into the 2010 Promissory Notes. Dookhie admitted
that during these discussions he did not inform RARE Inves tors that there was no
money left in the trading account of the company.
[174] In his Compelled Examination on August 25, 2010, Dookhie admitted that he did
not disclose the risk of Forex trading with RARE Investors:
A. ...When you are trading, there’s a spread between buy
and sells, okay...We had the safety to stay in the trading
account and this is one of the problems we had with ODL
and these are some of the risks that are inherent in the
market...
[...]
Q. Was that risk or can you tell us how that risk was
communicated to the lenders?
A. It was not communicated to the lenders.
Q. So even though they were aware that you were taking
the money for the most part and trading in the foreign
exchange, they were not made aware of what risks existed?
A. Absolutely not.
Q. Okay. And tell me why not.
A. I didn’t think they had to know. I mean, this is something
that I was going through and it was evolving and I didn’t
think I had to worry them about the risk involved. My worry
was to ensure that the accounts stayed in good standing
order and that the funds are being made to pay -- to make
the interest payments in a timely manner and to ensure that
the capital at some point in time is going to still be in the
account based on the trading methodology that I had been
trying to preach to you.
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market. I find that this conduct constituted acts of deceit, falsehood and
dishonesty that deprived RARE Investors of their funds.
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[...]
Q. Okay. So what went wrong?
(Exhibit 78, Transcripts of Compelled Examinations of
Dookhie, August 25, 2010, Qs. 138-142 and 181, pp. 33-34
and 45)
[175] The actions of Dookhie discussed above showed a callous disregard of the trust
that was bestowed on Dookhie by RARE Investors. By withholding significant
information about the financial status of RARE and the risks inherent in its
trading activities, Dookhie deprived RARE Investors with t he ability to make
informed decisions before investing with RARE.
Misuse of the RARE Investor Funds
[176] In his Compelled Examination on August 25, 2010, Dookhie admitted that he
was responsible for negotiating the investments with RARE Investors. When he
was asked what investors were told about their investments, Dookhie replied:
Well, I had said to most of my lenders that I’m trading in the
foreign exchange market and I will be borrowing the funds
to use for that purpose, and some of them didn’t care what I
used it for that purpose or, you know, what I did with it,
once I made the monthly interest payment which they were
happy to receive, yeah. So that was the gist of that.
(Exhibit 78, Transcripts of Compelled Examinations of
Dookhie, August 25, 2010, Q. 37, p. 12, ll. 17-24)
[177] Investors were never told that their funds would be used to satisfy the interest
payments to other investors, including Pre-RARE Investors, nor were they told
that their funds would be transferred to third parties for referral fees and
interest-free loans. As the individual in charge of all of the banking matters of
RARE, Dookhie was solely responsible for the unauthorized uses of the RARE
Investor Funds.
[178] It is clear that Dookhie had the subjective awareness that his conduct would put
the economic expectations of RARE Investors at risk. In Dookhie’s testimony,
when asked about the entire events of RARE during the Material Time, including
his solicitation of RARE Investors, Dookhie stated that in hindsight, he realized
that “it was wrong what we did, it is wrong what I did. I take full responsibility”
(Transcript, May 27, 2013, Testimony of Dookhie, p. 49, ll. 8-14). In his
testimony, Dookhie admitted that he used other people’s money to make money
for himself (Transcript, May 27, 2013, Testimony of Dookhie, p. 73, ll. 5-8).
[179] Dookhie’s dishonest acts allowed RARE to raise $1,226,832 from 16 RARE
Investors. De Verteuil calculated the net payments made to Dookhie from RARE
amounted to $172,200.30, as discussed in paragraph 74 above.
[180] I therefore conclude that Dookhie engaged or participated in acts, practices or
courses of conduct relating to securities that he knew or reasonably ought to
have known perpetrated a fraud on RARE Investors, contrary to subsection
126.1(b) of the Act. I further find that such conduct was contrary to the public
interest.
(c)

Todorov
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A. What went wrong? I guess gambling instincts.
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[182] Todorov argued that he was impeded in trading in the account s of RARE, which
led to the substantial trading loss in May 2009. Todorov wished to enter the
summary statement and trading statements of his account with GCI Financial as
evidence to demonstrate his ability to raise funds based on a formula, rather
than a random act, in order to illustrate that his role in connection to the
substantial loss was misinterpreted and was a misrepresentation of his abilities.
Todorov also argued that the mathematical formula that is applied in his trading
can only work if it is not meddled with. Todorov submits that through Exhibits 82
and 83, he is able to prove that his trading is profitable and successful over a
continuous period of time.
[183] Todorov submits that the documents in Exhibits 82 and 83 were also tendered to
demonstrate that he is able to rectify his obligations towards RARE Investors. At
the Merits Hearing, Todorov testified that the summary statement (Exhibit 83)
showed that his GCI Financial account obtained a gross profit of $247,740.28
and a net profit of $126,686.06, as of March 25, 2013. Todorov intends to use
the funds generated from this account to return the funds owed by him to
investors. Todorov testified that there are five RARE Investors that he is
responsible for returning funds to: V.M., M.A., N.M. M.R. and A.A.
[184] In Staff’s cross-examination of Todorov, Staff raised the issue that the account
Todorov established with GCI Financial had positions that were not closed.
Todorov confirmed that the final profit/loss value in the GCI trading statements
(Exhibit 82 at p. 293) was a floating value and could therefore fluctuate, as was
seen with Account 32508 when Todorov made an aggressive trade on April 22,
2009.
[185] The evidence demonstrated that trading in the Forex market can be very volatile.
As Todorov explained, “You can damage an account in two minutes and...in less
than two minutes you can totally wipe out an account” (Transcript, May 27,
2013, Testimony of Todorov, p. 194, ll. 21-23). Therefore, despite Todorov’s
stated intention to repay investors with their lost funds, it is not certain whether
or not the GCI Financial account will continue to grow a profit and be used to
repay investors.
[186] Additionally, although Todorov has stated intentions to rectify the consequences
of his misconduct, this does not afford him with a defence against a finding of
fraud (Théroux, supra at paras. 31 to 35). However, these efforts may be of
assistance in the consideration of any sanctions that may apply to Todorov in
this matter.
Todorov’s Dealings with RARE Investors
[187] Similar to Dookhie, Todorov submits that he relied upon the representations of
others. He submits that he relied on the representations of RARE’s lawyer, who
assured Todorov that the operations of RARE were conducted in compliance with
Ontario securities law. He states that he was confident that RARE was complying
with the law, given that Dookhie is an accountant. He further submits that
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[181] As part of his testimony, Todorov tendered a summary statement and trading
statements of an account that was set up with GCI Financial, in his own name,
spanning a time period from January 7, 2013 to March 25, 2013 (Exhibits 82 and
83). Todorov created the summary statement (Exhibit 83) by using the
information contained in the trading statements of his GCI Financial account
(Exhibit 82).
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[188] Though on a lesser scale than that of Dookhie, I find that Todorov actively made
misrepresentations, both oral and written, to RARE Investors. As the company’s
chief trading strategist, Todorov was aware of the detrimental effect that the
closing of Account 32508 had on RARE in May 2009. And yet, Todorov continued
to solicit funds from investors throughout the Material Time.
[189] Todorov was involved in soliciting three individuals to invest with RARE. V.M. was
the only investor whom Todorov directly solicited to invest in RARE. The other
two investors were solicited by Vatanchi. There was also evidence showing that
Todorov communicated with at least one additional RARE Investor, R.E.
[190] V.M. began investing with Todorov after V.M. spoke with his neighbour, who had
invested with Todorov. V.M. and his brother decided to jointly invest a total
amount of $200,000 in October 2007, which was later renewed in January 2008.
V.M. testified that his entire investment of $200,000 with Todorov was
completely lost after the bankruptcy of Global Trader, the online trading platform
used by Todorov at the time. In order to recover his lost funds, Todorov
suggested that V.M. meet with Dookhie and invest in RARE.
[191] On approximately April 8, 2009, V.M. had his first meeting with Dookhie at the
office of Liberty Services. Todorov was also in attendance. On April 22, 2009,
V.M. and his brother deposited a total of $200,000 into Account 752. V.M.
testified that when he invested with RARE, he trusted both Dookhie and Todorov
with his investment. V.M. understood that his funds would be directly invested
with RARE. He did not know that Todorov intended to use his investment in
partial satisfaction of Todorov’s pre-RARE obligations to Dookhie.
[192] As of his examination-in-chief on May 22, 2013, V.M. had not received any
return of his principal investment, nor had he received any interest payments.
V.M. testified that he communicated with Todorov to inquire about his overdue
interest payments. In response to V.M.’s inquiries, Todorov promised him, or led
V.M. to believe, that funds were on their way on several occasions. V.M. testified
that every time he called or sent emails to Todorov regarding his interest
payments, he would receive a response that they were coming, and he stated
that they were “always coming, coming, but [they] never came” (Transcript, May
22, 2013, Testimony of V.M., p. 168, ll. 1-2). For example, on August 10, 2009,
V.M. wrote an email to Todorov asking when his first interest payment would be
provided to him. Todorov replied by stating, “we’re getting extra funds plus
we’ve a meeting with HSBC on Thursday for big money (keep yor [sic] fingers
crossed)” (Exhibit 28, Vol. 2, Tab L, p. 143). V.M. testified that no money
materialized.
[193] Although the evidence established that $59,150 was received by RARE from
Todorov and his company, Setenterprice, the evidence also showed that $16,000
was paid to Setenterprice directly from Account 752. Todorov also directed
Dookhie to make a payment to a third party for $11,221.97, in order to satisfy a
personal debt that Todorov owed to that individual. The net payments to RARE
by Todorov and Setenterprice during the Material Time therefore amounted to
$31,928.03.
[194] As discussed above, Todorov solicited individuals to invest funds in RARE and he
led RARE Investors to believe that their funds would be returned to them,
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Sunderji supervised the trading activities of RARE. I do not agree with these
submissions.
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[195] I find that Todorov knew, or reasonably ought to have known, that his actions
would cause deprivation to the pecuniary interests of RARE Investors. I therefore
conclude that Todorov engaged or participated in acts, practices or courses of
conduct relating to securities that he knew or reasonably ought to have known
perpetrated a fraud on RARE Investors, contrary to subsection 126.1(b) of the
Act and contrary to the public interest.
D.

Did the Individual Respondents authorize, permit or acquiesce in
the breaches of the Act by RARE, such that they are deemed to
also have not complied with Ontario securities law, pursuant to
section 129.2 of the Act?
1.

The Law

[196] Pursuant to section 129.2 of the Act, a director or officer of a company is
deemed to be liable for a breach of Ontario securities law by the company if the
director or officer authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the company’s non compliance with the Act. Specifically, section 129.2 states:
129.2 Directors and officers – For the purposes of this
Act, if a company or a person other than an individual has
not complied with Ontario securities law, a director or officer
of the company or person who authorized, permitted or
acquiesced in the non-compliance shall be deemed to also
have not complied with Ontario securities law, whether or
not any proceeding has been commenced against the
company or person under Ontario securities law or any order
has been made against the company or person under
section 127.
[197] In subsection 1(1) of the Act, a “director” is defined as “a director of a company
or an individual performing a similar function or occupying a similar position for
any person” and an “officer” is defined as:
(a) a chair or vice-chair of the board of directors, a chief
executive officer, a chief operating officer, a chief financial
officer, a president, a vice-president, a secretary, an
assistant secretary, a treasurer, an assistant treasurer and a
general manager;
(b) every individual who is designated as an officer under a
by-law or similar authority of the registrant or issuer; and
(c) every individual who performs functions similar to those
normally performed by an individual referred to in clause (a)
or (b).
[198] Therefore, a respondent who performs similar functions to a director or officer is
considered a de facto director or officer and may be captured by the language of
section 129.2 of the Act as a person who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in
the non-compliance of Ontario securities law by the relevant company.
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despite knowing the dire financial circumstances of the company. Todorov also
held himself out to investors as a trading specialist, despite never having
obtained any formal trading in securities or ever worked in the securities
industry in any formal capacity.

42

(a)

responsible for the supervision, direction, control and operation of the
company;

(b)

negotiated on behalf of the company; or

(c)

made all significant business decisions

(Re Mom entas, supra at para. 102, citing Re World Stock Exchange (2000), 9
A.S.C.S. 658)
[200] In Re Mom entas, the Commission described the meaning of “authorized,
permitted or acquiesced in”:
Although these terms have been interpreted to include some
form of knowledge or intention, the threshold for liability
under section 122 and 129.2 is a low one, as merely
acquiescing [in] the conduct or activity in question will
satisfy the requirement of liability. The degree of knowledge
of intention found in each of the terms “authorize”, “permit”,
and “acquiesce” varies significantly. “Acquiesce” means to
agree or consent quietly without protest. “Permit” means to
allow, consent, tolerate, give permission, particularly in
writing. “Authorize” means to give official approval or
permission, to give power or authority or to give
justification.
(Re Mom entas, supra at para. 118)

2.

Analysis

[201] For the reasons discussed below, I find that Dookhie was a director and officer of
RARE during the Material Time. I also find that Todorov was an actual director of
RARE as of June 2, 2009 and was a de facto director of RARE before that time.
As directors and/or officers of RARE, Dookhie and Todorov are accountable for
RARE’s breaches of Ontario securities law, pursuant to section 129.2 of the Act.
(a)

Dookhie

[202] Throughout his testimony, Dookhie suggested that he relied on the directions
and expertise of others, including Todorov and Sunderji. I do not find his
arguments persuasive. There is no doubt that Dookhie was a director and officer
of RARE. Dookhie is listed as a director and the president of RARE in the
company’s corporation profile report, Shareholders Agreement, “Directors
Register” and “List of Corporate Officers” (Exhibit 38, Vol. 1, Tab A, pp. 2-6;
Exhibit 39, Vol. 1, Tab A, pp. 7-16; Exhibit 48, Vol. 1, Tab C, pp. 39-49).
[203] Dookhie was also the directing mind of the company and was the architect of the
fraudulent investment scheme of RARE. He made all significant business
decisions of the company, including the use of the RARE Investor Funds. In his
Compelled Examination on August 25, 2010, Dookhie described himself as “the
head guy...to ensure that the funds were trading responsibly and funds were
added and withdrawn in a timely manner, [he] had to keep control” (Exhibit 78,
Transcripts of Compelled Examinations of Dookhie, August 25, 2010, Q. 95, pp.
22-23). Dookhie further described his role in RARE as follows:
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[199] Relevant factors, which have been identified for the determination of whether a
representative is a de facto director or officer, include:

...I figured, well, I can probably have an upper hand in this.
So that’s why I elected to stay in control of everything, you
know, ensure that the account is always active, trades are
being placed properly, trades are being closed properly,
funds are being transferred back and forth properly. You
know, the whole administrative thing. You keep your pulse
on the business. And I figure, well, if I’m in total control, you
know, I would pull this off...
(Exhibit 78, Transcripts of Compelled Examinations of
Dookhie, August 25, 2010, Q. 154, p. 40, ll. 11-20)
[204] The control exerted by Dookhie demonstrated that it was his decision to use the
RARE Investor Funds for unauthorized purposes, such as the payments to third
parties and Pre-RARE Investors. As the individual who controlled the bank
accounts of RARE, Dookhie was able to draw on the funds of RARE without
constraint or oversight, which he did continually throughout the Material Time.
[205] I therefore find that Dookhie, being a director and officer of RARE, authorized,
permitted or acquiesced in RARE’s non-compliance with subsections subsection
25(1)(a) (for the time period from January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009) and
subsection 25(1) of the Act (for the time period from September 28, 2009 to
March 31, 2010), subsection 53(1) and subsection 126.1(b) of the Act. As a
result, I find that Dookhie is deemed to also have not complied with Ontario
securities law.
(b)

Todorov

[206] Todorov forcefully submits in his testimony and submissions that he was not a
director of RARE and was never consulted to perform the duties typically
assigned to a director of a company. When he was pressed by Staff to explain
why he was listed as a director in the Shareholders’ Agreement of RARE, Todorov
stated that: the page listing the directors of RARE may not have been included in
the copy he signed; the lack of his initials on the pages indicated that he did not
acknowledge the page; and he should have signed an addendum of directorship,
which should have been properly registered.
[207] Despite his submissions that he was not a director of RARE during the Material
Time, I find that the evidence has shown that Todorov was an actual director of
RARE as of June 2, 2009 and was a directing mind and a de facto director of
RARE before that date:


Todorov is listed as a director of RARE in the company’s Shareholders
Agreement, dated June 2, 2009;



in his testimony, De Verteuil, described Todorov’s role as a director,
shareholder and chief trading strategist of RARE;



Todorov was the primary trader of RARE until May 2009;



Todorov directly solicited V.M. and indirectly solicited two other investors
through Vatanchi;



V.M. testified that he understood that Dookhie and Todorov were the key
players of RARE; and
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Todorov’s signature appeared on four 2009 Promissory Notes as a
signatory of RARE and he agrees that he is responsible for the funds
contained in these promissory notes.

And [Dookhie and Sunderji] officially formed a company, but
they put me as -- officially, I was a director or something,
but afterwards I think when they went to a lawyer, they put
me as a director of the company because we wanted to
share equal responsibilities and, of course, equal duties, and
in order to be that -- everybody should be in the same
position.
[...]
Well, Roy was saying because I wasn’t a director, he said
that it’s better if you are a director if you want to be
involved completely and if you want to have everything you
should be registered as a director.
So the lawyer... when they were doing the company papers,
I believe he made an amendment which basically made me
a director of the company.
(Exhibit 77, Transcripts of Compelled Examinations of
Todorov, May 28, 2010, Qs. 85-87, p. 20, ll. 4-25; p. 21, ll.
1-4)
[209] For all the reasons given, I find that Todorov, being an actual and de facto
director of RARE, authorized, permitted or acquiesced in RARE’s non-compliance
with subsections subsection 25(1)(a) (for the time period from January 1, 2009
to September 27, 2009) and subsection 25(1) of the Act (for the time period
from September 28, 2009 to March 31, 2010), subsection 53(1) and subsection
126.1(b) of the Act. As a result, I find that Todorov is deemed to also have not
complied with Ontario securities law.
VII.

CONCLUSION

[210] For the reasons stated above, I find that during the Material Time:
(a)

RARE, Dookhie and Todorov breached subsection 25(1)(a) of the Act
during the time period from January 1, 2009 to September 27, 2009 and
subsection 25(1) of the Act during the time period from September 28,
2009 to March 31, 2010;

(b)

RARE, Dookhie and Todorov breached subsection 53(1) of the Act;

(c)

there were no exemptions available to RARE, Dookhie or Todorov from the
registration or prospectus requirements of the Act;

(d)

RARE, Dookhie and Todorov breached subsection 126.1(b) of the Act;

(e)

pursuant to section 129.2 of the Act, each of Dookhie, as a director and
officer of RARE, and Todorov, as an actual and de facto director of RARE,
is deemed to have not complied with Ontario securities law, having
authorized, permitted or acquiesced in RARE’s breaches of subsections
25(1)(a) during the time period from January 1, 2009 to September 27,
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[208] Moreover, in his Compelled Examination on May 28, 2010, Todorov repeatedly
referred to himself as a director of RARE:

45
2009 and subsection 25(1) of the Act during the time perio d from
September 28, 2009 to March 31, 2010, subsection 53(1) and subsection
126.1(b) of the Act; and
(f)

RARE, Dookhie and Todorov acted contrary to the public interest.

(a)

Staff shall serve and file its written submissions on sanctions and costs by
July 23, 2014;

(b)

The Respondents shall serve and file their written submissions on
sanctions and costs by August 15, 2014;

(c)

Staff shall serve and file any reply submissions on sanctions and costs by
August 25, 2014;

(d)

the hearing to determine sanctions and costs against the Respondents will
be held at the offices of the Commission at 20 Queen Street West,
Toronto, ON, on Thursday, August 28, 2014 at 10:00 a.m., or such
further or other dates as agreed by the parties and set by the Office of the
Secretary; and

(e)

upon the failure of any party to attend at the time and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed in the absence of that party, and such party is
not entitled to any further notice of the proceeding.

DATED at Toronto this 27

th

day of June, 2014.

“Edward P. Kerwin”
Edward P. Kerwin
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[211] An order will be issued as follows:

Excerpt from Supplementary Affidavit of N.
Anderson (SMRAND, tab 1)

(h)

- 16
-

Mr. Dawes refe         
          
            to 10.
He explained that while most humans can only reach a 3 on the scale,
Glassman was capable of reaching a 10.

As the information we discussed was coming directly from a former CFO of Catalyst, I
had a high degree of confidence in it.
31.

Based on my research efforts, I honestly believed that I could reasonably rely on

the facts and documents that were relied upon in the Whistleblower Submissions, and
that the conclusions were reasonable. All statements and conclusions in the
Whistleblower Submissions were based on, drawn from, or inferred from the documents
that were attached as exhibits, which I viewed as reliable. I was careful to extensively use
             
effort to convey to readers that the Whistleblower Submissions were my own analysis
and expressions of my own opinions and belief based on the cited sources.
ii. Conclusions in the Whistleblower Submissions
32.

The Whistleblower Submissions highlighted issues relating to both Catalyst and

Callidus, including what I viewed as indicators of undisclosed asset impairment, irregular
            
pattern of impaired assets moving across multiple Catalyst Funds. Events subsequent to
my delivery of the Whistleblower Submissions to securities regulators have demonstrated
the accuracy of my analysis:
(a)

In the Whistleblower Submissions, I cited what I viewed as clear signs of
         Bloomberg
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reported, in an article entitled     
            E), that
Catalyst Fund III, which I referenced extensively in the Whistleblower
Submissions, recorded a sudden write-down of fund assets as of December
2019.
(b)

In the Whistleblower Submissions, I cited what I viewed as clear signs of
     llidus reported loan
losses every quarter until its  equity was wiped out. Attached
as  F is a Globe and Mail article dated April 2, 2019, entitled










;

Newton

 -listed lending firm lost $115.4-million in the final quarter of
2018, taking a financial hit on bad loans and writedowns at businesses it
      
Shareholder equity in Callidus, an important measure of the financial health
of a financial-services company that measures assets against liabilities,
tumbled to minus $5.4-million at the end of December, from $177-million a
year earlier.

         
net worth, or the difference between the value of its assets and its liabilities.
At the end of 2014, in its first annual report as a public company, Callidus
reported a loan portfolio of more than $800-   
of $467-million. Now, that equity has melted away.

(c)

In the Whistleblower Submissions, I detailed what I viewed as red flags
      -  
to investors. Subsequently, the OSC placed Callidus on its Refilings and
Errors List due to its disclosure of unrecognized yield enhancements,
causing Callidus to discontinue this practice. Attached as  G is a
         
filtered to show only entries related to Callidus Capital Corporation, as of
August 16          
Errors List.
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(d)

In the Whistleblower Submissions, I made reference to what was then
      a drilling company, Horizontal Well
Drillers, LLC. Subsequently, that asset was written down and liquidated.

33.

In the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit and Riley Libel Affidavit, Mr. Riley comments on

a number of the specific allegations made in the Whistleblower Submissions. I respond
to those comments below. However, as a general response, I note that Mr. Riley appears
to make no meaningful effort to rebut any of the conclusions in my reports, and ignores
key sections of my reports in order to declare the remaining analysis incorrect.
Bluberi
34.

In his affidavit,           

value for Bluberi that was reported to Callidus investors. At paragraph 266 of the Riley
Conspiracy Affidavit, he accuses me of ignoring the difference between IFRS reported
values for the Bluberi loan, and the $110.7 million non-IFRS reported values.
35.

In fact, my whistleblower report dedicated an entire section to the distinction

       -  
As stated in my May 22, 2017 OSC Whistleblower Submission (a copy of which is
          :
It was not until 2016 that Callidus recognized a full impairment of
         
Report       
position had not been marked down at all from 2012-2016, despite
     

36.

My report went on to describe the $110.7 million value of Bluberi that was reported

      -down, as part of a broader discussion on
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37.

At paragraphs 263-264 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley assert  It

is further alleged that Glassman did not write down or recognize an impairment of the
             
based on an agreement for Bluberi to deploy 7,000 slot machines to a Catalyst-controlled
company, Gateway Casinos        Contrary to these
             
based on a 7,000 slot machine contract, nor was a write-down or impairment of the Bluberi
 
38.

First, Mr. Riley mischaracterizes the allegations made in my report. I acknowledge

in the report that Callidus ultimately fully impaired the entire principal and interest value
of the Bluberi loan. My concerns were in      -IFRS
metrics.
39.

Second, Callidus itself acknowledged that the reported $110.7 million value for

Bluberi was in part reliant on a prospective 7,000 slot machine deal with an unnamed
           
       attached as  H, and also attached
as Exhibit 46 to my May 22, 2017 OSC Whistleblower Submission) outlined a forwardlooking statement framed as Fair value of expected controlling interest in borrower
expected to recognize into income upon disposition are estimated at $110.7 million on
December 31, . In respect of that forward-looking statement, under the heading
  :
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The valuation technique used a discounted cash flow with the
following significant unobservable inputs and estimates:

(4) Significant new business from a large diversified gaming
company in Canada that is commonly controlled by the Catalyst
Capital Group Inc.

In respect of the same forward-looking statement, Callidus listed the following under the
           
 [emphasis added]:
(1) Callidus obtains controls of the underlying borrower
(2) A commonly controlled enterprise is awarded contracts
(3) Callidus and commonly controlled enterprise are able to
reach an agreement for deployment of 7,000 slot machines

At the time, Gateway Casinos had only 6,700 machines in total. Bluberi had never
manufactured anything close to that number of machines.
40.

              

      largely based on inputs supplied by Catalyst.
41.

Subsequent to the filing of the Whistleblower Submissions, and in response to

comments from the OSC, Callidus discontinued reporting the   with
which I took issue in my report         nd
Errors List for three years.
Xchange Technology
42.

My analysis in the Whistleblower Submissions raised questions about reporting

discrepancies between Catalyst and Callidus over a transaction relating to an Xchange
Technology loan. Mr. Riley does not appear to meaningfully challenge my analysis.
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43.

In the Whistleblower Submissions, I identified that Catalyst had reported to its

   Total Capital I      
Meanwhile, Callidus reported receiving CAD $101.3 million from Catalyst for the loan. As
I stated in my report, these statements cannot both be true.
44.

            Libel Affidavit,

states           
disclosed by Callidus (USD $19,288,118 converted from CAD $26,483,000) from the total
        
45.

            

      terials. Attached as  I is a copy of
materials circulated by Catalyst for the Funds III and IV/IV-PP Joint Annual Meeting held
                
    ed to $54,828,711 (comprised of $18,276,237 for
Fund III, and $36,552,474 for Fund IV & IV-     
              
4 provides the following explanation of     
       
respectively invested by Fund I, Fund II, Fund III, Fund IV and Fund
        
treated as bridge financings and includes recycled capital.

             to the total
capital invested after deducting various amounts from the total, as Mr. Riley states.
46.

It is worth noting that Mr. Riley later acknowledges, at paragraph 186 of the Riley

Libel Affidavit, a significant write-      
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Sherwood Hockey
47.

In respect of Sherwood Hockey, at paragraph 268 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit,

Mr. Riley states:
The whistleblowers alleged that this was not an arms-length
transaction, as Gracious Living was formerly owned by Royal Group
Technologies, a Catalyst Fund I investment. The whistleblowers
further alleged that Callidus loaned funds to Gracious Living to pay
the precise         
million, and in doing so, Callidus avoided recording its loss on
Sherwood by extending the same amount of loan to Gracious
Living, an alleged Glassman-related entity.

48.

The Whistleblower Submissions raised questions about what I viewed as an odd

structure for this transaction, and whether that structure might have been influenced by a
pre-         
disclosure about the deal in its 2014 Annual Report, the Sherwood Hockey transaction
              
   Sherwood Hockey. The precisely matching values appeared suspicious
to me. The deal simultaneously included Callidus loaning the money to Gracious Living,
with payment based on performance of the asset. My view was that, i   
merely transformed the asset into a contingent loan, which extended the timeline of any
write-downs.
49.

I note that at paragraph 272 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley states that

bridge financing granted as part of the transaction was repaid. However, he makes no
comment as to whether the vendor takeback notes which formed part of the transaction
were repaid.
50.

Mr. Riley further asserts that the Sherwood Hockey transaction was arms-length

because Callidus held no equity in Gracious Living at the time of the sale. My
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understanding is that the definition of a non-arms-length transaction is broader than this,
and can include any significant prior relationship that influences the negotiation and price.
In any event, I did not simply make a vague allegation but explained exactly why in my
view there was reason to question whether this was an arms-length transaction. The
regulators and Copeland were free to assess my explanation. I note that Mr. Riley
acknowledges          
Gracious Living, and that Callidus lent money to Gracious Living as a condition of
simultaneously receiving money back through the sale of Sherwood Hockey.
Leader Energy
51.

In the Whistleblower Submissions, I made two primary allegations with respect to

a loan that Callidus had made to Leader Energy, which was guaranteed by Catalyst Fund
III and Catalyst Fund IV: that when Horizontal Well Drillers (another Callidus investment)
            
Energy owed Callidus, Callidus (1) was able to delay or avoid recognition of an impaired
loan by shifting the loan to Horizontal Well Drillers, and (2) transferred risk from older
investors in Catalyst Funds III and IV (who were made whole through the transaction) to
newer investors in Catalyst Fund V. In the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley responds
             
Catalyst Fund V never had any equity interest in Callidus, nor any connection with
Horizontal Well Drillers or Leader Energy. The risk of loss remained with Catalyst Fund
                 
52.

          

premised on a suggestion that Catalyst Fund V had an equity interest in Callidus. My
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analysis was based on the fact that Catalyst Fund V started participating in the funding of
new loans originated by Callidus in 2015, the year before the Leader Energy loan was
assumed, as Callidus reported in its Consolidated Financial Statements For the Years
Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (a copy of which is attached as  J):
In accordance with the terms of the participation agreement,
entered into in connection with Callidus' initial public offering,
effective April 2015, Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership V began to
participate in the funding of new loans originated by Callidus.

              Callidus
Capital Corporation Receives Clarity on Catalyst Funds II, III and IV Timelines, Provides
Update on Catalyst Fund V Participation and Applies for Normal Course Issuer Bid  a
copy of which is attached as  K (and also was attached as Exhibit 51 to my May
22, 2017 OSC Whistleblower Submission).
53.

Subsequently, in early 2020, Horizontal Well Drillers liquidated its assets. Attached

as  L             
            and liquidation
of Horizontal Well Drillers. My understanding is that this likely severely impaired the value
of Leader Energy, along with the rest of Horizontal Well Drillers.
SFX Entertainment Inc.
54.

The Whistleblower Submissions contained analysis suggesting that Catalyst Fund

V appeared to have           
            At
paragraph 280 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley denies this, stating that
               

COMP-159

- 25
-

IV and Catalyst Fund V invested in SFX in December 2015 and both realized their
in        
55.

My conclusions were based on the best information I had available at the time, and

I was reasonably diligent in both seeking further information and conveying my
conclusions in a manner that reflected the limitations of my analysis. In particular:
(a)

In the course of my investigative efforts, I reached out to Catalyst and spoke
directly with Gabriel d        de
Alba for additional fund documents. He refused to provide any additional
documents unless I signed a non-disclosure agreement, which I was
unwilling to do.

(b)

The Whistleblower Submissions ultimately contained only one paragraph
dealing with SFX Entertainment Inc. The analysis and conclusions in that
paragraph were based on documents from Catalyst Fund IV that were
available to me at the time, and were cited accordingly. I was careful to
qualify my statement, stating only what   have happened,
thereby inviting third parties to independently view the underlying
documents and/or conduct further investigation to confirm.

56.

In any event, I note that SFX Entertainment is not mentioned at all in the Wall

Street Journal article at issue in this proceeding.
Gateway Casinos
57.

The Whistleblower Submissions raised concerns about a disconnect between

   Gateway Casinos and the valuation that the market would actually
be willing to pay, citing credit downgrades, increased leverage, continued operating
losses, and multiple failed initial public offerings and take-public transactions.
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58.

Mr. Riley does not raise any factual inaccuracies with respect to the Gateway

Casinos portion of the Whistleblower Submissions. Rather, in the Riley Conspiracy
Affidavit, he alleges that the difference between valuations presented by Catalyst and
Tennenbaum Capital Partners (the latter of which presented a lesser value) may have
been attributable to certain events that occurred in 2016. However, the two valuations
were for the same period (i.e. the year ending December 2016). My expectation is that
the same inputs would have been considered for both valuations. I did nothing more than
point out that there were two different valuations for the same time period, and that this
discrepancy might warrant investigation by the OSC.
Therapure
59.

In the Whistleblower Submissions, allegations were made in respect of a valuation

of Therapure, a biopharmaceutical company controlled by Catalyst. At paragraphs 290292 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley   s valuation was
supported by a deal with 3SBio Inc., a Chinese biotechnology company, announced
subsequent to the filing of the Whistleblower Submissions.
60.

To the extent there was any deal with a Chinese biotechnology company, it was

            the
valuation was excessive for an IPO was based largely on my review of the prospectus
that was prepared and circulated to investors specifically for that IPO. To the extent that
the valuation was based in whole or in part on a deal to be done with a Chinese
biotechnology company, that fact does not appear to have been disclosed to investors at
the time. In any case, the proposed deal with 3SBio Inc. subsequently fell apart.
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SatMex
61.

          



















xican

telecommunications company. At paragraphs 296-300 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit,
               
             . Riley further
states that Mr. de Alba was invited and agreed to become a director of SatMex on the
day the restructuring wa          
known to Catalyst and gave rise to no issues of conflict of interest.
62.

Media reports showed that the de Alba family was to control 51% of the company

after the restructuring deal, and that Mr. de Alba was present at the signing ceremony for
the restructuring (see the Excelsior article attached as Exhibit 5 to the May 30, 2017 OSC
Whistleblower Submission).         
telecommunications deals, it was not unreasonable, based on the facts available to me,
to conclude that Mr. de Alba was involved in the SatMex restructuring and that he was
not merely invited to become a director after the fact.
E. The Cause of Catalyst and  
63.

At paragraphs 438-446 of the Riley Libel Affidavit, Mr. Riley states that the fraud

allegations published in the Wall Street Journal, originating from my Whistleblower
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I. Introductory Comments:


This presentation focuses exclusively on matters related to Funds III, IV, and IV-PP. Broader issues
related to the economy, investment environment, and a Catalyst operational update will be discussed
        



This AGM format is new for Catalyst and is in part the result of requests by investors to shorten our
AGM process:








The changes have reduced our AGMs from three days to two, and from seven total meetings to five
Further consolidation may be possible in coming years, if desired by the investors
Catalyst remains of the view that the AGMs are valuable in that they provide an opportunity for the
investors to meet collectively with Fund management and provide insight/opportunity to discuss both
explicit and implicit risks
Risk adjusted returns remain, in our view, far more important than absolute returns and, therefore, an
explicit discussion regarding overall risk in each portfolio is a necessity for any investor herein to truly
understand their investment
Therefore, it is our goal to provide investors as granular information as possible, and specifically such
regarding explicit and implicit risk in the Funds they own
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I. Introductory Comments:
2016 Funds III, IV, and IV-PP Highlights:



Intentional intense focus on monetizations in 2016:






Completed partial monetizations in 2016 and early 2017 included:











To be completed in 2017, in most cases
Fund III currently expected to be left with only one or two portfolio interests by end of process, well ahead
   
Fund IV likely to also be holding only one or two positions (jointly owned with Fund V) and will participate
with Fund V on new investments until end of Fund IV investment period (June 30, 2017)

Geneba (Infineon HQ sale)
Advantage (completion of fleet refinancing)
Great Canadian Gaming (sale of entire position)
Gateway (return of capital from recapitalization)
SFX Entertainment (repaid in full)
The Fresh Market (tendered in full to going private led by Apollo)
Corus (repaid in full)
Tervita (repaid in full)

            
positions too long




See Geneba as example of improved process and benefits thereof
Result is further improved MOIC (due to recycling) and improving IRRs from already top performing levels
The more recent the Fund, likely the bigger the impact due to fact earlier Funds are past their Investment
Periods
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I. Introductory Comments:
2016 Funds III, IV, and IV-PP Highlights (continued):



No new major entrants into Canadian distressed space; in fact barriers to entry rose


Point North did raise small amount for Canadian focused activist and distressed fund



       
Deal size too small for Catalyst



Best performing Canadian private equity fund manager (and one of the best in the world)



Returns are expected to accelerate as growth plans and newly deployed capital combine with
planned monetizations




                
IRR on invested capital, with regard to foreign exchange and litigation claims, and over 1.5x
gross multiple and 15.3% gross IRR on invested capital without regard to litigation claims,
since inception  and rising)




Volatility and foreign exchange did help to upside in 2016, just as they hurt to downside in 2015

Significant leverage to upside (and possible volatility) via Callidus and outstanding PanAm and Wind
litigation claims

Funds IV/IV-PP have over 1.6x gross multiple and 32.0% gross IRR on invested capital, with
regard to foreign exchange and litigation claims, and a 1.4x gross multiple and 20.8% gross
IRR on invested capital without regard to litigation claims, since inception
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I. Introductory Comments (continued):
Errors in 2016:


Funds III and IV continued to be in a position of insufficient liquidity:








Fund IV-PP was too little, too late
Fund III - approximately 102.5% invested and committed (Investment Period has ended)
Fund IV - approximately 96.6% drawn at year end and 91.4% invested and committed (with approximately
three months remaining in Investment Period in which it has right to partner with Fund V in new
investments)
Fund IV-PP - approximately 78.0% drawn at year end and 74.6% invested and committed

Liquidity issues combined with: (a) failure to monetize investments earlier in Funds lives, and
(b) current market conditions, resulted in both Funds III and IV having fewer positions than
Catalyst target of 18-22:



Fund III finished Investment Period at ten positions during its fund life (four full and four partial
monetizations to date)
Fund IV currently at eleven positions including litigation claims (six full and three partial monetizations to
date)
-



Larger funds would have by definition allowed for additional number of investments as well as increase in
average position size



Given capital constraints, Catalyst focused on ways other than diversification to reduce portfolio risk
generally, and inherent internal capital at risk   each fund specifically

-



Given sharing with Fund V and current liquidity position, possibly one more position before end of Investment
Period

Hurt Fund IV in particular (see experience in Pacific)

Likely a year late in executing plan for senior team development/additions


Well underway currently
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I. Introductory Comments (continued):
Errors in 2016 (continued):


All current portfolio investments, except NMRC, contributing significant positive performance since
inception:


               
gains elsewhere




See Gateway, Callidus, and Advantage as examples of execution of potential gains acceleration

If successful in execution, expect returns to accelerate going forward, but also risk of being highly
volatile in interim  especially Callidus and litigation claims


Callidus was up substantially in 2016 (over 134%)




Expect Funds III and IV to benefit from going private/restart of growth

Early in process re: litigation claims and expect refinement of view as process evolves



Expect to reduce volatility risk by prioritization of monetizations other than via public markets



Fundraising:




Fund IV was clearly too small


Evidenced by concentration, as well as total and timing of capital deployed



Fund IV-PP was an attempt to alleviate both concentration and size issues and explains why Fund IV-PP was open only
to existing Fund IV investors

Fund V likely also too small


Nearly 50% deployed at December 31, 2016, but only 15 months old, MOIC and IRR already at 1.6x and 145.4%
respectively
9
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I. Introductory Comments (continued):
Errors in 2016 (continued):


Portfolio concentration and Fund liquidity  too high and too low, respectively, in both Funds III and
IV


               
with concentration issues



Fund III liquidity was less available than expected, which in turn accelerated Fund IV deployment  thus
    issue; Fund III reduced liquidity likely partly due to Fund II liquidity issue



Clearly an issue that must be addressed  structure/size of next fund must be sufficient to break the cycle




Increased discipline regarding timing of monetizations resulting in improved recycling should help, but not a complete
solution

Returned to market at least 12 months ahead of schedule for Fund V, and now going to happen
again with Fund VI


Fund V first close was March 27, 2015, and final close was effective September 30, 2015



       US$1.53B



Given opportunity set (+) amount already deployed (as well as gains thereon), will have to raise Fund VI in 2H
2017


Approximately 12 months ahead of schedule
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I. Introductory Comments (continued):
      


Concentration situation improved, but will not meet target of 18-22 positions


Additional positions not possible for Fund III due to expiration of Investment Period



Limited ability in Fund IV due to percent of capital already deployed, proportionate sharing formula with
Fund V, and imminent end to Investment Period



                
markets






Pacific was incredibly unique situation

Increased investment in existing portfolio situations (for example, Advantage) now must also formally meet
    

2017 expected monetizations and potential impact of such on the  -forward liquidity
position


Will distribute all gains realized from Geneba imminently and from Gateway, Sonar, and Advantage when
completed



Review of foreign exchange policy



Treatment of litigation claims and disclosure thereof



Any remaining issues re: Funds IV/IV-PP and V not discussed during the other Annual Meetings
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions
Litigation Claims


                
IV)



Wind litigation in particular extremely material



Recent PSP/Saba litigation wherein PSP sued Saba for undervaluing certain assets





           






Given secondary P/E market, this kind of issue likely to increase
Belongs to Funds, so deserves improved transparency counter-balanced by litigation/confidentiality concerns

Amount and approach in Notes
       basis so investors can treat as they decide
Could be source of volatility going forward  both up and down

            
Annual Meeting
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Wind Litigation (Catalyst v VimpelCom):


On May 31, 2016, Catalyst commenced an action against West Face Capital Inc., VimpelCom
Inc., Globalive Inc., UBS Canada Inc., Tennenbaum Capital Partners LLC, LG Capital Investors
LLC, 64 NM Holdings GP LLC, 64 NM Holdings, Serruya Private Equity Inc. and Novus Wireless
     



The claim arises out the purchase by the West Face Consortium of Wind Mobile from VimpelCom
Ltd. and Globalive Capital Inc. in September 2014




Catalyst had an exclusivity agreement with VimpelCom on the Wind opportunity until mid-August 2014

The action seeks $1.3 billion, plus interest and costs, in damages pursuant to a number of torts
and breach of contract


This number results from the fact that Wind was subsequently apparently sold by the West Face Consortium
for gross proceeds of $1.6 billion (net of the purchase price, profit proceeds of $1.3 billion) on a primarily
spectrum-asset basis to Shaw Communications Inc.



The proceeding is at a preliminary stage  to date, all defendants but UBS Canada Inc. have
filed a statement of defence and all of the defendants have filed motions to strike the
VimpelCom Action



             
and evidence currently available, is that the claims alleged in the VimpelCom Action have a
reasonable likelihood of success at trial on a balance of probabilities standard


Certain critical information/emails/evidence was filed in the trial record of the Moyse litigation
14
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
   
The information being given to you in this presentation concerning Callidus Capital Corporation is
being provided to you as an investor in one or more Catalyst Funds. Callidus is a publicly-traded
company. As a result, our discussion herein shall be limited to publicly available information only.



Fund ownership:







II owns 1.73MM shares of Callidus or 3.5%       
II-PP owns 0.51MM shares of Callidus or 1.0%       
III owns 18.6MM shares of Callidus or 37.2%       
IV owns 8.8MM shares of Callidus or 17.6% of the Company,  carry shares   

At 2016 year-end, stock was C$18.46, resulting in year-over-year gain of 134%






Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund

110% share price appreciation
17% resulting from exercise of DRIP
7% resulting from FX

Risk in loan book down substantially YoY







15 loans repaid or recovered in 2016, an additional six in first three months of 2017
Gross yield for 2016 was 19.5%, a 60 bps (3%) increase from 2015
ROE(1) for 2016 was 31.0% (ROE as reported was 0.2%) compared to 17.7% for 2015 (ROE as reported was
12.9%)
Loan book has increased 2.8x since IPO to C$1,314 million at December 31, 2016
Growth restarted with C$1.4 billion pipeline and total liquidity at December 31, 2016 able to support ~
C$300 million of new loans (~C$600 million at March 31, 2017).
Opportunity to leverage portfolio to significantly increase ROE
(1) before provisions and yield enhancements and after non-IFRS yield enhancements
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Callidus (continued):
The information being given to you in this presentation concerning Callidus Capital Corporation is
being provided to you as an investor in one or more Catalyst Funds. Callidus is a publicly-traded
company. As a result, our discussion herein shall be limited to publicly available information only.



As promised, Callidus addressed the disconnect between public stock value and inherent value
with both an operational focus and a four-part capital markets plan:


Highly focused on operational performance



As discussed in public filings, especially the Q4 2015 MD&A, overhauled certain key internal
processes



Increased disclosure and transparency where possible, and via both data and performance, refuted
the various current/expected inaccuracies in the market
 This included improved transparency regarding yield enhancement  a key part of our business and ROE



The four-step capital markets plan designed to help mitigate the operational performance/stock price
disconnect included:
 Normal      DONE
 Introduced a dividend, and repeatedly increased such (initially C$0.70/year, now C$1.20/year)  DONE
 Substantial Issuer Bid, and repeatedly increased such (Initially at C$14/share and ultimately raised to
C$16.50/share which           )  DONE
 -   IN PROCESS
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Callidus (continued):
The information being given to you in this presentation concerning Callidus Capital Corporation is
being provided to you as an investor in one or more Catalyst Funds. Callidus is a publicly-traded
company. As a result, our discussion herein shall be limited to publicly available information only.

Business Update:






Results before provisions and yield enhancements:


Net Income - C$89.3 million for the year, up C$1.1 million or 1% from last year;



EPS (diluted) - C$1.77 for the year, up C$0.03 per share or 2% from last year; and



ROE of was 16.7%, a decrease from 17.7% in 2015

Provision for loan losses of C$134.3 million, non-IFRS unrecognized yield enhancements of
C$122.7 million. Provision primarily related to:


The decrease in appraisal values for hard assets          
of borrowers (approximately one third of the total); and



Overall decrease in enterprise values used to assess loan loss provisions as a result of lower updated
forecasts and market comparatives in specific industries including scrap metal and aluminum castings
(approximately one fifth of the total)

Results after provisions and yield enhancements:


Net Income - C$1.2 million;



EPS (diluted) - C$0.02, a decrease from C$1.22/share in 2015; and



ROE of 0.2%, a decrease from 12.9% in 2015
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Callidus (continued):
The information being given to you in this presentation concerning Callidus Capital Corporation is
being provided to you as an investor in one or more Catalyst Funds. Callidus is a publicly-traded
company. As a result, our discussion herein shall be limited to publicly available information only.

Business Update (continued):


Total revenue of C$188 million for the year, an increase of C$17 million or 10% from 2015



Gross yield for the year was 19.5%, an increase from 18.9% last year



Leverage ratio of 40.4% at the end of the current year, a decrease from 50.9% at the end of
last year, as cash from repayments during year was used to reduce amounts outstanding on the
various facilities, including the Catalyst bridge



Obtained a new, investment grade, low-cost, scalable, senior financing vehicle in December
2016 to fund growth


C$167 million (US$125 million) securitization facility with four investment grade tranches,
ranging from AAA(sf) to BBB(sf), which represents ~ 60% of the initial issue size



Provides a lower cost of funds (by approximately 200 bps) than other facilities



Increased the dividend twice during the year - first from C$0.70/share to C$1.00/share per year
in May 2016, and then to C$1.20/share in October 2016 - a 70% increase since it was
introduced in September 2015



Completed the SIB in December 2016, taking up and cancelling ~ 2.8 million shares



Announced an NCIB to begin in 2017 to purchase up to approximately 2.5 million common
shares, representing 5% of the float
18
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Callidus (continued):
The information being given to you in this presentation concerning Callidus Capital Corporation is
being provided to you as an investor in one or more Catalyst Funds. Callidus is a publicly-traded
company. As a result, our discussion herein shall be limited to publicly available information only.

Business Update (continued):
On March 31, 2017, the Company announced:


Pipeline of potential new loans stands at approximately C$1.4 billion


Signed back term sheets of approximately C$145 million



Liquidity at the end of March 2017 can support approximately C$600 million in new loans



Total debt (net of cash and cash equivalents) of C$531 million before derecognition, or 40% of
gross loans receivable at December 31, 2016



10 loans repaid in the normal course during 2016, five were fully recovered under the Catalyst
guarantee, for total cash proceeds of C$244 million



In 2017, six loans repaid to date, for total proceeds of C$378 million, including the largest loan
            



Privatization Update 19 interested parties signed non-disclosure agreements to enter the
Process


Second stage - focusing on structure and value - is being conducted with a smaller group, which will not
exceed six in number



Early expressions of interest support initial valuations that would translate into a price received by tendering
shareholders that is consistent with the previously disclosed valuation range provided by National Bank
Financial (C$18/share to C$22/share) that accompanied the SIB in April 2016
19
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Callidus (continued):
The information being given to you in this presentation concerning Callidus Capital Corporation is
being provided to you as an investor in one or more Catalyst Funds. Callidus is a publicly-traded
company. As a result, our discussion herein shall be limited to publicly available information only.

Business Update (continued):
Highlights from the fourth quarter, relative to the third quarter


Average loan portfolio outstanding was C$1,283 million, an increase of 5% (C$65 million) from
Q3-16, and an increase of 8% (C$90 million) from Q4-15



Gross yield of 20.1% in Q4 2016 compared to 19.0% in Q3-16 and 19.1% in Q4-15



Results before provisions and yield enhancements:


ROE was 17.4%, an increase from 17.1% in Q3-16 and a decrease from 20.9% in Q4-15;



Net income was C$22.4 million, an increase of 2% (C$0.2 million) from Q3-16 and a decrease of 15% (C$3.9
million) from Q4-15; and



EPS (diluted) of C$0.45 per share, increased 5% (C$0.02 per share) from Q3-16 and 13% (C$0.07 per
share) from Q4-15



Provision for loan losses for the fourth quarter was C$86.3 million (see disclosure on 2016
provision for main elements)



During the fourth quarter of 2016, four loans representing C$61.2 million outstanding were fully
repaid in accordance with their original terms; proceeds were used to reduce outstanding
amounts under financing facilities
20
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
       
Please note this investment is owned 33%/67% by Funds III and IV/IV-PP. Investment figures
below represent aggregate position

Capital Invested:
Prior Capital Invested:
Additional Capital Invested:
Total Current Capital Invested:
Realized Proceeds to Date:
Unrealized Value:
Total Value:
Gross IRR:
Multiple on Cash Invested:
Securities Purchased:
Original Investment Date:

$263,165
$35,356
$298,521
$102,306
$330,233
$432,538
19.5%
1.5x
Mortgage Bonds, Unsecured Bonds, Equity
Oct-12
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Geneba (continued):


     -jurisdictional bankruptcy process, including its
Montreal CCAA filing on March 27, 2014, Catalyst has increased its equity ownership from 43%
to 86%



             95MM:







This value was a ~40% discount to the market value of 153MM (as determined by Deloitte, acting as the
Court Monitor)



Post execution of Catalyst turnaround plan, was actually a cash yield of >20% (4x higher than comparable
market yields)

Catalyst then extended a 58.3MM bridge term loan, which was subsequently converted into
equity as part of a 206MM Rights Offering backstopped by Catalyst:


Rights Offering done at a discount to the CCAA implied plan value, allowing Catalyst to further arbitrage
entry price and inherent value



Proceeds were utilized in 2015 and 2016 to improve the quality and diversification of the asset portfolio, and
improve the operational platform

               




This represents a 28%/year and 1.65x MOIC excluding the Euro FX effect or 20%/year return and 1.45x
MOIC including FX effect

Credit Suisse engaged to lead a strategic alternatives process


A sale or large dividend recap is targeted to be completed in Q2 2017
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Geneba (continued):






Catalyst positioned Geneba as a growth platform with a focus on logistics and light industrial
properties in Germany and the Netherlands


Catalyst chairs the Board and the Investment Committee, having veto power on any and all
acquisitions/dispositions



Throughout 2016, Geneba completed nine logistics and light industrial property acquisitions representing an
incremental value of 112MM and an 11% equity yield (~2x the yield at which comparable public REITs
trade)



These      Europe


Very high credit quality tenants



Long term leases averaging 10 years



Current tenants include the likes of BMW, Siemens, and ABB (all investment grade issuers)

Catalyst and Geneba have identified a strong property acquisition pipeline


Geneba completed two new, self-funded acquisitions 1Q 2017 totaling 52MM



          

              
property, wherein Infineon exercised its right to buy its headquarters from Geneba


Proceeds of 113MM were received on Dec. 30, 2016, and Geneba contemporaneously approved a
distribution of the sale proceeds to shareholders of which 96.8MM ($102.1MM) was distributed to Catalyst
(its proportionate share)
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Advantage Rent A Car 

(All figures below in thousands of U.S. dollars as of December 31, 2016)
Capital Invested:
Max Capital Invested
Net Repayments
Current Capital Invested:
Realized Proceeds - Interest: (1)
Unrealized Value:
Total Value:
Gross IRR:
Multiple on Cash Invested:
Current Securities Held:
Original Securities Held:
Original Investment Date

$302,900
($32,724)
$270,176
$7,763
$513,200
$553,687
30.1%
1.8x
Shareholder Loans and 85% of the Equity
DIP Facility
Nov-13

(1) Represents cash interest received
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Advantage (continued):


Catalyst has built Advantage into the fourth largest rental car company in the U.S.





Nationwide footprint that captures 85% of all airport passengers in the top 50 airports with 46 stations
(74 counters) across the Advantage and EZ brands
Dual branded strategy enables Advantage to pursue customers in the premium and leisure segments

Since taking control of Advantage, Catalyst has executed on its operational turnaround plan
which included:



             
restructuring critical contracts (i.e. fleet), and realigning operations based on proven best practices
Gaining scale and operational leverage by acquiring E-       
fleet, creating a successful dual-branded strategy, opening the company up to new locations, and
realizing on operational synergies between the companies



Both the Working Capital and Fleet Financing lines were repaid, de- 
investment position



Partial monetization via fleet refinancing of $31MM in Q4 2016 (additional $21MM in January
2017),      270MM



Including effects of EZ acquisition, it appears:




Acquired/formed current Advantage at a 4.2x forward 2017 multiple
Public comparables currently trading at ~8x forward 2017 multiple

As 4th largest in U.S., enormous strategic value to party needing U.S. presence  and huge
disadvantage to the numerous strategic players that lose such opportunity since not
replicable
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Advantage (continued):
New Developments


Catalyst and Advantage have been working together to execute on strategic opportunities:






     ($31MM) in 2015 to $15MM normalized in 2016 with a
$33MM target in 2017 and a $45MM target in 2018 (not including estimated $30-50MM in
EBITDA cost reduction synergies)




Partnership with Europcar has: (a) positively impacted profitability and (b) solidified the relationship
between Advantage and Europcar (one of three main potential acquirers aiming to expand their own
footprints in the U.S.)
Currently implementing ride sharing and mobility solutions under which additional investment is de
minimus

If succeed operationally, means up to $95MM EBITDA target by end of 2018

Advantage is working with Morgan Stanley to execute a monetization in the next 12-18
months


Main consideration is optimizing the balance between value creation, return on capital, and execution risk



              
value to any international rental car company looking to enter or defend their presence in the U.S. market
-



Europcar, Sixt, Localiza, and Goldcar are interested in doing so; nascent interest from Asian players
also exists

Catalyst is intentionally positioning the business so that a strategic acquirer will be able to achieve
             
potential revenue synergies)
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II. 2016 Review:
(a) Financial Review
(1) Portfolio Positions (continued)
Advantage (continued):
New Developments (continued)


Additional opportunities to grow EBITDA through operational initiatives include:


Increasing revenue by using advanced technology systems to adapt prices in local markets hundreds of
times per day and investing in a highly talented revenue management team



Optimizing the fleet by station and season in order to maximize utilization



Drive revenue on ancillary (counter-sold) products by bringing pricing in line with peer companies (this has
already been achieved with no impact on volume)



Further increased focus on fleet management
-

Make sure in-fleeting, de-fleeting, repairs and any other downtime is limited to make the most of
the  day  of the vehicle
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(2) Position Review  Cumulative Fund Investment Returns
Since Inception (as of December 31, 2016) (1)
Date of
Initial
Investment

Date of
Substantial
(2)
Realization

Callidus Capital Corporation - Sr. Secured Loan
(9)
Callidus Capital Corporation - Common Shares
Callidus Capital Corporation - Bridge Loan (9)
Xchange Technology Group (14)
Callidus Capital Corporation - Total

Sep-09
Sep-09
Nov-14
Mar-16

Apr-14
N/A
N/A
N/A

Canwest
Gateway Casinos & Entertainment Inc. (10)
YRC Worldwide
Mobilicity
Great Canadian Gaming
Geneba (15)
(16)
Advantage Rent-A-Car

Oct-09
Sep-09
Apr-10
Sep-12
Mar-12
Oct-12
Nov-13

Oct-10
Sep-10
Dec-11
Jul-15
May-16
N/A
N/A

Fund III in US$

Total
Capital
(3)
Committed

Total
Capital
(4)
Invested

Total
Realized
(5)
Proceeds

Unrealized
(6)
Value

Total
Value

Multiple
of Cost

Gross
(7)
IRR

Net
(7)
IRR

Net
Multiple
of Cost

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership III
Realized and Partially Realized Investments
204,000,000
20,000,000

160,000,000

100,977,200
100,977,200

Total Realized and Partially Realized Investments

197,521,300
136,528,748
52,277,908
18,276,237
404,604,193

231,431,016
58
13,458,708
244,889,781

275,720,207
52,277,908
3,132,667
331,130,782

231,431,016
275,720,265
65,736,616
3,132,667
576,020,563

1.2x
2.0x
1.3x
0.2x
1.4x

15.4%
29.7%
11.0%
NM
20.1%

24,215,118
153,479,560
41,360,394
23,962,135
64,129,870
99,510,315
100,975,231

33,053,997
75,758,785
57,778,060
28,898,561
93,576,491
34,101,911
13,501,282

391,713,936
110,077,528
171,066,667

33,053,997
467,472,721
57,778,060
28,898,561
93,576,491
144,179,439
184,567,948

1.4x
3.0x
1.4x
1.2x
1.5x
1.4x
1.8x

24.7%
25.0%
32.2%
9.0%
15.0%
19.5%
30.1%

$ 912,236,817

$ 581,558,868

$ 1,003,988,913

$ 1,585,547,781

1.7x

22.9%

207,232,126
140,309,848
-

4,231,242
-

26,635,808
230,638,322
148,953,601
18,395,770

26,635,808
234,869,564
148,953,601
18,395,770

0.1x
1.7x
NM
NM

NM
16.2%
NM
NM

Unrealized Investments
Natural Market Restaurants Corp.
(13)
Sonar Entertainment Inc.
Wind Litigation Claim (18)
(19)
PanAm Litigation Claim

(12)

Apr-10
May-10
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

215,000,000
204,000,000

$ 347,541,974

$ 4,231,242

$ 424,623,501

$ 428,854,743

1.2x

6.7%

Total Fund III Investments - With Litigation Claims

$ 1,259,778,790

$ 585,790,110

$ 1,428,612,414

$ 2,014,402,524

1.6x

18.4%

11.7%

1.5x

Total Fund III Investments - Without Litigation Claims

$ 1,259,778,790

$ 585,790,110

$ 1,261,263,043

$ 1,847,053,153

1.5x

15.3%

8.9%

1.3x

Total Unrealized Investments

(Footnotes in Appendix 4)
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II. 2016 Review:
a) Financial Review
(2) Position Review  Cumulative Fund Investment Returns
Since Inception (as of December 31, 2016) (1)
Fund IV & IV-PP in US$
Date of
Initial
Investment

Date of
Substantial
Realization (2)

Callidus Capital Corporation - Sr. Secured Loan
Callidus Capital Corporation - Common Shares (9)
Callidus Capital Corporation - Bridge Loan (9)
Xchange Technology Group (14)
Callidus Capital Corporation - Total

Jun-12
Apr-14
Nov-14
Mar-16

Apr-14
N/A
N/A
N/A

Mobilicity
Relativity Media
SFX Entertainment, Inc.
The Fresh Market, Inc.
Corus Entertainment Inc.
Tervita Corporation (formerly "Project Vinci")
Geneba (15)
Advantage Rent-A-Car (16)

Sep-12
Jun-15
Dec-15
Dec-15
Feb-16
Sep-15
Oct-12
Nov-13

Jul-15
Jul-15
Feb-16
Apr-16
May-16
Dec-16
N/A
N/A

Total
Capital
Committed (3)

Total
Capital
Invested (4)

Total
Realized
Proceeds (5)

Unrealized
Value (6)

Total
Value

Multiple
of Cost

Gross
IRR (7)

Net
IRR (7)

Net
Multiple
of Cost

Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV & IV-PP
Realized and Partially Realized Investments
201,954,400
40,000,000

201,954,400
201,954,400

Total Realized and Partially Realized Investments

179,155,489
116,877,217
197,529,025
36,552,474
530,114,204

203,169,682
57
27,237,193
230,406,932

120,528,773
197,529,025
6,265,333
324,323,131

203,169,682
120,528,830
224,766,218
6,265,333
554,730,063

1.1x
1.0x
1.1x
0.2x
1.0x

14.1%
1.3%
10.8%
NM
3.6%

47,924,269
55,043,290
3,334,135
7,216,032
203,889
16,723,338
199,020,630
201,950,462

57,797,123
55,947,165
3,764,926
9,666,796
205,025
20,685,383
68,203,822
27,002,563

220,155,057
342,133,333

57,797,123
55,947,165
3,764,926
9,666,796
205,025
20,685,383
288,358,879
369,135,896

1.2x
1.0x
1.1x
1.3x
1.0x
1.2x
1.4x
1.8x

9.0%
94.1%
277.2%
189.0%
5.7%
36.8%
19.5%
30.1%

$ 1,061,530,249

$ 473,679,735

$ 886,611,521

$ 1,360,291,256

1.3x

15.9%

70,085,150
-

2,957,164
-

183,758,285
297,907,202

186,715,449
297,907,202

2.7x
NM

596.7%
NM

Unrealized Investments
Pacific Exploration & Production (17)
(18)
Wind Litigation Claim

Jun-16
N/A

N/A
N/A

114,955,073

$ 70,085,150

$ 2,957,164

$ 481,665,487

$ 484,622,651

6.9x

4220.6%

Total Fund IV & IV-PP Investments - With Litigation Claims

$ 1,131,615,399

$ 476,636,899

$ 1,368,277,008

$ 1,844,913,907

1.6x

32.0%

24.5%

1.6x

Total Fund IV & IV-PP Investments - Without Litigation Claims

$ 1,131,615,399

$ 476,636,899

$ 1,070,369,806

$ 1,547,006,705

1.4x

20.8%

14.2%

1.3x

Total Unrealized Investments

(Footnotes in Appendix 4)
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(1) Risk/Return Found in the Portfolios

Funds III, IV, and IV-PP Jointly Held Positions

Investee
Callidus

Geneba

Advantage

Litigation
Claims

Type of
Company

Original Type of Security
Purchased

Current Type of
Security Held

Public

Senior Secured Debt

Public Equity
Bridge Loans

Quasi-public

Senior Secured Mortgage Bonds
Unsecured Bonds

Quasi-public Equity
Residual Homburg
Claims

Private

Senior Secured Bonds

Senior Secured Debt
Equity
(Fleet Financing Fully
Paid Out)

N/A

Cash/de facto Secured

Claim on cash proceeds
de facto set aside
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(2) Potential Conflicts between Funds III and IV:






Callidus


Funds II, II-PP, III, and IV own approximately 3.8MM, 0.7MM, 20.1MM, and 8.8MM shares,
respectively, as of December 31, 2016



    Funds II, II-PP, III, and IV own approximately 1.7MM, 0.5MM, 18.6MM, and
8.8MM shares, respectively, as of December 31, 2016



Effect of difference in Fund terms likely to be that Fund II sells its stake in Callidus ahead of Fund III,
and Fund IV sells along with Fund III (proportionately or otherwise to be determined at a later date
when all information at that time becomes available)



No conflict therefore currently envisioned as between Funds III and IV

Geneba/Advantage


Fund III owns approximately 1/3 of each of Geneba, and Advantage, while Fund IV owns 2/3 of each



Given such are scheduled formally or otherwise for complete monetizations, no material conflict is
currently envisioned

If/when any potential conflict arises, such will be immediately taken to the Advisory Panel of the
respective Funds as required by the LPA


          interests of the investment first as priority
#1
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(3)       
Over time it is always the Catalyst approach to have the secured debt allocation move to the
unsecured and deeply subordinated categories as Funds age, subject to adjustment depending
on the status of the credit cycle. The intended effect is to then boost realized returns without
undue additional/incremental capital at risk. However, it appears (confirmed by experience and
now being confirmed by math) that market correlation  and therefore volatility - increases in
the Catalyst Funds as this shift occurs.
This shift does potentially increase volatility only on that portion of investments either
correlated to equity or subsequently acquired as such  but not generally on the original
principal given the fact 86% of everything acquired since 2008 has been super-senior secured.
Part of this effect occurs naturally as funds convert debt to equity pursuant to applicable
restructuring processes (i.e. exercise options for       by
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(3)        
Fund III


Fund III risk/return and detailed capital positions were discussed in the joint Fund II/Fund III
meeting
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(3)        
Fund IV


Fund IV and IV-PP risk/return and detailed capital positions will be discussed at the Fund IV
only AGM
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(3)        
Pro-forma 2017 Monetizations:


For Fund III, already discussed in joint Fund II/III AGM



For funds IV/IV-PP to be discussed in the Fund IV/IV-PP only AGM
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II. 2016 Review:
b) Operations
(4)  
Catalyst does not maintain the accounts or the general ledger for the Funds. This approach is
intended to provide investors with the assurance that the Fund manager cannot manipulate or
inappropriately alter the  records. As of March 31, 2015     
replaced Citi Private Equity Services for this function.

SS&C as Fund Administrator will continue to: (a) maintain the books and records of the Funds, (b)
prepare the month-end financial statements, (c) distribute the monthly letters, and (d) ensure all
LPs have access to their Fund account information via their secured Web-access account.
Catalyst will continue to maintain a set of separate, unofficial records to ensure the accuracy of
 , as well as to expedite the month-end, year-end, and other processes.

Combined     -Mellon), the intention is the continued maintenance of a
-                
supposed to be continuously reviewed by internal (CFO, Managing Partner) and external parties
(SS&C and CIBC Mellon):

Capital Drawn = Original Cost of Invested Capital (+) Expenses (+) Cash
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III. Action Plan Review
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IV. Action Plan Review


2017 Action Plan for Funds III/IV/IV-PP

2017 Action Items

A.

    

B.

    and re-start loan book growth

C.

Geneba Monetization

D.

Continue monetization process of Advantage

E.

Advance litigations claims process

Timing

2017

End of Q2 2017

1H 2017

2017

Q4 2017/1H 2018
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IV. Action Plan Review (continued)
Review of 2016 Fund III Action Plan:



,

2016 Action Items for Fund III

Timing

A.

    

Done

B.

Monetize Great Canadian Gaming

Done

C.

Close Callidus valuation gap

D.

Gateway partial monetization

E.

Overall, alleviate/resolve liquidity issue(s)

Comments

Partially
Complete

Share value up approximately 134% year-overyear; current going private process scheduled
to be completed by end of Q2 2017

Done

Recap resulted in return of capital, looking to
next steps in late 2017

Done/In
Process
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V. Potential Questions and Answers


Issues for discussion:


          



Why did it take Catalyst so long to develop a formal     



Liquidity situation: Are there any external factors that could re-introduce this issue, especially for Fund III?
What     unfavourable



                -forward
         



Why introduce value of litigation claims now and in this specific manner?
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Business Description
          in Europe. Its predecessor company, Homburg Invest Inc.
                 
          reviewed and worked on
this situation for more than two years prior to its investment.
Investment Thesis and Update
Catalyst believed    -jurisdictional dynamics, process and capital structure complexity, and potential
hidden fundamental value, provided an attractive risk-adjusted return profile. Catalyst discovered what has now been
confirmed to be the fulcrum security and began acquiring it in Q4 2012. Catalyst accelerated its investment strategy later in
Q4 2012 and Q1 2013, which included gaining influence/control through multiple series of bonds and claims across the
capital structure, once key information was released by the Company in October 2012. This information confirmed, among
         
Catalyst used its unique understanding of the opportunity to insert itself in the process and became the first and only fund
to provide initial offers for the mortgage bonds in Q4 2012 and then, in Q1 2013, launched a tender offer backed by a media
campaign and the back office infrastructure to purchase mortgage bonds, unsecured bonds, and claims from a pool of
approximately 17,000 bondholders. Catalyst continued to build-out its position and enhance its influence/control since that
time through the positioning of its creditor rights and challenging the failed process management of others, while also
demonstrating a viable path to a value-creating recapitalization plan.
As                 -oriented
investment approach to lead the restructuring as the recapitalization plan sponsor. Under the recapitalization plan, creditors
had the option to sell their equity entitlement in a restructured new company, now called Geneba, comprising the core
properties of the entire Homburg portfolio, to Catalyst at 0.59x book value at exit and a 20% cash flow yield in return for
  -            -Out Option,
            
to creditors and leveraging its already established back-office infrastructure.
                 
broad support for its recapitalization plan with 49.1% of creditors selecting the Cash-Out Option. On June 5, 2013, the
recapitalization plan was               
27, 2014. Post-            
which has increased to 86% through market purchases and a December 2014 rights offering.
43

COMP-205

The Catalyst Capital Group  2016 Joint Fund III and Funds IV/IV-PP Annual Meeting

Appendix 1: Geneba (continued)
Investment Thesis and Update (continued)
                  
valuation of 95MM while the recapitalization plan exit value determined by the Court-appointed Monitor (required by law to
    was           at that time resulted
in a 1.6x multiple on invested capital.        % occupancy,
10+ year lease terms and 70% of assets in Germany - at a cash flow yield in excess of 20% when similar REITs trade at a
4-               proportion to   
value.
As part of its Recapitalization Plan, Catalyst backstopped a put option offer that was open from July 7 through October 6,
2014. This put option offer gave Geneba shareholders the right to sell their shares to Catalyst at an effective equity value of
63.33MM. This represented        -Out Option equity value of 95MM and
consequently a greater discount to the 153MM CCAA plan equity value of the assets. Through the put option offer Catalyst
acquired 1.5MM shares for $4.5MM (      
Also in 2014, Catalyst extended a            
mortgage debt at a discount to par value and to fund the acquisition of two properties in Germany for a total value of
49.1MM with yields of approximately 15%.
In Q4 2014, Geneba filed a prospectus for a 206MM rights offering, with Catalyst serving as the backstop investor for such.
                
2014. Through the rights offering, Catalyst converted its 58.3MM bridge term loan into equity and together with an
additional 28.1MM in cash bought 31.1MM shares at 2.78 per share, a 6% discount to book value as of December 31,
2014 and a 45% discount to the then market value
In Q3 2015, Catalyst provided an additional 16.2MM of financing to Geneba under the rights offering. This funding enabled
Geneba to complete three acquisitions totaling 133.3MM of property value at a combined FFO yield of ~14%, which is
almost 3x the yield at which comparable German and Dutch REITs trade.
In Q4 2015, Catalyst provided an additional 44.2MM of financing to Geneba under the rights offering. This funding enabled
Geneba to complete three acquisitions totaling 96.6MM of property value at a combined FFO yield of 11%. Catalyst also
provided a 22.5MM bridge loan to allow Geneba to refinance an existing property mortgage. As of Dec. 31, 2015, the
bridge loan had been substantially repaid and refinanced, leaving 1.7MM outstanding.
44

COMP-206

The Catalyst Capital Group  2016 Joint Fund III and Funds IV/IV-PP Annual Meeting

Appendix 1: Geneba (continued)
Investment Thesis and Update (continued)
The rights offering was fully invested in 2015 and Q1 2016, resulting in the Funds deploying an additional $126MM with an
instantaneous positive arbitrage relative to public comps of at least 2x.
In Q1 2016, Geneba closed three acquisitions totaling 75.3MM in property value at a combined FFO yield of 13%, which is
over 2.5 - 3x the yield at which comparable REITs trade. Catalyst also extended an incremental 5.5MM bridge loan to
refinance an existing mortgage. The bridge loan was fully converted to equity by the end of Q1 2016.
In Q2 2016, Geneba closed two acquisitions totaling 43.3MM in property value at a combined FFO yield of 12%, which is
2.5  3.0x the yield at which comparable REITs trade.
In Q3 2016, Geneba completed one acquisition for 15MM at a FFO yield of 13.5%, which is ~3x the yield at which
comparable German and Dutch REITs trade.
                 
property, on the early exercise of the 2020 buyout right on their Munich global headquarters. The sale price of 113MM was
received on Dec. 30, 2016. Also on Dec. 30, 2016, Geneba held an Extraordinary General Meeting to approve a distribution
of nearly all of the Infineon sale proceeds to shareholders. This distribution totalled 112.1MM, of which 96.8MM
(US$102.1MM) was distributed to Catalyst.
Also in Q4 2016, Catalyst engaged Credit Suisse to review strategic alternatives, including a potential M&A process, IPO or
debt raise. On the M&A process, Catalyst has received strong initial indications of value from a highly competitive group of
leading private equity sponsors and strategic investors. Final binding offers are expected to be received by mid-April.
In Q1/2017, Geneba completed the acquisition of two properties for 52MM at an FFO yield of 10%, which is ~2x the yield
at which comparable German and Dutch REITs trade.
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Appendix 2:     
Business Description
     was originally             
       Thrifty. Hertz, to avoid competition, sold Advantage to TSX listed
                  
a stand alone business. For competitive reasons, Hertz intentionally left Advantage with an aging, unattractive fleet,
few/poor/inadequate systems, a management team illogically dispersed across North America, and cumbersome financial
liabilities which intentionally handicapped the Company.           
11 protection in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of Mississippi on November 5, 2013. Catalyst led the
Company through its restructuring, and provided the financial, operational and strategic support to negotiate with major
stakeholders such as Hertz and the FTC.
Catalyst provided the Company with $85MM of debtor-in-possession financing. Catalyst successfully credit bid the DIP for
    Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Code Section 363 sale held on December 9, 2013. The Court approved the
sale on January 2, 2014, and the transaction closed on April 30, 2014. Catalyst subsequently started a new corporate
strategy and rebranding effort.
Advantage closed on its announced purchase of E-Z Rent-A- -        -brand
strategy with E-Z, introducing both brands in all non-overlapping locations, while also evaluating new locations that fit within
the combined business strategy.
Advantage is the 4th largest rental car company in the U.S., with all of its now 73 locations on or near a major U.S. airport.
The new Advantage is currently focused on the domestic and international leisure traveler. Advantage has a partnership with
Europcar, which is the fourth largest Car Rental company globally, and among the top three in Europe. Through this
partnership, Europcar sends Advantage inbound European customers and shares numerous strategic benefits. Europcar has
                 
commercial market, signaling the possibility of an outright purchase.
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Appendix 2: Advantage (continued)
Investment Thesis and Update
Advantage was formed as a result of an FTC decree that certain U.S. assets be spun-out of the Hertz/Dollar Thrifty merger
                  
rental franchisor. Macquarie Capital provided the initial funding in December 2012, and in May 2013, completed a reverse
merger with FSNA.
The U.S. rental car market represents a $25B+ opportunity in annual revenue and accounts for 50% of the global market,
split evenly between corporate and leisure customers.
The Company had a large set of profitable, high-quality and highly valuable rental concessions at major U.S. airports;
however, it was subject to the disadvantages outlined above. FSNA lacked the capital and resolve to address those issues,
and ultimately misunderstood the business operations.
Catalyst leveraged its unique cross-border experience and relationships to gain access to the deal, in that its cooperative
approach with management differentiated it from other major U.S. private equity firms involved in the process. On April 30,
2014, Catalyst completed the full acquisition of the business including: locations, vehicle fleet, the Advantage brand, cash
and other assets for approximately $40MM or half of the           
commitment related to Advantage was used for            
represent incremental capital-at-risk for Catalyst.
In addition, Catalyst successfully auctioned 22 unprofitable airport concessions previously valued at $0, receiving total
              
of an additional $2.75MM. The original footprint of over 40 U.S. airport locations post-sale gave Advantage access to
approximately 80% of domestic deplaning      core operations for
approximately 5x run-rate EBITDA (pre-Catalyst operational restructuring and/or growth initiatives) and 3x run-rate EBITDA
      while peers trade in the 10x-14x EBITDA range. Moreover, the
airport concession rights held by Advantage have an appraised value of over $150MM. Combined with the fact that the
majority of the capital committed by Catalyst is being used to fund deposits and fleet equity (therefore not 100% capital at
          .
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Appendix 2: Advantage (continued)
Investment Thesis and Update (continued)
The Chapter 11 process has greatly benefited Advantage by allowing the Company to shed unwanted concessions,
restructure contracts and realign operations. Catalyst has developed a comprehensive business plan for Advantage to both
stabilize near-term profitability and be positioned for future growth. This plan is centered on: 1) reducing the initial location
footprint to 40 core, profitable locations with strategic value and national importance; 2) re-fleeting the Company to
enhance flexibility and optimize yield; 3) implementing new systems, processes and controls; 4) supplementing and
strengthening the management team; 5) fostering relationships with corporate customers, airlines, hotels and international
partners; and 6) investing in marketing, including a best-of-class loyalty program and frequent use promotions.
Advantage closed on its announced purchase of E-Z Rent-A- -Z       a dual-brand
strategy with E-Z, introducing both brands in all non-overlapping locations, while also evaluating new locations that fit within
the combined business strategy. The transaction provides significant combined benefits for the merged entity, including:


Synergies - Advantage and E-Z are complementary and offer significant synergy opportunities, including additional
market share, improved utilization and pricing, improved fleet costing and sale flexibility, management teams
consolidation, and negotiating power with suppliers.



Growth - Advantage and E-          -brand strategy and capture
meaningful market share. The merger brings E-Z from its existing 13 locations into the 43 Advantage locations for a
growth in number of locations of over 300%+;



Market Share Growth - Advantage is positioned as the leading value brand in the U.S., presenting a strong
foundation to leverage a competitive dual-     provides opportunity to
increase E-           share.

Catalyst, together with the management teams of Advantage and E-Z, has developed and are executing on a merger
integration plan, expected to generate synergies of over $20MM annually (1x or more of E- own EBITDA). As a result of
this transaction, Catalyst has achieved a return of over 2x on the equity of Advantage on a standalone basis, and due to the
impact of synergies,  investment is expected to generate a return on capital of greater than 5x for the newly
combined business.
Catalyst and Advantage are working with Morgan Stanley to maximize the investment monetization value. Advantage has
already begun specific discussions with a key potential buyer. If these discussions do not generate an acceptable bid, then
Advantage will pursue a more broadly auctioned process. Potential buyers who are likely bidders are the international rental
car companies including: Europcar, Goldcar, Sixt, and Localiza.
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Appendix 3: Valuation Methodology: Canadian
GAAP, AcG-18
AcG-18 = FAS 157 = Topic 820
Valuation of investments:
Portfolio investments include debt, debt-related, equity-related and equity
investments made by the General Partner on behalf of the Fund.
In accordance with the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook
     -    
investments at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the year in
which the changes occur.
The General Partner applies the following guidelines in the following order
when valuing portfolio investments:
(i)

         
third party offers, when available; and/or

(ii)

investments are recorded using the last sale price at period end for those
investments which are publicly traded and which are not restricted from
trading and held in liquid and readily tradeable form; and/or
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Appendix 3: Valuation Methodology: Canadian
GAAP, AcG-18 (continued)
(iii)

investments are recorded using an adjustment to the last sale price
at period end for those investments which are publicly traded but may
be restricted for trading and/or are not held in readily tradeable
form; and/or

(iv)

investment values are confirmed using valuation techniques
including discounted cash flow methods, multiples of earnings
and/or comparison with other similar securities; and/or

(v)

investments are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

The process of estimating fair value for investments often requires
significant judgment and estimation and the resulting values may differ
significantly when actually realized.
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Appendix 4: Footnotes
1) Past performance of any investments described herein is provided for illustrative purposes only and is not indicative of future investment results. There can be no assurance that future Funds will
achieve comparable results, be able to implement its investment strategy or be able to avoid losses. In addition, there can be no assurance that investments with an unrealized value will be realized at
the valuations shown, as actual realized returns will depend on, among other factors, future operating results, the value of the assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, any related
transaction costs, and the timing and manner of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions on which the valuations contained herein are based. Accordingly, the actual realized returns on
unrealized investments may differ materially from the returns indicated herein.
2) The Date of Substantial Realization  is the date on which a position was exited or an investment was disposed of. In the case of multiple exits or dispositions , the Date of Substantial Realization  is
deemed to be the date of sale or distribution of the substantial portion of the net proceeds from the portfolio company.
3) The Total Capital Committed  represents aggregate capital committed by Fund I, Fund II, Fund III, Fund IV, and Fund V including capital that has already been invested as represented in the Total
Capital Invested  column.
4) The Total Capital Invested  represents the aggregate capital respectively invested by Fund I, Fund II, Fund III, Fund IV and Fund V. The Total Capital Invested  includes investments that were treated
as bridge financings and includes recycled capital.
5) The Total Realized Proceeds  represent gross proceeds to Fund I, Fund II, Fund III, Fund IV or Fund V, as applicable, generated from the distribution of its interests in portfolio companies , interest,
dividends and distributions in respect of the applicable portfolio company investments.
6) The Unrealized Value  is based on audited valuations in accordance with the Catalyst Funds  valuation criteria or policies as described in footnotes 8 - 19. Actual realized returns will depend on
various factors, including future operating results, market conditions at the time of disposition, legal and contractual restrictions on transfer that may limit liquidity, any related transaction costs and the
timing and manner of disposition, all of which may differ from the assumptions and circumstances on which the current unrealized valuations are based. Accordingly, the actual realized returns may
differ materially from the returns indicated herein.
7) The Gross IRR  means an aggregate, compounded annually, gross internal rate of return that does not reflect the deduction of any fees or carried interest borne by investors . IRRs for investments
with a remaining interest have been calculated by assuming that the remaining interest has been sold as of the reporting date at the unrealized value.
The Net IRR  for Fund I means the gross IRR excluding the effect of uninvested cash but after the deduction of all fees and carried interest borne by investors . The Net IRR including the effect of
holding excess cash is 21.1% for Fund I. Unlike other funds, Fund I at times had to hold substantial excess cash for a number of reasons including but not limited to the mechanisms of trading in the
bank debt market wherein trades can take 6+ months or longer to settle. No investor cash was at risk while held by Catalyst awaiting use, such as bank trades, and therefore should be excluded so as
to allow the reader to compare net returns on an "apple to apple" basis. Catalyst established lines of credit for later Catalyst Funds as to avail this issue on a go-forward basis.
The Net IRR  for Fund II, III, IV, and V means an aggregate, compounded annually, net internal rate of return earned by investors that includes the deduction of all fees and carried interest. Net IRRs
have been calculated by assuming that the remaining interest has been sold as of the reporting date at the unrealized value.
8) The Unrealized Value  for Quad/Graphics, Inc. is based on value attributed to recovery from ongoing litigation.
9) The Unrealized Value  for Callidus Capital Corporation is based on the market trading price for the Funds ' investment in common shares , and amortized cost for the Funds ' investment in Callidus '
bridge loan facility and loan participations.
10) The "Unrealized Value" for Gateway Casinos & Entertainment Limited is based on using DCF and EBITDA multiple methodologies.
11) The Unrealized Value  for Therapure Biopharma Inc. is based on a fair valuation of the company's individual assets , which includes present values of the company s: (i) Contract Development and
Manufacturing (CDMO) division; (ii) proprietary product development (Products) division; (iii) proprietary drug pipeline assets ; (iv) investments in other drug developers ; and (v) claim to the company s
predecessor entities  tax loss carry forwards .
12) The "Unrealized Value" for Natural Market Restaurants Corp. is based on using an EBITDA multiple methodology, less required capex investment.
13) The "Unrealized Value" for Sonar Entertainment Inc. is based on using DCF and public trading multiple methodologies.
14) The "Unrealized Value" for Xchange Technology Group is based on liquidation analysis and supported by public trading multiple methodologies.
15) The "Unrealized Value" for Geneba is based on using a run-rate FFO multiple methodology and a NAV methodology.
16) The "Unrealized Value" for Advantage-Rent-A-Car's operations is based on using DCF and EBITDA multiple methodologies. The "Unrealized Value" for Advantage-Rent-A-Car's fleet is based on the
fair market value of the equity in the fleet.
17) The "Unrealized Value" for Pacific Exploration & Production is based on the market trading price.
18) The "Unrealized Value" for the Wind Litigation Claim is based on damages claimed in the Wind Litigation
19) The "Unrealized Value" for the PanAm Claim is based on the estimated damages claimed in the PanAm Litigation
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Appendix 5: Guiding Principles
Principle 1: Excellence.
Catalyst is a firm dedicated to the pursuit of excellence, adhering to the very highest standards of integrity. As a result, Catalyst embraces the fact that
                   to continually preserving,
pursuing and building upon this dedication to excellence, which by our definition includes the pursuit of the highest standards of integrity, in all that we
                
Principle 2: Superior Analytics. Our ability to deliver exceptional, insightful and unique analytics is our foremost competitive advantage. It
                    to be the
smartest; we strive to be the hardest working and most thorough analytical team. We will approach every assignment with vigor and absolute
resoluteness. We will mentor and coach each other to ensure we continuously hone, invest in, and master our analytical excellence.
Principle 3: The Details. The crux of our work is in the details. We dig deep into the minutiae to reveal what others have missed. It is this
search in the details that allows us to discover true value and find the very best answers. We will never settle for the status quo because of our
commitment to excellence and because we know that hidden within the details is, by definition, reduced risk and/or improved returns for our
investors.
Principle 4: Intellectual Curiosity. We recognize that it takes constant intellectual curiosity to fully explore the possibilities. We will
therefore go to extraordinary lengths to explore issues and situations to their logical end maintaining an environment where such exploration is
encouraged and supported. We will always ask questions, even when we feel certain that we know the answers. Regardless of role within the
organization, we are all expected to passionately and meaningfully debate all of the issues we encounter. We will do this respectfully, keeping
                        #1 concern. After all,
it is intellectual curiosity that will ensure we identify and uncover all the angles and subtleties of a situation, and enable our continued collective
and personal development.
Principle 5: Team. We are only truly empowered as a team. As individuals we cannot possibly anticipate all of the nuances of a situation.
Our combined intellect/insight exceeds the sum of our parts, and our ability to work collectively, leveraging all insights, experiences and
abilities, is the key to our continued success. While individual creativity and independent thinking are always encouraged, we will only reap the
most remarkable results when we capitalize on the intellectual collective of our different perspectives. As a member of the Catalyst team we will
hold each other accountable for imparting our knowledge to each other and acknowledge that for our continued success and the protection of
         
Principle 6: Reputation. Our reputation is at the heart of our business. The quality of our people, the work we do, and our dedication to
excellence and integrity are paramount to our reputation. We will hold ourselves up to the highest levels of integrity and ethical standards, and
instill pride in the Catalyst name. We will lead by example, treating our team members, our investors and all of our stakeholders with the
utmost respect. Our reputation for excellence is and will continue to be our greatest asset.
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To:
Michael Tang[MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca]
Cc:
Jodie Hancock[JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca]
From:
Dan Nohdomi[/O=CALLIDUSCAPITAL/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=DAN NOHDOMI]
Sent:
Tue 8/1/2017 7:47:55 PM (UTC)
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter

Hello Michael,
Thank-you for your time again earlier today; very helpful and appreciated. Please find below:
 proposed draft disclosure enhancements for “Unrecognized Yield Enhancements”;
 and proposed language that will appear in our Q2 2017 press release
for OSC staff review and comment.
Kind regards,
Dan
From: Michael Tang [mailto:MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca]
Sent: July-31-17 2:14 PM
To: Dan Nohdomi <dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca>
Cc: Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Dan,
In response to your questions:
1.

We would like to see draft disclosure enhancements that address the concerns regarding "Unrecognized Yield
Enhancements" and the "Q1, 2017 Earnings Call", as set out in our comment letter dated July 27, 2017.

Forward-looking
Statements

Assumptions

The valuation technique
used a discounted cash flow
with the following
significant unobservable
inputs and estimates:
Fair value of
controlling interest
in borrower
expected to
recognize into
income upon
disposition is
estimated at $115.8
million on June 30,
2017.

(1) Risk adjusted discount
rate: 16.5%
(2) Long term growth rate:
10.0%
(3) Annual average
EBITDA: $30.0
million
(4) Significant new business
from a large diversified
gaming company in Canada
that is commonly controlled
by the Catalyst Capital
Group Inc.

Risk Factors

Significant risk factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the estimates used in the valuation include: (1)
the borrower’s ability to secure new business from a large
diversified gaming company in Canada; (2) the borrowers' ability
to achieve the forecasted EBITDA targets; (3) competitor risk
and unexpected changes in working capital requirements; (4) the
possibility that Bluberi may not receive the regulatory approval
required to sell games into the provinces in which the large
diversified gaming company operates; (5) the absence of a term
sheet or agreement with the large diversified gaming company while terms to acquire games from Bluberi have been discussed,
there currently is no statement of terms or agreement between
Bluberi and the large diversified gaming company detailing any
prospective transaction between the parties; (6) the risk that the
large diversified gaming company may not require the 7,000 slot
machines; and (7) the risk that Bluberi may not be able to reach
the production demands that would logically be required to sell
7,000 slot machines as it has, historically, never sold games at
this
volume.
A 10% decrease or increase in the cashflows would result in a
yield enhancement range between $92.5 million to $139.0.
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Significant Future
Events/Milestone
Assumptions to Support
the Top End of the
Valuations

(1) Callidus and a common
controlled enterprise are ab
to reach an agreement for
deployment of 7,000 slot
machines;
(2) borrower is able to
achieve forecasted results;
(3) regulatory approval by
the provinces of British
Columbia and Alberta for
deployment of the 7,000 sl
machines occurs within 3 months from the start of th
application process; (4)
Bluberi is able to
successfully procure contr
manufacturing to meet the
levels of demand; (5)
funding of working capital
meet these levels of deman
are funded by Callidus; (6
the slot machines to be
deployed meet the standard
of the large diversified
gaming company; (8) the
7,000 slot machines are
deployed over 3 years; and
(9) the business is sold thre

years after the start of the
deployment of the 7,000
machines at which time, th
unrecognized yield
enhancement would be
realized.

2.

We are of the view that it should be publicly disclosed that the disclosure enhancements are being provided in connection
with a review by OSC staff. This is consistent with our view that the Company should be placed on the Refilings and Errors
List as a result of the disclosure enhancements.

As previously announced, the Company is subject to an Ontario Securities Commission continuous disclosure review. As a result, it is
continuing to revise its disclosure and approach with respect to the use of non-IFRS financial measures and with respect to
disclosure of material factors and assumptions used in connection with reporting in relation to unrecognized yield enhancements as
well as related material risk factors. Among other things, these revisions to the Company's disclosure, are intended to give greater
prominence to IFRS financial measures, consistent with CSA Staff Notice 52-306 (Revised) – Non-GAAP Financial Measures, and to
simplify the overall presentation of financial results. Certain non-IFRS measures – namely net income, ROE and EPS measures that
incorporated unrecognized yield enhancements and/or excluded provision for loan losses - presented in previous press releases are
not included in this release, nor will they be included in future releases. Revised disclosure presentation is provided for fiscal 2015
and 2016, as well as the current disclosure for the six months ended June 30, 2017.
Thank you and best regards,
Michael Tang | Ontario Securities Commission | Corporate Finance | Senior Legal Counsel
20 Queen Street West, Suite 1903 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
Phone: 416-593-2330 | Fax: 416-593-8252 | mtang@osc.gov.on.ca
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

From: Dan Nohdomi [mailto:dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca]
Sent: July-31-17 1:51 PM
To: Michael Tang <MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Michael, thank-you for your note.
Please see below for our response to your questions.
Kind regards,
Dan
From: Michael Tang [mailto:MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca]
Sent: July-31-17 10:21 AM
To: Dan Nohdomi <dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca>
Cc: Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Dan,
Two short questions:
1.

When do you anticipate sending us a draft of your Q2 filings? We are still in the process of finalizing dates of filing and will
advise when we can provide a draft of the requested
disclosure as soon as dates are firm. Would you also please confirm
COMP-231

that the draft disclosure you would like to review in advance is that requested in the July 27, 2017 comment letter
‘Unrecognized Yield Enhancements’ or would you also like to review the other disclosure documents including the Q2-2017
financial statements and MD&A?
2. Could you confirm if the draft Q2 filings will include language stating that the enhanced disclosure is being provided in
connection with a review by OSC staff? Would language stating this be required of OSC staff?
Thank you and best regards,
Michael Tang | Ontario Securities Commission | Corporate Finance | Senior Legal Counsel
20 Queen Street West, Suite 1903 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
Phone: 416-593-2330 | Fax: 416-593-8252 | mtang@osc.gov.on.ca
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

From: Dan Nohdomi [mailto:dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca]
Sent: July-28-17 10:23 AM
To: Michael Tang <MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca>; Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Thank-you Michael, very helpful and greatly appreciated.
Kind regards,
Dan
From: Michael Tang [mailto:MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca]
Sent: July-28-17 10:16 AM
To: Dan Nohdomi <dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca>; Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Dan,
We are prepared to treat this email correspondence as your preliminary response to our comment letter with further clarification
to come from the Company as soon as practicable but in any event no later than August 10, 2017.
Thank you and best regards,
Michael Tang | Ontario Securities Commission | Corporate Finance | Senior Legal Counsel
20 Queen Street West, Suite 1903 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
Phone: 416-593-2330 | Fax: 416-593-8252 | mtang@osc.gov.on.ca
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

From: Dan Nohdomi [mailto:dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca]
Sent: July-28-17 10:05 AM
To: Michael Tang <MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca>; Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Michael,
In summary, we are asking whether staff would be amenable to receiving our formal written response Aug 10th, because the
Company has to cope with:
1.
2.
3.

The need to respond to the prior letter;
Vacation schedules which mean necessary individuals are not always available;
The need to prepare financial and MD&A disclosure in connection with Q2.

However, the Company will undertake to respond at an earlier date if it reasonably can do so.
Kind regards,
Dan
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From: Michael Tang [mailto:MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca]
Sent: July-28-17 9:38 AM
To: Dan Nohdomi <dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca>; Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Dan,
If so, I'm not sure I understand why the Company needs until August 10 to provide a formal response. Please explain.
Thank you and best regards,
Michael Tang | Ontario Securities Commission | Corporate Finance | Senior Legal Counsel
20 Queen Street West, Suite 1903 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
Phone: 416-593-2330 | Fax: 416-593-8252 | mtang@osc.gov.on.ca
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

From: Dan Nohdomi [mailto:dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca]
Sent: July-27-17 5:42 PM
To: Michael Tang <MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca>; Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Michael, we were aiming to file our Q2 filings next Fri Aug 4th, and would be happy to provide draft Q2 filings with enhanced
disclosure to you before they are filed for your review.
Kind regards,
Dan
From: Michael Tang [mailto:MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca]
Sent: July-27-17 5:12 PM
To: Dan Nohdomi <dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca>; Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Hi Dan,
When is the Company planning to file its Q2 filings? Will you be providing draft Q2 filings, with the enhanced disclosure, to us
before they are filed?
Thank you,
Michael Tang | Ontario Securities Commission | Corporate Finance | Senior Legal Counsel
20 Queen Street West, Suite 1903 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
Phone: 416-593-2330 | Fax: 416-593-8252 | mtang@osc.gov.on.ca
Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

From: Dan Nohdomi [mailto:dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca]
Sent: July-27-17 3:46 PM
To: Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>; Michael Tang <MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca>
Cc: Shelley Mogan <SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Dear Jodie, Michael,
Thank-you for your most recent comment letter dated today, July 27, 2017.
We confirm that we will be expanding our disclosure in a manner consistent with your requests and will provide a draft of the
disclosure in advance, however, we would ask that you await our formal response until Aug 10th to provide us adequate time to
ensure our response is appropriate and accurate and because we are in the process of addressing your July 20, 2017 comment
letter.
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Kindly confirm that this is acceptable.
Thank-you,

Dan
From: Shelley Mogan [mailto:SMOGAN@osc.gov.on.ca]
Sent: July-27-17 1:27 PM
To: Dan Nohdomi <dnohdomi@calliduscapital.ca>
Cc: Jodie Hancock <JHANCOCK@osc.gov.on.ca>; Michael Tang <MTANG@osc.gov.on.ca>
Subject: Continuous Disclosure Review - Callidus Capital Corporation - Comment Letter
Importance: High
Good afternoon,
Please find attached comment letter regarding the above.
Please also confirm receipt of email and attachment.
Thank you,
Regards, Shelley

Shelley Mogan | Ontario Securities Commission | Corporate Finance | Administrative Assistant
20 Queen Street West, Suite 1903 | Toronto ON M5H 3S8
Phone: 416-593-8110 | Fax: 416-593-3683 | smogan@osc.gov.on.ca

OSC Disclaimer
This message is intended only for the use of the addressee and may contain information that is privileged and confidential. If you are not the intended recipient or have
received this communication in error, you are hereby notified that any unauthorized use or disclosure is strictly prohibited. Please notify the sender immediately and delete
the original without making a copy or disclosing its contents.
Le présent message s'adresse exclusivement à son destinataire et peut contenir des renseignements privilégiés et confidentiels. Si vous n'êtes pas le destinataire de ce
document ou si vous l'avez reçu par erreur, vous êtes par la présente avisé qu'il est strictement interdit de le divulguer ou de l'utiliser sans autorisation. Veuillez en avertir
l'expéditeur immédiatement et détruire le message original sans le copier ou en révéler le contenu. .
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
OFFICE OF COMPLIANCE INSPECTIONS AND EXAMINATIONS
100 F STREET, NE
WASHINGTON, DC 20549-7041B

May 11, 2018
SENT VIA SECURE E-MAIL
Newton Glassman
Managing Partner
nglassman@catcapital.com
Steven Rostowsky
Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer
srostowsky@catcapital.com
The Catalyst Capital Group Inc.
181 Bay Street, Suite 4700
Bay Wellington Tower, Brookfield Place
Toronto, Canada M5J2T3
Re:

Examination of:
The Catalyst Capital Group Inc. (“the Adviser”)
SEC File No. 802-73114

Dear Mr. Glassman and Mr. Rostowsky:
The staff conducted an examination of the Adviser, which evaluated compliance with certain
provisions of the federal securities laws or other applicable rules and regulations (together, “federal
securities laws”). The examination identified the deficiencies that are described in Exhibit A and
which the staff discussed during an exit interview on May 9, 2018.
The staff is bringing these findings to your attention for immediate corrective action, without
regard to any other action(s) that may result from the examination. The findings are based on the
staff’s examination and are not findings or conclusions of, or binding on, the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“the SEC” or “the Commission”) or any of its divisions or offices. You
should not conclude that any of the firm’s activities not discussed in Exhibit A are in full
compliance with the federal securities laws. Nor should you conclude that Exhibit A sets forth
an exhaustive list of the ways in which the firm’s activities do not comply with the federal
securities laws. Neither the staff’s findings or its communications during the course of the
examination nor any remedial actions undertaken in response to such findings or
communications foreclose the Commission from taking any action, including but not limited to
an enforcement action, with respect to the firm.
The descriptions of the federal securities laws and related interpretations in Exhibit A may be
paraphrased or abbreviated. Please visit our website at http://www.sec.gov/divisions.shtml for
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complete information related to these regulatory requirements.
Please respond in writing to each of the matters described in Exhibit A by June 11, 2018,
describing any steps you have taken or intend to take with respect to each finding identified.
You should respond directly to me using your already established secure email account at:
dugginsj@sec.gov. Thank you for your cooperation. If you have any questions, please contact
me at (202) 551-5661 or Stephen M. Latin at (617) 573-8808.

ennifer A. uggins

J Assistant Director and Co-Head
OCIE - Private Funds Unit

Attachment: Exhibit A
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Exhibit A
The Catalyst Capital Group Inc.
SEC File No. 802-73114
The examination staff ("staff') identified the following deficiencies during the examination:
I. Section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and Rule 206(4)-S(a)

Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 ("Advisers Act") prohibit an
investment adviser from employing a device, scheme or artifice to defraud any client or
prospective client, or otherwise engaging in a transaction, practice or course of business which
operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or prospective client. Additionally, Rule 206(4)S(a) prohibits investment advisers to pooled investment vehicles from (1) making untrue
statements of material facts or omitting to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading statements
to investors or prospective investors in those pools or (2) otherwise engaging in any act, practice,
or course of business that is fraudulent with respect to those investors or prospective investors.
Based on the staffs review, it appears that various statements by and practices of the Adviser
may constitute violations of Sections 206(1), 206(2) and Rule 206(4)-S(a), details of which are
provided in the succeeding paragraphs.
As background, the Adviser serves as the manager to six pooled investment vehicles with
collective net assets of approximately $3.3 billion. 1 The six pooled investment vehicles
(collectively, "the Funds") are Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership II, Catalyst Fund II Parallel
Limited Partnership (with Catalyst Fund Limited Pa1inership II, "Fund II"), Catalyst Fund
Limited Partnership III ("Fund III"), Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV, Catalyst Fund IV
Parallel Limited Partnership (with Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV, "Fund IV"), and
Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership V ("Fund V"). Each of the Funds is structured as a Canadian
Limited Patinership. The Adviser has been retained by the Funds to provide ce1iain investment
management and advisory services.
A. Undisclosed Conflicts Relating to Callidus Capital Corporation ("Callidus")
The examination revealed numerous contractual relationships and business practices which
appear to raise conflicts of interest that were not adequately disclosed to investors in the Funds. 2
The Adviser's failure to adequately disclose such contractual relationships and business
practices, along with the related conflicts, may constitute violations of Rule 206(4)-S(a), as
described below.

I All amounts are denominated in United States Dollars unless otherwise indicated.
2

Under its authority pursuant to Section 204(a) of the Advisers Act, the staff has requested records of the Adviser,
including ce11ain email of the Adviser's Managing Partner. After discussion with the Adviser's personnel and in an
effort to reduce the burden of production, the staff agreed to amend its original request for email by excluding
emails sent to or received from certain email domains. The Adviser appears to have instead produced a sample of
emails using keywords, such that a portion (but not all) of the requested email records was produced. Accordingly,
it appears that the Adviser has not fully responded to the staffs request for records. The Adviser should produce, as
soon as practicable, any additional records that are responsive to the staffs request Items 148 and 149, absent a valid
assertion of privilege.
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Callidus is a Canadian domiciled company. Its founder and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")
since January 1, 2013, Newton Glassman, is also the Managing Partner of the Adviser. It was
organized to provide asset-based loans and lending services to companies based in Canada and
the United States. The Adviser and its affiliates (including four of the six Funds) owned 71.1 %
of the outstanding shares of Callidus as of December 31, 2017. Since Fund II initially acquired
stock in 2006, the Funds and the Adviser have also entered into various other financial
arrangements with Callidus.
The financial arrangements that the Funds entered into with Callidus have included loans to
Callidus, guarantees of loans that Callidus has made to its borrowers, participation agreements,
asset purchases and service agreements. For example, as of December 31, 2017 Fund III and
Fund IV have provided bridge loans to Callidus in the amount of approximately $210 million.
Fund III and Fund IV also purchased a portfolio company, Xchange Technology Group
("XTG"), from Callidus for approximately $73 million, which equaled the total amount of
principal and interest outstanding on a loan that had been extended by Callidus to XTG.
Additionally, certain of these transactions have required subsequent amendments and
clarifications, as described below.
Although since the inception of the Funds the Adviser included disclosures to investors
regarding the potential for transactions between related parties, these disclosures appear to be
inadequate. Specifically, these disclosures do not describe the extent of the potential conflicts,
and they do not disclose that the Adviser would adopt a practice of resolving some conflicts in
favor of Callidus. It appears that there are at least three categories of conflicts that arise in
connection with the Funds' transactions with Callidus, as follows:
1. Conflicts between the various Funds relating to their different participation in the

Callidus capital structure and the different economic incentives that each fund has in
relation to these investments - The Funds invest in different parts of the capital structure
of Callidus and, sometimes, in the same parts of the capital structure but in different
proportions. The potential conflicts that may arise in connection with cross-fund
investments in the same issuer are further complicated by the fact that the Funds invest in
and divest from Callidus at different times. For example, Fund II has been able to realize
a significantly larger profit on its investments in Callidus than Fund III or Fund IV.
Specifically, based on its 2017 audited financial statements, Fund II has realized gains of
approximately $106 million on its investment in the common shares of Callidus. This
compares with no realized gains for Fund III and Fund IV. In fact, Fund IV has
unrealized losses of approximately $54 million on its investment, whereas Fund II and
Fund III both have unrealized gains. The valuation of the common shares appears to be
significantly impacted by the Funds' capital activity in Callidus. For example, Fund II's
interest benefitted from both the equity and debt financing provided by the subsequent
Funds' investments, and as a result, Fund II exited its investments at a substantial profit.
2. Conflicts between the Adviser and the Funds as a result of the Callidus transactions The various transactions with Callidus create potential conflicts of interest between the
Adviser and the Funds. For example, its 2017 audited financial statements indicate that
Page 2 of22

Exhibit A
The Catalyst Capital Group Inc.
SEC File No. 802-73114
Fund II has realized approximately $106 million in profits from its investment in the
common shares of Callidus ahead of any future sales by Fund III and Fund IV. The
realization crystalizes these profits for purposes of determining the amount of incentive
compensation that Catalyst Fund General Partner II Inc. and Catalyst Fund II Parallel
General Partner Inc., each affiliates of the Adviser, are due from Fund II. Additionally,
the Funds' investments in Callidus and the subsequent initial public offering ("!PO") of
Callidus in April 2014 would create a more permanent pool of capital that the Adviser
and its affiliates, including the CEO and other officers of Callidus, could continue to
manage after the Funds are liquidated, assuming that Callidus remains a going concern
and the Funds are able to liquidate their respective interests. That is, affiliates of the
Adviser can continue to make investment decisions with respect to the capital of Callidus
even after all of the Funds have liquidated their positions. As a result, the Adviser
appears to have had an incentive to, first, direct the Funds to make investments into
Callidus, and then, to direct successor Funds to also make investments in the same
company.
3. Co11jlicts betwee11 Callidus a11d tlze F1111ds - Although the Funds have significant
investments in Callidus, which may mitigate the conflicts to some degree, there are still
conflicts that remain between the Funds on the one hand and Callidus on the other.
These conflicts are further exacerbated by the fact that the Funds own different
proportional investments in the capital structure of Callidus, as described above. In fact,
in Callidus' third quarter 2015 earnings investor presentation, Callidus acknowledged the
existence of conflicts when it stated "[b]ecause Callidus is so essential to Catalyst's
strategy, conflicts resolved in favour of the public investor."
In this regard, the examination identified several instances where it appears that there were
conflicts resolved in favor of Callidus, potentially to the detriment of some of the Funds. For
example, in February 2015, the Adviser and its affiliates, including Callidus and the general
pminers of Fund III and Fund IV, entered into a letter agreement that "clarifies" the terms of the
guarantees. This "clarification" resulted in Fund III and Fund IV guaranteeing principal
advances made to borrowers, even after the !PO. 3 The clarification also created a priority of
payments for cash flows from underlying borrowers. Pursuant to this priority of payments, cash
received from the borrower would be used to pay accrued interest to Callidus first, which
reduced Callidus' credit risk exposure, while increasing the credit risk exposure of Fund III and
Fund IV to these companies. That is, after the "clarification," the Funds bore all of the credit
risk, including the additional risk that resulted from extending additional principal to these
borrowers, but the Funds did not receive the benefit of additional interest charged on larger
principal balances because the interest payments were made to Callidus. Accordingly, for
certain guaranteed loans, Callidus would be incentivized to keep the debt outstanding, increasing
principal balances to increase its own income from guaranteed loans, even at potentially belowmarket lending terms. 4
3

Based on the staffs review of the letter agreement) it appears that the changes made to the guarantees through the
letter agreetnent appear to be 1naterial changes rather than a clarification.

4

The staff discusses disclosures to investors about the guarantees in greater detail below.

Page 3 of22

Exhibit A
The Catalyst Capital Group Inc.
SEC File No. 802-73114

It appears that the Adviser failed to adequately disclose to investors the extent and nature of the
conflicts described above. In some instances, the transactions or agreements were disclosed to
investors, but only after their occurrence, and generally without disclosing the conflicts that were
associated with the agreements or transactions. The staff did not identify any disclosures to Fund
investors relating to conflicts being resolved in favor of the public investors of Callidus, whether
at the time they invested or subsequently.
The Adviser's failure to disclose conflicts associated with transactions between the Funds and
Callidus to investors may constitute a violation of Rule 206(4)-8. Additionally, the adoption ofa
practice of resolving conflicts of interest in favor of affiliated parties to the potential detriment of
the Adviser's clients may constitute a violation of Section 206(1) and Section 206(2) of the
Advisers Act.
In response to this letter, the Adviser should describe any steps that it intends to take to address
the issues described above, including identifying any related, pre-existing disclosures made to
investors.
B. Conflict Consent Requirements
Based on the staffs review, it appears that the Adviser or its affiliates failed to comply with the
requirements of the limited partnership agreements ("LP As" or "LP A," as applicable) of Fund III
and Fund IV with respect to conflicts of interest. The Adviser's failure to satisfy the conflict
consent requirements of the Fund III and Fund IV LP As may constitute a violation of Rule
206(4)-8. Additionally, it appears the Adviser directed the Funds to invest in Callidus without
disclosing or mitigating the conflicts associated with such investment. This conduct may
constitute a violation of Section 206(1) and Section 206(2), as described below.
Section 18.l(b) of the Fund III Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement
dated June 22, 2010 ("Fund III LPA'') includes the following provision:

Transactions with Related Entities. The Partnership shall not enter into any transaction
with the General Partner, the Manager, a Portfolio Company or any of their respective
Affiliates unless such transactions have been approved bv the Advisory Panel, are in the
ordinary course of business and are on terms and conditions no less favourable to the
Partnership than those that could be obtained ji-om an unaffiliated third party [emphasis
added].
Similarly, section 18.l(b) of the Fund IV Limited Partnership Agreement dated June 25, 2012
("Fund IV LP A") contains a similar provision, as follows:

Transactions with Related Entities. The Partnership shall not enter into any transaction
with the General Partner, the Manager, a Portfolio Company or any of their respective
Affiliates unless there has first been co11s11/tatio11 with the Advisory Panel, such
transaction is in the ordinary course of business and such transaction is on terms and
Page 4 of22
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conditions no less favourable to the Partnership than those that could be obtained.from
an unaffiliated third party [emphasis added].
The staffs review found that there have been several transactions between Callidus and the
Funds that were not brought to the Advisory Panel for approval or consultation. Among these
transactions were the Funds' acquisition ofXTG from Callidus, the extension and increases of
the bridge loans from the Funds to Callidus, and the "clarification" of the guarantee provisions,
as discussed above.
It also does not appear that these transactions were carried out in a manner that would ensure that
the terms were "no less .favourable to the Partnership than those that could be obtainedfi'om an
unaffiliated third party. " The staff requested information related to how conflicts are resolved
between the Adviser and Callidus, including the operation of a provision in the Debenture
Repayment Agreement dated as of April 23, 2014 (the "Debenture Repayment Agreement").
Specifically, section 7.2(c) of the agreement states:

The Credit Committee, when approving or renewing a loan, or en.forcing its rights under
Section 7.2(a), will act in the best interest of the Corporation and in the event of a
coriflict of interest between the Corporation and a Catalyst Fund, such conflict will be
reviewed and determined by an independent committee.
The staff requested confirmation of whether an "independent committee" reviewed the
clarification of the guarantee provisions or the purchase ofXTG by the Funds. In response, the
Adviser stated that where there is any potential for conflict of interest with the Adviser, the
independent directors of Callidus made the decisions. Based on this response, it appears that
there was not a party representing the interests of the Funds in these transactions. Without a
party representing the interests of the Funds, it seems that there could be no reasonable assurance
that the terms of the transactions were on terms that were "no less favourable to the Partnership
than those that could be obtained from an unaffiliated third party. "
Given that the transactions between Callidus and the Funds involve affiliates of the Adviser and
may not be on terms as advantageous as those that could have been received from a third party, it
appears that the Adviser failed to comply with the Fund III and Fund IV LPA requirements to
bring such transactions to the Advisory Panel.
Section 18.l(c) of the Fund III and Fund IV LP As also requires that all other material conflicts of
interest (not otherwise provided for in the LPA) involving the Adviser's principals and the Funds
be brought to the Advisory Panel. In this regard, given the amount of capital that has been
invested in Callidus by multiple funds, the financial interest that the Adviser's principals have in
the various Funds, and the principals' direct interest in Callidus, it appears that the Adviser
would also have been required to bring the various Callidus transactions to the Advisory Panel.
The Adviser's failure to satisfy the Fund III and Fund IV LPA conflict consent requirements may
constitute a violation of Section 206(1) and 206(2). Similarly, the Adviser's misstatements with
regard to the manner in which certain conflicts would be resolved may violate Rule 206(4)-8.
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Additionally, the Adviser's recommendation to invest in affiliated entities without disclosure of
the conflicts with such investments may constitute a violation of Section 206(1) and Section
206(2).
In response to this letter, the Adviser should describe any steps that it intends to take to address
the issues described above, including identifying any related, pre-existing disclosures made to
investors.
C. Misleading Statements Regarding Portfolio Company Guarantees
The examination found that the Adviser's statements made to investors in the Funds relating to
the operation of certain guarantees extended by the Funds and liabilities associated with them
appear misleading. Such statements may constitute a violation of Rule 206(4)-8, as described
below.
In connection with the Callidus IPO, the Funds entered into guarantees relating to the loans in
which they had historically participated through a debenture commitment agreement. The
provisions of the guarantees were initially provided for in the Debenture Repayment Agreement
and were subsequently amended pursuant to a letter agreement dated February 16, 2015.
Subsequent to the IPO, the Adviser included the following description of the guarantees in the
notes to the 2014 Fund III audited financial statements:

Prior to Cal/idus' Initial Public Offering (the "Offering'~, the Fund directly or indirectly
invested $203, 701,357 in Callidus managed loans. Jn connection with the Offering, the
Fund exchanged these loan participations for shares in the Offering (at the Offering
price) and at the time of the Offering, the Fund provided a guarantee with respect to
possible losses of principal on those loan participations. T!te pwpose of these
guarantees was to ensure that there is no inappropriate transfer of credit risk from the
Fund to public shareholders while simultaneously ensuring the Fund had no increase
in credit risk 011 the same loans as compared to prior to the Offering. Accordingly, the
guarantee applies: (i) in pe17Jetuity for loans on Callidus' "watch list" at the time of the
Offering, or (ii) all other loans outstanding at the time of the Offering, until their renewal
(usually one yew~ in the ordinwy course. The guarantee does not apply to any other
amounts, such as advances to pay interest orfees [emphasis added].
The estimated maximum obligation under the guarantees is $4, 079, 105. As at December
31, 2014, no provision has been recorded with respect to guarantees, because as at that
time management believed a fill! recovery on the amounts in question would occur.
This description of the Guarantees may be misleading because the guarantees did not in fact
ensure that Fund III did not have an increase in credit risk on the same loans as compared to
prior to the IPO. For example, as of December 31, 2014, Callidus had loaned approximately
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C$70 million to XTG. 5 By December 31, 2015, that amount had grown to approximately C$101
million. Despite the Adviser's representation that the guarantees would not result in an increase
in the credit risk of the Funds, Fund III and Fund IV were collectively required to pay the entire
C$101 million, C$31 million more than at December 31, 2014.
The statement in the second paragraph of the excerpt above regarding the estimated maximum
obligation also appears misleading. Specifically, it appears that this amount did not represent a
maximum amount but rather the amount of the current loan loss reserves that Callidus had
booked against the guaranteed loans at that time. The Fund III and Fund IV 2014 audited
financial statements stated that the "estimated maximum obligation under the guarantees", when
aggregated, total approximately $11.4 million. This amount appears to have significantly
understated the maximum total guarantee. According to their 2017 audited financial statements,
Fund III and Fund IV have collectively paid approximately $59.5 million pursuant to the
guarantees (excluding the amounts paid under the guarantee for XTG). Including XTG, Fund III
and Fund IV have collectively paid approximately $129.5 million, $118 million more than was
represented as the "estimated maximum obligation under the guarantees" in 2014.
Furthermore, the description of the guarantees in the financial statements does not describe the
inherent conflict associated with the mechanics of the guarantees, as implemented. Specifically,
the description of the guarantees does not identify Callidus' incentive to extend loans that were
on the watch list, increasing their balances. Callidus received all interest on the increased
balances, but the loans were guaranteed in perpetuity by the Funds. It also does not appear that
the Adviser adequately disclosed this conflict elsewhere.
In this regard, the Adviser's statements relating to the operation of the guarantees and liabilities
associated with them appear misleading. As a result, such statements may constitute a violation
of Rule 206(4)-8.
In response to this letter, the Adviser should describe any steps that it intends to take to address
the issues described above, including identifying any related, pre-existing disclosures made to
investors.

5

The staff requested Joan balances as of the date of the Callidus !PO, as this was the date that the Funds would have
become the guarantor of the Joans. The Adviser indicated that it did not have these records because they were
records ofCallidus. It is unclear to the staff how the Adviser, as a fiduciary, could enter its clients into a guarantee
arrangement without knowing the amount that it was guaranteeing.
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E. Misleading Statements to Investors Regarding Portfolio Company Performance
The examination identified ce1iain statements and claims regarding the performance of one of
Fund II's portfolio companies that may be misleading. Specifically, the Adviser's statements
regarding the performance of Therapure Biopharma Inc. ("Therapure") and feedback from
investors on the prospective IPO of Therapure appear to be misleading or omit material facts
necessary to make such statements not misleading. Such statements and omissions may
constitute a violation of Rule 206(4)-8, as described in more detail below.
As background, the Adviser includes the following description of the Therapure business in its
quarterly letters:

Therapure Biopharma Inc. is a Canadian-based biopharmaceutical company committed
to the development, mamifacture, purification, and packaging of rare and complex
biotherapeutics. Therapure operates under two businesses: (i) Contract Development and
Mamifacturing ("CDJv!O" or "Services"); and, (ii) Proprietwy Products (a pipeline of
plasma-derived therapeutic proteins and innovative biopharmaceuticals) ("Proprietwy
Products").
Fund II initially made an investment in Therapure (formerly Hemosol Corp.) in 2006. The Fund
II 2017 Second Quarter Investor Letter notes total current capital invested was $151 million, and
the current value of investments reflected in Fund II financial statements as of June 30, 2017,
was $662 million, or 58.5% of the reflected current value of all investments. 9 Fund II 2016
audited financial statements as of December 31, 2016 note that the Fund had received $83,057 in
dividend, fee, and interest income related to this investment and did not have any realized
gains. 10

The staffs review identified two areas where it appears that the Adviser made misleading
statements about Therapure to investors: 1) The performance of the business, both generally and
as it relates to its individual CDMO and Proprietary Products businesses, and 2) Feedback from
potential IPO investors.
1) Pe1formance ofTherapure and its CDMO and Proprietary Products Businesses

The Adviser has consistently told its investors in quarterly letters and annual meeting materials
that "[t]he business is performing above expectations," and the adviser has generally not
disclosed to investors any material operational challenges during the period for either the CDMO
business or the Proprietary Products business. However, the staffs examination has revealed
9

The staff notes that there is a discrepancy between the original cost of the investment as reflected in the Fund II
audited financial statements relative to the records provided to the staff regarding current investments in response to
the staff's request Item 12. The audited financial statements reflect an original cost of$129 million as compared to
the $151 million reflected in Item 12 under the title "Total Investment Amount (Capital Invested)."

'°The Adviser's response to Item 12 indicates that Fund II realized approximately $22 million as of August 31,
20I 7.
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that there were events and operational issues that may have required disclosure to investors in
light of the Adviser's regular statements regarding the business "performing above
expectations." In fact, by several measures outlined below, it appears that the business was not
performing above expectations. The operational issues that were not disclosed to the Fund's
investors related to both the CDMO business and the Proprietary Products business.
Apparently Misleading Statements Regarding Performance of the CDMO Business
The Adviser's statements throughout 2016 and 2017 regarding the CDMO business indicate that
the general investment thesis for the CDMO business was to increase production utilization
through new contracts and increase revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amo1iization ("EBITDA"). For example, in the Fund II 2016 Third Quarter Investor Letter, the
Adviser included the following statement:

"The Company continues to pursue new contracts in order lo achieve fi1/l production
utilization and has a valuable business development pipeline representing in excess of
$135MM in revenue over the next 12-18 months. The Company continues to grow al an
accelerated pace and to date Therapure delivered on its 2015 budgeted revenue
increases and experienced EBITDA growth. "
The Adviser included similar statements to this one in each of the following two investor
quarterly updates, pmiicularly with reference to EBITDA growth. But the Adviser did not
disclose that the company failed to meet targeted revenue or EBITDA, and it did not disclose
issues with respect to specific customer contracts. The staffs review found that the company
was failing to meet targeted revenue and EBITDA, and it was encountering certain customer
specific contract issues that appear material to the CDMO business. For example, the staffs
review identified a Therapure document titled "TBI 15 Performance vs Plan," which appeared in
Catalyst's communications in an email from Therapure dated March 7, 2016, showing 2015
performance. The document shows that CDMO total revenue was 23% below management's
forecasted revenue, and CDMO EBITDA (before research and development) was 69% below
management's forecast. However, the Adviser made no disclosure to investors regarding the
revenue and earnings shortfalls during this period. In fact, it appears inconsistent with the
Adviser's statement that Therapure delivered its budgeted revenue increases.
Similarly, in 2016, the CDMO business continued to miss revenue and earnings projections.
Based on revenue projections communicated by Therapure management to Catalyst, 11 the
CDMO business was expected to generate C$78 million in revenue. The actual revenue
generated by Therapure, as reported in its 2016 audited financial statements, was only C$62.6
million, 20% below forecasted revenues. Similarly, a presentation titled 2016 Board
Presentation - December 2016 and appearing in the Adviser's email correspondence with
Therapure dated January 6, 2017, shows 2016 Therapure EBITDA before research and
development ofC$7.2 million, or 56% below management's forecast in the previously noted

11

This revenue forecast appeared in a document titled 2016 Update Presentation dated February 5, 2016.
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document dated February 5, 2016. 12 Despite Therapure's failure to meet revenue and EBITDA
projections, the Adviser stated in its third qum1er 2016 investor letter that "(t)he business is
performing above expectations and all monetization paths are advancing."
Finally, it appears that in describing the sale of the CDMO business the Adviser has not
disclosed to Fund investors that two conditions precedent for closing the sale as per an Asset
Purchase Agreement had not been met. In particular, after over six months, the Adviser's written
response to the staffs inquiry surrounding the sale indicates that the transaction still has not
received regulatory approval from Investment Canada, and it has not received the required
consent from one of the CDMO customers. With regard to the CDMO customer who had
withheld consent, the Adviser had also not disclosed that, in June 2017, a US affiliate of that
customer alleged a breach of contract by Therapure and demanded $31.2 million for contractual
costs to date and costs for materials made to date. 13
On May 1, 2018, a joint venture between 3SBio Inc. and CPE Funds terminated its agreement to
buy the CDMO business from Therapure. On the same date, a 3SBio Inc. press release noted
that " ... [a]s certain condition(s) precedent under the Asset Purchase Agreement were not
satisfied or waived on or before the Long-stop Date of30 April 2018, and the Buyer and the
Seller have not agreed to a fmiher extension of time, the Asset Purchase Agreement has lapsed
and the Buyer has served a notice to the Seller in writing to terminate the Asset Purchase
Agreement..." 14
Apparently Misleading Statements Regarding Performance of the Proprietary Products Business
There were also issues that were arising with respect to the Proprietary Products component of
the company that apparently were not communicated to investors. For example, the previously
noted February 5, 2016 Therapure presentation included a section titled "Milestones &
Objectives Summary - Plasma Proteins Program 2016." The first slide of that section is titled
"Summary of Strategic Plan" and includes the following bullets:

12

The staff notes that in a PWC valuation report dated March 27, 2017, the following sentence was included: "We
note that unaudited results for 2016 indicate that revenue was CAD$83. I million versus forecasted 2016 revenue of
CAD $78.0 million." However, this may be misleading because this statement does not appear to account for the
fact that there appears to be approximately CAD$ I 8 million in intercompany revenues relating to the Product's
business included in the CAD$83. l million in revenues referenced. These amounts appear to not have been
included in 2016 budgeted revenues. Also, these amounts were not included in the consolidated results as they
appear in Therapure's 2016 audited financials, as they do not represent third party sales.
13

A document dated August I, 2017 indicates that the dispute may have been subsequently resolved with Therapure
agreeing to take certain steps and covering certain costs to re1nediate the issues identified in the den1and letter.
These costs included the cost of hiring a co1npliance consultant and the cost of certain materials and 1nanufacturing
supporting the compliance work plan.
14

3S Bio Inc. announced in the same press release that it had entered into an exclusivity agreement with Therapure,

CPE Fund II, CPE Fund !IA, Catalyst Fund General Paitner II Inc., and Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership II in
order to explore alternative business opportunities and arrangements with respect to the CDMO business. The
exclusivity agreement has a one month initial term, which may be extended by mutual agree1nent.
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·Bring to Market Intravenous /mmunog/obu/in (/VIG) in 2018
• Competitive product in · line with higher · tiered products {for US/CA market)
• Single Phase Ill trial approach - supported by FDA guidance document and meeting with regulators

•Bring to Market Albumin in 2018
• Competitive product (for US/CA market)

·Seek approval based on product specifications under Code of Federal Regulations
•Provide sufficient non - clinical data at meeting with regulators to support no clinical trial approach

•Bring to Market Alpha - 1 Antitrypsin (AAT) in 2020
·Competitive product {for US market)

• Provide sufficient non ·clinical data at meeting with regulators to support single bioequivafence trial approach

•Construct Commercial Facility by 2018
• Initial build to support commercial /VIG and Albumin with additional footprint for other products
• Add ·on facility for AAT to be built in 2019 for 2020 commercial launch

•Leverage Technology by Developing Pipeline of Follow-on Products
• Develop business case and programs for additional proteins
• Map additional proteins in manufacturing process to identify easily accessible value streams

It appears that there have been significant delays in Therapure achieving all of these goals. In
particular, written responses to the staffs inquiries indicate that as of November/December 2017,
almost 2 years after the above projections, all of the timelines identified above have been delayed
between 2 and 3 years. Based on those current projections, IVIG and Albumin are further from
being brought to market than they were 2 years ago. Similarly, construction related to expansion
ofTherapure's plant that is expected to manufacture !VIG for commercial sale has encountered
significant delays and setbacks. The staff understands that the delays in the construction project
are primarily the result of an inability to finance the project. It appears that this apparently
material fact was also not disclosed to the Fund's investors.

2) Feedbackji-om Potential !PO Investors
The examination has also identified certain statements that appear to be misleading regarding
feedback received on the potential IPO. In particular, the Adviser has consistently stated to Fund
investors that feedback received regarding Therapure from prospective investors during the !PO
marketing process had been positive without disclosing negative feedback received. For
example, the Adviser stated in a 2015 annual meeting presentation that "Therapure is performing
above expectations and investor feedback during the !PO process about the quality of
management and the company was very positive." The Adviser did not disclose that there was
also negative feedback from potential investors regarding certain aspects of the company and the
!PO itself. For example, the staff noted that GMP Securities presented a June 2016 slide deck
which included a slide titled "!PO Feedback vs. Recent Achievements." The slide stated that
"Therapure has mitigated some of the negative feedback received during the !PO marketing
process, but it is unclear whether this will increase investors' appetite." The slide also included
five negative feedback items received during the process, including "[l]arge execution risk on
plasma business - not proven at commercial scale" and "Catalyst post-transaction percentage
ownership and liquidity concerns." Each of these items may have been material to investors.
Disclosure of these items may have been necessary to make the Adviser's statements regarding
the feedback received during the !PO process not misleading.
The Adviser's statements regarding the performance and prospective !PO of Therapure appear to
be misleading or omit material facts necessary to make such statements not misleading. Such
statements and omissions may constitute a violation of Rule 206(4)-8.
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II. Rule 21F-17(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934- Whistleblower Regulations
A. Language Inconsistent with the Commission's Whistleblower Regulations

Rule 21F-l 7(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 prohibits any person from taking any
action to impede an individual from communicating directly with the Commission staff about a
possible securities law violation.
The staff found that the confidentiality language in the Adviser's Emgloyment Agreement and
Employee Handbook appears to be inconsistent with Rule 21F-l 7(a) 8• For example, a template
produced to the staff with the Adviser's Employment Agreement language states:

You also agree that you shall not, at any time during the term ofyour employment with
us or thereafter reveal, divulge or make known to any person, other than to [the
Adviser} and our duly authorized employees or representatives or use for your own or
any other's benefit, any Confidential Information, which during or as a result of your
employment with us, has become known to you.
In addition, the Adviser's Employee Handbook, last revised October, 2017, includes a
Confidentiality Policy which states, among other things, that:

All Catalyst employees are required to keep confidential any Company information
which has not been made public and to ensure it is not revealed to any outside source.
18

The confidentiality language in the Employment Agreement template is also referred to in a template of the
Adviser's Mutual Release, which appears to be signed by the Adviser's personnel upon termination.
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You understand that, in your capacity as an employee, you will acquire information
about certain matters and things which are confidential to the Company ("Confidential
Information") ...
At all times during and subsequent to the employee's employment with the Company, the
employee ·will not disclose Confidential Jn.formation to any person without first
obtaining the Company's consent, and the employee will take all reasonable precautions
to prevent inadvertent disclosure of any confidential information.
The language in these documents may impede existing and future employees from
communicating with the SEC and, accordingly, may be inconsistent with Rule 21F-l 7(a).
In response to this letter, the Adviser should describe any corrective actions it intends to take
regarding this matter, including and any steps it will take to ensure that the Adviser's current and
former employees are apprised of any such changes.
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REASONS AND DECISION
INTRODUCTION
A.

Overview of significant events

[1]

Between July 2012 and April 2015 (the “Material Time”), the respondents
Charles Goddard and Black Panther Trading Corporation (“Black Panther”)
received more than $425,000 from 16 individuals (the “Note Holders”), and
issued to those Note Holders documents entitled Letters of Understanding
promising an annual return, typically either 20% or 30%.

[2]

The respondents, neither of whom was registered during the Material Time,
failed in most instances to invest the Note Holders’ funds as promised or to make
the payments called for by the Letters of Understanding. Instead, the
respondents often used the funds to pay other Note Holders and family
members, or for personal expenses.

[3]

In addition, at Mr. Goddard’s suggestion, some Note Holders granted him trading
authority over their brokerage accounts so that he could effect trades in those
accounts on their behalf. Mr. Goddard was to be compensated by receiving half
of any return earned above 20% per year.
B.

The respondents

[4]

Mr. Goddard, an Ontario resident, spent most of his working career in the
securities industry. He was registered with the Ontario Securities Commission
(the “Commission”) beginning in June 1986, and then for almost 24 years until
March 2010, in the categories of Securities Salesperson (for mutual funds only),
Salesperson, Branch Manager, Trading Officer and Dealing Representative. For
the last six months of that period, Mr. Goddard was also authorized under the
rules of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada to carry on
discretionary management of client assets.

[5]

Black Panther, a federal corporation headquartered in Ottawa, was incorporated
by Mr. Goddard in 2009. He has been Black Panther’s sole shareholder and
director since inception, except between December 2010 and May 21, 2014,
during which time Mr. Goddard’s son was Black Panther’s sole director. Even
though Mr. Goddard was not formally a director of Black Panther during that
time, he was for practical purposes the sole officer and director. Staff and the
respondents agree that Mr. Goddard’s son played no role at Black Panther, and
that Mr. Goddard has been the sole directing mind of Black Panther since its
inception.
C.

[6]

Staff alleges that the Letters of Understanding issued to Note Holders are
securities, and that during the Material Time:
a.

1

Allegations, respondents’ position, and conclusions

the respondents, while not registered, engaged in or held themselves out
as engaging in the business of trading in securities, contrary to subsection
25(1) of the Securities Act (“the “Act”);1

RSO 1990, c S.5.

COMP-263

2017 ONSEC 1 (CanLII)

I.

b.

the respondents participated in an illegal distribution of the Letters of
Understanding, contrary to subsection 53(1) of the Act;

c.

the respondents engaged in, or held themselves out as engaging in, the
business of advising with respect to securities, contrary to subsection
25(3) of the Act;

d.

the respondents perpetrated fraud, contrary to clause 126.1(1)(b) of the
Act, by:
i.

misrepresenting the returns that Black Panther had earned through
trading;

ii.

using the Note Holders’ funds in a manner other than had been
promised; and

iii.

misrepresenting the risk associated with investment in Black
Panther;

e.

the respondents made untrue statements that would be relevant to a
reasonable investor contemplating entering into a trading or advising
relationship with the respondents, and thereby contravened subsection
44(2) of the Act;

f.

in numerous respects, Mr. Goddard misled Staff during his February 2015
compelled examination under oath, which conduct is prohibited by clause
122(1)(a) of the Act; and

g.

by forwarding a copy of his summons to a third party, Mr. Goddard
disclosed information regarding the investigation of this matter, contrary
to section 16 of the Act.

[7]

Staff also alleges that Mr. Goddard, being a director of Black Panther,
authorized, permitted or acquiesced in Black Panther’s non-compliance with
Ontario securities law and is therefore deemed to have failed to comply with
Ontario securities law, pursuant to section 129.2 of the Act.

[8]

The respondents submit that the Letters of Understanding are not securities and
deny that they committed a fraud or that they otherwise breached the Act.

[9]

For the reasons that follow, we find that the Letters of Understanding are
securities, and that Staff has proven breaches of the Act in all seven categories
listed above.
D.

[10]

Evidentiary matters

Before reviewing the background facts in detail, we discuss factual assertions
made in the respondents’ written submissions, hearsay evidence adduced at the
hearing, and the applicable standard of proof.

1.
[11]

The respondents’ factual assertions

At the merits hearing, Mr. Goddard appeared on his own behalf and as agent for
Black Panther. Staff called three investor witnesses and two members of Staff
who assisted in the investigation of this matter. Mr. Goddard did not testify and
the respondents neither called any witnesses nor adduced any documentary
evidence.
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[12]

Staff and the respondents filed written submissions following the merits hearing.
Because the respondents’ submissions contain many improper factual assertions,
we first review the Commission’s cautions to Mr. Goddard during this proceeding.

[13]

At an interlocutory hearing on September 19, the respondents confirmed t hat at
the upcoming merits hearing Mr. Goddard would neither testify nor call any
witnesses. The Commission panel at that hearing explained to Mr. Goddard that
at the merits hearing he would not be able to introduce evidence during opening
or closing submissions or by way of his questions during cross -examination. Mr.
Goddard replied that the explanation was “perfectly clear”. The panel also
advised that if, when cross-examining a Staff witness, Mr. Goddard put a
suggestion to the witness that the witness declined to adopt, he would be “stuck
with” the witness’s answer. Mr. Goddard confirmed that he understood.

[14]

At the merits hearing, Mr. Goddard began his opening statement by making a
factual assertion as to what his goals were in creating Black Panther. The Chair
of the panel interrupted him and repeated the earlier admonition that the
respondents could not introduce evidence through opening or closing
submissions, and that any facts admitted into evidence would have to come
through a witness. Mr. Goddard responded by saying: “Then I won’t waste time
doing this.”

[15]

The hearing proceeded. Staff called five witnesses, and Mr. Goddard cross examined each witness. Before concluding the hearing, the Chair of the panel
again cautioned Mr. Goddard that the respondents could refer to evidence
properly admitted at the hearing but that the panel would “almost certainly”
have to disregard any assertions in the written submissions that were
unsupported by evidence.

[16]

The respondents’ written submissions include many factual assertions not
supported by evidence admitted at the hearing, and often expressly contradicted
by the evidence. For example, the respondents repeat the statement referred to
in paragraph [14] above regarding Mr. Goddard’s claimed objectives in setting
up Black Panther. The submissions also contain his version of investors’
understanding as to the use that would be made of their funds. There are many
other examples.

[17]

Subsection 15(1) of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act (the “SPPA”)2 provides:
Subject to subsections (2) and (3) [not relevant in this
case], a tribunal may admit as evidence at a hearing,
whether or not given or proven under oath or affirmation or
admissible as evidence in a court,
(a) any oral testimony; and
(b) any document or other thing.

[18]

2

The respondents did not request that we admit as evidence any factual
assertions contained in their written submissions. Even if they had, we would
have declined the request, especially since Staff had no opportunity to challenge
or respond to those factual assertions, either by cross-examination or reply
evidence. We therefore do not rely on any factual assertions in the respondents’
written submissions that are unsupported by evidence adduced at the hearing.

RSO 1990, c S.22.
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2.

During the hearing Staff sought to introduce hearsay evidence in two forms: the
transcript of Mr. Goddard’s examination in February 2015, and a September 10,
2015, letter to Staff from counsel to Mr. Goddard’s son.
(a)

Transcript of examination

[20]

Staff disclosed the transcript of Mr. Goddard’s examination to him months before
the hearing and advised him that Staff would rely upon the transcript at the
hearing. At Staff’s request, and with Mr. Goddard’s consent, we admitted the
entire transcript into evidence, as we are permitted to do by section 15 of the
SPPA. We must still consider the weight to be attributed to various parts of that
transcript.

[21]

When Staff cites an admission made by Mr. Goddard during the examination, it is
appropriate for us to rely on that admission. Our placing weight on thos e
admissions is consistent with the long-standing exception to the hearsay rule for
admissions against interest, which exception recognizes of the reliability of such
admissions.

[22]

The same is not true where the respondents seek to rely on evidence Mr.
Goddard gave during the examination. With respect to any contested fact,
evidence from Mr. Goddard at the hearing would have been subject to Staff’s
cross-examination and to any questions that the panel may have had, all of
which would have helped us assess the reliability of that evidence.3 We cannot
be confident about the accuracy of Mr. Goddard’s testimony on his compelled
examination, which did not benefit from those measures, and accordingly we
cannot give significant weight, if any at all, to portions of t he transcript on which
the respondents rely and that relate to contested facts.
(b)

Mr. Goddard’s son’s response to an Enforcement
Notice

[23]

On July 27, 2015, Staff sent a letter to Mr. Goddard’s son setting out Staff’s view
that Black Panther may have breached Ontario securities law, and that as Black
Panther’s sole director for several years, the son may have authorized, permitted
or acquiesced in Black Panther’s alleged breaches. The letter, known as an
“Enforcement Notice”, offered Mr. Goddard’s son an opportunity to respond to
Staff’s concerns. Mr. Goddard’s son’s counsel responded on September 10, 2015.
Mr. Goddard objected to the introduction of the response letter on the basis that
“everyone agreed [his son] had nothing to do with Black Panther in a form th at
has any effect on this hearing.” Staff concedes that the response is hearsay but
asked that it be made an exhibit to help explain certain transfers made between
Black Panther and Mr. Goddard’s children. We admitted the response letter as an
exhibit but deferred determination of the weight to be attributed to it.

[24]

We do not rely on the letter in disposing of any issue in this proceeding. The
transfers themselves are impugned, and the respondents offered no legitimate
explanation for them. We find below that the transfers were an improper use of
funds, and we reach that conclusion without reference to the letter.

3

Re Agueci (2013), 36 OSCB 12133 (“Agueci”) at para 131, citing Re Donald (2012), 35 OSCB 7383
at para 34.
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[19]

Hearsay evidence

8
We do rely on one attachment to the letter – a Letter of Understanding issued to
Mr. Goddard’s son, as discussed in paragraph [156] below. The document speaks
for itself, is corroborated by Staff’s analysis of the source and use of funds, and
was not challenged by the respondents.
3.

Material Time

[26]

The Material Time defined above and in the Statement of Allegations limits
Staff’s allegations of misconduct to acts that took place during that period. At the
hearing and in written submissions, the respondents objected to the introduction
of evidence about events or transactions that preceded July 1, 2012, the
beginning of the Material Time.

[27]

We allowed the introduction of evidence outside the Material Time, and we do
not accept the submission that we must ignore such evidence. Evidence relating
to events before the Material Time serves only to set the stage for the alleged
misconduct. In our analysis that follows, we are mindful that any breaches we
find must have occurred during the Material Time.
4.

Standard of proof

[28]

Staff bears the burden of proof in this proceeding. For any factual finding that we
make, whether Staff’s evidence is disputed or not, we apply the civil standard of
proof of the “balance of probabilities”. In other words, is it more likely than not
that an alleged event occurred? 4

II.

BACKGROUND FACTS
A.

Source and use analysis of Note Holders’ funds

[29]

Ms. Sherry Brown, a Senior Forensic Accountant in the Commission’s
Enforcement Branch, testified about the analysis of the source and use of funds
she conducted for this proceeding (the “Funds Analysis”). Ms. Brown became a
Chartered Accountant in 1995, continues to hold the current equivalent
designation of Chartered Professional Accountant, and has been recognized as a
specialist in investigative and forensic accounting by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants.

[30]

In preparation for the Funds Analysis, Staff obtained records from five banks and
eight registered firms, all of which records were in the name of Mr. Goddard or
Black Panther, or were connected to transactions at issue in this proceeding,
including some brokerage records relating to Note Holders.

[31]

The Funds Analysis reveals that the 16 Note Holders, some of whom invested
more than once, paid the respondents a total of $425,607 during the Material
Time, beginning with the first investment in July 2012. Staff traced all of the
Note Holders’ investments as they were deposited into one of t hree bank
accounts (two in the name of Black Panther and one in the name of Mr.
Goddard).

[32]

The analysis shows that Mr. Goddard used funds to pay other Note Holders, to
pay utility and credit card accounts, to make numerous cash withdrawals, and to
transfer Note Holders’ funds to his personal account and to his son, daughter,
and a woman Mr. Goddard described as his life partner. There is no evidence
that the respondents used the Note Holders’ funds for general business

4

F.H. v. McDougall, 2008 SCC 53 at paras 44, 49.
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[33]

In cross-examining Ms. Brown, Mr. Goddard suggested that she had been
selective in her analysis, particularly with respect to transactions that pre-dated
the Material Time. In their written submissions, the respondents assert without
particulars that “Staff’s analysis of accounts is flawed”. The respondents chose
not to provide any “evidence on this front” due to alleged promises “to others
regarding confidentiality”.

[34]

Ms. Brown explained the methodology she used to prepare the Funds Analysis,
including that the analysis focuses on and traces transactions relating to Note
Holders’ funds. Her testimony was unimpeached on cross -examination and the
respondents adduced no evidence to suggest that any of the information or
conclusions contained in the Funds Analysis are incomplete, unwarranted or
unreliable.

[35]

We have no evidence that there were any promises of confidentiality that
dissuade the respondents from explaining why they say the Funds Analysis is
flawed. Even if such promises exist, they cannot override the power of the
Commission to summons witnesses who have relevant evidence to give, or Mr.
Goddard’s obligation to respond fully to the summons issued to him for his
compelled examination.

[36]

The respondents have also suggested that they have other accounts that are not
reflected in the Funds Analysis. Nothing in that analysis points to any Note
Holder funds transferring to any unidentified account, and again, the
respondents chose not to adduce any evidence to support their contention.

[37]

Accordingly, there is no reason for us to suspect that a flaw exists in the Funds
Analysis, and we accept it as an accurate analysis of the relevant transactions.
B.

[38]

Note Holder witnesses

Staff called three Note Holders as witnesses. We found all three witnesses to be
helpful, forthright and credible.
1.

Ms. P.

[39]

At the beginning of the hearing, Mr. Goddard objected to Ms. P. testifying, on the
ground that she takes medicine that affects her memory. We allowed Ms. P. to
testify, and confirmed to Mr. Goddard that he would have the opportunity to
challenge her memory and her evidence in cross -examination, and to make
closing submissions as to the weight we ought to attribute to her evidence.

[40]

Ms. P. is a federal government employee who lives in Ottawa. Ms. P. met Mr.
Goddard in September 2012 through his daughter, Ms. P.’s co -worker, who told
Ms. P. that Mr. Goddard invested money for people, and who sent Ms. P. a onepage Black Panther marketing pamphlet entitled The 20% Solution. That
pamphlet offered “hands-on management” by Mr. Goddard, who was described
as having “[a]lmost 30 years as a financial professional with accreditations few
have achieved.” The pamphlet listed accreditations for Mr. Goddard of CIM
(Chartered Investment Manager), DMS (Derivatives Market Specialist) and CMT
(Chartered Market Technician).
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operations of Black Panther. We review the Funds Analysis in more detail in our
discussion of the use of the Note Holders’ funds beginning at paragraph [128]
below.

[41]

The pamphlet also said that for investments between $1,000 and $50,000, the
investor would “write a cheque to Black Panther Trading Corporation and receive
[the] investment plus 20% in one year.” For investments of at least $50,000, the
investor was to create an account at Questrade Inc. and name Mr. Goddard as
trading authority on the account. The pamphlet specified that “[m]anagement
fees are charged only if a 20% return is achieved (annualized). Any return above
20% is divided in half and charged as a management fee...”, and that “due to
the active management required”, that option would be limited to 20 invest ors.

[42]

Ms. P. testified that at the time of her introduction to Mr. Goddard, her
knowledge about investments was “on a scale of 1 to 100, zero.” She had
investments totaling approximately $50,000 in two RSP accounts, one of which
held a locked-in plan. Ms. P. “wasn’t interested in high risk” and wanted
“something that was safe but that would make [her] some money.”

[43]

In September 2012, after Ms. P. sent a summary of her holdings to Mr. Goddard
by email, Mr. Goddard replied:
The problem with those holdings are [sic] that they are very
middle of the road and will never make what they could with
active management.
I suggest we create new investment accounts for you and
transfer your accounts. They will then be actively traded.
They [sic] doesn’t mean more risk than you have now...
The accounts you have now charge fees whether they make
you money or not. I propose to only charge you fees if I
exceed an annualized rate of 20%.
Whatever you earn above 20% we split. For example if you
make 30%, you get the first 20% and we split 10%... you
receive 25% and I get 5%. [ellipsis in the original]

[44]

Ms. P. followed Mr. Goddard’s instructions. In late 2012, she opened a trading
account at Questrade Inc., transferred in her locked-in RSP, and gave Mr.
Goddard trading authority over the account. Several months later she
deregistered her other RSP, paid the applicable income tax of approximately
$7,000, and in February 2013 paid the remaining $18,157.98 to Black Panther.
Ms. P. understood from Mr. Goddard that he would “trade [her funds] and make
[her] a good return.” Mr. Goddard provided Ms. P. with a Letter of Understanding
that reflected the investment of $18,157.98, that characterized the investment
as a “debt obligation” and that promised a payment of $23,605.37 on or before
February 28, 2014, which represented a stated 30% interest rate. Ms. P.
testified that Mr. Goddard also promised to reimburse her for the income taxes
she paid as a result of deregistering her RSP.

[45]

Between August 2013 and July 2015, the respondents made seven payments to
Ms. P., totaling $6,500. Ms. P. has repeatedly asked the respondents to pay her
the balance owing, without success. We reject the respondents’ assertion in
written submissions that for Ms. P., as with all investors who “melted down” their
RSP (to use the respondents’ words in promotional materials), the “program was
for five years... [and the] notes were markers along the way.” That assertion is
unsupported by any evidence and is directly contradictory to the documents
themselves, to Ms. P.’s testimony, and to Mr. Goddard’s own statement to Ms. P.
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[46]

Ms. P. does not know whether the funds she transferred to Questrade still exist.
She describes the loss of even the principal amount paid to Black Panther of
$18,157.98 as “huge” and “devastating”, since she “can’t make enough money
to be able to save that again” before she retires.

[47]

With respect to the memory issues referred to above, Ms. P. testified on direct
examination that she “sometimes [has] difficulties with word retrieval due to side
effects of medication [she is taking], especially when [she is] stressed.” She
acknowledged on cross-examination that she has a “terrible memory”. In written
submissions, the respondents repeated their objection, asserting that Ms. P.
“should never have been brought in to testify since she admitted to being on
medication that affected her memory.”

[48]

We have no reason to discount Ms. P.’s evidence about her investment
knowledge and risk tolerance, or about what she understood Mr. Goddard would
do with her funds. All of that was corroborated in material respects by
documents filed as exhibits, and none of it was contradicted by any other
evidence. In fact, Ms. P. recalled with precision, and without relying on
documents, details about her financial affairs including regarding her two
separate accounts.

2.

Mr. C.

[49]

Mr. C. is a resident of Ottawa who has been unemployed since 2014. In February
2012, he contacted Mr. Goddard, whom he had met many years earlier, but with
whom he had lost touch. After some initial discussions, Mr. Goddard gave Mr. C.
a two-page marketing document (plus attached charts), on Black Panther
Trading Seminars letterhead, that advertised “Corporate Notes (similar to GICs)”
and offered a one-year return of 15% and a two-year return of 20% per year.

[50]

The document explained:
The investor issues a cheque to the corporation which is
deposited into the corporate bank account and is covered by
CDIC.
The monies are then transferred to trading accounts: stocks
and options – RBC Direct; Currencies (primarily the Forex
market) – Questrade and Commodities and foreign stocks
and indices – CMC Markets. These firms are registered
investment firms and as such are covered by CIPF. This
protects accounts against insolvency to a limit of one million
dollars per account.
...
In conclusion: given that CDIC has less than two billion
dollars in cash with an ability to borrow twenty billion more
to cover deposits exceeding six hundred and twenty billion, I
believe this investment structure has no more risk than a
GIC.

[51]

In August 2012, at Mr. Goddard’s suggestion, Mr. C. gave Mr. Goddard trading
authority over an existing Questrade account that contained Mr. C.’s Tax Free
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matures in may [sic] of 2016.”
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Savings Account. In an email to Mr. C., Mr. Goddard explained the terms of this
arrangement:

A management fee only kicks in if a return of 20%
annualised is achieved. This is calculated quarterly. So,
anything over 5% is divided between the two of us. A 10%
return on the quarter results in 7.5% for you, 2.5% for me.
[52]

These terms were confirmed in a contract prepared by Mr. Goddard and signed
by Mr. C., which stated that “Charles Goddard will manage and trade this
account” for the management fee specified above, to “be paid to Black Panther
Trading Corporation”.

[53]

The process to authorize Mr. Goddard to effect trades in Mr. C.’s Questrade
account was not completed until November 2012. In the meantime, Mr. Goddard
instructed Mr. C. to make specific trades, and Mr. C. followed those instructions.
When Mr. Goddard received authority to trade in Mr. C.’s account, he did so. Mr.
Goddard did not consult with Mr. C. before making a trade. In early January
2013, Mr. Goddard prepared an invoice to Mr. C. in the amount of $950 for
management fees for “the first quarter”, for both the specific trades
recommended and the trading services provided. Mr. C. paid the $950.

[54]

In the spring of 2013, Mr. Goddard said he was dissatisfied with Questrade’s
trading platform, and he ceased to manage Mr. C.’s Questrade account. At Mr.
Goddard’s suggestion, and following Mr. Goddard’s representations that an
investment with Black Panther directly would yield an annual return of 30%, Mr.
C. invested $3,000. Mr. Goddard gave Mr. C. a Letter of Understanding that
confirmed Black Panther’s obligation to pay Mr. C. $3,900 on or before June 17,
2014. Mr. Goddard advised that he would earn the necessary returns b y
investing the funds.

[55]

Mr. C.’s evidence was consistent with the documentary record and was
unimpeached on cross-examination. We accept his testimony without
reservation.

3.
[56]

Mr. S.

Mr. S. is a resident of Ottawa who was enrolled in the same part -time MBA
program as Mr. Goddard’s son. In March 2014, Mr. Goddard contacted Mr. S.
through LinkedIn and sent a message that said, in part: “20% returns are
possible with active trading. If you are the least bit interested in hearing how,
please contact me.” Mr. Goddard also sent a broadcast message to his LinkedIn
connections, including Mr. S., that stated:
My goal for my company – Black Panther Trading
Corporation – is 50 investors with an average investment of
$10,000 (min is $1,000, max is unlimited) in the form of a
corporate note (similar to a GIC) for which they will receive
a one year return of 20%! There are 42 places left.

[57]

Mr. S. told Mr. Goddard that he was interested in receiving more information. In
the ensuing months, Mr. Goddard copied Mr. S. on emails sent to a number of
people, which emails included portfolio performance updates, showing monthly

COMP-271

2017 ONSEC 1 (CanLII)

As discussed the management set up for accounts that
remain in the name of the investor is as follows:

13

[58]

In August 2014, Mr. S. decided to invest $3,000 with Mr. Goddard to “test the
waters”. Mr. Goddard gave Mr. S. a Letter of Understanding that acknowledged
receipt of the $3,000 and that promised a payment of $3,600 one year later, for
an annual return of 20%. Mr. Goddard told Mr. S. that the funds would be pooled
with other investors’ money and invested in currencies and commodities. Mr. S.
ultimately received the payment contemplated by the Letter of Understanding
when it was due.

[59]

After Mr. S. invested the $3,000, he and Mr. Goddard discussed the possibility of
Mr. S. moving his RSP from the firm that held the account. Mr. Goddard
proposed that Mr. S. open a new account and give trading authority to him, and
that Mr. S. remove money from his RSP so that Mr. Goddard could manage those
funds more aggressively outside the RSP. Mr. Goddard explained that collapsing
an RSP “is a strong option for most people”, and illustrated this point by
contrasting $100,000 earning 7% annually inside an RSP and then being cashed
out after five years (for a net loss of $22,860), with cashing out $100,000,
paying the applicable tax, and earning 25% per annum on the remainder for five
years (for a net gain of $42,456).

[60]

Mr. S. ultimately decided not to proceed with the transfer of his RSP. Instead, as
Mr. Goddard had suggested, Mr. S. withdrew some of the funds in his RSP and
on April 15, 2015, made a $15,000 payment directly to Black Panther, in return
for a Letter of Understanding that promised repayment in two years with a 25%
return compounded annually.

[61]

The respondents have made no payment to Mr. S. in respect of the $15,000
investment. Mr. S. describes that amount as “a lot of money” for him.

[62]

Mr. S. was a reliable witness whose testimony was consis tent with the
documentary record and was unimpeached on cross -examination. We accept his
evidence without reservation.
C.

The respondents’ marketing activities

1.
[63]

The respondents actively solicited investment in Black Panther using many
methods, some of which have been referred to in our review of the three
investor witnesses’ evidence, and some of which were described in the testimony
of an Investigator in the Enforcement Branch, who through her involvement in
the investigation of this matter was aware of complaints made by other
members of the public. The Investigator’s evidence was unimpeached on cross examination and, as with all of Staff’s evidence, was uncontradicted by any
evidence adduced by the respondents. In many respects, it was consist ent with
admissions made by Mr. Goddard on his compelled examination.

2.
[64]

Introduction

Staff’s evidence

Mr. Goddard sent unsolicited marketing brochures to various people, including to
some whom he did not know. He also provided copies to Ms. M., his life partner,
who “handed them out”. The one-page brochures:
a.

were on letterhead titled “Black Panther Trading Seminars”;
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returns for May and June 2014 of 13.2% and 36.33% respectively. In a later
meeting between them, Mr. Goddard told Mr. S. that any investment Mr. S.
might make would be no more risky than a GIC.

[65]

b.

bore the headline “It is time to... MELT DOWN YOUR RRSP”;

c.

provided Mr. Goddard’s email address and telephone number;

d.

suggested that the reader of the brochure contact Mr. Goddard for details
of a “strategy” if the reader wanted “a great return (20%)”; and

e.

set out a sample five-year calculation that contemplated “Proceeds
invested with Black Panther Trading Corp”.

Mr. Goddard also created and distributed a booklet that he called Roller Coaster.
The document, on letterhead for “Black Panther Trading Seminars”, told readers
that “with a little effort you could learn enough to make your own investment
decisions... Or, as many have decided, I can do it for you” [emphasis in the
original]. Roller Coaster went on to say: “This entity has been operational for a
little more than a year. Investors have made deposits and received their funds
back with their return as promised.” Roller Coaster contained purported
testimonials from satisfied investors and represented that:
a.

to generate the advertised return of 20% per year, it would be necessary
to invest in stocks, options, commodities and currencies;

b.

Mr. Goddard could generate the advertised return, or “[I]f you so choose I
can teach you how to use some basic tools so that you can make your
own decisions.”;

c.

investors would receive “Notes confirming indebtedness” from Black
Panther;

d.

investors’ contributions would be deposited to Black Panther's bank
account and would therefore be covered by the Canada Deposit Insurance
Corporation;

e.

investors’ contributions would be transferred to trading accounts at
registered investment firms, and would be insured by the Canadian
Investor Protection Fund; and

f.

the proposed investment structure “has no more risk than a GIC”.

[66]

Further, Mr. Goddard created flyers advertising Black Panther, inserted some of
those flyers into newspapers at a local coffee shop, and left some flyers on a
coffee table at a local car dealership.

[67]

The respondents posted advertisements on the Kijiji website, one of which was
titled “30% solution” and stated:
[Black Panther] also offer[s] corporate notes (similar to
GICs) that promise a one year return of 30% for funds
received prior to the end of February, 2014. Funds are
transferred via PayPal if the investor resides outside of
Ottawa. (investment can be as little as $500).

[68]

A second Kijiji advertisement entitled “Learn how to Trade and Invest
PROFITABLY” offered, for $29.95, an e-book and “one year of consultation” with
Goddard, during which purchasers were encouraged to “[a]sk about potential
trades you wish to place”.

[69]

In March 2014, a Staff member using an assumed name and a covert email
account responded to the “30% solution” Kijiji advertisement, asking for more
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[70]

The Staff member replied noting that the Kijiji advertisement offered a rate of
30%. Mr. Goddard responded and indicated that he would honour that rate. In
answer to the Staff member’s comment about bank rates, Mr. Goddard said:
“Please keep in mind that the bank or entities that you know give you a very low
interest rate and then turn the money over to trading rooms which do exactly
the same thing as I have set out in the material I sent you.”

[71]

Mr. Goddard sent further emails to Staff’s covert account as a “BCC” addressee.
These emails, which begin “Hi Everyone”, purport to give updates about the
trading portfolio managed by the respondents, including returns of 13.2%,
36.3%, 17.4%, 18.0% and 18.5% in each of May through September 2014
respectively.

[72]

The respondents submit that we should disregard the evidence relating to Staff’s
response to the advertisement. The respondents argue that this information was
obtained through a “sting operation”. We reject this submission. There was
nothing improper about the steps Staff took. In February 2014, Staff received
several complaints about the respondents’ activities. In March, when Staff
responded to the Kijiji advertisement, Staff was investigating the respondents’
conduct in good faith. Staff merely requested further information that was
offered in the advertisement and that was provided to others. The evidence
obtained through Staff’s covert email account is admissible and reliable.

[73]

Mr. Goddard also created a Twitter account that he used to publicize that he was
“creating an investment fund, like a mutual fund but with some juice”, and that
“20% returns are possible”. On his LinkedIn profile he claimed to be a “market
wizard” in the “financial services industry” and a “Trader” for Black Panther.

[74]

Mr. Goddard posted material on the IndieGoGo crowdfunding platform. This site,
which Mr. Goddard advertised in a newspaper, stated that its goal was to “Raise
a pool of capital for active trading in the marketplace”, and added:
The concept is for investors to deposit money into my
trading corporation and one year later I send them back
their money plus a guaranteed 20% return.
...
I earn money by actively trading in various markets, mainly,
currencies, stocks and options, and commodities... Each
investor will receive a 20% return on their investment one
year after investment. Once I receive an investment I send
out a “Letter of Understanding” that confirms receipt of the
funds and the date and amount to be returned.

[75]

Mr. Goddard included on the IndieGoGo site a profile of himself, in which he
stated that Black Panther “does only one thing and that is trade in the
marketplace.”

[76]

Finally, Mr. Goddard placed an advertisement in an Ottawa grocery store,
referring readers to the IndieGoGo website and to Black Panther’s own website.
3.

The respondents’ position
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information. Mr. Goddard replied, attached a copy of his Roller Coaster booklet
and advised that he would “honour the rate advertised” (20%) if the Staff
member took “action over the next few days”.

[77]

The respondents do not contest any of the facts set out above, although they do
offer a different interpretation.

[78]

In written submissions, the respondents assert that the brochures they
distributed “were for... workshops and individual tutoring.” It is true that some of
the brochures included such references. However, not all did, and even where
there were such mentions, the above excerpts make clear that those activities
were not the only purpose of the solicitations, and in most instances were clearly
not the dominant purpose.

[79]

The respondents also submit that the “20% solution” reference in the pamphlet
given to Ms. P. “was not to do with return on investments, it was to do with
improving the return on your portfolio and lowering the risk profile by actively
trading 20% of the portfolio.” This submission is directly contradicted by the
pamphlet itself, which refers three times to an annual rate of return of 20%, with
no reference to a portion of the portfolio being traded.

III.

ANALYSIS
A.

Are the Letters of Understanding “securities”?
1.

Introduction

[80]

We begin our analysis of the legal issues with Staff’s submission that the Letters
of Understanding are “securities” as that term is defined in the Act. The
respondents submit that the Note Holders loaned money to Black Panther for a
fixed period and a fixed return, and that the loans are “notes” or “debentures”,
not securities.

[81]

The definition of “security” in subsection 1(1) of the Act comprises sixteen
subdivisions, which as the Supreme Court of Canada held in Pacific Coast Coin
Exchange v Ontario (Securities Com m ission) (“Pacific Coast”), are not mutually
exclusive.5 In the Statement of Allegations, Staff alleges that each Letter of
Understanding was a security because it met one or both of the following
subdivisions:
(e) a bond, debenture, note or other evidence of
indebtedness...,
...
(n) any investment contract,...

[82]

In written submissions, Staff pursued only the “investment contract” subdivision
of the definition. However, the respondents in their written submissions state
numerous times that the Letters of Understanding are loans to Black Panther,
and therefore not securities. Because the parties’ submissions, taken together,
engage the two subdivisions of the definition of “security” cited above, we will
address both.
2.

[83]

5

Investment contract

The term “investment contract” is not defined in the Act, but as the Supreme
Court of Canada held in Pacific Coast, an investment contract will be found
where: (i) there is an investment of funds with a view to profit, (ii) in a common

[1978] 2 SCR 112 at 127.
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enterprise, and (iii) the profits are to be derived solely from the efforts of
others.6
In describing the second and third prongs of the test to determine the existence
of an investment contract, the Supreme Court of Canada held that:
...such an enterprise exists when it is undertaken for the
benefit of the supplier of capital (the investor) and of those
who solicit the capital (the promoter). In this relationship,
the investor’s role is limited to the advancement of money,
the managerial control over the success of the enterprise
being that of the promoter; therein lies the community. In
other words the “commonality” necessary for an investment
contract is that between the investor and the promoter.
There is no need for the enterprise to be common to the
investors between themselves.7
[85]

It is beyond doubt that the Note Holders advanced funds to Black Panther or Mr.
Goddard with a view to a profit. While the Letters of Understanding specified a
fixed rate of return, rather than a variable rate based on the investment
performance of the Note Holder’s funds, this fact does not diminish the Note
Holders’ dependence upon the managerial control exercised by the respondents.

[86]

The investors in Pacific Coast were:
dependent upon the quality of the expertise brought to the
administration of the funds... If Pacific does not properly
invest the pooled deposit, the purchaser will obtain no return
on his investment regardless of the prevailing value of
silver; there is nothing that the customer can do to avoid
that result.8

[87]

That characterization applies equally in this case. The Note Holders were solicited
by Mr. Goddard on the strength of his advertised experience and expertise,
including his accreditations listed in the various brochures. Other than the
advising service provided to Mr. C., Black Panther’s only business was trading, as
is reflected in Mr. Goddard’s statement on the IndieGoGo platform, referred to in
paragraph [75] above, that Black Panther “does only one thing and that is trade
in the marketplace.” While there was some evidence that Black Panther offered
“trading seminars”, there is no evidence that the company ever earned any
revenue from doing so. Because the company’s only revenues were derived from
trading conducted by Mr. Goddard, a Note Holder’s ability to be paid the amount
promised was entirely dependent upon Mr. Goddard, and the Note Holder was
not involved in the trading that was required for Black Panther to earn the
returns necessary to fulfill its obligations under the Letters of Understanding.

[88]

The respondents’ efforts to characterize the Letters of Understanding as loan
agreements that are not subject to the Act “do not detract from the true nature
of the agreement[s] as... investment agreement[s]”, to use the words of the
Commission when it was considering similar circumstances in Re Rezwealth

6
7
8

Pacific Coast at 128.
Pacific Coast at 129-30.
Pacific Coast at 130.
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[84]

Financial Services Inc. (“Rezwealth”).9 While some parts of the advertisements,
documents and communications used terminology that suggested loans, many
other parts emphasized the makeup and performance of Black Panther’s portfolio
and sold the Letters of Understanding as a Note Holder’s opportunity to
participate in the capital markets. As the Supreme Court of Canada held in
Pacific Coast, “[s]ubstance, not form, is the governing factor”, 10 so we must look
beyond the form of the Letters of Understanding and instead to their true
substance.
[89]

Mr. C. expressly rejected Mr. Goddard’s suggestion on cross -examination that his
funds were a “business loan”. His understanding, and the understanding of the
other investor witnesses that they were making “investments”, is consistent with
the message to that effect in Black Panther’s advertisements, promotional
materials, websites and updates delivered to existing and potential Note Holders.

[90]

We conclude that the Letters of Understanding are in substance invest ment
contracts, since as in Pacific Coast “it is obvious that an investment of money
has been made with an intention of profit”, 11 and that profit was entirely
dependent upon the respondents’ efforts in the common enterprise between the
Note Holder and the respondents.
3.

Evidence of indebtedness

[91]

Even if we were to accept the respondents’ submission that the Letters of
Understanding reflected loans and not investments, it would not necessarily
follow that those agreements are outside the Act’s jurisdiction, given that the
definition of “security” includes a “note” or “other evidence of indebtedness”. The
Act is remedial legislation and must be interpreted broadly in a manner
consistent with its purposes, including investor protection.

[92]

Whether a promissory note is a security depends on its substance and on the
surrounding circumstances. We have no difficulty reaching the conclusion that
the Letters of Understanding are, in substance, evidence of indebtedness within
the meaning of paragraph (e) of the definition of “security” in subsection 1(1) of
the Act. We base that conclusion on the following factors:
a.

throughout the Material Time, using numerous methods and on numerous
occasions, the respondents advertised to the general public and solicited
funds from those who expressed interest;

b.

the respondents’ marketing materials were consistent with a contribution
of funds being an investment opportunity;

c.

the respondents sought the investments exclusively to fund trading in the
capital markets;

d.

the respondents made representations regarding historic performance and
regarding Mr. Goddard’s personal experience and expertise in the capital
markets, to induce the Note Holders to contribute funds; and

e.

the investors’ only recourse is an unsecured claim against the
respondents, and no other regulatory protection is available, all of which
buttresses the conclusion that the investor protection purpose of the Act is

9

(2013), 36 OSCB 7446 at para 222.
Pacific Coast at 127.
11
Pacific Coast at 128.
10
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promoted by extending the Act’s provisions to the Letters of
Understanding.
4.

For these reasons, we find that each Letter of Understanding is a security
because it was an investment contract as well as evidence of indebtedness
subject to the Act.
B.

Unregistered trading in securities

[94]

Subsection 25(1) of the Act prohibits a person or company from “engaging in the
business of trading in securities”, or from holding themselves out as doing so,
unless the person or company is properly registered or is exempt under Ontario
securities law. As noted above, neither respondent was registered during the
material time.

[95]

If Staff demonstrates that the respondents engaged in an activity that would be
a breach of Ontario securities law but for the existence of an exemption which
the respondents say is available to them, the respondents would then bear the
burden of identifying the exemption and of demonstrating that they are entitled
to rely on it.12 In this case, the respondents did not suggest that either of them
was entitled to an exemption from the prohibition in subsection 25(1) of the Act,
and there is no evidence that at any time they purported to rely on an
exemption. We therefore need only consider whether the respondents engaged
in the business of trading in securities or held themselves out as doing so.

[96]

“Trade” is defined in subsection 1(1) of the Act to include “any sale or
disposition of a security for valuable consideration”. It is undisputed that the
respondents issued the Letters of Understanding in return for funds invested by
the Note Holders. Because we have found that each Letter of Understanding is a
security, it follows that each issuance of a Letter of Understanding was a trade in
that security.

[97]

We must still determine whether the respondents were required to be registered.
Registration is a cornerstone of Ontario securities law. The requirement p rotects
investors and promotes confidence in Ontario’s capital markets by seeking to
ensure that anyone who is in the business of selling or promoting securities
meets the necessary standards of proficiency, solvency and integrity, among
others.13 The requirement also affords the Commission and self-regulatory
organizations the necessary opportunity to monitor registrants’ conduct and to
act where appropriate in order to achieve the purposes of the Act. 14

[98]

The Commission has adopted Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration
Requirem ents, Exem ptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations (“31-103CP”),
which among other things sets out “criteria to be considered in determining
whether a person or company is engaged in a business when trading or advising
in securities”.15 This “business purpose” test in section 1.3 of 31-103CP includes
the following factors:

12

Re Limelight Entertainment Inc. (2008), 31 OSCB 1727 (“Lim elight”) at para 142; Re First Global
Ventures, S.A. (2007), 30 OSCB 10473 (“First Global”) at para 141.
13
Clause 27(2)(a) of the Act.
14
Limelight at para 135; Re Momentas Corporation (2006), 29 OSCB 7408 at para 46.
15
Re Moncasa Capital Corp. (2013), 36 OSCB 5320 at para 40; Rezwealth at para 211.
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[93]

Conclusion as to “securities”

[99]

a.

directly or indirectly carrying on the activity with repetition, regularity or
continuity, especially trading in any way that produces, or is intended to
produce, profits; and

b.

directly or indirectly soliciting, including contacting anyone by any means
to solicit securities transactions.

Both criteria are satisfied in this case. Using many means of communication over
several years, the respondents repeatedly solicited members of the public to
invest in Letters of Understanding, with the ostensible goal of realizing returns in
excess of the rates promised to the Note Holders and thereby generating profits
for the respondents.

[100] The respondents consistently and repeatedly held themselves out as being
engaged in the business of trading. The above circumstances by themselves lead
us to that finding, but also permit no other conclusion when combined with the
fact that Black Panther carried on no material business other than is suing Letters
of Understanding in return for investor funds. The respondents thereby breached
subsection 25(1) of the Act.
C.

Illegal distribution of securities

[101] Subsection 53(1) of the Act prohibits a person or company from trading in a
security if the trade would be “a distribution of the security”, unless a prospectus
has been filed or an exemption is available. Like the registration requirement,
the requirement to file a prospectus is a cornerstone of Ontario securities law. 16
[102] The respondents’ trades of the Letters of Understanding were a “distribution” as
defined in subsection 1(1) of the Act, since the Letters of Understanding had “not
been previously issued”. Black Panther filed no prospectus with the Commission.
Each trade was therefore a breach of subsection 53(1) of the Act unless the
respondents identify an exemption and show that they may rely on it. 17
[103] The respondents submit that they were entitled to the benefit of the friends,
family and business associates exemption (“FFBA Exemption”) provided for in
subsection 2.5(1) of NI 45-106. A trade that is a distribution is not exempt under
that provision unless the purchaser of the security purchases as principal and, if
an individual, has a relationship with the issuer that is listed in paragraphs (a)
through (g) of subsection 2.5(1) of NI 45-106 (e.g., specified family members,
close personal friends, and close business associates).
[104] That exemption did not apply in Ontario until Subsection 2.6.1(1) of NI 45-106
made it available on February 19, 2015. The coming into force of an exemption
does not have retroactive effect unless expressly provided for, which it was not
with respect to the FFBA Exemption. The exemption was therefore unavailable to
the respondents before February 19, 2015. All but one of the Letters of
Understanding were issued before that date, and as a result the respondents
distributed each of those securities in breach of subsection 53(1) of the Act.
[105] The only Letter of Understanding issued after February 19, 2015, was to Mr. S.,
who was neither a family member, nor a close personal friend, nor a close
business associate of Mr. Goddard’s. Rather, Mr. S. was an acquaintance of Mr.
Goddard’s son, and was solicited by Mr. Goddard through LinkedIn. The
16
17

Jones v FH Deacon Hodgson Inc (1986), 9 OSCB 5579 (Ont HC) at para 10.
Limelight at para 142; First Global at para 141.
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21
respondents were not entitled to rely on the FFBA exemption with respect to Mr.
S., and therefore the distribution to Mr. S. was also in breach of subsection
53(1) of the Act.
Business of advising

[106] Subsection 25(3) of the Act provides that unless an exemption is available, or
the person or company is properly registered, no person or company shall
“engage in the business of, or hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in
the business of, advising anyone with respect to investing in, buying or selling
securities”.
[107] The business purpose test discussed above with respect to trading applies
equally to advising.18 In considering Staff’s allegation that the respondents
engaged in the business of advising in securities, or that they held themselves
out as being in that business, we take into account additional factors listed in
section 1.3 of 31-103CP, beyond those mentioned in paragraph [98] above, and
we consider them in the context of this allegation. The factors include:
a.

engaging in activities similar to those of a registrant;

b.

directly or indirectly carrying on the activity with repetition, regularity or
continuity, especially advising in any way that produces, or is intended to
produce, profits;

c.

being, or expecting to be, remunerated or compensated for advising; and

d.

offering advice for the purpose of directly or indirectly soliciting securities.

[108] In January 2013, Mr. C. paid $950 to Black Panther. On his compelled
examination, Mr. Goddard testified that the fee was for coaching as opposed to
trading, acknowledging that his “doing the investments” would be p rohibited.
This answer conflicts with Mr. C.’s evidence that in return for the fee Mr.
Goddard instructed him to make specific trades. The answer also conflicts with
the terms of the agreement prepared by Mr. Goddard and referred to in
paragraph [52] above, which expressly called for “management fees” to be paid
to Mr. Goddard in return for his “manag[ing] and trad[ing] this account”.
[109] We accept Mr. C.’s evidence, and the written agreement speaks for itself. In
cross-examining Mr. C., Mr. Goddard did not put to Mr. C. the suggestion that
the $950 was for coaching about general trading techniques as opposed to
instructing Mr. C. to make specific trades, for at least part of the period
represented by the $950 fee. We therefore have no basis upon which to find t hat
the $950 was for anything other than what Staff alleges.
[110] As a result, we conclude that with respect to Mr. C. the respondents meet at
least two of the factors enumerated in 31-103CP. First, they engaged in activities
similar to a registrant, in that they provided the precise service that many
registrants provide, and for which those registrants require their registration.
Second, the respondents were in fact compensated for advising. As the
Commission has previously held, the presence of compensation fo r the service is
a strong, if not conclusive, indicator of a business purpose. 19

18

Re International Strategic Investments (2015), 38 OSCB 2354 (“International Strategic”) at para
50.
19
International Strategic at para 51.
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[112] We therefore conclude that the respondents jointly engaged in the business of
advising Mr. C. with respect to investing in securities and thereby breached
subsection 25(3) of the Act, and that the respondents further breached that
subsection by holding themselves out as being engaged in the business of
advising with respect to specific securities transactions. 20
E.

Fraud
1.

Introduction

[113] Staff alleges that the respondents perpetrated fraud by committing the following
acts:
a.

misrepresenting to existing and potential Note Holders the returns earned
by the respondents through the trading of Note Holders’ funds;

b.

failing to honour representations to the Note Holders that the funds
invested by them would be pooled with funds of other Note Holders, and
that these funds would be traded in the capital markets; and

c.

representing to existing and potential Note Holders that their investment
funds were guaranteed by the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“CDIC”), that the funds were then transferred to trading accounts that
were covered by the Canadian Investor Protection Fund (“CIPF”), that a
number of steps had been taken to minimize trading risk, and that Black
Panther’s investment structure carried no more risk than a Guaranteed
Investment Certificate (“GIC”).

[114] Staff alleges that each of these actions contravened clause 126.1(1)(b) of the
Act,21 which provides, in part:
A person or company shall not, directly or indirectly, engage
or participate in any act, practice or course of conduct
relating to securities... that the person or company knows or
reasonably ought to know... perpetrates a fraud on any
person or company.
2.

Analysis
(a)

Law

[115] In order to prove that a respondent has committed a fraud, Staff must establish
both an act of the necessary fraudulent quality (often called the “actus reus”)
and that the respondent had the necessary guilty mind or wrongful intention
(often called the “m ens rea”).22
[116] The Supreme Court of Canada held in R v Théroux (“Théroux”) that the actus
reus has two components, each of which must be proven:

20

Costello v. Ontario (Securities Commission), 2004 CanLII 2651 (ON SCDC) at paras 40-64;
International Strategic at para 54.
21
Formerly paragraph 126.1(b) of the Act, and renumbered in 2013 without any change to the text of
the provision.
22
Rezwealth at para 253.
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[111] The respondents offered the same service more broadly to the public. In the
Kijiji advertisement referred to in paragraph [68] above, the respondents
offered, for a fee, to give advice with respect to specific trades.

a.

an act of deceit, a falsehood or some other fraudulent means; and

b.

a resulting deprivation, which may be real (an actual loss) or potential
(e.g., placing the victim’s pecuniary interests at risk). 23

[117] An act is of deceit or is a falsehood if the person who committed it “as a matter
of fact, represented that a situation was of a certain character, when, in reality it
was not.” The third category, “other fraudulent means”, includes “the use of
corporate funds for personal purposes, non-disclosure of important facts... [and]
unauthorized diversion of funds.”24
[118] The m ens rea of fraud examines the mental state of the person alleged to have
committed the fraud, and typically focuses on that person’s degree of
appreciation for the potential consequences of the alleged fraudulent act. Staff
may prove this element either by direct evidence or by relying on an inference
that can be drawn from the act itself. 25 Where an individual “tells a lie knowing
others will act on it and thereby puts their property at risk, the inference of
subjective knowledge that the property of another would be put at risk is
clear.”26 Alternatively, “[r]ecklessness presupposes knowledge of the likelihood of
the prohibited consequences”. 27
[119] A corporation may be found to have breached clause 126.1(1)(b) of the Act if
the corporation’s directing mind knew or ought reasonably to have known that
the corporation perpetrated a fraud. 28
[120] We now examine each of the three categories of alleged fraud referred to in
paragraph [113] above.
(b)

Returns earned

[121] The respondents made many representations about the performance of Black
Panther’s investment portfolio. In emails sent to existing and potential investors,
including Mr. S., the respondents asserted that the portfolio had earned returns
ranging from 13.2% to 36.3% per month from May to October 2014. On January
8, 2015, Mr. Goddard told the principal of the firm he was seeking to join that his
“return in 2014 for the accounts [he] manage[d]” was 63.48%.
[122] The records available to Staff that were admitted into evidence reflect neither
the extraordinary returns claimed by the respondents and used by them to
entice investment in Black Panther, nor any positive return at all over the
Material Time.
[123] It was, of course, open to the respondents to tender evidence to the contrary.
The summons issued to Mr. Goddard required him to produce a list of all bank
and brokerage accounts held by him and/or Black Panther, and on his
examination Staff asked Mr. Goddard to identify all institutions at which accounts
were held. In his response to undertakings given on the examination, Mr.
Goddard asserted with respect to accounts that might demonstrate the
advertised returns that he did “not have access to these records any longer” and

23
24
25
26
27
28

Rezwealth at paras 253-58, citing R v Théroux, [1993] 2 SCR 5.
Théroux at 16-17.
Théroux at 17-21.
Théroux at 21.
Théroux at 20.
Re Al-Tar Energy Corp. (2010), 33 OSCB 5535 at para 221.
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[124] When the principal of the firm Mr. Goddard was seeking to join asked repeatedly
for proof to support the returns claimed, Mr. Goddard initially advised that he
had “no problem disclosing the accounts [he was] involved with.” However, he
stated that even though “[o]ver the past eight months [he had] recorded every
trade [he] made”, he could not provide the proof requested, since he had “no
way of providing the statement(s)” that the principal was seeking.
[125] In their written submissions the respondents repeat these assertions, referring to
trades “across many accounts” and returns from “several accounts” in respect of
which Mr. Goddard doesn’t “have access... anymore”, and stating that “Staff do
not have all accounts”. In response to Staff’s written submission, with which we
concur, that client records ought to be readily available, the respondents reply
that Mr. Goddard “also said [he] would not be revealing details of any accounts
that involved other people.” This answer is either a deceitful attempt to avoid the
truth that no such accounts exist, or it is a clear refusal to comply with his legal
obligation under the summons issued to him. Either way, it is of no benefit to the
respondents.
[126] The evidence leaves us with no difficulty concluding on a balance of probabilities
that the Funds Analysis comprises information from all of Black Panther’s and Mr.
Goddard’s bank and brokerage accounts through which any of the Note Holders’
funds might have passed. In particular, we note as Staff has that all of the Note
Holders’ initial investments are accounted for, and there is no indication that any
of those funds flowed into an account that is not included in the Funds Analysis.
The only reasonable conclusion is that there is no other account in which funds
remain or in which the advertised returns were realized.
[127] We therefore conclude that Mr. Goddard knowingly made false representatio ns
as to the performance of Black Panther’s trading portfolio. These false and
deceitful acts caused at least a potential risk of deprivation, if not actual loss, to
those who were induced to invest in Black Panther on the strength of these
representations. The representations were fraudulent.
(c)

Use of funds

[128] All three investor witnesses testified that they expected their funds to be traded
in the market, and that they did not authorize Mr. Goddard to use their funds to
pay his personal expenses, to make repayments to other investors, or to use as
Mr. Goddard wished in a business venture. Their testimony is uncontradicted by
other evidence, was unimpeached on cross-examination, and is corroborated by
the respondents’ promotional documents (e.g., the pamphlet sent to Mr. C.,
referred to in paragraph [50] above).
[129] In contrast to these expectations, Staff’s Funds Analysis demonstrates the
following:
a.

less than 24% of the total funds advanced by the Note Holders to the
respondents was ever transferred to a brokerage account;

b.

when Note Holders’ funds were transferred to a brokerage account, often
most or all of these funds were soon returned to a Black Panther bank
account;
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that he was “in the process of gathering all this information for my accountant,
but due to my time and other constraints, it is not available at this time.”

c.

of the approximately $101,201 that was transferred to brokerage
accounts, a total of approximately $98,000 was ultimately returned,
resulting in a net loss in those accounts of $3,000 during the Material
Time;

d.

the respondents often used Note Holders’ funds to make payments to
other Note Holders; and

e.

the respondents also used Note Holders’ funds for Mr. Goddard’s personal
benefit, including credit card payments in the name of Mr. Goddard and
his life partner, cash withdrawals, as well as for transfers to related
parties, including his son, daughter and life partner.

[130] Of the $425,607 raised from Note Holders, payments totaling $112,710
representing both principal and interest were made to some Note Holders. As at
the time of Mr. Goddard’s compelled examination, approximately $36,000
remained in the respondents’ bank and brokerage accounts, resulting in a
deficiency of approximately $277,000 that was spent or lost in trading. At least
$328,000 of principal and interest continues to be owed to Note Holders by the
respondents.
[131] The respondents’ consistent misuse of Note Holders’ investments is well
illustrated by the activity in Black Panther’s primary bank account immediately
following the issuance of the first Letter of Understanding. On July 25, 2012, at
which time the balance in the bank account was $2.74, the first Note Holder’s
investment of $5,000 was deposited into the account. Over the next week, the
only other deposit to the account was $300 from an unknown source. During
that week:
a.

only $700 was transferred to a brokerage account;

b.

$1,000 was withdrawn as cash;

c.

$1,750 in payments were made to personal credit card and wireless
service accounts, and for bank charges; and

d.

$1,500 was paid to Mr. Goddard’s daughter;

e.

leaving a balance of $350.

[132] Ms. P.’s investment suffered a similar fate. Of her $18,157.98 deposited to Black
Panther’s bank account on March 25, 2013, no funds were transferred to a
brokerage account. Her entire investment was depleted within six weeks,
through transfers to Mr. Goddard’s life partner of $6,500, credit card and utility
payments of $3,000, payments totaling $2,300 to Mr. Goddard’s daughter for
“rent”, $1,600 in cash withdrawals, $1,300 to Mr. Goddard’s personal bank
account, and other miscellaneous items.
[133] The respondents’ use of one Note Holder’s investment to pay another Note
Holder is illustrated by the March 27, 2014, investment of $100,000 by a Note
Holder, Mr. G. (unrelated to Mr. Goddard). That sum was deposited to a Black
Panther bank account that was overdrawn at the time of the deposit. Within less
than two months, the sums of $16,514 and $6,500 were paid from that account
to two other Note Holders. A net sum of $22,000 was transferred to a brokerage
account, and the remaining approximately $55,000 was paid to Mr. Goddard’s
life partner and to his son ($35,600 between them) and to credit card, retail
store, and auto financing accounts, as well as to cash withdrawals and bank fees.
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[135] We did not hear evidence from these Note Holders, and therefore we do not
know whether they or any other Note Holders were in fact induced to invest
because promised payments had been made by the respondents to them or to
others they knew. However, we do not need that kind of evidence to notice that
the respondents’ scheme shares one of the chief attributes of a Ponzi scheme,
where new investor funds are used to pay earlier investors, with the inevitable
result that eventually some investors will experience a loss, often of their entire
investment.
[136] The evidence is overwhelming that the respondents’ actions following receipt o f
the investor funds were dishonest, were inconsistent with their promises, were
executed to the full knowledge of and at the direction of Mr. Goddard, and
constituted “other fraudulent means” as referred to in paragraph [117] above.
These acts caused all Note Holders to suffer a potential deprivation by having
their pecuniary interests put at risk, since their funds were not where they
expected them to be, nor were they being used as expected. In addition, most
Note Holders suffered a real deprivation in that they have not been paid the
funds owing to them. The respondents’ assertion in written submissions that
“[t]here is no one at this point owed any money” is not only unsupported by any
evidence, it is expressly contradicted by the investor witnesses’ evidence and by
the Funds Analysis.
[137] As to Mr. Goddard’s mental state with respect to the potential consequences of
these transactions, we find that he was at least reckless as to whether the
investors would suffer the potential and actual deprivation, given that the Note
Holders entrusted their funds to Black Panther and relied on his promises that
the funds would be invested. As called for in Théroux, we also infer from the
very nature of Mr. Goddard’s acts that he knew of the potential deprivation, if
not the certainty of an actual loss. Absent any evidence or explanation to the
contrary, we conclude on a balance of probabilities that Mr. Goddard’s mental
state meets the necessary test for fraud.
(d)

Investment risk

[138] The respondents made various representations regarding risk in order to induce
investment in Black Panther.
[139] In encouraging Ms. P. to move her existing investments, Mr. Goddard said in an
email to her that doing so “doesn’t mean more risk than you have now...”. This
statement was untrue with respect to the $18,157.98 that Ms. P. invested
directly with Black Panther. By moving her funds to Black Panther, Ms. P. lost the
benefit of a diversified portfolio, as well as any real protection against an
insolvency of the firm at which the funds were held, or against a fraud, in this
case by Mr. Goddard.
[140] Mr. Goddard also gave the Roller Coaster booklet to Mr. C. and sent it to
potential investors, including to Staff’s covert email address. The booklet
repeated the respondents’ representation made on numerous occasions and by
numerous modes, reviewed above, that an investment in Black Panther was no
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[134] A further example is the $16,000 investment by a Mr. K. and Ms. M on
December 3, 2014. Two days later the respondents issued a cheque for $12,500
to Note Holder Mr. M., who had made an initial investment of $5,000 in
September 2012, followed by investments of $2,500 in December 2012, $5,000
in May 2013, and $10,000 in October 2013.

27

[141] The respondents compounded this misrepresentation of risk by stating that any
investment funds would be “covered by” CDIC. The missing details, however, are
equally important: that CDIC pays only in the event of a loss due to insolvency
of the financial institution, up to a limited amount ($100,000 per eligible
account) and only to the benefit of the account holder, in this case Black
Panther. Any suggestion that CDIC insurance would cause the risk of an
investment in Black Panther to be “no more” than that of a GIC is blatantly false.
[142] The respondents made similar representations regarding funds that would be
held in brokerage accounts. The respondents stated that “[t]he monies are then
transferred” from Black Panther’s bank account to trading accounts at firms that
“are registered investment firms and as such are covered by CIPF. This protects
accounts against insolvency to a limit of one million dollars per account.”
[143] Staff submits that this representation was misleading in two respects, in that Mr.
Goddard would not in fact be transferring all of the invested funds to trading
accounts, and in that it misrepresented the extent of CIPF’s coverage. In
particular, Staff submits that the statement implies insurance against trading
losses or against the funds being transferred out of the account and spent.
[144] By very early in the Material Time the respondents had established the
consistent pattern of transferring little if any of a Note Holder’s funds to a
brokerage account, and, even when they did, often transferring funds back to
Black Panther’s bank account shortly afterwards. Therefore, the suggestion that
CIPF’s coverage would extend to Note Holders’ funds was materially misleading,
since the majority of the funds were not even in an account covered by CIPF.
Even with respect to funds in a covered account, if CIPF did pay insurance as a
result of the insolvency of a firm, such payment would be limited, and would go
to Black Panther and not to the Note Holders.
[145] We therefore conclude that the representations to Ms. P. and the representations
to investors generally regarding risk were dishonestly made, were acts of deceit
and of falsehood, and caused at least a potential ris k of deprivation to anyone
who was induced to invest funds while under a misapprehension as to the actual
risk associated with the investment. Mr. Goddard was fully aware of the deceitful
nature of the representations, which were therefore fraudulent.
(e)

Conclusion as to fraud

[146] The respondents perpetrated fraud, contrary to clause 126.1(1)(b) of the Act, by
doing each of the following:
a.

making false representations about returns generated in Black Panther’s
portfolio;

b.

using investor funds in a manner not consistent with promises made to
Note Holders; and

c.

making false representations about the risk associated with investment in
Black Panther.

F.

False or misleading statements
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riskier than an investment in a GIC. That representation was also untrue, in that
it implied an equivalence between the soundness of a guarantee at a regulated
financial institution and that of Black Panther, an unregulated company with no
net assets or revenues.

28

No person or company shall make a statement about any
matter that a reasonable investor would consider relevant in
deciding whether to enter into or maintain a trading or
advising relationship with the person or company if the
statement is untrue or omits information necessary to
prevent the statement from being false or misleading in the
circumstances in which it is made.
[148] Staff’s allegation includes only the second and third categories of statements
mentioned in paragraph [113] above. We suspect that Staff intended to include
all three categories. However, the relevant portion of the Statement of
Allegations (paragraph 29) appears to contain a typographical error that was not
adverted to during the hearing by anyone, including this panel. We are not
prepared at this stage and on our own initiative to remedy the error, because
doing so would be unfair to the respondents. Accordingly, for the purpose of this
allegation we ignore statements regarding returns earned by Black Panther. We
consider only the statements that are the subject of the allegation; namely those
with respect to the use of funds and the risk associated with the investment.
[149] We have already found that those statements were false and misleading. The
statements went to the heart of the proposed investment in Black Panther and
would unquestionably be relevant to any reasonable investor who was deciding
whether to enter into a trading or advising relationship with the respondents.
Indeed, the statements were made for exactly that purpose. The respondents
therefore contravened subsection 44(2) of the Act by making those statements.
G.

Misleading Staff

1.

Introduction

[150] Clause 122(1)(a) of the Act provides that a person or company is guilty of an
offence if that person or company:
makes a statement in any... evidence... submitted to... any
person acting under the authority of the Commission... that,
in a material respect and at the time and in the light of the
circumstances under which it is made, is misleading or
untrue or does not state a fact that is required to be stated
or that is necessary to make the statement not misleading[.]
[151] Staff who conducted the examination of Mr. Goddard in February 2015 were
acting under the authority of the Commission pursuant to an order issued by the
Commission under section 11 of the Act. Staff alleges that during his
examination, Mr. Goddard made a number of misleading or untrue statements,
or omitted necessary facts.
[152] In Wilder v. Ontario (Securities Com mission) (“Wilder”),29 the Court of Appeal
for Ontario reviewed the importance of section 122 of the Act and its
interrelationship with the public interest jurisdiction of the Commission. The
Court referred to the Commission’s “obligation to do its best to ensure that those

29

[2001] OJ No 1017 (CA).
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[147] Staff alleges that the respondents breached subsection 44(2) of the Act, which
provides:

29

[i]t is difficult to imagine anything that could be more
important to protecting the integrity of capital markets than
ensuring that those involved in those markets, whether as
direct participants or as advisers, provide full and accurate
information to the OSC.30
[153] The Court rejected the submission made by the appellant in that case, who had
been a respondent before the Commission, that alleged misconduct under clause
122(1)(a) of the Act was within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Ontario Court of
Justice. The Court referred to the range of options available to the Commission,
including prosecution in the Ontario Court of Justice pursuant to section 122 and
a proceeding before the Commission pursuant to section 127, and noted with
approval that the Commission “may prefer the more flexible and less drastic
administrative sanctions available pursuant to s. 127 as the best way to achieve
the objectives of the legislation.”31
[154] The language of clause 122(1)(a) makes clear that misleading by omission is
equally problematic.32 The section also establishes liability even without proof of
a specific mental element, e.g., intention, wilful blindness or recklessness. In our
view, therefore, for the purposes of a proceeding before the Commiss ion, in
appropriate circumstances it is in the public interest to make an order under
section 127 of the Act where a respondent makes a misleading or untrue
statement or omission within the meaning of clause 122(1)(a) of the Act.
2.

Funds

[155] Mr. Goddard misled Staff in a material respect in three ways regarding Note
Holders’ funds, when he claimed that as of the date of his examination:
a.

12 investors had become Note Holders, when in fact there were 16;

b.

Note Holders had invested only $279,000, when in fact the resp ondents
had received $410,607 of the $425,607 referred to in paragraph [31]
above, including an investment of $70,000 made less than three weeks
before the examination, with the remaining $15,000 coming from Mr. S.
after the examination; and

c.

Black Panther held approximately $275,000 in three trading accounts and
approximately $35,000 in one bank account, when in fact Mr. Goddard
held approximately $7,400 in one bank account, and Black Panther held a
total of approximately $28,300 in one bank account and three trading
accounts.

[156] Mr. Goddard also misled Staff regarding funds flowing to and from his son and
daughter. He testified that:
a.

30
31
32

his son had neither invested any money in nor received any money from
Black Panther, when in fact:

Wilder at para 22.
Wilder at para 23.
Xanthoudakis v Ontario Securities Commission, 2011 ONSC 4685 (Div.Ct.) at paras 93-94.
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involved in the securities industry provide fair and accurate information” and
stated that:

b.

i.

his son’s counsel provided a Letter of Understanding acknowledging
Black Panther’s receipt of $15,000 from Mr. Goddard’s son in
November 2013;

ii.

the Funds Analysis shows additional loans or investments by his
son totaling approximately $10,000; and

iii.

the Funds Analysis shows various payments flowing from Black
Panther to his son, the total of which represents approximately
10% more than his son invested; and

his daughter received no funds from Black Panther, when the Funds
Analysis shows payments totalling approximately $8,000 flowing directly
from Black Panther’s account to his daughter.
3.

Other misstatements

[157] Mr. Goddard made the following additional false or misleading statements to
Staff, when he testified that:
a.

the $950 payment from Mr. C., referred to in paragraph [53] above, was
“for coaching, because I’m not allowed to get paid for doing the
investments”, when as we have previously found, the payment was a fee
for advising and trading;

b.

no one had responded to the Kijiji advertisement referred to in paragraph
[67] above when in fact Staff had responded using its covert email
account, and Mr. Goddard had replied, including with specific reference to
a promise made in that advertisement; and

c.

he was not an officer or director of, nor did he hold an ownership interest
in, any company other than Black Panther, when in fact he had
incorporated Charles Goddard Investments Ltd. in the United Kingdom as
its sole director and officer in September 2014, several months before his
examination.
4.

Conclusion as to the allegation of misleading Staff

[158] Staff’s evidence demonstrates that Mr. Goddard made the above statements to
Staff, and that each of the statements was misleading or untrue in a material
respect. The respondents offered no evidence to contradict Staff’s allegation. We
conclude that each of the statements was contrary to clause 122(1)(a) of the
Act.
H.

Disclosing information regarding Staff’s investigation

[159] Subsection 16(1) of the Act contains important prohibitions against the
disclosure of a broad range of information relating to an investigation conducted
pursuant to an order issued under section 11 of the Act. These prohibitions
protect the integrity of Staff’s investigation by, among other things, restricting
the communication of information among persons connected to the matters
under investigation.33 Subsection 16(1) provides:
Except in accordance with section 17, no person or company
shall disclose at any time, except to his, her or its counsel,
(a) the nature or content of an order under section 11...; or
33

Agueci at para 104.
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(b) the name of any person examined or sought to be
examined under section 13, any testimony given under
section 13, any information obtained under section 13, the
nature or content of any questions asked under section 13,
the nature or content of any demands for the production of
any document or other thing under section 13, or the fact
that any document or other thing was produced under
section 13.
[160] On January 26, 2015, Staff issued a summons to Mr. Goddard pursuant to
section 13 of the Act. The summons specified documents that Mr. Goddard was
to produce on his examination. Mr. Goddard attended for his examination four
weeks later.
[161] The letter that accompanied the summons explicitly stated that there was “a
high degree of confidentiality associated with this matter”, and quoted
subsection 16(1) of the Act in full. In addition, at the beginning of Mr. Goddard’s
examination Staff had an extensive discussion with Mr. Goddard about the
confidential nature of the examination, and about the prohibitions referred to in
the covering letter. Mr. Goddard raised some concerns about the wisdom of
those restrictions, and it is clear from his comments that he fully understood
them.
[162] One week following his examination Mr. Goddard sent a copy of the summons to
the principal of the firm that Mr. Goddard was hoping to join. Mr. Goddard
asserts in written submissions that he was considering retaining the same lawyer
as the individual to whom he sent the summons, and he expected that individual
to forward the summons to the lawyer.
[163] Regardless of Mr. Goddard’s explanation, he breached section 16 of the Act by
sending a copy of the summons to the individual, since the summons itself
disclosed the nature and content of the investigation, the fact that Mr. Goddard
had been examined pursuant to section 13 of the Act, and the nature and
content of the demand for production of documents.
I.

Mr. Goddard’s liability as director of Black Panther

[164] Staff alleges that Mr. Goddard, as a director of Black Panther, should be deemed
not to have complied with Ontario securities law, by virtue of section 129.2 of
the Act, which provides:
For the purposes of this Act, if a company... has not
complied with Ontario securities law, a director... of the
company... who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the
non-compliance shall be deemed to also have not complied
with Ontario securities law...
[165] Mr. Goddard did not attempt to rely on his formal absence from the board of
Black Panther from December 2010 to May 2014, to dispute Staff’s allegation
that he would be liable under section 129.2 for any breaches committed by Black
Panther that he authorized or permitted or in which he acquiesced. Even if he
had taken that position, however, it would have been of no assistance to him.
The definition of “director” in subsection 1(1) of the Act includes an individual
“performing a similar function” to that of a director.
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IV.

CONCLUSION

[167] For the reasons set out above, we find that:
a.

while not registered, the respondents engaged in the business of trading
in the Letters of Understanding, which are securities, and held themselves
out as being in that business, contrary to subsection 25(1) of the Act;

b.

the respondents traded in the Letters of Understanding where such trades
were distributions, without filing a prospectus, contrary to subsection
53(1) of the Act;

c.

the respondents engaged in the business of advising Mr. C. in securities,
and held themselves out as engaging in that business generally, contrary
to subsection 25(3) of the Act;

d.

the respondents perpetrated a fraud contrary to clause 126.1(1)(b) of the
Act, by each of:

e.

f.

i.

making false representations about returns generated in Black
Panther’s portfolio;

ii.

using Note Holders’ funds in a manner not consistent with promises
made to them; and

iii.

making false representations about the risk associated with
investment in Black Panther;

contrary to subsection 44(2) of the Act, the respondents made untrue
statements that reasonable investors would consider relevant in deciding
whether to enter into or maintain a trading or advising relationship, with
respect to:

i.

the use of Note Holders’ funds; and

ii.

the risk associated with investment in Black Panther;

contrary to clause 122(1)(a) of the Act, Mr. Goddard misled Staff in its
investigation, with respect to:
i.

the amount of money raised from Note Holders;

ii.

funds held by the respondents;

iii.

the nature of his business relationship with Mr. C.;

iv.

whether his son and daughter had invested in or received money
from Black Panther;

v.

whether anyone had responded to Black Panther’s Kijiji
advertisement; and

vi.

whether he held any other positions as director or officer; and
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[166] Because Mr. Goddard was the sole directing mind of Black Panther at all relevant
times, it follows that he authorized all of Black Panther’s breaches of Ontario
securities law. That conclusion is therefore inconsequential for this proceeding,
since Mr. Goddard’s direct personal participation in each of those breaches
makes him liable on his own, without the need to resort to section 129.2 of the
Act.

33
g.

Mr. Goddard breached subsection 16(1) of the Act by disclosing
information regarding the investigation being conducted by Staff.

[168] Staff shall contact the Commission’s Office of the Secretary, copying the
respondents, within 15 days of these Reasons and Decision to arrange dates for
a hearing regarding sanctions.

“Tim othy Moseley”
Timothy Moseley
”Garnet Fenn”
Garnet Fenn

“Judith Robertson”
Judith Robertson
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Dated at Toronto this 30th day of January, 2017.
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
June 11, 2018
VIA ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION VIA ACCELLION
Jennifer A. Duggins
Assistant Director and Co-Head OCIE – Private Funds Unit
Office of Compliance Inspections and Examinations
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
33 Arch Street, 24th Floor
Boston, MA 02110
Re:

Examination of The Catalyst Capital Group Inc. (File No. 802-73114)

Dear Ms. Duggins:
On behalf of our client, The Catalyst Capital Group Inc. (“Catalyst”), we hereby submit
this response to your letter dated May 11, 2018 (the “Exit Letter”), with respect to the
examination of Catalyst by the Office of Compliance Inspections and Examinations (“OCIE”) of
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissions (“SEC”), which identified certain deficiencies
found by the OCIE staff (the “Staff”) during the examination.
Catalyst appreciates the opportunity presented by this examination to identify areas in
which it might strengthen its procedures. To that end, Catalyst cooperated fully with OCIE staff
for a period of nine months and timely produced well over 100,000 pages of records in response
to 149 multi-part items contained in 13 separate written requests, including many onerous
requests issued months after the onsite meeting, incurring nearly a million dollars in direct costs
and large sums in opportunity costs. Your letter states that Catalyst has not fully responded to
the staff’s requests for records in Items 148 and 149 of Additional Request No. 12. Catalyst’s
response to Items 148 and 149 was submitted to OCIE staff on May 7, 2018. Catalyst reviewed
and produced documents in response to these extremely onerous requests using expansive search
terms that were reasonably calculated to produce all documents related to areas under
examination. As noted in the production letter, to the extent the staff desires to review additional
documents, all documents have been preserved and Catalyst would incur the expense required to
review and produce these documents after an opportunity to consult with the SEC to reasonably
limit the costs and scope of the inquiry. To the extent that the Staff has identified areas for
improvement, Catalyst commits to taking the necessary corrective steps as quickly as possible.
Catalyst welcomes constructive and thoughtful suggestions on how to implement best practices.
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Catalyst is, always has been, and always will be, committed to its investors. Catalyst's
relationship with, and reputation among, its investors is the lifeblood of the company.
Accordingly, Catalyst takes very seriously any suggestion that it could have possibly confused its
investors in any way. Catalyst and its investors have endured a multi-year, highly sophisticated
systematic campaign of defamation and economic interference from its competitors and others.
If the staff so desires, Catalyst can provide evidence or proof of such, including how the SEC
may have been manipulated unwittingly as a pati of that campaign.
Catalyst is proud of its record and has been very transparent. To that end, throughout
very thorough examinations by the SEC (and the Ontario Securities Commission), Catalyst
provided to the Staff documents, information and several in person meetings at great personal
cost to Catalyst employees. Catalyst strongly believes that Catalyst has not omitted or
misrepresented any material fact to investors. In an effort to improve, however, Catalyst
commits to immediately addressing your recommendations to ensure the primacy of investor
protection in every aspect of Catalyst's operation.
With respect to the individual points identified in the Exit Letter, we have set out the item
below (in bold), followed by the firm's responses, for your convenience.
I.

Section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and Rule 206(4)-S(a)

Catalyst understands its fiduciary duty under Section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940 (the "Act") and its obligations under Rule 206(4)-S(a) of the Act. 1 Catalyst adheres to a
standard of behavior typified in the words of Justice Cardozo, who noted that, "a fiduciary is
held to something stricter than the morals of the marketplace. Not honesty alone, but the
punctilio of an honor the most sensitive, is then the standard ofbehavior." 2
Catalyst is not aware of, nor has OCIE pointed to, any undisclosed conflict of interest that
"might incline an investment adviser - consciously or unconsciously - to render advice that was
not disinterested."3 In recognition of the fundamental precepts of fiduciary relationships in the
investment adviser context, we note that in SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., the
seminal decision on the fiduciary duties of an adviser under the Act, the Supreme Court stated
that, "[t]he Advisers Act of 1940 reflects a congressional recognition of the delicate fiduciary
nature of an investment advisory relationship as well as a congressional intent to eliminate, or at
least to expose, all conflicts of interest which might incline an investment adviser-consciously
or unconsciously-to render advice which was not disinterested." 4 Mindful of its obligation of
utmost good faith and full and fair disclosure of material facts to clients, which flow from its
1

In adopting Rule 206(4)-8, the SEC explained that Rule 206(4)-8 does not create a fiduciaiy duty to investors or
prospective investors in a pooled investment vehicle not otherwise imposed by law, nor does it alter any duty or
obligation an adviser has under the Advisers Act) or any state Jaw or requirement to investors in a pooled vehicle.
See Prohibition of Fraud by Advisers to Certain Pooled Investment Vehicles, Advisers Act Rel. No. 2628 (Aug. 3,
2007).
2
Meinhardv. Salmon, 164 N.E. 545, 546 (N.Y. 1928).
3
SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 191-92 (1963).
4
Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. at 189, 191-92.
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duty to clients, Catalyst strongly believes that it has disclosed all material facts related to
conflicts or potential conflicts of interest.
As a Canadian entity, Catalyst's duties are defined by Canadian fiduciary law. The
leading decision on corporate fiduciary duties in Canada is BCE Inc. v 1976 Debentureholders,
[2008] 3 SCR 560. As described by the Supreme Court of Canada in the BCE case, directors of
Canadian corporations owe a duty to the corporation, with due regard for all relevant
stakeholders. The fiduciary duty is a duty to act in the best interests of the corporation. While
the interests of shareholders and stakeholders may be co-extensive with the interests of the
corporation, where such interests conflict, the directors' duty is clear - it is owed to the
corporation. The Supreme Court of Canada explained the standard as follows:
Where conflicting interests arise, it falls to the directors of the
corporation to resolve them in accordance with their fiduciary duty
to act in the best interests of the corporation. The cases ... confirm
that this duty comprehends a duty to treat individual stakeholders
affected by corporate actions equitably and fairly. There are no
absolute rules and no principle that one set of interests should
prevail over another. In each case, the question is whether, in all
the circumstances, the directors acted in the best interests of the
corporation, having regard to all relevant considerations, including
- but not confined to - the need to treat affected stakeholders in
a fair manner, commensurate with the corporation's duties as a
responsible corporate citizen.
Canadian law, as interpreted by the Supreme Court of Canada in the BCE Inc. case,
imposes on corporate directors a tripartite fiduciary duty composed of(!) an overarching duty to
the corporation, which contains (2) a duty to protect shareholder interests from harm, and (3) a
procedural duty of "fair treatment" for relevant stakeholder interests. This duty of fair treatment
acknowledges the need to ensure that a contemplated action considers the reasonable
expectations of stakeholders and is not oppressive. The same is true of private equity and
portfolio managers, such as Catalyst, under Canadian law.
There can be no doubt that Catalyst has at all times comported with its legal duties in, at
minimum, fulfilling the reasonable expectations of stakeholders. For example, although not
discussed in the SEC's letter, there are numerous examples of Catalyst deferring its management
or other fees-sometimes for years-for the benefit of its investors. Below, we address OCIE's
findings with a view toward addressing the issues raised.

A.

Undisclosed Conflicts Relating to Callidus Capital Corporation ("Callidus")

In the Exit Letter, OCIE Staff states that, "Although since the inception of the Funds the
Adviser included disclosures to investors regarding the potential for transactions between related
parties, these disclosures appear to be inadequate." The categories listed below are identified as
the apparent deficiencies. Catalyst appreciates that OCIE Staff have highlighted ce1iain
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disclosures in which additional information could have been beneficial to investors, and is
committed to providing such additional information on a prospective basis.
OCIE staff noted three categories of conflicts that arise in connection with the Funds'
transactions with Callidus, each of which we address below.

1.

Conflicts between the various Funds relating to their different
participation in the Callidus capital structure and the different
economic incentives that each fund has in relation to these
investments.

2.

Conflicts between the Adviser and the Funds as a result of the
Callidus transactions.

3.

Conflicts between Callidus and the Funds.

In the Exit Letter, OCIE staff cites three types of conflicts (quoted above). The conflict
rules applicable to any fiduciary rest on two fundamental precepts, namely (I) the conflict rule
(which protects the integrity of the relationship between the fiduciary and the beneficiary); and
(2) the discretionary decision-making authority of the fiduciary. The conflict rule prohibits the
fiduciary, among other things, from taking an opp01iunity for itself which may be available to a
beneficiary. No Fund nor the Manager has taken an opportunity belonging to another. The
decision-making power is circumscribed by the scope of discretion delegated to the fiduciary, by
a beneficiary's expectations, and in some cases, by operation oflaw. 5

1. Conflicts Relating to Funds' Participation in the Callidus Capital Structure
In analyzing these potential conflicts, it is appropriate to consider the investment posture
in each Fund in April 2014, when Callidus went public. Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership II
("Fund II") was in its realization period and the expectations of the relevant Limited Partners
("LPs") were to receive a return of capital. Fund II was therefore not permitted, by contractual
agreement, without a waiver from its investors (which it knew it would not get) to make fmiher
investment and had no remaining available capital, as it was technically over I 00% "committed"
(that is why the Manager deferred management fees owed to it in order to help Fund II' s
liquidity). The Callidus offering permitted a substantial realization of Fund !I's interest as it was
contrachmlly required to pursue given its stage in its life cycle; it currently holds only a very
small amount of its original investment.
Prior to the public offering of Callidus, Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership III ("Fund
III") and Catalyst Fund Limited Partnership IV ("Fund IV") held shares of Callidus and funded
loans originated by Callidus. Funds III and IV acquired shares in connection with the public
offering in exact propo1iion to their interests in those loans. Fund III was at the end of its
investment period. Fund IV entered into a participation agreement at the time of the offering
5

See BCE, [2008] 3 SCR 560.
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while it was in its investment period as it was entitled to do so and as disclosed in its offering
memorandum to prospective investors. That participation was subsequently reacquired by
Callidus as contemplated by and required under the Participation Agreement. Catalyst Fund
Limited Partnership Fund V ("Fund V") had a right to paiiicipate in new Callidus loans based on
a formula agreed to at the time of the public offering. These documents were complied with by
Catalyst and were disclosed and remain available to the OCIE Staff, all Catalyst Fund investors
and to the public shareholders (in the prospectus and in the SEDAR database).
Funds II, III, and IV at all material times controlled approximately 62% to two-thirds or
more of Callidus' shares. Funds III and IV subsequently made the bridge loan to Callidus in
order to suppoti their existing investment in Callidus-a substantially different fact from "new
loans." A review of each Fund's documents shows that a Fund is allowed to make "follow-up"
investments to any existing portfolio company (such as Callidus) post "Investment Period."
Participation in a new loan originated by Callidus is likely not permissible.
At all times, Mr. Glassman and Mr. Riley appropriately disclosed their role in the Funds
and at Callidus in the public offering documents and as required by the applicable corporate
fiduciary duty. Mr. Glassman and Mr. Riley were not previously paid for their roles at Callidus;
in part, as disclosed in the public documents, both have been paid the nominal sum of $1 a year ever since Callidus was public - for their roles at Callidus.
In analyzing whether the above-described economic interests created a conflict of interest
between the Funds managed by Catalyst, it is important to keep in mind the discretionary
decision-making authority of Catalyst, which delineates the duties it owes. In this light, it is
clear that none of the economic interests described above created a conflict of interest that
affected the integrity of the relationship between the Funds.
First, Fund II was in its realization period and quickly approaching its contractual windup when Callidus went public, and the expectation of the LPs was that Fund !I's investments
would be realized. Second, Funds III and IV were not only still in their investment periods, but
had a minimum of 4 years remaining in their life and had amounts invested in Callidus' loans.
Those investments were disclosed in every Funds' annual meetings to the Fund investors as well
as in the offering memoranda and other offering materials as part of the Funds' investment
strategy for mitigating the "J Curve" for each of Fund III and Fund IV. The LPs in each Fund
had an expectation that investments were to be made in Callidus. Third, Fund IV' s investment in
the Callidus loan participation was fully disclosed to both the Fund's investors and in the public
offering documents. Similar disclosures were made in Fund V's offering document and often
discussed in Fund investor due diligence meetings. In part, this J-Curve mitigation strategy was
discussed and disclosed as a Fund V competitive advantage. There was no expectation of any
other participation in the Callidus capital structure by Fund V's LPs. Each of these different
patiicipations was disclosed appropriately in the applicable offering materials and was made in
propo1iion to the capital available in each Fund at the relevant time.
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Accordingly, the Exit Letter's characterization, that disclosures to investors "do not
describe the extent of [ ... ] potential conflicts, and they do not disclose that [Catalyst] would
adopt a practice of resolving some conflicts in favor of Callidus," lacks basis in fact. The
documents and information provided by Catalyst clearly indicate that (I) it did properly disclose
to investors all potential conflicts of interest, and (2) it implemented non-discretionary controls
to manage and narrow the scope of such potential conflicts of interest.
For example, the Fund IV Subscription Agreement states in relevant pmi:
There may be a conflict of interest in the allocation of investment
opportunities between Fund IV and any other investment
pminerships managed by Catalyst. Catalyst will attempt to allocate
investment opportunities in a manner that is in the best interest of
all the entities involved in light of the circumstances prevailing at
that time as well as having regard to the cash available in a
particular entity at the time for investment. However, there can be
no assurance that an investment opp01iunity that comes to the
attention of Catalyst will not be allocated (i) wholly or primarily to
another partnership, with the Fund being unable to participate in
such investment opportunity or participating only on a limited
basis, or (ii) wholly or primarily to the Fund, with any other
partnership not sharing the risks of such investment.
The Subscription Agreements for Funds III and V contain substantially identical language,
clearly disclosing to investors that conflicts may exist and how Catalyst agreed to manage such
conflicts.
Likewise, for example, the Fund V Limited Pminership Agreement ("LP A") provides:
In allocating investment opportunities among funds ... the
General Partner and the Manager will use their good faith efforts to
ensure that the Partnership has access to and pmiicipates in, to the
largest degree possible, those opp01iunities that are within the
investment strategy of the Pminership ... Any investment
opportunity ... shall be allocated between the Partnership and such
other investment vehicles such that the percentage pmiicipation of
the Partnership in such opportunity shall not be less than the
percentage that the Partnership's Unfunded Commitments ... net
of amount conunitted by or on behalf of the Pminership in relation
of investments of or to be acquired by the Partnership, bear to the
aggregate anticipated unfunded commitments of all such
investment vehicles as of their respective final closings (including
the Partnership), also net of amounts committed by or on behalf of
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such partnerships in relation to investments of or to be acquired by
such patinerships respectively.
The LPAs for Funds III and IV contain substantially identical language, clearly disclosing how
Catalyst must allocate investments between Funds. This is how Catalyst did it in every instance,
to its knowledge. Any assertion that Catalyst made untrue statements of material fact or omitted
material facts, or that it otherwise engaged in an inappropriate course of conduct, is without
merit and lacks any support.

2. Conflicts Between the Adviser and the Funds
As noted above, the investment scope for Catalyst was determined by the relationship
established by the relevant LP A and Management Advisory Agreement. Catalyst had no
economic interest in the Funds (other than a two percent interest as disclosed in the offering
document) at the relevant time. Catalyst's only interest in Callidus was the carried interest it
could earn indirectly via the performance realized by each Fund in their Callidus investment.
Fmihermore, no Catalyst employee ever received any economic benefit from Callidus for their
investment there. Further, that carried interest would be earned on a so-called European basis,
meaning it is only earned after the investments are realized and the LPs receive a return of
capital (which includes a return of amounts incurred as expenses by or on behalf of the Funds),
as well as and a priority return of eight percent (post all expenses). This structure aligns
Catalyst's and the LPs' interests and ensures that there is no conflict.
Because there was no conflict between Catalyst's interests and the interests of the LPs,
the only remaining fiduciary principle in question is Catalyst's exercise of it decision-making
power. Catalyst's decisions were made in good faith, in the best interest of the LPs, and
according to the reasonable expectations of the LPs. Pursuant to the requirements set forth by
the Supreme Court of Canada in the BCE case, Catalyst faithfully discharged its fiduciary duties.

3. Conflicts Between Callidus and the Funds
Pursuant to the BCE case, Callidus directors owe a duty to the corporation, which
requires the Callidus directors to protect shareholder interests from harm and give "fair
treatment" to all relevant interests.
Catalyst believes that the only transaction that could have potentially given rise to a
perceived conflict between Callidus and the Funds was the bridge loan. However, the bridge
loan was negotiated between the independent directors of Callidus, on the one hand, and Catalyst
on behalf of the Funds, on the other hand. Mr. Glassman and Mr. Riley did not participate in the
discussion as directors of Callidus, and their conflict arising from their roles as directors of
Callidus and partners of Catalyst was fully disclosed. 6

6

Minutes from Callidus Board of Directors meetings provide documentary support.
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The Exit Letter further states that after the February 2015 letter agreement between
Catalyst, Callidus, and the general partners of Funds III and IV, "the Funds bore all of the credit
risk, including the additional risk that resulted from extending additional principal to these
borrowers, but the Funds did not receive the benefit of additional interest charged on larger
principal balances because the interest payments were made to Callidus." To the contrary, the
credit risk situation was materially more advantageous to the Funds than characterized, and that
conflicts were not resolved in favor of Callidus to the detriment of the Funds. For example, the
cost of capital, administrative costs, and interest risk were all borne by Callidus, rather than the
Funds. Fmihennore, the loan was intended to be of short duration although external events made
repayment impossible. As a result, the Funds were paid a market rate of interest. That rate of
interest was confirmed to be market by both "comparables" and negotiations with the arm's
length Callidus directors.
To the extent that Catalyst's disclosures could have been clearer or made more
prominently to investors, Catalyst will seek opp01iunities for enhancement to ensure greater
investor clarity. However, the Exit Letter uses conclusory language that we believe is
inappropriate in light of the disclosures Catalyst provided to investors.
In order to improve its disclosure of potential conflicts of interest, Catalyst commits to
the following action plan:
Action Item

In conjunction with outside counsel, perform a thorough review
of relevant disclosures with a goal of dete1mining enhancements
to disclosures.
Enhance disclosures identified in the review to ensure clear and
comnlete disclosures of any notential conflicts of interest.
B.

Completion
Timeline

Responsible
Partv

3Q 2018
4Q 2018

Conflict Consent Requirements
1.

The Adviser's failure to satisfy the conflict consent requirements of
the Fund III and Fund IV LPAs may constitute a violation of Rule
206(4)-8.

2.

The Adviser directed the Funds to invest in Callidus and affiliated
entities without disclosing or mitigating the conflicts associated with
such investment. This conduct may constitute a violation of Section
206(1) and Section 206(2).

Catalyst understands that under the LP As, certain transactions require either consultation
with, or approval by, the relevant Fund's Advisory Panel. Catalyst management is very much
attuned to these requirements, and Catalyst believes it has always acted in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the various LP As. However, Catalyst acknowledges that it has not always
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reduced its compliance to a formal document. Catalyst is committed to improving its
documentation of the process for presenting matters to the Funds' Advisory Panels, including the
decision-making process, by routinizing and preserving the documentation necessary to evidence
the process and resolution of the matters.
Information provided to OCIE staff demonstrates that the Funds' acquisition of the
Xchange Technology Group ("XTG") loan, the extension of the bridge loans from the Funds to
Callidus, and the clarification of the guarantee of Callidus loans were not undisclosed conflicts
of interest that were required to be presented to the Funds' Advisory Panels pursuant to the
LP As. The bridge loan was a credit facility provided by the Funds to enable Callidus to perform
its business activities and is an ordinary course practice which is not a "transaction" within the
meaning of the LP As-and is a follow-up investment to existing Funds' positions (Callidus) and
did not require approval.
Likewise, the Funds acquired the XTG loan by virtue of Callidus' demand for payment
under the guarantee issued by the Funds; this acquisition was not required to be presented to the
Advisory Panels and was a contractual Fund obligation under the Participation Agreement. The
XTG loan was acquired pursuant to Callidus' exercise of its guarantee rights pursuant to terms
agreed to, and a requirement of the public offering. The acquisition of the XTG loan was the
result of an existing contractual obligation of the Funds, and was essentially an automatic result
that did not require Advisory Panel consultation because it was not a "transaction" within the
meaning of the LP As.
The clarification of the payment of interest from assets available to borrowers was
likewise appropriate. As is a standard asset-based lending practice, all borrower funds were held
by Callidus in a "lock-box" system and swept to Callidus. Those swept funds were the only
funds available to the borrower to pay interest. The clarification provided that, to the extent that
funds were available, those funds were to be used to pay interest first rather than principal. That
clarification is consistent with customary banking arrangements where payments are applied to
interest first and only applied to the principal or other amounts after all of the interest owing has
been paid. There can be no conflict where a transaction is carried out pursuant to a previously
agreed upon contractual arrangement.
All Callidus activities as they relate to the Funds were fully disclosed to, and discussed
with, each relevant Advisory Panel, including the bridge loan and the guarantee (and the
concomitant acquisition of the XTG loan). They were also referenced in each set of annual
financial statements and disclosed at each AGM. Moreover, Callidus is a publicly traded
company whose interests are protected by its Board of Directors, which owes a fiduciary duty to
stakeholders pursuant to BCE; the Funds' interests are likewise represented by Catalyst, which
owes a fiduciary duty to its investors.
Catalyst appreciates the opportunity to improve its processes regarding presentation of
information to Advisory Panels for consultation. While the SEC has not provided guidance on
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how exempt reporting advisers must structure their affairs in this respect, Catalyst commits to the
following action plan:
Action Item
In conjunction with outside counsel, perform a thorough review
of Advisory Panel process.
Enhance Advisory Panel process to include, at minimum,
formalized escalation procedures, documentation of materials
presented to members, and memorializing decisions and action
items.
C.

Completion
Time line

Responsible
Party

3Q 2018

3Q 2018

Misleading Statements Regarding Portfolio Company Guarantees
1.

The Adviser's statements made to investors in the Funds relating to
the operation of certain guarantees extended by the Funds and
liabilities associated with them appear misleading. Such statements
may constitute a violation of Rule 206( 4)-8.

Catalyst has always sought to provide full and accurate disclosures in all respects,
including disclosures relating to the guarantees issued by some of the Funds in favor of Callidus
and associated liabilities. To the extent that such disclosures can be improved, Catalyst is
committed to ensuring that all disclosures involving related issues are improved going forward.
Catalyst respectfully disagrees with the Exit Letter's statements that:
•
•

•

"[T]he guarantees did not in fact ensure that Fund III did not have an increase in
credit risk on the same loans as compared to prior to the !PO";
"[I]t appears that this amount did not represent a maximum amount but rather the
amount of the current loan loss reserves that Callidus had booked against the
guaranteed loans at that time;" and
"[T]he description of the guarantees does not identify Callidus' incentive to extend
loans that were on the watch list, increasing their balances."

It is essential to start with the first principles applicable to the Callidus' loans at the time
as has been explained to OCIE Staff and as has been noted to investors in public disclosures.

As outlined to OCIE Staff and in public disclosures as well as the !PO documentation
itself including the Participation Agreement, the loans in existence at the time of the Callidus
public offering had guarantees of varying duration. Any loan on Callidus' "watchlist" was
guaranteed in full until repayment. All remaining loans were guaranteed only to the point of
their next renewal in the ordinary course. If a loan was renewed, the guarantee ceased, and the
credit risk passed from the Funds to Callidus on the outstanding principal and any subsequent
increase. The theory was that such reflected the credit risk at the time of the !PO; for example,
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had "watchlist" loans-such as XTO-not been guaranteed in full until the time of repayment,
the Funds would have in effect improperly transferred real and potentially substantial preexisting credit risks to unknowing public shareholders at their expense and for the improper
benefit of the Funds. The alternative to the Funds guaranteeing the loans was for the Funds to
retain the loans on their books and manage those loans. In such an arrangement, the Funds
would have retained the benefits and risks of the relevant loans, but would have had the burden
of actively managing them directly-resources not at Catalyst but at Callidus.
The Funds did not guarantee interest payments - only principal. Accordingly, the Funds
did not receive the benefit of the interest payments. The benefit to the Funds of providing the
guarantee was twofold: (a) the Funds were able to conclude a successful public offering at a
price that valued the loan book at a multiple of two, and (b) liquidity was provided (and which
was needed at Fund II and III at that time). The Funds also had no funding or administrative
costs thereby saving substantial costs. Therefore, Catalyst strongly believes that the transaction
structure was appropriate.
The loan guarantees reflect the risk that the Funds had at the time of the initial public
offering. The clarification of the guarantee was consistent with the original guarantee
arrangements. At the time of the initial public offering, Callidus had commitments to make
loans subject to ce1iain conditions. The credit process (prior to the offering) required approval
of each advance by the Callidus Credit Committee following an assessment that the conditions
were satisfied. The Credit Committee had the same membership both before and after the
offering.
While the principal amount of a troubled loan could increase, the Funds' obligations
under the loans were subject to a good faith determination by the Credit Committee to make
advances and a written submission by the Callidus credit group for each new advance. If the
public offering had not been consummated, the Funds (as the shareholders of Callidus) would
have ultimately borne the obligation to make and fund those advances in any event.
As explained in the Notes to the Audited Financial Statements, the guarantee applied in
perpetuity for loans on Callidus's watchlist at the time of the public offering. The loans were
guaranteed without any value being fixed in relation thereto. To the extent that the principal of
any of the loans was increased (or decreased or was repaid), the guarantee would apply to such
amount until the loan was repaid in full. As correctly stated in the Exit Letter, the disclosure of
the amounts of the "estimated remaining obligation under the guarantees" represents the amount
provided by Callidus as a loan loss provision at the relevant date. This disclosure is in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards and was reviewed and approved by the
Funds' auditors, KPMG. For the 2017 Audited Financial Statements, Catalyst added a sentence
(for greater clarity) that the guaranteed amount includes any subsequent advances on such loans.

If the principal amount of a troubled loan could not increase, Catalyst and Callidus were
told by the underwriters the public offering could not have been consummated because the
underwriters of the offering would not have accepted that risk in connection with such offering.
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None of the "troubled" loans would have been transferred and would have either been brought to
collections proceedings or would have otherwise needed to be worked out by the Funds (which
would have included advancing additional amounts). The Funds needed to extend the guarantees
for a successful offering. Moreover, based on Callidus' recovery success, Catalyst - in advising
the Funds - was confident, based on the information available at that time, that the Funds would
recover on substantially all of the credit at risk.
Whether Callidus had an "incentive" to extend loans on the watchlist is irrelevant. Any
decision to advance fu1iher amounts was determined by first the credit department and ultimately
the Callidus Credit Committee. Credit Committee decisions must be made unanimously. Two
of the Credit Committee members at the relevant time were Fund nominees, and no amount
could have been advanced on any guaranteed or other loans which were not guaranteed, without
their approval.
Catalyst believes that the description of the guarantee arrangement was correct in all
material respects and reflected a business arrangement satisfactory to the Funds and the
underwriters in connection with a public offering.
Notwithstanding the preceding discussion, Catalyst commits to the following action plan
to ensure that related disclosures are made as clear as possible going forward:
Action Item
Enhance financial statement disclosures related to loan
guarantees.
In conjunction with outside counsel, perform a thorough review
of disclosures related to Fund guarantees and related issues.

Completion
Timeline
Complete
3Q 2018
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Partv

E.

Misleading Statements to Investors Regarding Portfolio Company
Performance
1.

The Adviser's statements regarding the performance of Therapure
Biopharma Inc. ("Therapure") and feedback from investors on the
prospective IPO of Therapure appear to be misleading or omit
material facts necessary to make such statements not misleading. Such
statements and omissions may constitute a violation of Rule 206(4)-8.
The staff's review identified two areas where it appears that the
Adviser made misleading statements about Therapure to investors:
1)

Performance ofTherapure and its CDMO and
Proprietary Products Businesses

2)

Feedback from Potential IPO Investors
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Catalyst understands and appreciates the Staffs position that certain statements to
investors regarding the performance ofTherapure Biopharma Inc. ("Therapure") were at times
too limited. Catalyst has already committed to providing investors with more fulsome
descriptions of both the successes and the challenges to Therapure's business to improve clarity,
and will actively review ways to further improve its disclosures going forward.
We believe that it is impmiant to note that Catalyst, which is one of Canada's largest
active distressed investors, has an investment philosophy to acquire interests in struggling
companies. Indeed, Catalyst would not advise the Funds to acquire interests in any of the
portfolio companies unless the company suffered from operational challenges. The LPs of the
Funds, all of whom are large, sophisticated, institutional investors, or are ultra-high net worth
individuals, fully understand Catalyst's business model and the value proposition of active
distressed investments. None of this is hidden from, or misunderstood by, investors. Simply put,
all Catalyst investors understand what active distressed private equity is and how it operates.
In addition, while Catalyst strives to provide accurate and relevant information to LPs
pertaining to the activities of the various portfolio companies, no LP can transact based on that
information. However, as recent experience demonstrates, excess information can and has been
misused by some LPs at the expense of others. Please see the recent newspaper article where an
LP leaked certain confidential information during the pendency of an "F-1" filing and Catalyst's
attempt to seek an injunction, which attempt was unsuccessful.
Nonetheless, to improve disclosures regarding portfolio company performance, Catalyst
commits to the following action plan:
Action Item
Provide updated disclosures to investors regarding Therapure
risk factors identified by OCIE staff in the examination.
In conjunction with outside counsel, perform a thorough review
of disclosures related to portfolio company performance and the
process for developing and reviewing such disclosures prior to
sending to investors.
If appropriate, issue new, clarified disclosures to investors.

Completion
Timeline
3Q 2018

3Q 2018
3Q 2018
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II.

Rule 21F-17(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934- Whistleblower
Regulations
A.

Language Inconsistent with the Commission's Whistleblower Regulations
1.

The staff found that the confidentiality language in the Adviser's
Employment Agreement and Employee Handbook appears to be
inconsistent with Rule 21F-17(a).

Catalyst understands the obligations imposed by Rule 2IF-17(a) under the Exchange Act
to refrain from taking any action to impede an individual from communicating directly with the
SEC' s staff about a possible securities law violation. To the extent Catalyst enters into any
employment agreement, separation agreement or other agreement with provisions similar to
those identified by the Staff, Catalyst will include a clarifying provision indicating that nothing
in the agreement should be construed as preventing the employee, former employee or other
person from providing information to the SEC relating to possible violations of the U.S. federal
securities laws. In addition, Catalyst will send a written communication to all parties to existing
employment agreements and separation agreements that contain provisions similar to these
identified by the Staff. The written communication will contain language similar to the
clarifying provision described above.
The language identified by the OCIE staff in Catalyst's Employment Agreement and
Employee Handbook is designed solely to address the illegal disclosure of confidential
information. Other provisions of both documents make clear to employees that whistleblowing
is a permissible activity. Nonetheless, Catalyst agrees with the SEC on the importance of
making clear to employees that whistleblowing is always permitted. To that end, Catalyst will
revise both documents on a go-forward basis, clarify them in an email or internal communication
to existing employees, to make the whistleblower exceptions more prominent and closer in
proximity to the confidentiality provisions and commits to the following action plan.
Action Item

Completion
Timeline

Revise Employment Agreements, Separation Agreements
entered into after Catalyst became an exempt reporting adviser,

3Q 2018
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and Employee Handbook to clarify that whistleblowing is
excepted from the confidentiality provisions.
Send communications to parties to existing Employment
Agreements and Separation Agreements entered into after
Catalyst became an exempt reporting adviser containing similar
clarifications.

3Q 2018

* * *
We request that confidential treatment under the Freedom ofinformation Act ("FOIA")
be accorded to this letter and the information contained herein, as well as any memoranda, notes,
transcripts or writings of any kind that incorporate, include or relate to any of the matters
contained or referred to herein or in any conference, meeting or telephone conversation between
you and either Catalyst or counsel to Catalyst. Pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 200.83, Catalyst
designates this letter and the information contained herein as confidential business information
protected from disclosure by, among other exemptions, the exemption contained in 5 U.S.C. §
552(b)(4) (referred to as FOIA "Exemption 4"). This letter has been marked with the legend
"Confidential Treatment Requested by The Catalyst Capital Group Inc." In the event that a
FOIA request is received pursuant to which this letter or the information contained herein could
be deemed responsive, we request that we be furnished with a copy of all written materials
pertaining to such request and be given a reasonable opportunity to respond prior to any
determination that this letter or the information contained herein will be produced.
Pursuant to the terms of the applicable regulation and as noted below, we are providing
the Office of Freedom of Information and Privacy Act Operations with a copy of this letter so
that it has notice of our client's request for confidential treatment.
The foregoing request for confidentiality is without prejudice to any other rights,
objections or arguments that Catalyst may have with respect to the confidential nature, and any
production to third parties, of this letter or the information contained herein. By sending this
letter, Catalyst does not intend to waive any applicable privileges.
If you have any questions regarding the above, please contact me at 202-661-7178.

Very truly yours,

Marlon Q. Paz

SK 29684 0002 7895077
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17.

-6-

At paragraph 254 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley suggests that I

      because I did not want to produce them in this
proceeding. I did not produce these text messages because they are no longer stored on
my cell phone. I have no recollection of when the text messages cleared, but I believe
they may have deleted automatically with the passage of time. I can confirm that there
was no deliberate attempt on my part to delete these text messages.
C. My Short Selling Activity
18.

At paragraphs 23-30 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley describes short

              
            
            
               
            
campaign.
19.

It seems to me that on          

or unlawful in Canada         
he nor any of the authorities he cites describe it as unlawful, even when in the context of
    I understand that short selling activity becomes unlawful only
where it rises to market manipulation, which is prohibited under the Ontario Securities
Act             
deliberately manipulating share prices and impacting the integrity of markets.

COMP-315

-7-

20.

My short selling activity in respect of Callidus was not unlawful and could not be

characterized as a short and distort campaign, based on the considerations referenced
   affidavit:
(a)

I did not do any naked short selling in respect of Callidus. Indeed, the online
brokerage platform that I use does not provide an option to naked short sell.

(b)

I released no false or misleading information to the market. Rather, I
advised Copeland of allegations I had made to securities regulators. I
reasonably expected Copeland to do his own due diligence prior to
publicizing them. The Wall Street Journal reported on the fact that
allegations were made, which was not false or misleading.

(c)

I did not coordinate or discuss my short selling activity with any other
parties. Prior to this action, I had no specific knowledge of the short-selling
activities of any other party.

(d)

My short selling was in small quantities, such that it could not have resulted
in or contributed to a misleading appearance of trading activity in, or an
artificial price for, Callidus shares. To this, I note that at paragraph 204 of
the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley states that Currently, it is unknown
         
stock, as no trading records have been produced by them.  
is not accurate. My trading records in respect of Callidus were produced as
part of my affidavit of documents. The records, which are identified as
production AND0002270, are attached as  A. These records
reflect the entirety of my trading activity in respect of Callidus.

21.

I did not prepare and submit the Whistleblower Submissions to the OSC and SEC,

or provide those reports to Copeland, with the goal of increasing potential profits from
short-selling Callidus .

COMP-316

-8-

22.

At all times, my goal was to prepare an accurate report, with documentary support,

to maximize my chances of eventually receiving a whistleblower award from a securities
regulator. As a result of my short-selling of Callidus, I earned approximately $27,000 
substantially less than what I expected to earn from a whistleblower award from the OSC
or the SEC. Regulators like the OSC and the SEC only pay whistleblower awards when
there is a successful prosecution based on information that is provided by the
whistleblower. I did not submit, nor was there any financial or other incentive for
submitting, false and misleading information to the OSC and the SEC.
D. The Whistleblower Submissions
i. Due Diligence
23.

In preparing the Whistleblower Submissions, my intention was to highlight what I

viewed as evidence of impropriety, with a view to informing securities regulators and
investigative journalists of issues worthy of further investigation. At no time did I expect
my conclusions to be assumed without further investigation, research or verification.
When providing the Whistleblower Submissions to securities regulators, I expected them
to take their own steps to investigate and verify the conclusions that I had drawn. When
providing the Whistleblower Submissions to Copeland, I expected him and/or others at
the Wall Street Journal to conduct their own due diligence in determining whether, and to
what extent, they could rely on the information contained in the submissions.
24.

To assist readers in investigating and verifying the information in the Whistleblower

Submissions, I meticulously cited the information on which I relied. Collectively, the two
Whistleblower Submissions and the Broken Bridge Research report about Callidus that I
provided to Copeland were supported by over 210 citations, referencing documents such

COMP-317

COMP-318

COMP-319

COMP-320

COMP-321

COMP-322

Catalyst v West Face et al.
Nathan Anderson on 11/20/2020

1

A.

2
3

196
I am not sure of the date of the

publication offhand, but I'll -613

Q.

Seriously, Mr. Anderson, are you

4

telling me you don't know when the article was

5

published that is the subject of this lawsuit?

6

A.

This lawsuit at this point is

7

regarding an article that was over three years old,

8

so no, I don't have the precise date.

9

MR. LUNG:

10

It is August 9th.

It was

published on August 9th online.

11
12

BY MR. NA:
614

Q.

It was published on August 9th.

13

It was published at August 9th online at 3:29 and

14

then at 3:32 p.m.; correct?

15

you there, Mr. Anderson, to those articles?

16

A.

17
18

Do you want me to take

I'll take your word for it as far

as the timing of it.
615

Q.

Right.

And the morning of August

19

the 9th you shorted Callidus, at 10:54 a.m., 5,600

20

shares; correct?

21
22

616

23

A.

Yes.

Q.

And you shorted again at 11:01

another 500 shares; correct?

24
25

194

617

A.

Yes.

Q.

Right.

The morning that the

COMP-323
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1

article was coming out, you took -- shorted 6,100

2

shares of Callidus, right?

3

A.

Yes.

Q.

Right.

4

618

And at that afternoon,

5

after the article came out at 3:29 and 3:32 p.m.,

6

you closed out all your short positions; correct?

7
8

619

9

A.

For that day, yes.

Q.

No, not that day.

You closed out

all the short positions that you took from July

10

13th to August the 9th?

11

A.

12
13

The short that I had open was

closed that day.
620

Q.

Right.

After the article came

14

out, you closed them at -- 3:53, you closed out

15

2,000 shares, correct, on August the 9th?

16
17

621

18

622

21

Yes.

Q.

At 3:54, you closed out another

A.

Yes.

Q.

And at 3:59, you closed out 5,100

shares; correct?

22
23

A.

2,000 shares; correct?

19
20

195

623

A.

Yes.

Q.

Right.

And that was -- you

24

shorted the morning of.

25

and then you closed out in the afternoon?

You shorted that morning
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1
2
3

A.

Yes, and then I shorted the

Q.

And that was a quick hit, wasn't

next -624

4

it?

5

[Court Reporter intervenes for

6

clarification.]

7

A.

8
9

Yes, I had shorted, covered, and

then I had re-shorted the next day.
625

10

Q.

Right.

That was a quick hit is

what I said?

11

A.

Well, I had determined that the

12

stock had likely overreacted to the article based

13

on my reading of it late day, and I figured

14

Callidus would likely put out a response and move

15

it up.

16

on additional short in anticipation of earnings

17

which I predicted would probably underperform.

18

626

19

And my intention at that point was to put

Q.

Mr. Anderson, I am talking about

August the 9th.

20
21

627

A.

Yes.

What about it?

Q.

You shorted that morning and then

22

closed it out that afternoon after the article came

23

out; correct?

24
25

196

628

A.

Yes.

Q.

And I am using my words very
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1

advisedly here, that was a quick hit on Callidus,

2

wasn't it?

3
4

629

A.

That was a gain.

Q.

I'm sorry, what?

5

MR. DEARDEN:

6

BY MR. NA:

7

630

8

631

11

632

14
15

633

16

Yes.

Q.

Right.

A gain for you,

That was a gain for you

A.

Yes, shorting a --

Q.

And that was a hit on Callidus?

A.

That is not the words I would use.

Q.

No, I know.

That is not the

words, but will you agree with me that was quick?

17

A.

18
19

A.

Right.

and ClaritySpring?

12
13

A gain.

A gain.

right?

9
10

Q.

197

It was a short-term gain on

shorting for them, for that particular instance.
634

Q.

And you were told before the

20

article came out that the article would be coming

21

out; correct?

22

A.

No, I don't think I was ever told

23

when or whether an article was actually going to

24

come out.

25

also wasn't sure if there would be an article,

I had certainly factored a chance, but I
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1

whether it would be published before or after

2

earnings, which were coming up as well.

3

635

4
5
6

Q.

Okay.

A.

And I knew that I definitely

So let --

wanted to be short during earnings.
636

Q.

Right.

So I am going to take that

7

in two parts here.

8

chance, that chance that you thought that you had

9

was because of the discussions you had been having

10

When you said there was a

with Mr. Copeland; correct?

11

A.

Well, Mr. Copeland had asked

12

questions, and those questions seemed to indicate

13

that there was a likelihood of an article and that

14

it could be close.

15

637

Q.

What could be close?

You actually

16

thought that the article was coming out on Tuesday

17

August the 1st, right?

18

A.

No, I mean when reporters tend to

19

get later in the stages of fact-checking, the

20

questions tend to get more precise.

21

638

Q.

Okay.

Again, the chance that the

22

article was coming out was based on discussions and

23

interactions you had with Mr. Copeland?

24
25

198

639

A.

Yes.

Q.

Right.

And we know that he sent
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1

you a text message at 3:20 p.m. before the article

2

came out that the article was coming out; do you

3

remember that?

4

A.

I remember seeing it later.

I

5

don't know if that was -- I mean, I was on the golf

6

course at that point, the mini golf course, but I

7

remember seeing it later, yes.

8

640

9

Q.

You were on the golf

course, the mini golf course, with your munchkins,

10

I believe?

11
12

Right.

641

A.

That is correct.

Q.

Right.

So while you were on the

13

golf course with your munchkins, I take it you

14

called your broker up and said, Close out my short

15

positions; correct?

16
17

199

642

18

A.

No.

So --

Q.

Did --

A.

-- I don't have a broker that I

19

speak with on the phone.

20

broker.

21

little underwhelmed because it seemed to focus more

22

on the existence of whistleblower complaints rather

23

than getting into the substance of the complaints.

24

And it made clear, you know, that these were --

25

there were litigants and described the

It is an electronic

So I skimmed the article, and I was a
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1

whistleblower program, but it was -- it struck me

2

as a pretty vanilla article, so I thought -- I

3

looked at the stock price.

4

overreacted based on the content and it would

5

likely bounce, so I covered my short and then

6

thought I would re-short on a bounce heading into

7

what I believed would be pretty disastrous

8

earnings.

9

I thought it

But then it really never bounced

10

significantly the next day, so I put on a smaller

11

short heading into earnings.

12

643

Q.

Okay.

So let's break that --

13

let's unpack that then, Mr. Anderson.

14

what you have told me is you read the article and

15

then you closed out your short position; correct?

16
17

644

A.

Yes.

Q.

Right.

I take from

And Mr. Copeland told you

18

at 3:20 before the article came out that it was

19

coming out, the article; correct?

20

MR. LUNG:

21

24
25

Can we see that text message

just so that we can have it up on the screen?

22
23

200

BY MR. NA:
645

Q.

Sure.

Do you see that, August

9th, 3:20 p.m.:
"I have never had to lift
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1

harder to get a story out."

2

A.

I didn't -- so I didn't take from

3

that that that meant there was an imminent article.

4

What I took from that was that the efforts at

5

stonewalling and the legal threats and the

6

intimidation tactics were so extreme that he had

7

never had to do as much work for as little

8

reporting, but that is --

9

646

Q.

Mr. Anderson, are you serious?

10

Mr. Anderson, when it says "story out", we are

11

talking about the article coming out, being

12

published, are we not?

13

A.

14
15

We are talking about the prospect

of an article coming out.
647

Q.

16

Sorry:
"I have never had to lift

17

harder to get a story out."

18

Correct?

19

A.

Not a prospect; correct?

It was a prospect at the time

20

because there was no article, and I wasn't sure

21

whether that indicated that they would ever be able

22

to get through their process to complete one or

23

whether they would be able to get it over the line.

24
25

201

648

Q.

Certainly Mr. Copeland would know

when the story would be out; correct?
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A.

I don't know what the internal

2

process is at the Wall Street Journal for whether

3

reporters are informed as to the timing of when an

4

article comes out --

5

649

Q.

Are you suggesting to me that ten

6

minutes -- sorry, nine minutes before the story is

7

published that Mr. Copeland had no idea of when the

8

story was coming out?

9

A.

I think given that he likely had

10

an indication of when or whether a story was coming

11

out, but that didn't convey to me through that

12

message.

13

650

14

Q.

Mr. Anderson, nine minutes before

the story is out he texts you to say:

15

"I have never had to lift

16

harder to get a story out."

17

Correct?

18

A.

Yes.

Q.

Right.

19
20

202

651

Mr. Copeland is telling

you the story is out; correct?

21

MR. LUNG:

Sorry, just to correct, the

22

story is not out at 3:20, is it?

23

saying 3:29.

24

MR. NA:

25

MR. LUNG:

I recall you

Mr. Lung, please, please.
Well, I just don't want to
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1

confuse this.

2

you know, it is relevant that the story wasn't out

3

at the time that that message was sent.

4
5

If you are looking at minutes here,

BY MR. NA:
652

Q.

Mr. Lung, in my questions I said

6

nine minutes before the story is published

7

Mr. Copeland is writing to Mr. Anderson:

8

"I have never had to lift

9

harder to get a story out."

10

I said that in my question.

11

no confusion.

12

There is

Isn't that true, Mr. Anderson?

A.

Well, from my vantage point

13

reading that and not knowing when or whether a

14

story is coming out, I interpret that as hopefully

15

your efforts are worthwhile and that you are

16

ultimately successful at getting a story out and

17

can get through the stonewalling process.

18

653

19

Q.

We know that on August the 8th

they met with Callidus, Copeland did; correct?

20

MR. LUNG:

I think Mr. Anderson

21

testified that he actually doesn't know.

22

at that meeting.

23
24
25

203

He wasn't

BY MR. NA:
654

Q.

You are absolutely right.

What he

told -- what he said was Mr. Copeland reported on
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1

their meeting that they had.

2

So we now know on August the 8th that they met, and

3

Mr. Copeland reported to Mr. Anderson about the

4

meeting, and that is why he said there is stuff

5

about stonewalling; correct?

6

A.

He didn't know when.

Correct?

Throughout the process there

7

seemed to be stonewalling, so I don't know if I can

8

distinguish which, like, letter, meeting, call, was

9

stonewalling, but it all seemed to be stonewalling.

10

655

11

Q.

Right.

And after stonewalling, as

you put it, Mr. Copeland is writing to you:

12

"Never had to lift harder to

13

get a story [...]" and I put

14

emphasis on "out."

15

That is right, isn't it?

16

A.

Well, the business of a journalist

17

is to get stories out, and I certainly think he

18

endeavoured to get a story out, and he conveyed to

19

me that it was really difficult in this case to get

20

any story out and that is what I took from it.

21

656

22
23
24
25

204

657

Q.

Right.

And we know --

A.

Which was consistent with --

Q.

-- where he got it -- sorry, go

A.

And that was consistent with the

ahead.
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1

kind of tidbits I had received along the way that

2

there was stonewalling.

3

658

Q.

Mr. Anderson, we know that you did

4

communicate with Mr. Copeland by telephone.

5

believe Mr. Copeland said he had two lines?

6

Correct?

7

A.

8
9

I

Oh, yes, I spoke with Rob on the

phone multiple -659

Q.

Right, Mr. Lung knows exactly

10

where I'm going with this.

11

telephone records that Mr. Dearden asked for, I

12

will ask for the telephone records of Mr. Anderson

13

to calls made to the Wall Street Journal or to Mr.

14

Copeland or Ms. McNish during the time frames that

15

we have been speaking about from January to August

16

10, 2017 --

17
18

205

MR. LUNG:

In addition to the

Was that requested already?

Did Rick already ask for that?

19

MR. NA:

I wasn't sure if he made the

20

request of Mr. Copeland.

21

U/A

22

under advisement.

23

you are asking for.

24

records evidencing calls between Mr. Anderson and

25

the Wall Street Journal during that time frame, the

MR. LUNG:

Okay.

It is fine.

Well, I'll take it
I mean, I get what

You are asking for telephone
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Mr. Anderson.

2

THE DEPONENT:

3

Thank you.

Have a good

one.

4

MR. LUNG:

5

I just have one question on

re-examination.

6

MR. NA:

7

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. LUNG:

8
9

1140

Q.

Oh, pardon me.

It is okay.

Sorry.

Mr. Anderson, can you

give us an explanation of why there are no phone

10

records after July 8th and, in particular, what

11

steps you took to obtain those records?

12

A.

Yeah.

So -- well, the initial

13

request, I think, was geared towards trying to

14

capture the phone records, I think, in response to

15

an issue raised in Mr. Riley's affidavit where he

16

suggested that the conversation with former

17

Catalyst CEO Chester Dawes had not occurred.

18

So I tailored the requests around the

19

time when I thought I would have spoken with him,

20

but the process to go through that request is --

21

with Verizon, they only make recent records

22

available.

23

into archives, and it was a scenario where every

24

time I spoke with a customer service rep, they

25

seemed to have a different answer, where it either

So to go back years requires them going
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1

wasn't possible, it was only possible via court

2

order, only possible via subpoena.

3

had said that he could email me the records right

4

away before putting me on hold for an hour and just

5

hanging up.

6

I think one guy

And in the end, one of the individuals

7

had said that he could mail the records to my

8

address, but because I had switched from a personal

9

account to a business account, that the records

10

could only be sent to the address I lived at at the

11

time I had the personal account, and that was the

12

apartment that I previously lived at.

13

So at the time, I had said, Okay, go

14

ahead and send those records, even though it is at

15

my previous address, and I had a Spanish-speaking

16

friend call the superintendent of the building,

17

because he is a Spanish speaker, to ask if he could

18

intercept the letter, which he had to do with the

19

permission of the tenant who currently -- or at

20

least at the time lived there, which he was able to

21

do.

22

was at the time.

23

And then he shipped the records out to where I

So that was the process for trying to

24

get those, and obviously I tried to repeat the

25

process but have gone through the -- and run-around
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1

with several, and then had one person at Verizon

2

say that they could send me the records by mail.

3

haven't received those records and had thought

4

maybe they sent them to the old address again

5

rather than the current address and have been just

6

trying to get clarity on whether the records were

7

actually mailed out or, if so, where they might

8

actually be.

9

MR. LUNG:

Okay.

I

That is it.

10
11

-- Adjourned at 12:49 p.m.

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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225 King Street West, Suite 1500
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Fax:

416.867.9192
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Lucas E. Lung
Direct Line: 416.601.2673
Direct Fax: 416.601.4192
llung@lerners.ca

April 27, 2021
FILE NUMBER 00110681-00001
DELIVERED VIA E-MAIL
Richard Dearden
Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP
Suite 2600, 160 Elgin Street
Ottawa, ON K1P 1C3
Dear Mr. Dearden:
Re:

Nathan Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc. ats Callidus Capital Corporation et al.

I write further to my email, dated December 14, 2020, regarding certain questions taken under
advisement and refusals at the cross-examination of Nathan Anderson held on November 20, 2020. In
my December 14, 2020 email, I stated, in relevant part:
With respect to items #1, 8, 10 and 11 [of the plaintiffs’ Chart of Questions Taken Under
Advisement and Refusals], Mr. Anderson is in possession of phone records from
November 2016 until July 8, 2017. To the extent that any of those records are
responsive to requests 1, 8, 10 and 11, they will be produced. Mr. Anderson does not
have phone records for the period after July 8, 2017, but he will make reasonable efforts
to obtain them from Verizon.
Attached are Mr. Anderson’s phone records for the period between November 9, 2016 and July 8,
2017. We have redacted all account and call information except calls with the individuals identified in
items #1, 8, 10 and 11 of the Chart. Mr. Anderson’s records show the telephone numbers of those
individuals to be as follows:


Rob Copeland: 212-416-2752, 203-912-7005



Greg Boland: 416-471-1851



Phil Panet: 647-724-8917, 647-724-8900



Jacquie McNish: 416-306-2031, 647-224-7554



Jeff McFarlane: 919-813-7788, 919-279-0443



Darryl Levitt: 416-879-6965, 416-826-3495
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Bruce Langstaff: 647-967-5040



Wes Voorheis: 416-903-9256



Bruce Livesey: 647-341-3989



Gerald Duhamel: 819-816-9431

Mr. Anderson was unable to obtain copies of his Verizon phone records for the period after July 8,
2017. This is a summary of Mr. Anderson’s attempts to obtain copies of those records:


On December 18, 2020, Mr. Anderson called Verizon requesting phone records for the period
July 2017 until September 2017. A Verizon representative told Mr. Anderson to send an email
request.



On December 23, 2020, Mr. Anderson sent an email to Verizon requesting the records.



On December 25, 2020, Mr. Anderson received a response from Verizon informing him that
there were no archived records for that account number. On December 31, 2020, Mr. Anderson
sent Verizon another email confirming that the number belonged to him, that the request was for
a legal matter, and that the matter was time sensitive. He asked that Verizon advise of the best
way to proceed.



On January 1, 2021, Mr. Anderson received an automatic response stating that Verizon does
not disclose information regarding billed or unbilled calls and that he should call Customer Care.



On January 8, 2021, Mr. Anderson called Verizon to make another request for the records. The
Verizon representative put him on hold. After a while, the call disconnected.



On January 11, 2021, Mr. Anderson again called Verizon to make another request for the
records. The Verizon representative told Mr. Anderson that because it is for a legal matter, the
records would have to be requested through a subpoena. Mr. Anderson explained to the
Verizon representative that he previously obtained records. The representative again told Mr.
Anderson that he would need to obtain a subpoena. He subsequently received a text message
from Verizon stating: “"Free Verizon Msg: Hi ! This is from VZW. Proper legal documents:
subpoena with customer consen, (sic) civil court order or search”.



On January 21, 2021, Mr. Anderson sent another email to Verizon requesting the records. Mr.
Anderson received an automated response indicating that he could obtain the records through
My Business, Verizon’s online customer interface. However, Mr. Anderson is no longer a
customer of Verizon and therefore has no access My Business.



On February 20, 2021, Mr. Anderson again called Verizon. He sat on hold for a long period of
time. When he eventually reached a representative, the line disconnected. He called again, but
hung up after sitting on hold for another half hour.
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On March 25, 2021, Mr. Anderson made another call to Verizon. The representative first told
him that his request could not be fulfilled, but later in the call, the representative told him that the
records would be mailed to him.



On April 11, 2021, after not receiving the records, Mr. Anderson placed another call to Verizon
but was not given confirmation that the records were in fact sent.



When he previously requested phone records, they were sent to the address of his apartment at
the time of the account. The superintendent of the apartment building was able to intercept the
records and send them to Mr. Anderson. On April 12, 2021, Mr. Anderson attempted to call the
superintendent of his old apartment building, but he was unable to reach him.

We have attached email correspondence between Mr. Anderson and Verizon.
Yours truly,

Lucas E. Lung
Partner
LEL/jv
Enclosures
6939211.1
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May 10, 2021
FILE NUMBER 00110681-00001
DELIVERED VIA E-MAIL
Richard Dearden
Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP
Suite 2600, 160 Elgin Street
Ottawa, ON K1P 1C3
Dear Mr. Dearden:
Re:

Nathan Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc. ats Callidus Capital Corporation et al.

We write to provide answers to undertakings and certain answers that were taken under advisement at
the cross-examination of Nathan Anderson on April 28, 2021.
Undertakings
Page:Line:
Question

Question

Answer

1.

293:13:931
294:1:933

To confirm that the January 27, 2017
email was the last communication
with Liza Telford and if it is not, to
produce
any
subsequent
communications.

Mr. Anderson sent one additional email
on April 28, 2017 but that email had no
text. That email is included in Appendix
A.

2.

354:16:1139

To confirm the time of the call with
647-967-5040 on January 4, 2017.

5:22 p.m.

Questions Taken Under Advisement

3.

Page:Line:
Question

Question

Answer

254:5:801

Of the ten categories of documents See answer to #10, below.
listed in the Notice of Examination,
whether there are any additional Any communications with Mr. Copeland
and Ms. McNish were previously
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documents to produce?

produced.

4.

258:24:808

To produce any communications, See answer to #10.
with any investors, including any
emails, LinkedIn messages, and any
notes of conversations with them.

5.

260:5:814

To produce any emails or other See answer to #10.
written communications with Jeffrey
Murphy at Eastman Kodak.

6.

260:18:816

To produce any email or other See answer to #10.
written communication with Metlife.

7.

261:18:822

To produce any email or other See answer to #10.
written communication with Verdis.

8.

262:3: 824

To produce any email or other See answer to #10.
written communication with Norman
Kratchuk at Rose Company.

9.

264:7:834

To provide the name of the investor
represented by Mr. Kratfchuk who
was
dissatisfied
with
the
performance of the Catalyst funds.

Mr. Anderson does not recall the name
of the investor but recalls the investor
may have been a family member of Mr.
Gluskin.

10.

269:12:845

To provide copies of any emails,
LinkedIn messages and other
communications with the individuals
identified in the spreadsheet that
was marked Exhibit 9 at Mr.
Anderson’s cross-examination.

Mr. Anderson’s position is that this was
not a proper request on this crossexamination, given the limited scope of
the cross-examination and the time that
was available. Nevertheless, he has
made
best
efforts
to
identify
correspondence with investors, past
employees and company executives.
Attached together as Appendix A is
email correspondence between Mr.
Anderson
and
past
employees,
company executives and investors.
Attached together as Appendix B, in the
form of a single bookmarked PDF, are
LinkedIn
messages
with
past
employees, company executives and
investors.
Attached together as Appendix C are
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notes that were taken during calls with
past employees, company executives
and investors. Other notes are
contained in the spreadsheet that was
marked as Exhibit 9 to Mr. Anderson’s
cross-examination.
11.

272:3:852

To produce a copy of the Catalyst That
document
was
previously
2009 investor reference list referred produced as AND0000372. It is also
to in the spreadsheet.
Exhibit 23 to the May 22, 2017
Whistleblower submission, which is
attached as Exhibit “K” to Mr.
Anderson’s November 8, 2019 affidavit.

12.

282:9:892

To produce all emails exchanged See answer to #10.
between Mr. Anderson and Mr.
Gluskin regarding Callidus and its
associated individuals.

13.

286:16:905

To produce all communications
exchanged with people at the
University of Toronto, including any
documents he provided to them or
that they provided to him.

14.

294:14:934

To
produce
any
email See answer to #10.
communications with John Wolok at
Morgan Stanley.

15.

298:4:298

To produce LinkedIn messages with See answer to #10.
Darla McPherson.

16.

330:13:1052

To consent to a court order for Mr. Anderson would not oppose a
production of phone records for July motion for an order requiring Verizon to
and August 2017 from Verizon.
produce phone records for July and
August 2017, provided that Mr.
Anderson has an opportunity to redact
those records of any calls that are not
responsive to the specific undertakings
arising from the November 20, 2020
cross-examination
prior
to
their
production to the plaintiffs.
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See answer to #10. Mr. Anderson
answered in response to question #906
that he did not receive any documents
from the University of Toronto. Mr.
Anderson did not provide any
documents to the University of Toronto.
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Yours truly,

Lucas E. Lung
Enclosures: Appendix A – Emails; Appendix B – LinkedIn Messages; Appendix C - Notes
6996414.1
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Excerpt from Supplementary Affidavit of N.
Anderson (SMRAND, tab 1)

-5-

key holders and/or executives subsequently were charged with securities fraud by the
SEC.
B. My Relationship with Rob Copeland
12.

At paragraphs 280-285 of the Riley Libel Affidavit and paragraphs 180-181 of the

Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley comments on my relationship with Copeland.
13.

I have known Copeland since approximately 2012 or 2013. Our relationship has

always been a professional one, as between journalist/reporter and source.
14.

Contrary to what is suggested by Mr. Riley, I am not aware of ever having shorted

a company that Copeland had written about. I can confirm that I had not shorted any
company in respect of which I provided information to Copeland as a source.
15.

With respect to Catalyst and Callidus specifically, I initially approached Copeland

in approximately February 2017 because of his work on other fraud investigations,
including RD Legal and Platinum Partners. I thought that Copeland might be familiar with
Catalyst and Callidus and might have information about them or a perspective on their
activities. In fact, when I mentioned Catalyst and Callidus to Copeland, he told me that he
was not aware of them, and had no information about them to provide me.
16.

In his affidavits, Mr. Riley refers to text messages exchanged between Copeland

and me, including those that make it explicitly clear that they were jokes. These texts,
including photos sometimes contained therein, must be assessed in context. They were
largely sarcastic, meant with humour and in jest. I have no personal animus against
Glassman or Callidus; indeed, I have never met Glassman, and I had never heard of him
or Callidus before this whistleblower case.
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17.

At paragraph 254 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley suggests that I

      because I did not want to produce them in this
proceeding. I did not produce these text messages because they are no longer stored on
my cell phone. I have no recollection of when the text messages cleared, but I believe
they may have deleted automatically with the passage of time. I can confirm that there
was no deliberate attempt on my part to delete these text messages.
C. My Short Selling Activity
18.

At paragraphs 23-30 of the Riley Conspiracy Affidavit, Mr. Riley describes short

              
            
            
               
            
campaign.
19.

It seems to me that on          

or unlawful in Canada         
he nor any of the authorities he cites describe it as unlawful, even when in the context of
    I understand that short selling activity becomes unlawful only
where it rises to market manipulation, which is prohibited under the Ontario Securities
Act             
deliberately manipulating share prices and impacting the integrity of markets.
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A.

I spoke with him about other

2

research opportunities.

3

opportunities as well as short research

4

opportunities.

5

1116

Q.

We looked at long research

All right.

What I have on the

6

screen, Mr. Anderson, is a copy of Mr. Voorheis'

7

trading records you'll see of August the 3rd.

8

will see Callidus short approximately 1.29 million.

9

Mr. Voorheis also was short Eros of approximately

10

612,000 U.S. dollars; do you see that?

11
12

1117

13

A.

I do.

Q.

And those are the other

opportunities you spoke to him about?

14

A.

15

opportunities.

16

You

1118

Q.

I spoke with him about multiple

Multiple.

Okay.

And

17

Mr. Voorheis -- sorry, Mr. Anderson, those multiple

18

opportunities that you spoke about, did you also

19

speak to him about a bonus that he was to pay to

20

you?

21

R/F

22

this deals with Callidus or Catalyst, then it is

23

refused for being irrelevant.

24
25

MR. LUNG:

Sorry, this is -- unless

BY MR. NA:
1119

Q.

Mr. Anderson, did you enter into a
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1

bonus-type arrangement where Mr. Voorheis was going

2

to pay you a bonus for these shorting opportunities

3

that included Callidus?

4

R/F

5

it relates to Callidus, it is refused, and --

MR. LUNG:

6

MR. NA:

Refused.

7

Refused.

That is why I asked.

That is

why I said Callidus, Mr. Lung.

8

MR. LUNG:

9

have been asked back in November.

10

And these questions should
All of these

documents were available at that time.

11
12

Unless

BY MR. NA:
1120

Q.

We did not have these phone

13

records.

14

made and 50 calls -- or 50 calls received from

15

Mr. Voorheis and Mr. Anderson.

16

We did not know that there were 50 calls

Mr. Anderson, I'm going to ask you

17

again, and I've put up a document that may help

18

you.

19

see on the left "Consulting"?

This is from Mr. Voorheis' productions.

20
21

1121

22
23

second.

24

Oh, okay.

25

1122

You

A.

I do.

Q.

Do you see "Nate bonus"?

A.

Where is -- actually, hold on a

I don't know if we are on the right tab.
"Consulting".
Q.

Do you see the hand?
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1
2

1123

3

A.

I do.

Q.

Do you see that?

U.S. dollars

"Nate, unrealized 20,000, Nate bonus 30,000"?

4
5

348

1124

A.

I do.

Q.

You had an arrangement with

6

Mr. Voorheis where he would pay you a quote/unquote

7

"bonus" for these other shorting opportunities that

8

you spoke about?

9

A.

I honestly don't remember the

10

details, but I do know that I had no compensation

11

arrangement with him relating to Callidus nor any

12

bonus opportunity relating to Callidus.

13

1125

14
15

1126

16

19
20

You go by "Nate", don't you?

A.

For my friends.

Q.

Correct.

Well, you can see your

Zoom profile says "Nate Anderson".

17
18

Q.

1127

A.

Zoom?

Oh, yes.

Q.

Sorry, it's not on the document.

It is on the screen.
Mr. Anderson, you had discussed with

21

Mr. Voorheis arrangements where he would pay you a

22

bonus or some type of a consulting fee or some type

23

of a payment with respect to shorting

24

opportunities?

25

MR. LUNG:

And he has answered that.
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1

Mr. Anderson has said that he didn't receive any

2

compensation whatsoever.

3
4

BY MR. NA:
1128

Q.

I understand he may not have

5

received it.

6

different, Mr. Lung.

7

My question is a little bit

Mr. Anderson, you and Mr. Voorheis did

8

discuss an arrangement just like I just stated

9

where he would pay you a type of fee, a bonus,

10

whether it is consulting or some type of

11

remuneration?

12

Mr. Voorheis relating to shorting opportunities?

13

A.

You had that discussion with

I had no arrangement related to

14

shorting, whether it be bonus or any compensation

15

relating to Callidus.

16

research opportunities, I had compensation

17

arrangements.

18

1129

19
20

1130

With respect to other

Q.

With Mr. Voorheis?

A.

Yes.

Q.

And that included Eros and Opko?

21

R/F

22

not relevant to this proceeding.

23
24
25

MR. LUNG:

No, that is refused.

It is

BY MR. NA:
1131

Q.

Let me go back to your phone

records, Mr. Anderson.

The calls that you had with
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SECURITIES ACT, RSO 1990, c S5
Fraud and market manipulation

126.1 (1) A person or company shall not, directly or indirectly, engage or participate in
any act, practice or course of conduct relating to securities, derivatives or the underlying
interest of a derivative that the person or company knows or reasonably ought to know,
(a) results in or contributes to a misleading appearance of trading activity in, or an
artificial price for, a security, derivative or underlying interest of a derivative; or
(b) perpetrates a fraud on any person or company. 2010, c. 26, Sched. 18, s. 33.
Attempts

(2) A person or company shall not, directly or indirectly, attempt to engage or participate
in any act, practice or course of conduct that is contrary to subsection (1). 2013, c. 2,
Sched. 13, s. 3.
Section Amendments with date in force (d/m/y)
Misleading or untrue statements

126.2 (1) A person or company shall not make a statement that the person or company
knows or reasonably ought to know,
(a) in a material respect and at the time and in the light of the circumstances under
which it is made, is misleading or untrue or does not state a fact that is required
to be stated or that is necessary to make the statement not misleading; and
(b) would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or
value of a security, derivative or underlying interest of a derivative. 2002, c. 22,
s. 182; 2004, c. 31, Sched. 34, s. 4 (1); 2010, c. 26, Sched. 18, s. 34.
Same

(2) A breach of subsection (1) does not give rise to a statutory right of action for
damages otherwise than under Part XXIII or XXIII.1. 2004, c. 31, Sched. 34, s. 4 (2).
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REASONS AND DECISION
OVERVIEW
A.

Background to the Proceeding

[1]

Two Applications were filed in relation to an offer of SHLD Acquisition Corp.
(SHLD), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sears Holdings Corporation to acquire all
of the outstanding common shares of Sears Canada Inc. (Sears Canada) not
owned by it or its affiliates (the "Offer"). The Offer was announced on December
5, 2005, formally commenced on February 9, 2006 and expires on August 31,
2006.

[2]

In conjunction with the Offer, Sears Holdings informed the shareholders of Sears
Canada of its intention to take Sears Canada private following the completion of
the Offer pursuant to a second step subsequent acquisition transaction (SAT), for
which "majority of the minority" approval would be required under Ontario
Securities Commission Rule 61-501 - Insider Bids, Issuers Bids, Business
Com binations and Related Party Transactions (2004), 27 O.S.C.B. 5975 ("Rule
61-501"). Sears Holdings intends to complete the SAT in December 2006.

[3]

On April 6, 2006, Sears Holdings announced that it had entered into agreements
with holders of a sufficient number of Sears Canada shares to assure that any
SAT undertaken by Sears Holdings would be approved by a majority of the
minority of the shareholders of Sears Canada.

[4]

On June 5, 2006, SHLD and Sears Holdings Corporation (collectively, Sears
Holdings) filed an application for relief (the Sears Holdings Application) under
sections 104 and 127 of the Securities Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. S.5 (the Act) in
respect of the conduct of Pershing Square Capital Management L.P. (Pershing),
Hawkeye Capital Management, LLC (Hawkeye) and Knott Partners Management
LLC (Knott) (collectively, the Pershing Group) in connection with the Offer. The
fundamental allegation against the Pershing Group is that they engaged in joint
activity in a coordinated effort to thwart the Offer and to frustrate the expressed
will of the majority of the minority shareholders of Sears Canada. They allege
numerous breaches of Ontario securities law and seek relief from the
Commission against Pershing and the Pershing Group under sections 127 and
104 of the Act.

[5]

On June 5, 2006, the Pershing Group filed an application for relief against Sears
Holdings (the Pershing Application) under sections 104 and 127 of the Act. They
allege that various aspects of the conduct of Sears Holdings in pursuing its Offer
violated Ontario securities law and constituted abusive and coercive conduct. The
Pershing Group therefore requests that the Commission exercise its public
interest jurisdiction and make an order under sections 127 and 104 of the Act.

[6]

The Commission issued a Notice of Hearing pursuant to subsection 104(1) and
section 127 of the Act on May 17, 2006, scheduling a hearing commencing on
Wednesday July 5, 2006 to consider the above-noted Applications. An Amended
Notice of Hearing was issued on June 7, 2006 setting down the hearing for July
4, 2006.

[7]

Although The Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS), Scotia Capital Inc. (Scotia Capital) and
The Royal Bank of Canada (RBC) are not named as parties to the Pershing
Application, certain issues have been raised by the Pershing Group which relate
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[8]

Prior to the hearing, we also heard and determined several motions for
production of documents made by the parties. Most of these motions were heard
and determined by the Chair of the panel at the request and with the consent of
the parties. These motions resulted in several orders for pre-hearing production.
We also made an order compelling William Anderson to testify at the hearing on
the merits.
B.

The Parties

[9]

Sears Holdings Corporation is the United States' third largest broadline retailer
with annual revenues in excess of $55 billion. It is the leading home appliance
retailer as well as a leader in tools, garden, electronics, home and automotive
repair and maintenance. Prior to the announcement of the Offer, Sears Holdings
held 57,732,517 common shares of Sears Canada (approximately 53.8 percent
of the outstanding common shares). It is therefore an insider within the meaning
of Rule 61-501.

[10]

SHLD is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sears Holdings Corporation. SHLD was
incorporated for the sole purpose of making the Offer.

[11]

Pershing is a New York based registered investment advisor to several
investment funds (the Pershing Funds) with total capital of more than U.S. $1.8
billion. William Ackman is the founder and principal of Pershing. Pershing
manages capital on behalf of more than 200 individuals, pension funds,
charitable organizations, educational endowments and other institutional and
corporate investors. Pershing began investing in Sears Canada in February 2005
based on its belief that Sears Canada was undervalued. In their written
submissions, the Pershing Group stated that the Pershing Funds owned
5,601,400 Sears Canada shares (approximately 5.2 percent of the outstanding
shares). The Pershing Funds are also entitled to the economic benefit of an
additional 6,900,000 Sears Canada shares (approximately 6.4 percent of the
outstanding shares of Sears Canada) under cash-settled derivatives transactions
with a resulting total economic interest equal to approximately 11.6 percent of
the outstanding shares of Sears Canada.

[12]

Hawkeye was founded in November 1999 and is a provider of investment
management services in New York. Hawkeye's activities are focused on
researching and investing in equity and debt securities on behalf of Hawkeye
Capital L.P.'s limited partners. The written submissions indicate that Hawkeye
owned or controlled 1,525,872 Sears Canada shares (approximately 1.42
percent of the outstanding shares of Sears Canada).

[13]

Knott is a New York limited liability company. Knott provides discretionary
investment advisory services which include managing and directing the
investment of assets for individuals, institutional clients and private investment
limited partnerships. The written submissions indicate that Knott owned or
controlled 1,114,300 Sears Canada shares (approximately 1.04 percent of the
outstanding shares of Sears Canada). In addition to trading in the shares of
Sears Canada for its own account, Knott trades shares in Sears Canada on behalf
of a number of investment funds.
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to and could impact on BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC. Accordingly, we granted full
standing to BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC on the consent of all the parties and
subject to the conditions set out in our Orders.

7
C.
[14]

The Applications

The relevant events leading up to both the Sears Holdings and the Pershing
Group's Applications being filed with the Commission are as follows.

[15]

Sears Holdings Corporation was formed as a result of the merger between Sears,
Roebuck and Co. and Kmart Holdings Corporation on March 24, 2005.

[16]

On June 13, 2005, Sears Canada announced it would consider strategic
alternatives for its credit and financial services business.

[17]

On August 31, 2005, Sears Canada announced an agreement with J.P. Morgan
Chase & Co. to sell its credit and financial services business for approximately
$2.2 billion in cash proceeds and stated that it proposed to make a substantial
cash distribution from the proceeds of the sale to the shareholders of Sears
Canada.

[18]

The same day, the Institutional Equity Group at Scotia Capital purchased
125,000 Sears Canada. From August 31 to December 16, 2005, Scotia Capital
Institutional Equity Group made further purchases of Sears Canada shares for an
aggregate of 513,000 shares.

[19]

On September 14, 2005, Sears Canada announced that it proposed to distribute
approximately $2 billion of the proceeds of the sale of the credit card and
financial services assets to its shareholders. Sears Canada's share price
increased to over $30.00 per share after the announcement.

[20]

Between, October 31 and November 29, 2005, Scotia Capital's Capital Markets
Group purchased 4,000,000 Sears Canada shares. These shares were purchased
in the market through trades effected over the facilities of the TSX. Scotia
Capital's Capital Markets Group purchase d these 4,000,000 Sears Canada
shares to partially hedge its risk in relation to equity swap transactions it had
entered into with SunTrust Capital Markets Inc. ("SunTrust") and a broker
dealer. To further reduce its exposure, between November 29, 2005 and
December 13, 2005, Scotia Capital's Capital Markets Group also entered into
three total return swaps with Canadian institutions in relation to 2,042,100 Sears
Canada shares.

[21]

In November 2005, Sears Canada presented a proposal to its board of directors
(code named "Project Dawn") setting out a number of cost saving initiatives for
an estimated total of $301 million.

[22]

On December 2, 2005, Sears Canada announced that its board of directors had
declared that $4.38 per share would be paid to all shareholders of Sears Canada
on December 16, 2005 as a return of capital and that a $14.26 per share
dividend would also be paid on that day. The Pershing Funds are non-resident
shareholders of Sears Canada for the purpose of Canadian tax laws. As a result,
Pershing approached SunTrust with a view to entering into cash-settled total
return swaps approximately equivalent to 5.3 million Sears Canada shares (the
"2005 Pershing Swaps"). The purpose of Pershing entering into the 2005
Pershing Swaps was to minimize its exposure to Canadian withholding taxes by
disposing of its Sears Canada shares prior to receiving the dividend while
maintaining an economic interest in the performance of Sears Canada shares. In
anticipation of entering into the 2005 Swaps, Pershing sold all of its shares of
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[23]

On December 4, 2005, Sears Holdings advised the directors of Sears Canada
that it intended to make an insider bid to acquire all of the Sears Canada shares
not then held by Sears Holdings for a purchase price of $16.86 per share. Sears
Holdings also advised the directors of Sears Canada that it had entered into an
agreement with Natcan Investment Management Inc. ("Natcan") pursuant to
which Natcan has agreed to tender 9,699,862 shares of Sears Canada to the
intended Offer.

[24]

On December 4, 2005, Scotia Capital, having heard of the yet to be announced
bid, contacted Sears Holdings to secure a retainer as the financial advisor to
Sears Holdings in connection with the Offer. Between December 4 and 16, 2005,
Scotia Capital concurrently sought a retainer as the financial advisor to the
Special Committee of Sears Canada (described below) but was not selected
because of concerns about its lack of independence due to its banking
relationship with Sears Canada. On December 16, 2005, Scotia Capital pursued
its effort to secure a retainer as the financial advisor to Sears Holdings. On
December 29, 2005, Scotia Capital met with representatives of Sears Holdings to
make a pitch for the financial advisory mandate. The retainer was formalized in
an engagement letter dated January 6, 2006 (the Engagement Letter). Under
the Engagement Letter, Scotia Capital was entitled to a fee of $50,000 per
month and a success fee of $400,000 if the transaction was accomplished at a
price at or below the initial Offer price of $16.86 per share.
Relevant Events Relating to the Offer

[25]

On December 5, 2005, Sears Holdings publicly announced its intention to make
an insider bid to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Sears Canada not owned
by it at a price of $16.86 per share. The announcement indicated that the insider
bid would be subject to the usual condition that a majority (on a fully diluted
basis) of the Sears Canada shares not owned by Sears Holdings be tendered (the
Minimum Tender Condition). Sears Holdings also publicly disclosed that it had
entered into a lock-up agreement with Natcan on December 3, 2005, pursuant to
which Natcan had agreed to tender 9,699,862 shares, representing 9.06 percent
of the outstanding shares of Sears Canada, into Sears Holdings' proposed insider
bid.

[26]

The next day, the board of directors of Sears Canada formed a Special
Committee of its directors (the "Special Committee") which consisted of the six
independent directors of Sears Canada, to supervise the preparation of a formal
valuation and to review and make a recommendation to the board of directors of
Sears Canada with respect to the proposed ins ider bid. Mr. William Anderson
(Anderson) was appointed Chair of the Special Committee. The Special
Committee was authorized to retain independent legal counsel and independent
financial advisors to assist it in carrying out its responsibilities. The Fasken
Martineau law firm was retained on December 9, 2005. Genuity Capital Markets
("Genuity") was retained on December 15, 2005, to serve as independent
valuator and financial advisor to the Special Committee. Genuity was asked to
provide a formal valuation of Sears Canada and an opinion as to the fairness of
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[27]

On January 10, 2006, Sears Holdings applied to the securities regulators in
Ontario and a number of other provinces acros s Canada for exemptive relief from
the requirement of Ontario securities law (and the analogous requirement in the
other Canadian jurisdictions) to include a formal valuation of the Sears Canada
shares in its Take-Over Bid Circular on the grounds that the Genuity valuation
was not being prepared in a timely manner. Staff of the Commission
(Commission Staff) advised Sears Holdings that it was not prepared to grant the
requested relief at that time. However, Commission Staff agreed that such
exemptive relief sought by Sears Holdings would be granted in the event that
Genuity failed to deliver its valuation by the end of the week of February 6,
2006. Genuity delivered its formal Valuation and Inadequacy Opinion to the
Special Committee on February 7, 2006 (the Genuity Valuation).

[28]

On January 16, 2006, representatives of Sears Holdings met with Genuity to
convey their views in relation to the Genuity Valuation. On January 25, 2006,
Genuity advised the Special Committee that it anticipated reaching the
conclusion that the consideration Sears Holdings proposed to offer to the
minority shareholders of Sears Canada would be below the "bottom end of the
range of the fair market value" of the common shares. The Special Committee
arranged further meetings between Genuity and Sears Holdings in advance of
Genuity finalizing its formal valuation and opinion regarding the insider bid.
During these meetings, Genuity made a presentation to representatives of Sears
Holdings concerning its valuation and methodologies.

[29]

On February 6, 2006, Genuity met with and assured the Special Committee that
it had given "fair consideration" to the issues and concerns that Sears Holdings
had raised in respect of Genuity's valuation approach. On February 7, 2006,
Genuity delivered its Valuation to the Special Committee indicating that, in its
opinion, the fair market value of the shares of Sears Canada was in the range of
$19.00 to $22.25 per share and that the consideration under the proposed Offer
of Sears Holdings was inadequate from a financial point of view. In its calculation
of value, Genuity estimated costs savings of $95 million rather the $301 million
in costs savings originally identified by the Sears Canada Project Dawn initiative.

[30]

On February 6, 2006, Sears Holdings issued a press release announcing its
intention to mail the Take-Over Bid Circular and that the Offer would not be
subject to the previously announced Minimum Tender Condition.

[31]

Scotia Capital entered into an agreement with Sears Holdings on February 8,
2006 to form and manage a soliciting dealer group. Under this agreement, and
subject to a number of exceptions and limitations, soliciting dealers would be
entitled to a fee of $0.10 per common share for each share tendered to the
Offer.

[32]

On February 9, 2006, following the delivery of the Genuity Valuation, Sears
Holdings commenced its Offer for the shares of Sears Canada at $16.86 per
share by distributing its Offer and Take-Over Bid Circular ("Circular") to the
shareholders of Sears Canada. In its Circular, Sears Holdings was critical of the
Genuity Valuation for "ignoring" the matters that had been brought to Genuity's
attention by Sears Holdings. The insider bid was not subject to the Minimum
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[33]

Sears Canada distributed its Directors' Circular in relation to the insider bid on
February 21, 2006. The voting members of Sears Canada's board (being the six
independent directors comprising the Special Committee) recommended
unanimously that the shareholders of Sears Canada reject the Offer and not
tender their shares to the insider bid. They expressed the view that the Offer
was opportunistically timed and exerted pressure on Sears Canada and its
minority shareholders as evidenced by factors such as Sears Holdings'
application for exemptive relief from the requirement to include a formal
valuation of the shares of Sears Canada in its Circular as well as the absence of a
Minimum Tender Condition. In support of this recommendation, the Special
Committee noted among other things, that the Offer was financially inadequate,
significantly below the Genuity Valuation range and significantly below the
average trading price of the shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange since the
announcement of the Offer on December 5, 2005.

[34]

On February 22, 2006, Sears Holdings issued a lengthy press release responding
to the Directors' Circular.

[35]

On February 27, 2006, Sears Canada announced that all six of the independent
directors of the board of Sears Canada had given notice that they would not
stand for re-election at the next annual meeting of shareholders.

[36]

In late February 2006, Sears Holdings were advised by Scotia Capital that a
significant number of shares of Sears Canada were potentially held by Canadian
banks and had been acquired in connection with derivative trades transacted in
connection with the extraordinary cash dividend paid by Sears Canada in
December 2005. On February 28, 2006, Scotia Capital confirmed t o Sears
Holdings that based on its inquiries it estimated about 9 to 10 percent of the
total shares outstanding were held by such shareholders, including 4 million
shares held by BNS, 0.5 million shares held by Scotia Capital, 2 million shares
held indirectly by BNS through swaps and 3 million shares held by RBC.

[37]

On March 17, 2006, the initial expiration date of the Offer, Sears Holdings took
up 10,161,968 Sears Canada shares of which 9,699,862 or more than 95
percent, had been deposited pursuant to the Natcan lock-up agreement. By this
date, Sears Holdings owned 67,894,485 Sears Canada shares, representing 63.2
percent of the total outstanding shares.

[38]

On March 20, 2006, Sears Holdings issued a Notice of Extension of its insider bid
to March 31, 2006. The Notice of Extension indicated that, if "Sears Holdings
does not acquire a majority of the minority of Sears Canada", it will support the
elimination of what it characterized as the "recent practice" of Sears Canada of
paying quarterly dividends. This message was also conveyed by Sears Holdings
in a press release it issued that same day.

[39]

On March 28, 2006, Sears Holdings entered into Support Agreements with each
of BNS and Scotia Capital at a price of $16.86 per Sears Canada share. On the
same day, Sears Holdings entered into Escrow Agreements with each of BNS and
Scotia Capital for a total of 4,511,000 shares. These Escrow Agreements provide
that the Support Agreements involving BNS and Scotia Capital would be held in
escrow until at least a majority of the Sears Canada shares held by the minority
shareholders was acquired by Sears Holdings pursuant to its insider bid or had
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[40]

On March 31, 2006, Pershing sold 1,600,000 shares of Sears Canada to SunTrust
and entered into another cash-settled total return swap transaction with
SunTrust (the "2006 Pershing Swaps"), on substantially the same terms as the
2005 Pershing Swaps. SunTrust offered Pershing the alternative of cash or
physical settlement. At the time Pershing entered into the swap it elected cash
settlement. Pershing did not maintain a legal or beneficial interest in, or the
power to exercise control or direction over, the voting rights in respect of the
Sears Canada shares that were sold by it at the end of March.

[41]

On April 1, 2006, Sears Holdings entered into a deposit agreement with Vornado
(the Vornado Agreement) whereby Vornado agreed to deposit its 7,500,000
shares of Sears Canada to a revised Offer by Sears Holdings at an increased
price of $18.00 per share and an extended expiry date. These shares were
subsequently deposited and taken up such that Sears Holdings owned
75,441,763 (70.2 percent) of the outstanding Sears Canada shares. Pursuant to
the terms of the Vornado Agreement, Sears Holdings agreed to provide Vornado
with price protection until December 31, 2008 as a result of which it would pay
to Vornado the highest price paid to any other shareholder of Sears Canada
under its insider bid. Sears Holdings also provided a "litigation release" (the
Release) to Vornado as discussed more fully below. Sears Holdings undertook to
cause Sears Canada to provide the same Release in favour of Vornado.

[42]

On April 3, 2006, Sears Holdings disclosed the Vornado Agreement in a press
release. It also announced that it had increased its Offer to the shareholders of
Sears Canada from $16.86 per share to $18.00 per share and extended its Offer
to April 19, 2006. Sears Holdings further indicated that it s Offer had been
amended to provide that any dividend paid by Sears Canada after the date of the
Offer, including regular quarterly dividends would have to be remitted to Sears
Holdings by shareholders who tender.

[43]

Sears Holdings issued a Notice of Extension and Variation on April 4, 2006, which
described the amendments to the Offer and extended to all shareholders of
Sears Canada whose shares were acquired pursuant to the Offer the price
protection that had been granted to Vornado. The Release was not referred to.

[44]

On April 5, 2006, Pershing purchased 204,000 additional shares of Sears
Canada, which brought its ownership to approximately 3.47 percent of the
outstanding shares of Sears Canada.

[45]

On April 5, 2006, Sears Holdings entered into a Support Agreement with RBC in
respect of 3.1 million of the 3.9 million Sears Canada shares owned by RBC.

[46]

On April 6, 2006, Sears Holdings announced that unnamed shareholders holding
7,611,000 Sears Canada shares (being the number of shares subject to the
Support Agreements with BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC) had agreed to vote in
favour of a SAT at $18.00 a share to be effected either as a share consolidation
or plan of arrangement. Sears Holdings also stated that Sears Holdings and its
affiliates "will own or have support commitments for sufficient shares to assure
the necessary shareholder approval of a going private transaction of Sears
Canada at the offer price of C$18.00 per share."
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become subject to support agreements substantially similar to the Support
Agreements entered into by BNS and Scotia Capital.

[47]

The same day, Pershing acquired 1,868,400 additional shares of Sears Canada,
increasing its interest to 5.21 percent and Hawkeye purchased 100,000 shares of
Sears Canada.

[48]

On April 7, 2006, Pershing issued a press release regarding its ownership of
Sears Canada shares pursuant to section 102 of the Act.

[49]

Sears Holdings issued a Notice of Variation and Change of Information dated
April 7, 2006 extending the expiry date of its Offer to August 31, 2006. It
described the terms, but not the parties with whom it had entered into the
Support Agreements. It also indicated that a subsequent going private
transaction was expected to close in December 2006. The extension by Sears
Holdings of its Offer from April 19, 2006 to August 31, 2006 would ensure that
no more than 120 days would elapse between the expiry of the Offer and the
SAT. This meant that it would avoid the need to obtain a new independent
valuation and would also allow shares tendered under the insider bid to be
counted when the required "majority of the minority" approval was sought in
connection with the SAT.

[50]

On April 10, 2006, Sears Canada issued two press releases concerning changes
to the composition of its senior management team. In the first press release,
Sears Canada announced that Brent Hollister, the President and CEO of Sears
Canada would be stepping down effective May 9, 2006, would leave the company
and would not stand for re-election to its board of directors. The second press
release announced that Dene Rogers, a senior executive of Sears Holdings, had
been appointed to the role of Acting President of Sears Canada, effectively
replacing Mr. Hollister.

[51]

On April 12, 2006, the independent directors of Sears Canada issued a Notice of
Change of Directors' Circular relating to the revised Offer. This Notice of Change
indicated that on April 11, 2006, Genuity had provided to members of the
Special Committee a summary of its updated Valuation and Inadequacy Opinion
together with a description of the due diligence it had undertaken in its
preparation. The Notice included a copy of the updated Genuity Valuation which
reaffirmed that the fair market value of Sears Canada shares as of April 11 was
$19.00 to $22.25 and that Sears Holdings' revised Offer remained inadequate.
The Notice also stated that the Special Committee had unanimously determined
not to make a recommendation concerning the revised Offer. The Special
Committee continued to have a number of reservations with respect to the
revised Offer of Sears Holdings which were detailed in this Notice of Change.

[52]

On April 14, Pershing, Hawkeye and Knott formed a group to oppose the efforts
of Sears Holdings to take Sears Canada private. On April 17, 2006, they jointly
announced that they had formed a group to "take all appropriate action to halt"
the Sears Holdings bid. They also disclosed that they collectively owned
8,241,572, approximately 7.7 percent, of the then outstanding common shares
of Sears Canada.

[53]

On May 9, 2006, Sears Canada held its annual meeting at which a new board
was elected comprised of four Sears Holdings employees, an employee of Sears
Canada and three "independent" members nominated for election by Sears
Holdings.
D.

The Hearing
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[54]

The hearing on the merits to consider the two Applications commenced on July
4, 2006 and took place over three consecutive days. We heard evidence over the
first two days of the hearing and closing submis sions were made by the parties
on the last day. In total, seven witnesses were called to testify. They were:
William Ackman, the founder and principal of Pershing; William Anderson, the
Chair of the Special Committee of Sears Canada; Richard Murawczyk, an
investment analyst and member of Knott; Richard Rubin, a managing member of
Hawkeye; William C. Crowley, the Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Administrative Officer of Sears Holdings; Kieran O'Donnell, an
employee of BNS and a member of the Capital Markets Group of Scotia Capital;
and Greg Rudka, an employee in the Investment Banking Group of Scotia
Capital.

II.

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS AND RELIEF SOUGHT BY SEARS HOLDINGS
A.

[55]

[56]

III.

The Allegations

The main allegations or submissions made by Sears Holdings against the
Pershing Group are summarized as follows:
(1)

Pershing and its joint actors acquired beneficial ownership of common
shares of Sears Canada during the Offer period and failed to comply with
the early warning disclosure requirements under sections 101 and/or 102
of the Act;

(2)

Pershing issued a news release with respect to its acquisition of common
shares of Sears Canada during the Offer period that failed to comply with
the requirements of section 198 of the Regulations and contained material
misrepresentations contrary to section 126.2 of the Act;

(3)

Pershing and its joint actors engaged in activities that resulted in an
artificial price of Sears Canada shares contrary to section 126.1 of the
Act; and

(4)

Pershing and its joint actors engaged in abus ive minority tactics contrary
to the public interest.

B.

Order Sought by Sears Holdings

Sears Holdings seeks the following relief from the Commission:
(i)

an order that Pershing and its joint actors be reprimanded;

(ii)

an order requiring that Pershing and its joint actors comply with Part XX
and the related regulations by selling into the market the common shares
of Sears Canada each of them purchased during the period in which they
were required to disclose their position as joint actors under Part XX but
failed to do so;

(iii)

an order requiring that Pershing and its joint actors be prohibited from
acquiring any further common shares of Sears Canada;

(iv)

or in the alternative, an order directing that the votes attached to any
common shares of Sears Canada owned or controlled by Pershing and its
joint actors be excluded in determining whether minority approval of any
subsequent acquisition transaction in connection with the Offer has been
obtained pursuant to Rule 61-501.

SEARS HOLDINGS – ALLEGATIONS AGAINST THE PERSHING GROUP
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Sears Holdings alleges that the Pershing Group has violated sections 101, 102,
126.1 and 126.2 of the Act and has engaged in abusive minority tactics contrary
to the public interest. The particulars of their allegations are discussed below.
A.

Did Pershing Violate the Early Warning Requirements of Sections
101 and 102 of the Act?

[58]

On April 7, 2006, Pershing issued a press release (the "April 7 Press Release")
disclosing that it owned 5,601,400 common shares of Sears Canada,
representing approximately 5.2 percent of the outstanding common shares. This
was Pershing's first public disclosure filing relating to its holdings in Sears
Canada. In the same press release, Pershing also disclosed, for the first time,
that Pershing was entitled to the economic benefit of an additional 6,900,000
common shares of Sears Canada as a result of certain cash-settled derivatives
transactions it had entered into with SunTrust (the 2005 and 2006 Pershing
Swaps).

[59]

Between October 31 and December 8, 2005, Pershing sold its then entire
position of 5.3 million Sears Canada Shares in connection with entering into the
2005 Pershing Swaps. Mr. Ackman testified at the hearing that these shares
were sold in "market-on-close" transactions which were arranged by SunTrust
with one or more ultimate counterparties including BNS (although at the time of
the trades the identity of the counterparty was not known to Pershing).

[60]

According to Mr. Ackman's Affidavit of June 14, 2006, the purpose of entering
into the 2005 Pershing Swaps "was to minimize its ex posure to Canadian
withholding taxes by disposing of its Sears Canada shares prior to receiving the
Sears Canada dividend while maintaining an economic interest in the
performance of Sears Canada shares." Mr. Ackman further indicated that the
2005 Pershing Swaps were arranged in the fall of 2005 before Sears Holdings
announced its intention to proceed with its Offer.

[61]

On March 16, Pershing began again to purchase shares of Sears Canada in the
open market and continued to do so up until April 6, 2006.

[62]

On March 31, 2006, Pershing sold 1,600,000 shares of Sears Canada and
entered into another equity swap transaction with SunTrust for an equivalent
number of shares. This occurred prior to Sears Holdings' announcement that it
had entered into the Vornado Agreement and the Support Agreements.

Evidence, Law and Analysis
[63] Sears Holdings alleges that the Pershing Group, due to their actions with each
other and/or with third parties, violated sections 101 and 102 of the Act by
failing to comply with the applicable early warning disclosure requirements.
[64]

Subsection 101(1) of the Act requires an "offeror that acquires beneficial
ownership of, or the power to exercise control or direction over ... voting or
equity securities of any class of a reporting issuer that, together with each
offeror's securities of that class, would constitute 10 percent or more of the
outstanding securities of that class" to issue and file forthwith a news release
containing the prescribed information and, within two business days, to file a
report. For purposes of section 101, an offeror is defined to include a person or
company who acquires a security, whether or not by way of a take-over bid,
issuer bid or offer to acquire.

COMP-381

2006 ONSEC 13 (CanLII)

[57]

[65]

During the course of a formal take-over bid, the relevant reporting threshold
pursuant to section 102 of the Act is reduced from 10 percent to 5 percent. The
purpose of section 102 of the Act is to provide a signal to the marketplace that
competing bidders may be interested in making a formal bid (or blocking a
formal bid) and that others are purchasing the target issuer's shares [Securities
Law & Practice, Thomson Canada Limited, 2006, at para. 20.15.1].

[66]

The trading records over the relevant period of time showed that Hawkeye and
Knott owned 1.4 percent and 1 percent, respectively, of the total outstanding
shares of Sears Canada and therefore did not violate sections 101 or 102 of the
Act in the absence of any finding that they were joint actors with Pershing.

[67]

Similarly, the trading records indicate that at no point during the relevant time
did Pershing own more than 10 percent of the outstanding Sears Canada shares.
On its face, and subject to the discussion below, Pershing did not violate section
101 of the Act.

[68]

Pershing's trading records show that between February 9, 2006 (the d ay the bid
was made) and April 6, 2006 (the last day that Pershing acquired Sears Canada
shares), Pershing crossed the five percent reporting threshold of section 102 of
the Act on April 6, 2006 as a result of its purchase of 1,868,400 Sears Canada
shares. The next business day, Pershing issued the previously discussed April 7
Press Release. Based on this evidence, Pershing did not violate section 102 of
the Act.

[69]

The analysis does not end there, however. In determining whether a party has
acquired securities in excess of the 10 percent and 5 percent thresholds in
sections 101 and 102 of the Act, respectively, one must aggregate the number of
securities which a party beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over,
with those which its "joint actors" beneficially own or exercise control or direction
over. In other words, the relevant thresholds in sections 101 and 102 of the Act
are aggregated for persons acting "jointly or in concert".

[70]

Section 91 of the Act provides that it is a question of fact as to whether persons
are "acting jointly or in concert". The purpose of section 91 of the Act is to
ensure that all persons or companies who are effectively engaged in a common
investment or purchase program, whether in support of, or in opposition t o, a
take-over bid, abide by the rules that govern securities transactions prior to,
during and subsequent to the bid (Report of the Com mittee to Review the
Provisions of the Securities Act (Ontario) Relating to Take-Over Bids and Issuer
Bids (Toronto: Securities Commission, September 23, 1983)).

(i)
[71]

Were Pershing and Vornado "Joint Actors"?

Sears Holdings has asked us to determine, as a matter of fact, that Pershing was
acting jointly and in concert with Vornado, at least up until the time that Vornado
decided to enter into the Deposit Agreement with Sears Holdings on April 1,
2006. If we were to reach that conclusion based on the evidence, they say
Pershing would have contravened both sections 101 and 102 of the Act because
Sears Canada shares acquired by Pershing from March 16 to March 31, 2006,
when aggregated with the 7.5 million Sears Canada shares then held by
Vornado, would have exceeded both the 10 and 5 percent thresholds set out in
these sections.
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[72]

What did the evidence establish about the relationship between Pershing and
Vornado? On or about February 15, 2005, Pershing entered into an arrangement
with Vornado pursuant to which Pershing agreed to split with Vornado its
purchases of Sears Canada shares. Between February and September, 2005,
Pershing sold to Vornado approximately 7,400,000 Sears Canada shares
pursuant to this arrangement.

[73]

Mr. Ackman, during his cross-examination by counsel for Sears Holdings,
indicated that this joint purchasing arrangement with Vornado was oral and was
both entered into and terminated over the telephone. Mr. Ackman explained
that, as both Vornado and Pershing wanted to buy Sears Canada shares over the
relevant period, Vornado suggested that they split the stock purchases rather
that "compete in the marketplace". Mr. Ackman testified that the arrangement
was terminated at the end of September because Vornado "had no interest in
buying additional shares".

[74]

In support of its allegation of continuing "joint activity" between Pershing and
Vornado, counsel for Sears Holdings drew to our attention a "finder's fee" of $2.5
million that Vornado indicated it would pay to Pershing towards the end of
February, 2006. Mr. Ackman confirmed in his Reply Affidavit and in his testimony
that in the fall of 2005, he had approached Mr. Roth, Chairman and CEO of
Vornado, and requested that Vornado pay Pershing a finder's fee for bringing the
Sears Canada investment opportunity to the attention of Vornado and that Mr.
Roth had agreed to consider Pershing's request. When pressed as to the
unexplained timing gap between the request and Vornado's decision to pay the
fee Mr. Ackman testified that:
"I think the reason why he had to determine – finalize the
amount of the fee in February, is they were in the process of
filing their 10-K with the SEC, and that they needed to
accrue for what the amount of the fee was in preparation
with that filing."
(Hearing Transcript dated July 4, 2006 at page 90)

[75]

According to the evidence, on April 2, 2006, Mr. Roth of Vornado phoned Mr.
Ackman at home to alert him to the fact that he had entered into the Deposit
Agreement with Sears Holdings. This call came one day prior to Sears Holdings'
public announcement relating to the Vornado Agreement. The evidence was that
Mr. Ackman was surprised by this turn of events. There was no evidence
advanced to suggest that Mr. Ackman knew of the Vornado Agreement or the
negotiations that led up to it prior to this point in time.

[76]

In this regard, Sears Holdings relied upon an e-mail that was sent from Mr.
Ferguson of Pershing after Pershing learned of the Vornado Agreement, in which
he stated: "I can't believe these guys tendered. Talk about getting sold out."

[77]

Mr. Ackman explained this comment, however, in the course of his evidence as
follows:
"It was not a good day for minority shareholders of Sears
Canada when Vornado announced the Deposit Agreement
because it increased the probability that minority holders
were going to get squeezed out at a below-market price, a
price significantly below fair value.
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What made it particularly upsetting to us is that we brought
this idea to Vornado to begin with. So here we give them
this investment idea on which they made a hundred million
dollars, and then they effectively cost us a lot of money by
choosing to tender. And had we not even brought this idea
to the attention of Vornado, we would have been much
better off. And I think Mr. Ferguson is expressing that
frustration."
(Hearing Transcript dated July 4, 2006 at page 97)
[78]

We accept Mr. Ackman's explanation for this e-mail and reject Sears Holdings'
contention that it provides evidence of joint activity between Pershing and
Vornado over the period of the Offer.

[79]

Sears Holdings submits that a formal agreement between parties, while helpful
in establishing joint actor status from an evidentiary point of view, is not a
prerequisite (Re 243978 Alberta Lim ited et al. (1982), 4 O.S.C.B. 566C). We
agree with this general proposition. However, in the absence of the proverbial
"smoking gun", there must be evidence to support a finding that parties have
acted jointly or in concert. Credible and plausible alternative explanations were
provided by Pershing, as noted above, in reference to the evidence relied upon
by Sears Holdings in support of its allegation. We therefore conclude that the
evidence does not support Sears Canada's contention that Vornado and Pershing
acted jointly or in concert for purposes of their obligations under sections 101
and 102 of the Act or in connection with the Offer more generally.

[80]

We note, in obiter, that Sears Holdings' allegations were focused on Pershing
having acted jointly or in concert with Vornado. The necessary corollary to such
a finding (which we have rejected as noted above) would be that Vornado acted
jointly or in concert with Pershing although no such allegation was made by
Sears Holdings against Vornado. Sears Holdings' request that the Commission
exclude the votes attached to shares of Sears Canada owned or controlled by
"Pershing and its joint actors" for purposes of determining minority approval of
the SAT may equally have applied to Vornado had we made a finding of joint
actor status as we were urged to do so by Sears Holdings. In light of our
determination on this issue, we need not address the consequential implications
that a finding against Pershing might have had on Vornado.

(ii)

Are Pershing, Hawkeye and Knott Joint Actors?

[81]

The essence of Sears Holdings' allegation is that the principals behind the
Pershing Group – Mr. Ackman of Pershing, Mr. Rubin of Hawkeye and Mr.
Murawczyk of Knott – purchased shares during the Offer period as a result of an
agreement, commitment or understanding with each other with respect to Sears
Canada shares and in order to "thwart the Offer" and to prevent Sear's Holdings
from securing the "majority of the minority" approval required for the SAT to
proceed.

[82]

Their allegations in this regard involve Mr. Mayers of Desjardins Securities Inc.
(Desjardins), a broker who had telephone conversations with the Pershing Group
principals over the period of the Offer. In the course of cross -examination, Mr.
Ackman, Mr. Rubin and Mr. Murawczyk were asked to explain various
conversations that each of them had had with Mr. Mayers in relation to the Offer.
These conversations were contained in a transcript that had been prepared at
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[83]

Sears Holdings submitted that, in the event the Commission were to determine
that the Pershing Group acted jointly and in concert prior to April 6, 2006 (the
date of the last purchase of Sears Canada shares by one of the Pershing Group
parties), this would support a finding of a breach of section 102 of the Act
because, taken together, the Pershing Group holds more than 5 percent of the
outstanding shares of Sears Canada.

[84]

The evidence established that, on April 6, 2006, the Pershing Group met to
discuss the Sears Canada situation. Messrs. Ackman and Rubin attended a
meeting held on April 10, 2006, organized by Mr. Mayers. They apparently
discussed Mr. Mayers' proposal that he be elected as an independent director of
Sears Canada. We learned little about the outcome of this meeting.

[85]

The evidence was that the Pershing Group determined on April 14 to form a
group to oppose the Offer and Sears Holdings' efforts to take Sears Canada
private. This was the subject of a press release issued on April 17 by the Group.
It stated, in part, as follows:
"... These shareholders believe that Sears Holdings is
engaging in coercive tactics to force the minority
shareholders of Sears Canada to enter into an undervalued
and unsupported offer. As such, the group intends to take all
appropriate legal action to halt the transaction so Sears
Canada remains a public company, or, alternatively, to
ensure that those shareholders who desire to sell their
shares in Sears Canada are treated fairly."
(Exhibit 63 to the Pershing Application Record)

[86]

Despite lengthy cross-examinations of Mr. Ackman as well as Mr. Rubin and Mr.
Murawczyk, the evidence does not support the allegation that the Pershing
Group parties acted jointly or in concert prior to April 14 when they clearly joined
forces and promptly announced their joint purpose in the April 17 Press Release
referenced above.

[87]

In support of their allegations, Sears Holdings relied upon the Desjardins
transcript to show that Mr. Mayers and Mr. Ackman were attempting to make
lists of shareholders that opposed the bid. However, counsel for Pershing, in his
closing submission, argued that this activity was innocuous and reflected the
same process that was going on in the Sears Holdings camp. Counsel for
Pershing in referring to Mr. Ackman' testimony described the process as follows:
"This is like an election. You keep a tally. You try and figure
out who is going to do what. There is nothing wrong in that.
It happens all the time. Who is a friend?
Who is a foe?"
(Hearing Transcript dated July 6, 2006 at page 127)

[88]

For purposes of section 102 of the Act, subsection 89(1) of the Act provides that
an "offeror's securities" includes securities "beneficially owned, or over which
control or direction is exercised, on the date of an offer to acquire, by the offeror
or any person acting jointly or in concert with the offeror."
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the behest of Commission Staff based on tapes of telephone conversations
previously provided to Commission Staff by Desjardins.

[89]

Although the Act does not define "control or direction" over securities, the
Commission has held that in order to exercise control or direction over shares of
a company not owned by the offeror, the offeror must have the ability to
exercise the attributes of ownership – voting power and investment power,
including the power to acquire or dispose of the shares (Re Robinson (1996), 19
O.S.C.B. 2643 at 2675).

[90]

Based on the evidence and for the reasons set out above, we have concluded
that Sears Holdings has failed to make out its claim that Pershing, Hawkeye and
Knott were acting jointly or in concert prior to April 6, 2006, and we therefore do
not find that they violated section 102 of the Act.
(iii)

Did Pershing Use Swaps to Avoid Disclosure Obligations?

[91]

In their written submissions, Sears Holdings alleged that "Pershing contravened
sections 101 and 102 of the Act through its use of swap arrangements to dispose
of beneficial ownership of its Sears Canada shares with the understanding that it
would exercise a degree of direction or control over the shares that were the
subject of the swaps."

[92]

Sears Holdings also alleges that Pershing and its joint actors have engaged in
abusive minority tactics by seeking to "park" 6.9 million common shares of Sears
Canada that are the subject of total return swaps with SunTrust, with the
understanding that: (a) the Pershing/SunTrust Swaps could be unwound and the
6.9 million shares returned to Pershing; and (b) in any SAT, the votes attached
to the 6.9 million shares would be voted as directed by Pershing or not voted at
all.

[93]

Based on this understanding, Sears Holdings submits that Pershing secretly
acquired shares of Sears Canada in the market during the Offer period, without
disclosing to the public the fact that Pershing understood it had control or
direction of the votes attached to these shares. Sears Holdings submits that
Pershing understood that the 6.9 million shares that were the subject of the
swaps would either be returned to Pershing or not voted, and therefore it had
"parked" the 6.9 million shares by removing them from the pool of shares that
would be voted in the minority approval of the SAT.

[94]

Sears Holdings further alleges that Pershing used the swap transactions to avoid
its reporting obligations under the Act. This "parking behaviour" on the part of
Pershing, they say, raises serious public interest concerns, and even if no breach
of the Act can be proven, constitutes abusive minority tactics that ought to
engage the public interest jurisdiction of the Commission.

[95]

Pershing sold 5.3 million Sears Canada shares in connection with entering into
the Pershing 2005 Swaps. As discussed above, they did so for tax reasons
relating to the extraordinary dividend that had been declared by Sears Canada
as a result of the sale of its Credit Card business in the fall of 2005.

[96]

On March 31, 2006, Pershing entered into a further swap transaction with
SunTrust involving 1,600,000 Sears Canada shares.

[97]

In their written submissions, Sears Holdings acknowledged that: "The effect of
the swap arrangements between Pershing and SunTrust, all of which ended up
being cash-settled swaps, was that Pershing would maintain an economic
interest in the performance of ... Sears Canada shares." (Sears Holdings Written
Submissions at para. 115.)
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[98]

Mr. Ackman was forthright in giving his evidence with regard to the Pershing
2005 Swap Transactions. He confirmed that he liked Sears Canada as an
investment and wanted to retain economic ownership. He wanted to participate
in "the appreciation of the stock" despite the need to sell the actual shares to
avoid an undesirable tax consequence at the time (Hearing Transcript dated July
4, 2006 at page 179).

[99]

With respect to the reason for the Pershing 2006 Swap which, as Mr. Ackman put
it had initially puzzled Commission Staff, he explained that he did not expect,
based on what he knew about Mr. Lampert's approach to business transactions,
that Mr. Lampert would raise his bid above $16.86. [Edward Lampert is the
Chairman of Sears Holdings Corporation and the Chairman of ESL Investments].
Indeed, Sears Holdings had said as much publicly. The shares of Sears Canada
had consistently traded above the Offer price and with the bid set to expire on
March 31, Mr. Ackman believed the insider bid would fail and Sears Canada
would remain a public company.

[100] Pershing therefore began to purchase shares of Sears Canada in the open
market as of March 16. Mr. Ackman described himself as a long-term investor in
Sears Canada who bought shares "before Mr. Lampert ever owned a single
share." He testified that he believed in the long term prospects of the company.
[101] In reference to the Pershing 2006 Swap, Mr. Ackman's evidence was that he
wanted to increase his exposure to the shares of Sears Canada while remaining
below a public reporting position. When pressed to explain this by counsel for
Sears Holdings, Mr. Ackman explained his motive as follo ws:
"... I wanted to be able to maintain this economic ownership
in Sears without raising – without Eddie Lampert knowing
that I wanted to – that I was the guy who had been buying
stock during his offer.
And the reason why I didn't want to do that is it's like
throwing, you know, salt into the eyes of the dragon. You
know you don't go off and – it's an act of war, in a situation
like this, for me to surface as a buyer of a stock in his deal."
(Hearing Transcript dated July 4, 2006 at page 191)
[102] In other words Mr. Ackman did not want to antagonize Mr. Lampert, a significant
participant in the U.S. capital markets, with whom he expected to have business
dealings in the future.
[103] As it turns out, when Pershing sold its shares in 2005 in connection with the
Pershing 2005 Swaps, BNS was a purchaser of the shares. Pershing did not know
who had purchased the shares and BNS did not know who had sold them. It is
self-evident that Pershing did not continue to exercise "control or direction" over
the shares it sold which were bought by BNS.
[104] The Pershing 2006 Swap was a cash-settled transaction. Mr. Ackman's Affidavit
states that Pershing did not maintain a legal or beneficial interest in, or the
power to exercise control or direction over, any or the 1,600,000 Sears Canada
shares related to the Pershing 2006 Swap.
[105] In their written submissions, Commission Staff maintain that, even if the
1,600,000 Sears Canada shares were under the control or direction of Pershing
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after March 31, the trading data provided by Pershing shows that it would not
have affected the date by which Pershing crossed the 5 percent threshold
contained in section 102 of the Act. There was no evidence adduced by Sears
Holdings to support a finding that Pershing and its Swap counterparties had an
understanding that the shares would be returned or otherwise made available to
be voted so that Pershing could be said to exercise "control or direction" over the
shares within the meaning of sections 101 and 102 of the Act notwithstanding
that Pershing did not have legal ownership.
[106] Based on the evidence and the law, there is no basis to conclude that Pershing
violated sections 101 and 102 of the Act through the use of the Pershing 2005
and 2006 Swaps.
[107] This still leaves the issue of whether their conduct in using the s waps to avoid
disclosure obligations under the Act was "abusive of the capital markets" so as to
engage the Commission's public interest jurisdiction.
[108] Counsel for Pershing relies upon the fact that swap arrangements are "perfectly
normal economic transactions". In closing argument, he said:
"They are entered into all of the time by many of the
participants in this proceeding and there is nothing
whatsoever untoward about entering into a swap
transaction. It is a common practice. It is entirely consistent
with the actions of a valued investor who believes strongly in
the prospects of the company, but does not to want to own
the shares."
(Hearing Transcript dated July 6, 2006 at pages 122-123).
[109] Counsel for Pershing pointed out to us that Pershing's assessment of its
reporting obligations in relation to the swaps was apparently shared by RBC.
Evidently, between April 3 and 6, 2006, RBC, which owned 3.9 million Sears
Canada shares at the time, purchased cash-settled swaps on 3.9 million shares
for a total economic exposure of 7.8 million shares constituting approximately
7.2 percent of the outstanding Sears Canada shares. It made no public
disclosure of these transactions.
[110] Based on the evidence we heard and in light of Mr. Ackman's explanation as to
the reason he entered into the Pershing 2005 and 2006 Swaps, we have
concluded that there is insufficient evidence to support a finding that Pershing's
conduct in this regard was abusive of the capital markets so as to invoke our
public interest jurisdiction under section 127 of the Act.
[111] This finding is based on the evidence and circumstances of this case. We wish to
underscore that there might well be situations, in the context of a take-over bid,
where the use of swaps to "park securities" in a deliberate effort to avoid
reporting obligations under the Act and for the purpose of affecting an
outstanding offer could constitute abusive conduct sufficient to engage the
Commission's public interest jurisdiction. This is not such a case.
B.

Did Pershing's April 7 Press Release Violate Section 198 of the
Regulation?

[112] On April 7, 2006, Pershing issued a Press Release announcing that it had
acquired more than 5 percent of the shares of Sears Canada. The Press Release
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[113] Sears Holdings alleges that the Pershing Press Release failed to disclose either
Pershing's purpose in acquiring Sears Canada shares during the Offer period or
its intention to acquire further common shares of Sears Canada in violation of
section 198(e) of the Regulation under the Act.
[114] Sears Holdings submits that the April 7 Press Release was silent on the purpose
of Pershing in acquiring shares during the Offer period, stating only that:
"Pershing Square and its affiliates intend to exercise all of
their legal rights, including appraisal rights to ensure that
their reasonable expectations are not frustrated and to
ensure that they receive fair value for their investments in
Sears Canada."
(Sears Holdings Written Submissions at para. 149)
[115] It was obvious, they say, that this was not the only purpose Pershing had in
acquiring shares during the Offer period. Rather, given that Pershing acquired
shares after Sears Holdings announced that majority of the minority approval of
the SAT was assured, Sears Holdings says that the true purpose was to maintain
the price of Sears Canada shares above the Offer price. This t rue purpose was
not disclosed, they say. Additionally, in failing to disclose that Pershing was
acting jointly or in concert with other shareholders including Knott and Hawkeye
in order to thwart the Offer, Pershing's Press Release also violated section 126.2
of the Act.
[116] We note that, in addition to the paragraph in the Press Release which Sears
Holdings pointed out to us in support of their allegation, reproduced above, the
Press Release also says:
"Pershing Square believes that the consideration offered by
Sears Holdings Corporation ... has been, and continues to
be, wholly inadequate and intends that the Pershing Square
funds will remain shareholders of Sears Canada rather than
accept the current offer by Sears Holdings."
(Exhibit 58 of the Pershing Group Application Record)
[117] It appears to us that this expression of dissatisfaction with the Offer combined
with their stated intention to remain shareholders of Sears Canada is consistent
with their actions in purchasing shares on April 6, 2006 and constitutes adequate
disclosure for purposes of section 198 of the Regulation.
[118] Similarly, we reject any claim that the Press Release failed to disclose "any
future intention to increase the beneficial ownership, control or direction" of
Pershing over shares of Sears Canada. As Pershing's counsel put it:
"...Pershing Square had no intention when its press release
was issued on April 7, 2006 to acquire, and has not in fact
acquired, any additional legal or beneficial ownership of, or
control or direction over, Sears Canada shares...
Holdings seeks to impute to Pershing Square an intention it
did not have, and then to fault Pershing Square for failing to
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disclosed that Pershing held 5,601,400 Sears Canada shares and was entitled to
the economic benefit of an additional 6,900,000 shares, for a total economic
interest in Sears Canada equal to approximately 11.6 percent.
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disclose this non-existent intention. For obvious reasons its
contention is fallacious."

[119] In conclusion, we find that Pershing's April 7 Press Release constituted adequate
disclosure for purposes of section 198 of the Regulation and dismiss Sears
Holdings' allegation in this regard.
C.

Did Pershing Engage in a Course of Conduct that Violated Sections
126.1 and 126.2 of the Act?

[120] Sears Holdings alleges that Pershing and its joint actors engaged in a course of
conduct that they knew, or ought reasonably to have known, would result in an
artificial price for the Sears Canada shares contrary to section 126.1 of the Act
by secretly acquiring shares during the Offer period and by orchestrating
carefully "calculated and unattributed" press coverage for the purpose of
maintaining the price of Sears Canada shares.
[121] It is submitted that Pershing was timing its purchases of Sears Canada to
maintain its share price above the Offer price. Sears Holdings submits that this
conduct violated section 126.1 of the Act because Pershing and its joint actors
knew or reasonably ought to have known that it would result in an artificial price
for the shares of Sears Canada.
[122] Two provisions in the Act address the issue of market manipulation. Section
126.1 of the Act provides that:
126.1 A person or company shall not, directly or indirectly,
engage in or participate in any act, practice or course of
conduct relating to securities or derivatives of securities that
the person or company knows or reasonably ought to know,
(a) results in or contributes to a misleading
appearance of trading activity in, or on artificial price
for, a security or derivative of a security; or
(b) perpetrates a fraud on any person or company.
[123] Section 126.2 of the Act prohibits a person or company from making a statement
that the person or company knows or reasonably ought to know is misleading or
untrue in a material respect or omits to state a fact required to be stated in
order to make a statement not misleading where the statement would
reasonably by expected to have a significant effect on the market price of a
security.
[124] The essence of Sears Holdings' allegation in this regard is that Pershing and its
joint actors violated section 126.1 of the Act by deliberately timing their
purchases of Sears Canada shares during the Offer period in order to artificially
maintain the price of the shares above the Offer price.
[125] Sears Holdings contends that the timing of Pershing's purchases on March 16
(the day before the Offer was originally scheduled to expire) and on April 6 (the
same day the Support Agreements were announced) supports the inference that
these purchases were made by Pershing to maintain the price of Sears Canada
shares.
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(Pershing Group's Written Submissions at paras. 326 and
327)
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[127] What is an "artificial price" for a security? An artificial price for a security is one
that differs from the price that would prevail had the market operated freely and
fairly on the basis of true market supply and demand. Creating a misleading
appearance of trading activity in a security distorts normal forces of supply and
demand and such conduct is contrary to the public interest because it misleads
other buyers and sellers (Re Roche Securities Ltd., [2004] A.S.C.D. No 400 (QL)
at paras. 53-57; and Re Podorieszach, (2004) ABSECCOM REA #1459118v1).
[128] Securities regulators generally evaluate allegations of market manipulation by
considering the nature of the trades and the circumstances surrounding their
execution. Individual trades must not be reviewed in isolation. Similarly, the
conduct of an alleged market manipulator must be considered as a whole to
determine whether he or she has attempted to sustain an artificial price by
creating the appearance of public interest at a particular price level (Re Cycomm
International Inc. (1994), 17 O.S.C.B. 21; Re Fatir Hussain Siddiqi, [2005]
B.C.S.C.D. No 542 (QL) at paras. 114-118).
[129] Pershing's counsel submits, and Commission Staff agrees, that there was either
no, or insufficient, evidence led to support a finding that Pershing breached
either section 126.1 or section 126.2 of the Act.
[130] The Pershing Group's trades were executed through the facilities of the TSX at
the prevailing market price. They were executed during the trading day, not
timed to coincide with the close of the market.
[131] Sears Holdings asks us to conclude, based on the fact that Pershing's trades took
place on March 16 and April 6, as noted above, that the purchases were made
for the purpose of maintaining the price of Sears Canada shares.
[132] Intent to manipulate can be inferred from circumstantial evidence. However,
where two alternative inferences are equally plausible, intent to manipulate will
not generally be inferred (Sebastian v. Golden Capital Securities Ltd., [2006]
B.C.J. No. 506 (Sup. Ct.) (QL) at para. 34).
[133] The conduct of Pershing and the Pershing Group when viewed as a whole, and in
light of the surrounding circumstances, is consistent with their stated view that
Sears Canada shares were undervalued, that the bid price was inadequate and
that they would oppose the Offer.
[134] Pershing's counsel submits that, from the time that Sears Holdings first
announced its Offer, Sears Canada shares have consistently traded at a premium
to Sears Holdings' Offer price. He submits that, during this period of time, there
were 120 trading days and the Pershing Group only executed trades in shares of
Sears Canada on fewer than 10 percent of those days. These facts suggest that
other shareholders of Sears Canada, besides the Pershing Group, must also have
believed the bid price to be inadequate given that they were executing trades in
the market at a premium to it.
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[126] They maintain that this trading activity was coupled with a media campaign in
which Pershing attempted with the assistance of Mr. Mayers of Desjardins, by
means of incomplete and misleading disclosure to reporters, to create the
impression that the SAT would not occur due to failure to win majority of
minority approval, the Offer would fail and a higher Offer price would be
forthcoming.
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[135] Based upon the evidence and for the reasons discussed above, we dismiss Sears
Holdings' allegations that Pershing and its joint actors breached sections 126.1
and 126.2 of the Act through their trading activity.

IV.

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS AND RELIEF SOUGHT BY THE PERSHING
GROUP
A.

The Allegations

[137] The Pershing Group states that its Application concerns the "important issue of
whether the minority shareholders of a public company in Ontario are entitled to
be treated equally and fairly when a bid is made by the majority shareholder of
that company for their shares". The Application allegedly concerns
unprecedented conduct by Sears Holdings that calls into question the "fairness,
efficiency and integrity of the capital markets".
[138] The allegations in the Application filed on behalf of the Pershing Group in relation
to Sears Holdings and its insider bid are summarized as follows:
(1)

Sears Holdings violated subsection 97(2) of the Act by entering into the
Support Agreements with BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC and the Deposit
Agreement with Vornado;

(2)

Sears Holdings violated subsection 94(2) of the Act by entering into the
Support Agreements with BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC;

(3)

Sears Canada shares held by BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC should be
excluded for the purposes of minority approval of the second step going
private transaction pursuant to subsection 8.1(2) of Rule 61-501;

(4)

Sears Canada shares owned by Sears Holdings that were deposited by
Vornado to the insider bid of Sears Holdings pursuant to the Vornado
Agreement should be excluded for the purposes of minority approval of
the second step going private transaction pursuant to subsection 8.2(b) of
Rule 61-501;

(5)

Sears Canada shares now owned by Sears Holdings that were deposited
to the Offer of Sears Holdings should be excluded for the purposes of
minority approval of the second step going private transaction given the
failure of Sears Holdings to comply with paragraph 8.2(f) of Rule 61-501
and/or shareholders were coerced by Sears Holdings to tender;

(6)

The Circular of Sears Holdings contained a misrepresentation arising from
the failure to disclose the substantial shareholdings of Scotia Capital and
BNS and the Circular as amended and varied on April 4, 2006 contained
misrepresentations or material omissions arising from the failure of Sears
Holdings to disclose the Support Agreements with BNS and Scotia Capital
and the related Escrow Agreements;

(7)

further or in the alternative, the Commission should exercise its public
interest jurisdiction pursuant to section 127 of the Act to cease trade or
prohibit the insider bid of Sears Holdings and its proposed second step
going private transaction on the grounds that the conduct of Sears
Holdings has been coercive and abusive of shareholders generally,
including the minority shareholders of Sears Canada, jeopardizes the

COMP-392

2006 ONSEC 13 (CanLII)

[136] In conclusion, and for the reasons set out above, all of the allegations made by
Sears Holdings against the Pershing Group are dismissed.
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fairness and efficiency of the capital markets and confidence in those
markets, and that such an order is necessary to protect investors in Sears
Canada from the unfair and improper conduct and practices of Sears
Holdings.
Order Sought by the Pershing Group

[139] In its Application, the Pershing Group originally sought various orders under
subsections 104(1) and 127(1) of the Act as follows:
(a)

pursuant to clause 104(1)(c) of the Act directing that Sears Holdings
comply with the regulations related to Part XX of the Act (specifically, Rule
61-501) as follows:
(i)

comply with section 8.1 of Rule 61-501 and exclude from the
calculation of the majority of the minority on any second step going
private transaction the shares of Sears Canada held by its joint
actors, including BNS and Scotia Capital;

(ii)

comply with section 8.2 of Rule 61-501 and exclude from the
calculation of the majority of the minority on any second step going
private transaction the shares of Sears Canada acquired by Sears
Holdings from Vornado pursuant to the Vornado Agreement;

(iii)

comply with section 8.2 of Rule 61-501 and exclude from the
calculation of the majority of the minority on any second step going
private transaction the shares of Sears Canada acquired by Sears
Holdings pursuant to its take-over bid for Sears Canada from the
date that is five business days after Sears Holdings has complied
with the order requested in paragraph (c) below;

(b)

pursuant to subsection 104(1)(b) of the Act requiring that Sears Holdings
amend the terms of its Offer for the shares of Sears Canada to irrevocably
exclude from the calculation of the majority of the minority on any second
step going private transaction the shares of Sears Canada held by BNS,
Scotia Capital and RBC;

(c)

pursuant to subsection 104(1)(c) of the Act directing Sears Holdings to
remedy its non-compliance with subsections 94(2) and 97(2) of the Act;

(d)

pursuant to clauses 104(1)(b) and (c) of the Act requiring that Sears
Holdings amend its Take-Over Bid Circular to:
(i)

disclose that Sears Holdings will exclude from the calculation of the
majority of the minority on any second step going private
transaction the shares of Sears Canada that it is prohibited from
including in such calculation as provided in paragraphs (a) and (b)
above;

(ii)

disclose the existence and terms of the Release granted to Vornado
pursuant to the Vornado Agreement and to grant an identical
Release to all other shareholders of Sears Canada whose shares
are acquired under the take-over bid or in any second step going
private transaction;

(iii)

disclose the identities and interests of the parties to the Support
Agreements, describe the collateral benefits received by them
including the tax benefits to them and the liquidity covenant and
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(iv)

provide an opportunity of at least ten business days from the date
of mailing of the amended Take-Over Bid Circular for all
shareholders who tendered to withdraw their Sears Canada shares
from the Offer notwithstanding that such shares may have been
taken up and paid for; and

(v)

correct all other misrepresentations and omissions in the TakeOver Bid Circular and all amendments and variations made thereto;

(e)

pursuant to subsection 127(1) of the Act reprimanding Sears Holdings for
violating subsections 94(2) and 97(2) of the Act and for disseminating a
Take-Over Bid Circular or amendments and variations made thereto
containing misrepresentations and omissions;

(f)

pursuant to subsection 127(1) of the Act cease trading Sears Holdings'
take-over bid for Sears Canada until the foregoing orders are complied
with;

(g)

in the alternative, an order pursuant to subsection 127(1) of the Act cease
trading Sears Holdings' take-over bid for Sears Canada; and

(h)

such other orders as counsel may request and the Commission considers
appropriate.

[140] At the conclusion of the hearing, the Pershing Group submitted a draft Order
outlining the revised nature of the specific relief they were seeking against S ears
Holdings. It reads as follows:
"IT IS ORDERED pursuant to subsections 104(1) and 127(1)
of the Securities Act (the "Act") that:
1. Sears Holdings Corporation and SHLD Acquisition Corp.
("Sears Holdings") have not complied with and are not
complying with Part XX of the Securities Act (Ontario) and
the regulations relating to such Part (collectively, "Ontario
Securities Law") in respect of the bid (the "Offer") for shares
of Sears Canada Inc. ("Sears Canada").
2. Sears Holdings is directed to comply with Ontario
Securities Law in respect of the Offer and all other offers
made or to be made for shares of Sears Canada.
3. The directors and senior officers of Sears Holdings
Corporation and SHLD Acquisition Corp. are directed to
cause their respective corporations to comply with, and to
cease to contravene, Ontario Securities Law.
4. The Offer and any other offer made or to be made for
shares of Sears Canada by Sears Holdings or any affiliate
thereof is cease traded until:
(a) the support agreements entered into by Scotia
Capital Inc. (Scotia Capital), Bank of Nova Scotia
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disclose the banking relationship and any other material
relationships between Sears Holdings, Sears Canada and the
parties to the Support Agreements;
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(b) the take over bid circular in respect of the Offer is
amended to disclose that Sears Holdings will exclude
from the calculation of the majority of the minority on
any second step going private transaction the shares
of Sears Canada held by or acquired from Scotia
Capital, BNS and RBC and the shares of Sears Canada
acquired by Holdings from Vornado pursuant to the
Vornado Deposit Agreement. "
[141] The Pershing Group also requests that the Sears Holdings Application be
dismissed in its entirety.
V.

THE PERSHING GROUP – ALLEGATIONS AGAINST SEARS HOLDINGS
A.

Are BNS and Scotia Capital "Joint Actors" with Sears Holdings?

[142] For this part of the Reasons, it is important to understand who the various
parties are, and, in the case of BNS and Scotia Capital, what the various
business units are, and what retainers and involvement they had in relation to
Sears Canada, Sears Holdings and the Sears Holdings Offer. Briefly, the
structure of the entities and business units within BNS and Scotia Capital is as
follows. Scotia Capital is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BNS. Scotia Capital is
organized into two groups-Global Capital Markets and Global Corporate &
Investment Banking. The Capital Markets Group (Scotia CMG) is a business sub unit of Scotia Capital's Global Capital Markets with business lines serving both
BNS and Scotia Capital. Scotia CMG's business activities include equity and credit
derivatives, foreign exchange, interest rate hedging, debt capital markets and
securitization. The Institutional Equity Group (Scotia IEG) is another sub-unit of
Scotia Capital's Global Capital Markets. Scotia IEG's business activities include
proprietary trading and the purchase of securities for risk arbitrage purposes.
The Investment Banking Group and the Mergers and Acquisitions Group are subunits of Scotia Capital's Global Corporate & Investment Banking. The manner in
which BNS and Scotia Capital are organized and the way in which they are
structured and operated in order to clearly separate the relevant business units
of BNS and Scotia Capital is not, we understand, atypical for integrated Canadian
financial institutions.
[143] In November, 2005, Sears Canada engaged Scotia Capital to arrange a $500
million credit facility (the lending relationship). Scotia Capital had a banking
relationship with Sears Holdings and was the lead banker on the financing for
Sears Canada.
[144] On January 6, 2006, Sears Holdings engaged Scotia Capital to advise it with
respect to the Offer and this retainer was put in writing on January 10, 2006,
with effect as of January 6, 2006 (the "Engagement Letter"). Professionals from
both Scotia Capital's Investment Banking and Mergers and Acquisitions Groups
were assigned to the engagement team. For simplicity, the party engaged by
Sears Holdings is referred to as Scotia M & A. Under the terms of the
Engagement Letter, Scotia M & A was entitled to a work fee of $50,000.00 per
month and a success fee of $400,000.00 if the Offer was successful at or below a
share price of $16.86 (which did not happen and therefore Scotia M & A was not
entitled to the success fee under the terms of its engagement). If the share price
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("BNS") and Royal Bank of Canada ("RBC") in respect
of the Offer are terminated; and

was increased above $16.86, the payment of a success fee was within the sole
discretion of Sears Holdings and if Sears Holdings did not acquire a majority of
the minority of the shares in Sears Canada, no success fee would be payable. No
success fee was paid to Scotia M & A, a fact that Sears Holdings publicly
announced and confirmed in evidence before us. According to the submissions of
counsel for BNS and Scotia Capital, Scotia M & A is not entitled to and will not
receive any other compensation beyond the monthly work fee described above.
[145] On February 8, 2006, Scotia M & A entered into a dealer-manager agreement
with Sears Holdings (the Dealer-Manager Agreement). Scotia M & A is not
entitled to any additional fees from Sears Holdings as a consequence of agreeing
to act as dealer-manager. The Dealer-Manager Agreement provides for a
solicitation fee of $.10 per share payable in respect of shares validly tendered t o
the Offer and not withdrawn. The Agreement provides for a maximum fee
payable for each deposit. This solicitation fee is payable only to the individual
broker within Scotia Capital's brokerage arm and other individual brokers within
the brokerage firms that form part of the Canadian Solicitor Dealer Group in
connection with the Offer. No solicitation fees are payable for shares tendered by
Natcan or Vornado or for shares not tendered to the Offer but voted in favour of
any SAT that may be undertaken, including the shares of Sears Canada held by
Scotia Capital, BNS and RBC.
[146] Against this background, the Pershing Group alleges that Scotia Capital and BNS
are "joint actors" with Sears Holdings. They seek this determination in order that
the votes attached to the Sears Canada shares held by Scotia Capital and BNS
should be excluded from the minority in determining whether the SAT obtains
"majority of the minority" approval. The Pershing Group submits that the public
interest requires that parties which are as "linked" to the bidder as are Scotia
Capital and BNS through the various Support Agreements, the financial advisor
and dealer-manager engagements and lending relationships, ought not to be
permitted to determine the outcome of a vote that is required to be d etermined
by the true minority shareholders of the target.
Evidence, Law and Analysis
[147] The legal backdrop to consideration of this issue is fairly straightforward. The
SAT is a business combination for Sears Canada under Rule 61-501 because it is
the transaction by which Sears Holdings intends to acquire any Sears Canada
shares that are not tendered to its Offer. In order for the SAT to be carried out,
it must be approved by the minority shareholders. For purposes of Rule 61 -501,
the minority shareholders exclude any joint actors of Holdings.
[148] For purposes of Rule 61-501, the term "joint actors" is generally defined to mean
persons or companies "acting jointly or in concert" with the offeror as defined in
section 91 of the Act. Section 91 provides that it is a question of fact as to
whether a person or company is acting "jointly or in concert" with an offeror.
[149] The policy underpinning of the joint actor concept is to ensure that all persons or
companies who are effectively engaged in a common investment or purchase
program, whether in support of or in opposition to a take-over bid, are required
to abide by the requirements of Ontario securities law that govern securities
transactions prior to, during and subsequent to the bid (Practitioners Report, at
page 10, in Securities Law and Practice, 3rd edition, Borden Ladner Gervais LLP,
Part 20, Take-over Bids and Issuers Bids (Toronto: Carswell, 2002)).
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[150] Subsection 91(2) of the Act provides that a registered dealer acting solely in an
agency capacity for an offeror in connection with a take-over bid and that does
not execute principal transactions for its own account in the class of securities
subject to the offer to acquire or does not perform services beyond a customary
dealer's functions will not be presumed, solely by reason of such an agency
relationship, to be acting jointly or in concert. Subsection 8.1(2) of Rule 61 -501
provides similarly.
[151] The Pershing Group submits that there are essentially four key elements of the
relationship between Scotia Capital, BNS and Sears Holdings that points to a
finding that they were all acting jointly or in concert with regard to the Offer and
the SAT:
(a)

Scotia Capital and BNS attach critical importance to their business
relationship with Sears Holdings;

(b)

The Offer and SAT, as revised, provide significant tax benefits to Scotia
Capital and BNS;

(c)

BNS has virtually no economic interest in the Sears Canada shares given
the swap transactions it had entered into with SunTrust; and

(d)

Scotia Capital's prospect of earning a success fee on the transaction.

[152] Scotia Capital and BNS submit that Scotia CMG, the sub-unit that acquired Sears
Canada shares on behalf of BNS, and Scotia IEG, which acquired Sears Canada
shares for risk arbitrage purposes, are effectively "walled off" from each other
and from Scotia M & A, the group that provided financial advisory services to
Sears Holdings. They submit that policies and procedures are in place relating to
the handling of confidential and non-public information and that no evidence was
adduced that these policies and procedures were not followed by Scotia M & A in
relation to the Offer or that confidential, non-public information flowed from
Scotia M & A to either Scotia CMG or Scotia IEG. Commission Staff emphasized
that the creation of firewalls between and within the Canadian banks and their
investment banking subsidiaries is a well-established and recognized practice.
[153] The Pershing Group submits that the existence of firewalls between BNS and
Scotia Capital and the absence of the exchange of confidential information
between them is not germane to the question of fact that must be determined in
this case: Did BNS and Scotia Capital act jointly and in concert with Sears
Holdings in planning, promoting and structuring the Offer to ensure its success
beyond the customary role of a financial advisor? In addressing this question in
the context of Part XX of the Act, the Commiss ion and the courts have focused
on whether there has been an agreement, commitment or understanding by two
or more parties with respect to a common acquisition or investment program or
the exercise of voting rights (Re 243978 Alberta Lim ited et al (1982), 4 O.S.C.B.
566C at 568C and 573C).
[154] Scotia Capital and BNS also deny that Scotia M & A, on the one hand, and Scotia
CMG and Scotia IEG, on the other hand, had any actual commonality of interest
in the outcome of the Offer. They submit that Scotia M & A was motivated solely,
as a soliciting dealer for Sears Holdings, to identify shareholders and put them in
contact with Sears Holdings so they could potentially negotiate their own terms
for participation in the Offer. Scotia CMG and Scotia IEG, on the other hand,
were motivated to maximize returns on their investments in Sears Canada
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[155] The Pershing Group concedes in their Application that, if Scotia Capital provided
only customary advisory and administrative functions to Sears Holdings, it would
not be presumed to be acting jointly or in concert with Sears Holdings. We are
unable to conclude, based on the evidence, that Scotia Capital's role extended
beyond the provision of customary advisory and administrative support to Sears
Holdings. In particular, we note that neither Scotia Capital nor BNS acquired any
shares of Sears Canada for their own account after Scotia Capital was engaged
by Sears Holdings. We accept that it is a customary soliciting dealer function to
identify the owners of shares of an offeree issuer and to ascertain their
willingness to tender to the bid – which is what Scotia Capital did in this case.
[156] In the course of the hearing we heard testimony from Mr. Greg Rudka, a
member of Scotia Capital's Investment Banking Group and the senior person on
the Scotia M & A engagement team responsible for advising Sears Holdings in
relation to their bid. In addition, we heard testimony from Mr. Kieran O'Donnell,
an employee of BNS and a member of Scotia CMG. Mr. O'Donnell, whose
evidence we found to be very cogent, straightforward and credible, swore in his
Affidavit and emphasized in his viva voce evidence, that BNS and Scotia Capital,
the two entities that signed the Support Agreements with Sears Holdings, did
not, at any time, "work together" with the Scotia M & A team "to deliver the
votes necessary to ensure the success of the Expropriation transaction" as
alleged by Mr. Ackman in his Affidavit. This was borne out by the e-mail and
other documentary evidence filed with us that showed that Scotia M & A did not
take part in the negotiations and the decisions by BNS and Scotia Capital to
enter into the Support Agreements. In fact, Scotia M & A was careful to insist
that those negotiations take place directly between BNS and Scotia Capital and
Sears Holdings and their respective counsel.
[157] In a particularly telling exchange of e-mails we reviewed, at one point Mr.
Crowley, the Executive Vice President and CFO of Sears Holdings, and the
principal in charge of overseeing the Sears Holdings Offer, became quite
frustrated with the length of time it was taking to negotiate the Support
Agreements with the Banks. He expressed this sense of frustration to Mr. Rudka
and others within the Scotia M & A team and suggested that he wished to speak
with the CEOs of both BNS and RBC to better understand the delays and the
process timeline. As Sears Holdings' frustration level as a result of the delays
grew, Mr. Rudka and his colleagues attempted to convey the gravity of the
situation to Mr. O'Donnell and others who were working on the Support
Agreements on the other side of the wall. Mr. O'Donnell responded that more
time was required and was, it would appear, somewhat impervious to the
pressure attempted to be applied by Scotia M & A and Sears Holdings. In short,
BNS, Scotia CMG and Scotia IEG were motivated to take the necessary time in
their negotiations to maximize returns on their investments in Sears Canada
shares in the most tax-effective manner possible in their own, and in their
shareholders' best interests. Their interest in this regard was independent of
Sears Holdings' interest in successfully completing the bid and does not suppor t
a finding that they shared a commonality of interest with Sears Holdings in this
regard.
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shares in the most tax effective manner possible. This is, of course, a factual
determination driven by the evidence we heard as discussed below.

[158] The Pershing Group also points to an unusual degree of collaboration and co operation between BNS and RBC in the course of negotiating the Support
Agreements with Sears Holdings, including an offer to share tax opinions with
RBC. While this did, indeed, appear to be the case, it does not logically lead to a
finding that they did so in an effort to assist Sears Holding in planning,
promoting and structuring their Offer. Rather, it is consistent with the motivation
of BNS and Scotia Capital to ensure that they were in the strongest position to
negotiate Support Agreements which reflected terms which advanced their own
best interests.
[159] In response to the Pershing Group's allegation that BNS has virtually no
economic interest in the shares of Sears Canada, Mr. O'Donnell responded in his
Affidavit that both BNS and Scotia Capital have a meaningful interest in the
Sears Canada shares that they own. The Sears Canada shares purchased by
Scotia Capital represent proprietary trading positions with full exposure to the
value of Sears Canada shares. While BNS purchased its Sears Canada shares to
reduce its exposure under its SunTrust swap agreements, it has exposure to the
price of the shares as its after-tax return increases with an increased SAT share
price and, accordingly, BNS has some economic interest in the shares.
[160] In the absence of cogent evidence that a party to a transaction intervened or
attempted to manipulate the outcome of a bid or similar transaction, we are of
the view that it would be a dangerous path for us to follow to exclude shares
from voting or tendering into a transaction on the basis that the holder lacks a
sufficient economic interest in the securities that are the subject of the
transaction. Such an inquiry is highly subjective, fraught with factual uncertainty
and ought not to be a determining factor in a contested take-over bid context. If
this matter warrants study, it should be undertaken in a broader policy context.
In this regard, it is also noteworthy that the traditional focus of our conflict of
interest related rules as they apply to mergers and acquisitions is on those
conflicts which give rise to a bidder's active intervention or the existence of
collateral benefits that could distort the incentives for security holders (the latter
issue is, of course, the subject of a distinct allegation of the Pershing Group and
is dealt with as a distinct matter).
[161] While we accept that both Scotia Capital and BNS may well attach critical
importance to their business relationship with Sears Holdings, as the Pershing
Group claims, we cannot logically proceed from that premise, accepting it to be
true, to a finding that they acted jointly or in concert with Sears Holdings. As
regards Scotia Capital's prospect of earning a success fee, the evidence was
clear that there is no such prospect. Moreover, the prospect of a success fee was
never assured from the outset of what were, evidently, difficult negotiations with
Sears Holdings over fees in relation to Scotia Capital's engagement as financial
advisor in connection with the Offer.
[162] The fact that Scotia Capital and BNS agreed, under the Support Agreements, to
vote their shares in favour of the SAT does not establish that they were joint
actors with Sears Holdings. If this were so, RBC would also be a joint actor with
Sears Holdings on this basis, an allegation that was not made by the Pershing
Group.
[163] The law, as described above, makes it clear that the provision by a dealer o f
financial advice in respect of an offer is not, on its own, sufficient to lead to the
presumption of joint actor status. This safe harbor may not apply, however,
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[164] This leads us to the final assertion of the Pershing Group that the public interest
compels a finding that Scotia Capital and BNS are joint actors with Sears
Holdings. They say that public appearance and the perception of the investing
public as a result of Sears Holdings, Scotia Capital and BNS engaging in
transactions "perceived to be delivering collateral benefits" warrants Commission
intervention. The allegations relating to collateral benefits and consideration of
the appropriate consequences that ought to flow from any findings in this regard
based on the Commission's public interest jurisdiction are dealt with in these
Reasons as a separate matter.
[165] The evidence established that:


BNS and Scotia Capital, through Scotia CMG and Scotia IEG respectively,
purchased their shares in Sears Canada for their own accounts between
August 31, 2005 and December 16, 2005 and neither conducted further
trading in Sears Canada shares for their own accounts after December 16,
2005;



Sears Holdings retained Scotia M & A on January 6, 2006 to provide
financial advisory services in relation to its anticipated bid for Sears
Canada and retained Scotia M & A to be dealer-manager for the Offer on
February 8, 2006;



As a result of information containment processes and internal controls,
Scotia M & A was not aware that BNS or Scotia Capital owned Sears
Canada shares prior to the solicitation process at the end of February
2006;



Similarly, no one at Scotia CMG or Scotia IEG were aware that Sears
Holdings was negotiating with or had retained, Scotia M & A until after the
retainer was finalized;



Scotia M & A took no part in the negotiations and decisions by BNS and
Scotia Capital to enter into the Support Agreements; rather, these
decisions appeared to be made independently of Scotia M & A and for
business and commercial purposes unrelated to the Scotia M & A
assignment;

[166] In conclusion, it does not appear, based upon the application of the law to the
facts and the evidence before us, that Scotia Capital and BNS were "joint actors"
of Sears Holdings in relation to their Offer and the SAT.
B.

Were the Support Agreements Entered into in Contravention of
Subsection 94(2) of the Act?

Law and Analysis
[167] The Pershing Group alleges that, by entering into the Support Agreements, Sears
Holdings has contravened subsection 94(2) of the Act because it has entered into
an agreement to acquire shares of Sears Canada other than pursuant to the
Offer. Subsection 94(2) reads as follows:
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where the dealer's activities include playing an integral role in presenting
proposals to management and actively promoting the success of an offer, where
such activities exceed what is customary for a dealer (Re Seel Mortgage
Investm ent Corporation and Dom inion Trustco Capital Inc. (1992), 15 O.S.C.B.
4287). The facts in Seel are distinguishable from this case.
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[168] Subsection 94(2) of the Act has very limited exceptions, including subsection
185(1) of the Regulations which were not argued to be applicable in this case.
[169] The policy purpose served by subsection 94(2) of the Act is to ensure that an
offeror is not able to avoid or circumvent the equal treatment and other
protections afforded target company shareholders under Ontario securities law
by entering into a private agreement to acquire shares outside the bid, during
the currency of the bid (Report of the Com mittee to Review the Provisions of the
Securities Act (Ontario) Relating to Take Over Bids and Issuer Bids, cited above,
at page 20).
[170] Sears Holdings says in response that the Support Agreements do not constitute
agreements to acquire beneficial ownership of shares within the meaning of
subsection 94(2) of the Act. Rather, they commit BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC to
vote their shares in favour of the SAT. They argue that, if the Pershing Group's
interpretation of the provision were to be accepted, then every instance in which
an offeror announces its intention to carry out a SAT following completion of a
bid (which the offeror would be legally obliged to disclose provided they have
such an intention) would violate subsection 94(2) because it would constitute an
"offer to acquire" or a "commitment to acquire" securities other than pursuant to
the bid.
[171] The Pershing Group contends, however, that the Support Agreements in this
case are properly viewed as private agreements to acquire shares entered into
outside of, but during the course of, the bid. They say that this is so because the
effect of entering into them was to guarantee satisfaction of the Minority
Approval requirement which, in turn, guaranteed the acquisition of the Sears
Canada shares to be voted by BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC in favour of the SAT
pursuant to the terms of the Support Agreements. Once the Support Agreement
with RBC was signed, Sears Holdings had contractual commitments to support
the SAT such that, in their words, "success of our Offer was assured."
Accordingly, Pershing submits, "there could be no clearer understanding that
Holdings would acquire Sears Canada shares held by BNS, Scotia Capital and
RBC in the second step going private transaction and outside of the Offer."
[172] Commission Staff took the position, consistent with that of Sears Holdings, that
the Support Agreements are not agreements to purchase Sears Canada shares
outside of the Offer within the meaning of subsection 94(2) of the Act. However,
they point out that it is unusual for a bidder to enter into a support agreement
with a target shareholder during the course of a bid that provides for the target
shareholder to vote their shares in favour of a SAT rather then tender into the
bid. In this case, it is clear from the evidence that BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC
were not prepared to tender to the bid as it was not in their economic best
interests to do so. Mr. Kieran O'Donnell of BNS, in his Affidavit, clearly states
that "the essence of the Support Agreements was that BNS and Scotia Capital
would agree to hold on to their shares and vote them in favour of a form of
second step going private transaction." (Affidavit of Kieran O'Donnell swo rn June
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94(2) An offeror shall not offer to acquire or make, or enter
into, any agreement, commitment or understanding to
acquire beneficial ownership of any securities of the class
that are subject to a take-over bid otherwise than pursuant
to the bid on and from the day of the announcement of the
offeror's intention to make the bid until its expiry.
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22, 2006, Record of The Bank of Nova Scotia and Scotia Capital Inc., Volume 2,
Tab 2, at para. 27).

[174] We acknowledge that, on their face, the Support Agreements do not "technically"
appear to offend subsection 94(2) of the Act because they are not, in form,
agreements to purchase or acquire shares, but rather, agreements to vote
shares in favour of the SAT. However, as Commission Staff concede, the nature
of these Support Agreements is unusual. By the time the Support Agreements
were released from escrow, approval of the SAT was effectively assured as
explained above. The true substance and intended effect of the Support
Agreements was that BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC would vote their Sears
Canada shares in favour of the SAT and Sears Holdings would acquire their
shares pursuant to the SAT in December 2006. If one looks through the form of
these agreements to their true substance and intended effect, the complaint that
they contravene subsection 94(2) of the Act has merit.
[175] However, this allegation is not central to our Decision or Reasons and we have
therefore determined that it is unnecessary to make a conclusive finding on this
issue.
C.

Did Sears Holdings Comply with its Disclosure Obligations?

[176] The Pershing Group has made a number of allegations that Sears Holdings failed
to comply with its disclosure obligations in connection with its Offer. In
particular, they allege that Sears Holdings' disclosure was deficient with regard
to the following matters:
(a)

Scotia Capital had been retained as Sears Holdings' financial advisor;

(b)

Scotia Capital/BNS held shares of Sears Canada as principal;

(c)

the Vornado Agreement included a Release in favour of Vornado in respect
of any claims arising out of Vornado's purchases and sales of Sears
Canada shares;

(d)

the Support Agreements with Scotia Capital and BNS had been signed on
March 28, 2006 and were being held in escrow pursuant to Escrow
Agreements that had also been signed by them and Sears Holdings;

(e)

Scotia Captial, BNS and RBC were the parties to the Support Agreements
together with the specific terms of the Support Agreements;

(f)

the lock-up agreement with Natcan contained a price-protection provision
(although this was ultimately disclosed in the Sears Holdings' Circular it
was not disclosed in the press release which announced the Offer and
simultaneously announced the Natcan Deposit Agreement); and

(g)

the tax consequences of the Offer and the SAT were not properly and fully
described in the Circular in that it did not expressly address the "stoploss" and other income tax aspects of the deal that would have been of
relevance to other Canadian corporations besides BNS, Scotia Capital and
RBC.
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[173] Commission Staff nonetheless submit that we might consider the unusual nature
and effect of these Support Agreements in assessing, under our public interest
jurisdiction, whether Sears Holdings' conduct in relation to the bid was "abusive"
overall as alleged by the Pershing Group.

[177] The essence of the Pershing Group's complaint as regards the standard of
disclosure to which Sears Holdings adhered to in its press releases, Circular and
Notice of Variation and Change in Information which described its revised Offer,
is that, on the whole, it was inadequate and either not provided on a timely basis
or not provided at all. The Pershing Group alleges that Sears Holdings failed to
disclose, or failed to disclose on a timely basis, facts and information that they
were obliged to disclose and that minority shareholders would consider to be
material in the circumstances. As such, they say, remedial action is warranted.
[178] Sears Holdings says that the Pershing Group's allegations are without merit and
proceed from the faulty premise that because something was not disclosed, the
non-disclosure must be improper. They argue that, to warrant Commission
intervention, non-disclosure must be coupled with an obligation to disclose.
Below we review the disclosure complaints in more detail against the backdrop of
what is required.
Arguments, Law and Analysis
[179] Under the Act, subsection 98(1) requires delivery of a take-over bid circular by
the offeror. In the event of a change in the information contained in the bid
circular that would reasonably be expected to affect the decision of security
holders of the offeree issuer, the offeror is required under subsection 98(2) to
issue and deliver a Notice of Change in Information. The information required to
be disclosed in these documents is prescribed by Form 32.
[180] Sears Holdings disclosed in its Circular that it had retained Scotia Capital as
dealer-manager of the soliciting dealer group. It did not disclose, and maintains
that it had no obligation to disclose, that Scotia Capital had also been retained to
act as Sears Holdings financial advisor. However, it did in fact disclose in its
February 9 press release which announced the mailing of the Offer that Scotia
Capital had been retained as its financial advisor.
[181] Sears Holdings submits that it had no obligation to issue a Notice of Change of
Information disclosing that Scotia Capital and BNS were shareholders of Sears
Canada after it first became aware of this information.
[182] Sears Holdings also maintains that they had no obligation to disclose the fact
that the Vornado Agreement included the litigation Release in favour of Vornado
in respect of its purchases and sales of Sears Canada shares because the
existence of the Release was not a material fact.
[183] Similarly, they maintain that they were not obligated to disclose the fact that
Support Agreements with Scotia Capital and BNS had been signed "in escrow"
because, until such time as the Minority Condition was satisfied, the Support
Agreements were not binding and, if the Minority Condition was never satisfied,
the Support Agreements would be deemed not to have been delivered. Sears
Holdings maintains that disclosure that the Support Agreements had been signed
in escrow by BNS and Scotia Capital would have been misleading to the market
given that there was no assurance that the Minority Condition would be satisfied
and this information was withheld "in order to protect minority shareholders from
tendering under a misapprehension."
[184] Sears Holdings submits that it had no obligation to disclose the identity of the
parties to the Support Agreements on the basis that this information "was not, in
any sense, material to shareholders."
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[186] With regard to the failure to mention the price protection provided to Natcan
when the lock-up agreement was first disclosed in connection with the
announcement of the Offer, counsel for Sears Holdings submits that whether or
not a particular term of an agreement ought to be disclosed is "a matter of
business judgment." In addition, they say, the price protection provided to
Natcan was ultimately disclosed in the Bid Circular.
[187] Full, accurate and timely disclosure is a fundamental underpinning of Ontario
securities law. In a take-over bid context, a principal means of protecting the
bona fide interests of the shareholders of target companies is by ensuring that
they are provided with information that might reasonably affect their decision to
accept or reject a bid for their shares. Information is material, and therefore
should be disclosed, if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable
shareholder would consider it important when deciding whether to accept or
reject the bid. This determination involves more than the application of
"appropriate business practices or judgment." (Re Maple Leaf Sports &
Entertainm ent Ltd. (1999), 22 O.S.C.B. 2027; Beringer Properties Inc., (1993)
18 B.C.S.C. Weekly Summary 18 at 22; and Re Standard Broadcasting Corp. Ltd.
(1985), 8 O.S.C.B. 3672 at 3676-3677).
[188] In his closing submissions, counsel for Sears Holdings referred us to the
MacDonald Oil case where the Commission, in its reasons, indicated that it is
often the case that allegations of non-disclosure or inadequate disclosure are
made during the course of a take-over bid. They further noted that "there is a
difference between perfect disclosure, which no two opposing counsel likely
would ever agree upon, acceptable disclosure and material non-disclosure or
materially misleading disclosure." Counsel submitted, and we agree, that this is
a sensible framework against which to assess the Pershing Group's allegations of
non-disclosure in this case (Re MacDonald Oil Exploration (1999), 22 O.S.C.B.
6453).
[189] To the sensible framework laid out by the Commission in the MacDonald Oil case,
supra, we would add that there is also a difference between disclosure which
strictly follows the "line items requirements" in a form or a rule and disclosure
that focuses on information that may be material to an investor's decision to
tender their shares to a bid in the particular circumstances. Sears Holdings'
defence of their disclosure approach in the context of their insider bid rests upon
the absence of a specific line item obligation to disclose coupled with their view
that the information was not likely to be important to investors in determining
how to respond to the Offer.
[190] No-one should be held to a standard of infallibility when it comes to judging
disclosure with the benefit of hindsight. However, meeting one's disclosure
obligations is a contextual, and not purely mechanical exercise, and requires the
exercise of judgment. In the context of a bid, the success of which is conditional
upon a particular shareholder tendering his shares or agreeing to vote in favour
of a SAT, tentative agreements with that shareholder are fundamentally
important and should be disclosed. Sears Holdings' defence that there is no
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[185] Counsel for Sears Holdings submitted in his closing submissions that the tax
impact of the extension of the Offer that resulted from the Support Agreement
negotiations as well as the "stop-loss" aspect of the Income Tax Act were, in
fact, properly disclosed and that shareholders were, as is customary, advised to
consult with their own advisors.

general obligation to disclose the identity of shareholders who choose to tender
to a bid is not an appropriate analogy. A deal with an individual shareholder to
support a SAT in the midst of a bid that otherwise appeared to be failing is
unusual and cannot be equated with an anonymous decision on the part of a
shareholder to tender to the bid. The identity of the counterparties to the
Support Agreements was material information in these circumstances and ought
to have been disclosed. That the counterparties may have preferred for this
information to be kept confidential would not relieve Sears Holdings of any
disclosure obligation that they might have had.
[191] With regard to the confidentially provisions in the Support Agreements, the
evidence we heard conflicted to a certain extent. On the one hand, Mr. Crowley
of Sears Holdings testified that the confidentiality provisions were added to the
Support Agreements by counsel acting on behalf of BNS and Scotia Capital. The
impetus for their inclusion did not come from Sears Holdings. Mr. O'Donnell of
BNS did not dispute this. However, Mr. O'Donnell indicated that, notwithstanding
BNS's earlier insistence on inclusion of the provision, continued confidentiality
was not critical from their perspective. As speculation and interest in knowing
the identity of the counterparties to the Support Agreements mounted in the
press and elsewhere, BNS apparently communicated to Sears Holdings their
willingness to have their identity revealed. In fact, we heard evidence that it was
Mr. Frank Switzer, an official spokesperson for BNS, who first confirmed in an
April 12 Wall Street Journal article that the Bank was a party to the Support
Agreement.
[192] The fact that the Support Agreements were being held in escrow and subject to
the Minority Condition does not necessarily mean that their existence could not
have been disclosed, together with the necessary disclosure about the conditions
to which they were subject so as to ensure that they would not be "misleading to
the marketplace". Indeed, as both the Pershing Group and Commission Staff
pointed out, in the April 4, 2006 Notice of Extension and Variation, Sears
Holdings certified that there were "no contracts, arrangements or
understandings" between it and any security holder in relation to the Offer
although there was such an arrangement, albeit conditional and held in escrow.
This certification did not accurately and fairly reflect the reality at the time.
Counsel for Sears Holdings said in closing submissions: "Those Support
Agreements, the signed documents that later became the Support Agreements,
simply did not exist until the escrow condition was satisfied." (emphasis added).
We reject this characterization. There is no basis in fact or logic for us to
conclude that the heavily negotiated, signed Support Agreements did not exist
simply because they were subject to a condition pre-requisite to their release
and effectiveness.
[193] The evidence showed that the Vornado Release, regardless of any lack of
importance that Sears Holdings may have attached to it, was of critical
importance to Vornado. This, too, was material information that might have
provided more objective information to other shareholders with which to assess
the import of the Vornado Agreement.
[194] Similarly, the Sears Holdings press release of December 5, 2005, announced that
it had entered into a lock-up agreement with Natcan pursuant to which Natcan
"has agreed to tender all 9,699,862 shares that it owns or controls in response
to Sears Holdings' Offer". Shareholder and marketplace assessment of an
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[195] The Pershing Group has urged us to conclude that the public disclosure of Sears
Holdings in the circumstances of this case was woefully inadequate, self-serving,
and sometimes misleading. They maintain, and Commission Staff agree, that
decisions with respect to disclosure appear to have been made for tactical
purposes, to advance the self interest of Sears Holdings rather than to ensure
that the investing public received proper and timely disclosure.
[196] Viewed as a whole, the panel is troubled by the approach taken by Sears
Holdings to their disclosure obligations in the context of their Offer. Insider bids
are subject to the rigorous disclosure, valuation, majority of the minority
shareholder approval and Special Committee requirements which are the
protective pillars so central to Rule 61 -501. These protections are intended to
safeguard the rights and interests of minority shareholders in circumstances
where related party transactions are undertaken, such as the insider bid in
question. Insiders such as Sears Holdings must ensure that they treat minority
shareholders fairly and comply fully with the spirit and intent of their disclosure
and other obligations. We are particularly troubled by Sears Holdings' approach
with respect to making proper and timely disclos ure to the Special Committee of
Sears Canada. Our concerns with regard to interactions between Sears Holdings
and the Special Committee extend beyond the failure to provide the Committee
with the disclosure and information they sought in order to properly fulfill their
mandate. We address these latter concerns in detail later in these Reasons.
[197] In their written submissions, Sears Holdings maintains that even if we were to
find that they fell short of their disclosure obligations, the remedy originally
sought by the Pershing Group of cease trading the Offer or excluding from the
minority the shares held by the parties to the Vornado Agreement and the
Support Agreements would be disconnected from, and disproportionate to, the
wrong alleged. On balance, we agree that such relief would be disproportionate
in the circumstances. We also note that the revised draft relief which the
Pershing Group presented for our consideration at the hearing did not include a
request that we generally cease trade the Offer. Although a "compliance order"
pursuant to section 104 of the Act is subject to the inherent limitations of
addressing disclosure deficiencies on an ex post facto basis, we have concluded
that this is the most appropriate and proportionate remedy available to us in
relation to the disclosure deficiencies. At the same time, such an Order,
considered in conjunction with these Reasons, will signal to the marketplace
more generally the importance of complying with the spirit and intent, as well as
the form, of our disclosure requirements.
D.

Did the Support Agreements and the Vornado Agreement
Contravene Subsection 97(2) of the Act?

The Legislative Schem e
[198] Subsection 97(1) of the Act sets out the basic requirement that, where a bid is
made, all of the holders of the same class of securities must be offered identical
consideration.
[199] Subsection 97(2) of the Act prohibits an offeror making or intending to make a
take-over bid from entering into "any collateral agreement, commitment or
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independent third party agreement to tender to Sears Holdings' Offer at $16.86
per share might well have been impacted had they known that Natcan had
received 3 month price protection under the terms of the lock-up agreement.
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[200] Subsection 97(3) of the Act provides that, where the terms of take-over bid are
varied prior to its expiration so as to increase the value of the consideration
offered for the securities subject to the bid, the offeror must pay the increased
consideration to each person or company whose securities are taken up pursuant
to the bid, including those whose securities were taken up prior to the variation.

(i)

What Are the Elements of the "Collateral Benefits"
Prohibition?

[201] Although the use of the term "collateral benefit" does not, in fact appear in the
actual text of the legislative prohibition in subsection 97(2) of the Act, it is the
descriptive title which appears before the section and is often used to describe
the prohibition enshrined in subsection 97(2). For purposes of these Reasons, we
use the term "Collateral Benefits Prohibition" in referring to the subsection 97(2)
prohibition.
[202] In order for there to be a violation of subsection 97(2) of the Act, two conditions
must be met:
a.

there must be a collateral agreement, commitment or understanding
between the offeror and a shareholder: and

b.

such agreement, commitment or understanding must have the effect of
providing the shareholder with consideration of greater value than that
offered to other shareholders of the target corporation.

[203] As regards the first condition, the Commission has described a "collateral
agreement" as: "...an agreement separate and apart from any agreement
resulting from acceptance of the offeree's take-over bid itself...The primary
dictionary meaning of collateral is "running side by side – parallel." (Re Genstar
Corp. (1982) 4 O.S.C.B. 326C at 338C).
[204] In this case, there is no dispute between the parties that the Vornado Agreement
and the Support Agreements satisfy the first branch of the two -part test in the
Collateral Benefits Prohibition.
[205] The issue in dispute is whether the Vornado and Support Agreements had the
effect of providing to the shareholders that were parties to them consideration of
greater value than that which was offered to other shareholders of Sears
Canada.

(ii)

The Vornado Agreement

[206] On April 1, 2006, Sears Holdings entered into its deposit agreement with
Vornado (the Vornado Agreement) under which Vornado agreed to deposit its
7.5 million shares of Sears Canada to a revised Offer of Sears Holdings at a price
of $18.00 per share. Sears Holdings agreed to pay Vornado, and all other Sears
Canada shareholders whose shares are taken up under the Offer including those
shareholders who had already tendered their shares to the Offer, any increased
consideration paid by Sears Holdings either under the Offer or any subsequent
acquisition of all Sears Canada shares prior to December 31, 2008, under the
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understanding with any holder of beneficial owner of securities of the offeree
issuer that has the effect of providing to the holder or owner a consideration of
greater value than that offered to the other holders of the same class of
securities."
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"In consideration for entering into (the Deposit Agreement),
Sears Holdings Corporation...hereby releases Vornado Realty
L.P....(and their respective officers, directors, employees
and agents) from any and all claims and demands of any
nature arising out of or otherwise based upon the activities
of Vornado...in connection with Vornado Realty L.P.'s
acquisition and disposition of Common Shares of Sears
Canada Inc. and entering into and performing this
Agreement...In addition, Sears Holdings Corporation
agrees....to cause Sears Canada Inc. to execute an
instrument expressly agreeing to this release on behalf of
itself and its subsidiaries."
[207] Sears Holdings did not disclose this Release when it publicly announced the
Vornado Agreement nor did it do so in its Notice of Extension and Variation dated
April 4, 2006. The existence of the Release was first disclosed by Sears Holdings
on June 10, 2006, in the course of carrying out its production obligations in
connection with these proceedings.
Arguments, Law and Analysis
[208] The Pershing Group submits that consideration of greater value has been
provided to Vornado in the form of the Release and that this consideration has
not been offered to other shareholders of Sears Canada. On its face, the granting
of the Release in favour of Vornado pursuant to its Deposit Agreement with
Sears Holdings therefore contravenes subsection 97(2) of the Act. The onus,
they argue, then shifts to the offeror to demonstrate that the special features of
the arrangement, in this case, the Release, did not give rise to consideratio n of
greater value than was offered to the other shareholders (Re Royal Trustco Ltd.
and Cam peau Corporation (No. 2) (1980), 11 B.L.R. 298 at 309).
[209] Sears Holdings' disputes that the Release has the effect of providing
consideration of greater value to Vornado than that which was offered to other
shareholders. They say that, as Sears Holdings did not believe that either it or
Sears Canada had any private cause of action against Vornado in any event,
granting Vornado the Release did not have the effect of pro viding Vornado with
anything of value.
[210] Although Sears Holdings may not have attached any value to the Release, the
evidence at the hearing during the cross-examination of Mr. Crowley clearly
established that Vornado attached significance to the Release. Mr. Crowley
confirmed that Mr. Roth, Chairman of Vornado, was directly involved in
discussions with Mr. Lampert relating to the scope of the Release. As neither Mr.
Roth nor Mr. Lampert were called as witnesses at the hearing, we do not know
what the precise nature of those discussions were but Mr. Crowley suggested in
his evidence that successfully negotiating the form and wording of the Release
was important to Vornado in causing it to enter into the Deposit Agreement. He
indicated that Vornado was originally negotiating for a broader form of indemnity
but ultimately agreed to the Release.
[211] The Pershing Group, in its written submissions, referred to the following
statement by Mr. Roth in connection with Vornado's Annual Report for 2005:
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Deposit Agreement (Price Protection). Sears Holdings also provided the following
release to Vornado (the Release):

"With respect to Sears Canada, sure there's more value
there than the offered price, but we made a fine profit here
and fighting for a few more bucks is not our game. In this
case, we'll leave that to others. Our shares have been
tendered and taken up, we have received our $118 million in
cash and enjoy price protection through December 31,
2008."
[212] As we have previously noted in connection with Sears Holdings' allegations
against the Pershing Group, if the Pershing Group was found to be a joint actor
with Vornado in connection with its purchases of Sears Canada shares, the
corollary would also have been true although it was not alleged. We do not
know, and cannot speculate, as to whether this played any role in the
negotiations between Mr. Roth and Mr. Lampert in connection with t he Deposit
Agreement.
[213] The law provides that, for purposes of subsection 97(2), it is not necessary to
determine whether the quantum of the consideration is large or small. (Royal
Trustco Ltd., supra).
[214] In the CDC Life Sciences case, the Commission held that, even in the face of
conflicting evidence about value, value can be inferred from the very fact that a
shareholder entered into an agreement. Specifically, the Commission stated in its
decision that it was "confident that the (security holder) would not have entered
into the agreement unless it saw some value to itself in so doing." (Re CDC Life
Sciences Inc., Caisse de depot et placem ent du Quebec and Institut Merieux S.A.
(1988), 11. O.S.C.B. 2541 at 2554).
[215] In the Olym pia and York case, the British Columbia Securities Commission
explicitly recognized, by granting an exemption from a Collateral Benefits
Prohibition equivalent to subsection 97(2) in respect of an indemnity against
legal liability that had been provided to a shareholder, that benefits of this
nature are otherwise prohibited (Re Olym pia & York Developm ents Ltd., (1989)
B.C.S.C. Weekly Summary 131).
[216] We have concluded that the granting of the Release in connection with the
Vornado Agreement constituted a violation of subsection 97(2) of the Act. On its
face, it constitutes consideration of greater value than that offered to other
shareholders of Sears Canada in connection with the Offer and Sears Holdings
has not discharged the burden of persuading us that it did not provid e
consideration of greater value than that offered to other shareholders of Sears
Canada.
[217] In coming to this conclusion we have considered Sears Holdings' argument that,
as they did not consider the Release to have any value, Sears Holdings could not
have contravened subsection 97(2) of the Act by providing it. To accept this
argument would be to concede that the offeror's subjective assessment of the
value of the consideration provided, or in this case the alleged lack thereof, is
determinative.
[218] The Canadian Oxford Dictionary defines consideration, in a legal context, to
mean "anything given or promised or forborne by one party in exchange for the
promise or undertaking of another." The Black's Law Dictionary similarly provides
that consideration means "something (such as an act, a forbearance, or a return
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promise) bargained for and received by a promisor from a promisee". In both
cases, the concept of "forbearance" is relevant.

[220] In this case, the Release that was provided gave Vornado comfort that Sears
Holdings would "forbear" from suing Vornado in connection with its purchases
and sales of Sears Canada shares. It went further in also providing Vornado with
Sears Holdings' commitment to secure the same release from Sears Canada in
favour of Vornado (although we were advised during the hearing that this
release had not yet been executed by Sears Canada). This Release is presumed
to have value and constitutes consideration of greater value than that offered to
other minority shareholders who have not received such a release.
(iii)

The Support Agreements

[221] The facts relating to the ownership of the Sears Canada shares to which the
Support Agreements relate were not contested. Briefly, Scotia Capital IEG
purchased, for risk arbitrage purposes, 513,000 Sears Canada shares between
August 31, 2005 and December 16, 2005. BNS, through Scotia CMG, acquired 4
million Sears Canada shares as a partial hedge against the swap agreements it
had entered into with SunTrust and a broker dealer and hedged the rest of its
exposure under the swap agreements by entering into offsetting swaps. RBC
owns 3.9 million Sears Canada shares and also entered into various equity swap
agreements.
[222] The BNS Support Agreement relates to the 4 million Sears Canada shares owned
by BNS. The Scotia Capital Support Agreement relates to 511,000 of their Sears
Canada shares. The RBC Support Agreement relates to 3.1 million of the 3.9
million shares owned by RBC. In the aggregate, the Support Agreements
covered approximately 7.1% of the then outstanding Sears Canada shares.
[223] From the time that Sears Holdings first announced their Offer in early December,
2005, BNS and RBC (referred to collectively as the Banks), as Canadian
corporate shareholders, were aware of the potential impact of the Offer on their
tax position. Once the Offer came to the attention of Mr. O'Donnell of BNS CMG,
he wrote to his colleague Mr. Chris Purkis to raise awareness of the potential
impact of the Offer on BNS. Thereafter, they began to consider and discuss
strategies to improve the tax treatment on the taxable dividend BNS had
received in December, 2005, including negotiating an exit strategy with Sears
Holdings which would permit BNS to hold its Sears Canada shares for more than
one year. In paragraph 25 of his Affidavit, Mr. O'Donnell said: "We recognized
that we may have to negotiate to have the bid re-structured and extended in
order to achieve this objective." Similarly, the potential impact of the Offer was
also apparent to RBC as evidenced by the following e-mail from Mr. Richard
Tavoso of RBC:
"...The current takeover for us is negative in that it will force
the stock to stop trading and we will not be able to age our
inventory for one year in order to qualify for a tax gross -up.
We believe there are certain ways the company can
structure the deal so that its shareholders can qualify for a
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[219] The law is well settled that "forbearance to sue is good consideration." Even
where the validity of a claim is in doubt, the courts have held that forbearance to
enforce it can be good consideration." (B. v. Arkin (1996), 138 D.L.R. (4 th) 309
(Man. Q.B.) at 313 and 314).
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[224] The tax impact of the Offer that was of concern to the Banks arose from the
payment of the extraordinary cash dividend to all Sears Canada shareholders on
December 14, 2005. Briefly, under the "stop loss" rules contained in the Income
Tax Act, tax losses cannot be deducted where tax free dividends have been
received and the shares in question have been held for less than 365 days from
the date of purchase. Accordingly, if the SAT were to have been successfully
completed before December, 2006, the Banks would not have held their shares
for more than 365 days and the stop loss rules would therefore apply to the
disposition of their shares. In addition, under either of the two forms of SAT
preferred by the Banks, they would be able to elect deemed dividend treatment
on the disposition of their Sears Canada shares.
[225] Following inquiries, Scotia M & A reported to Sears Holdings and their counsel as
to the identity of the banks that owned significant blocks of shares of Sears
Canada. The Banks were the only Canadian financial institutions identified as
having significant holdings. Sears Holdings realized that the Banks would have
an incentive not to tender their shares to the Offer prior to the one-year
anniversary of their acquisition because it would result in less advantageous
after tax positions as compared to their tax position if they continued to hold the
shares until at least December 2006. Based on this assessment, Sears Holdings
approached BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC to determine if there was a way in
which these parties would be prepared to either tender their shares to the Offer
or agree to vote their shares in favour of the SAT.
[226] Following extensive negotiations, by March 28, 2006, Sears Holdings reached an
agreement with BNS and Scotia Capital as to the terms of the Support
Agreements. However, neither BNS nor Scotia Capital were willing to deliver a
binding support agreement until each of them was certain that Sears Holdings
had obtained sufficient shares, either pursuant to the Offer or through support
agreements negotiated with other parties, to ensure that Sears Holdings would
obtain the votes of a majority of the minority shareholders in the SAT (the
Minority Condition). Accordingly, the signed Support Agreements were held in
escrow.
[227] During the week of April 3, 2006, Sears Holdings continued its negotiations with
RBC and, on April 5, 2006, Sears Holdings entered into the Support Agreement
with RBC. At that point in time, and in light of the Vornado Agreement, the
Minority Condition was satisfied and the Support Agreements executed with BNS
and Scotia Capital were released from escrow and became effective agreements.
[228] The Banks both filed materials in aid of establishing the quantum of the tax
advantage to each of them as a result of their successful negotiations with Sears
Holdings which resulted in an extension of the expiry date of the Offer and
negotiation of the precise form of the SAT out of the four possible forms of SAT
initially identified in Sears Holdings' Circular. According to BNS and Scotia
Capital, the tax benefits were approximately $39.67 million in relation to the 4
million shares held by Scotia CMG if those shares were disposed of in accordance
with the Support Agreements. According to the memorandum of Brad Rowse,
Senior Vice president, Taxation on March 30, 2006 these benefits would result
from a combination of the elimination of the "stop loss' rule by extending the
SAT to December 2006 ($16.07 million) and the election to dispose of shares to
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tax gross-up and would like to talk to the company and see
if they are amenable...."

Sears Canada ($23.60 million). In addition, the per share tax benefit to Scotia
IEG in relation to their 511,000 shares would be comparable. According to a
letter filed by counsel to RBC, their tax position was as follows: if RBC sold the
3.1 million shares referenced in the Support Agreement before December 9,
2006, RBC would be obliged to pay approximately $15,339,000 of tax referable
to the extraordinary dividend paid in December, 2005. This is in addition to an
additional $19,307,000 of tax that it would not be obliged to pay were it to
dispose of its shares in a re-purchase by Sears Canada at any time after
December 9, 2006.
[229] Under the terms of the Support Agreements, BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC each
agreed to vote the Sears Canada shares in favour of the SAT and Sears Holdings,
in return, agreed that:
(a)

the meeting of Sears Canada shareholders to approve the SAT would be
held, and any court approval obtained, prior to November 15, 2006;

(b)

the SAT would be completed and closed between December 14 and 17,
2006;

(c)

c) the SAT would take the form of either a reverse stock split or
consolidation of Sears Canada shares or a plan of arrangement under
section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act; and

(d)

in the event that the SAT was not completed by December 15,2006, or
December 17, 2006 (as per the BNS/Scotia Capital and RBC Support
Agreements respectively) Sears Holdings would consult with BNS, Scotia
Capital and RBC as to what future steps should be taken to enable them
to dispose of their Sears Canada shares (the Liquidity Consultation
Provision).

[230] The quid pro quo for the Banks entering into the Support Agreements was Sears
Holdings' agreement to revise the Offer and the SAT to accommodate their tax
planning objectives. Specifically, the changes to the Offer were as follows:
(a)

the expiry date of the Offer was extended to August 31, 2006 and the SAT
was deferred to December 2006 (the Offer Extension) as a result of which
the Banks were able to preserve a significant tax loss deduction in
connection with their Sears Canada shares; and

(b)

the narrowing down of the SAT to one of two forms of transaction out of
the four possibilities originally identified by Sears Holdings in their
Circular, which would be treated as a redemption for tax purposes from
the perspective of the Banks which, in turn, would result in a substantial
tax free deemed dividend to BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC (the SAT
Election).

Arguments, Law and Analysis
[231] Sears Holdings argues that, upon completion of the SAT in December, 2006, the
consideration that will have been paid to all minority shareholders o f Sears
Canada under the Offer will be $18.00 per share. In other words, the Support
Agreements (and the Vornado Agreement) will not have the "effect" of providing
consideration of greater value to the Banks (and Vornado) than was offered to
the remaining minority shareholders of Sears Canada. We accept the first part of
this submission inasmuch as all shareholders will receive $18.00 per share under
the Offer and upon successful completion of the SAT. In other words, all holders
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[232] The Pershing Group's allegation is that the effect of entering into the Support
Agreements was to provide the Banks with consideration of greater value than
that offered to other shareholders in violation of subsection 97(2) of the Act.
Counsel for the Pershing Group characterized the arguments made on behalf of
itself and Sears Holdings as "two ships passing in the night. We are arguing a
97(2) case and they are arguing 97(1)." Subsection 97(2) of the Act establishes
an "effects based" test for determining whether a collateral agreement,
commitment or understanding has been entered into in violation of its
provisions.
[233] Sears Holdings and the Banks argued several points with regard to whether the
tax advantages that are available to the Banks as a result of the successful
negotiation of the revised terms of the Offer and SAT violate the Collateral
Benefits Prohibition. They say that some other shareholders may well be in the
same position as the Banks and will be able to benefit from the same revised
terms of the Offer by holding on to their shares and voting in favour of the SAT
as the Banks have agreed to do. The difficulty we have with this argument is that
the evidence clearly shows that millions of shares traded during the period
between the commencement of the Offer and the revised Offer being announced.
Even if we accept, as we do, Sears Holdings' argument that it is for the individual
shareholders of Sears Canada to determine their own financial and tax position
with regard to the Offer and the SAT, the fact that the revised Offer followed
months of extensive trading in the shares of Sears Canada after commencement
of the bid is fatal to the argument that other shareholders of Sears Canada who
are in a similar tax position to the Banks have the same opportunity to benefit
from the revised Offer. As counsel for Pershing put it in his closing submissions,
"They can't take 25 million pieces of toothpaste and stick them back in the
toothpaste tube, because that is how many shares have traded in the time the
bid was pending."
[234] The submissions from the Banks and Sears Holdings emphasized that both
subsections 97(1) and 97(2) of the Act focus on the considerat ion offered under
the bid and not on the after-tax impact of the consideration received by
individual shareholders. It is, of course, true that the after-tax impact of the
consideration ultimately realized pursuant to the Offer or upon successful
completion of the SAT will vary across the diverse shareholder base depending
on whether the shareholder is an individual, corporation, tax exempt entity or
even a resident of Canada. In his Affidavit, Mr. Crowley stated as follows:
Throughout his Affidavit, Mr. Ackman emphasizes that the
Support Agreements were negotiated with a view to the tax
position of BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC. This is certainly the
case. There was nothing even remotely improper in Sears
Holdings taking into account the tax position of shareholders
of the target corporation in determining how to make the
proposed acquisition the most appealing to holders of the
largest number of shares. This is a common factor taken into
account by offerors and it would have been irrational for
Sears Holdings not to do so.
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of the same class of securities are being offered identical consideration under the
Offer as required by subsection 97(1) of the Act.

47

[235] We agree entirely with these submissions. Section 97 of the Act cannot be
interpreted to mean that all holders of the same class of securities must be
offered identical after-tax consideration or that bidders are required to adjust the
consideration offered to account for the unique tax positions of diverse groups of
shareholders. In fact, offerors are required to provide adequate disclosure of the
tax consequences of an Offer precisely to allow shareholders to assess the
impact of the Offer on their own tax position and take this into account in
deciding whether or not to tender, participate in the SAT or exercise any other
rights that may be available to them. As a general proposition, there is nothing
wrong with bidders taking into account the tax planning objectives of
shareholders generally in the course of structuring their bids. Clearly, the Act
cannot and should not be interpreted so as to require offerors to provid e
identical consideration to shareholders on a post-tax basis. This would be neither
practical nor sensible.
[236] The Pershing Group relied upon two previous Commission decisions in support of
their position that "tax benefits" can be found to violate the Collateral Benefits
Prohibition.
[237] In the Royal Trustco Ltd. case, Campeau made an all-cash bid for the common
and preferred shares of Royal Trustco. Prior to launching the bid, Campeau had
obtained a call option on the Royal Trustco shares owned by Unicorp in
consideration for which Unicorp received convertible preference shares of
Campeau which, on the third anniversary date from issuance, would
automatically convert into common shares of Campeau. Unicorp also entered
into a shareholders' agreement with Campeau's principal shareholder which
would allow Unicorp the option of either selling its convertible preference shares
to, or buying Campeau common shares from, the principal shareholder.
Campeau apparently applied for relief from the Collateral Benefits Prohibition but
withdrew its application prior to the conclusion of the hearing. The Commission
found that the call option and shareholders' agreements made it possible for
Unicorp to receive advantages or benefits that were not offered to other
shareholders of the same class in the form of a "tax-free rollover of its Royal
Trustco shares into Campeau shares." The Commission stated in its decision that
"the onus was on Campeau to demonstrate that the special features of the
arrangement with Unicorp did not give rise to consideration of greater value than
that offered the other shareholders of the class." The Commission ultimately
found that Unicorp did not receive the same consideration as other Royal Trustco
shareholders and that the call and shareholders' agreements constituted
Prohibited Collateral Benefits. (Royal Trustco Ltd., cited above, at page 309).
[238] Sears Holdings and the Banks argue that the conclusions reached by the
Commission in the Royal Trustco Ltd. case are not applicable in this case as they
are limited to a situation in which the bidder provides certain shareholders with a
different form of consideration than that offered to other target shareholders. In
this case, all Sears Canada shareholders are being offered the same
consideration of $18.00 per share. While the Royal Trustco situation is not on all
fours with this case, it is relevant in establishing that the onus rests with Sears
Holdings and the Banks to establish that the special features of the Support
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(Affidavit of Mr. William C. Crowley sworn June 21, 2006 at
para. 101).
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[239] In the Noranda case, the Commission gave relief from the Collateral Benefits
Prohibition. In that case, the target shareholders were given the option of
receiving cash or voting preferred shares redeemable for the same amount as
the cash consideration. The preferred share option provided the controlling
shareholders with favourable tax treatment. Although all shareholders were
given the same choice between cash or preferred shares, the controlling
shareholders were the only shareholders who would stand to realize a tax
advantage in choosing the preferred share option. For this reason, an order from
the Commission was sought. While the Noranda case is, again, not on all fours
with the instant case, it establishes that a bidder that seeks to accommodate the
specific tax planning objectives of certain target shareholders (in that case, the
controlling shareholders) in preference to other shareholders may well be
considered to have violated the Collateral Benefits Prohibition. In Noranda, all
target shareholders were given the same choice of cash or preferred shares
redeemable for the same amount as the cash consideration. However, the
controlling shareholders were the only parties who were in a position to realize a
tax advantage from the preferred share option. Similarly, in this case, Sears
Holdings and the Banks argue that all minority shareholders are being offered
the same revised Offer as the Banks. The practical reality is that the Banks may
well be the only shareholders who can take advantage of the tax benefits that
will be available to them as a result of the negotiation of the revised terms of the
Offer and the SAT mid-bid and neither Sears Holdings nor the Banks have
established otherwise. These arguments are not, in any event, dispositive in
determining the application of the Collateral Benefits Prohibition to the Support
Agreements in these circumstances.
[240] Counsel for RBC argued that, with the exception of the Noranda case, none of
the authorities or precedents addressed the situation where the alleged benefit
does not emanate from the bidder directly but, rather, follows from the
application of general tax laws to the particular circumstances of a shareholder.
Counsel for Sears Holdings made a similar submission in which he argued that
the concept of "consideration of greater value" which is central to the Collateral
Benefits Prohibition under subsection 97(2) must emanate from the offeror. Our
finding with regard to whether or not the Support Agreements had the effect of
providing consideration of greater value to the Banks than to other shareholders
of Sears Canada does not depend on this interpretive issue as will be clear from
our reasoning below. However, we note that the Collateral Benefits Prohibition
does not expressly require that the consideration of greater value, if it is found
to exist, must emanate from the offeror or the person acting jointly or in concert
with the offeror. Rather, the Collateral Benefits Prohibition requires a
determination of whether a collateral agreement, commitment or understanding
has the "effect" of providing to a shareholder consideration of greater value than
that offered to other shareholders.
[241] The Royal Trustco Ltd. case, supra, is helpful in addressing a further interpretive
issue that was raised in connection with the ambit of subsection 97(2) of the Act.
Section 97 applies to take-over bids as defined. A take-over bid is defined in
subsection 89(1) of the Act as "an offer to acquire ... securities...". The Royal
Trustco Ltd. case established that agreements which confer collateral benefits on
shareholders even though they contemplate the acquisition of shares outside of a
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Agreements do not "give rise to consideration of greater value than that offered
the other shareholders" of Sears Canada.

bid are still subject to subsection 97(2) of the Act. In that case, the Commission
found that there was a prohibited collateral benefit where the offeror proposed to
acquire shares outside of a bid pursuant to a call agreement. As a matter of
principle and policy, it should not be possible for an offeror to avoid the
application of the Collateral Benefits Prohibition by agreeing to provide collateral
benefits to a shareholder whose shares are to be acquired outside the bid in a
SAT or other transaction. There is nothing in the language of subsection 97(2)
which expressly requires or even implies that the shares at issue must be
acquired under the bid. To interpret the provision otherwise where avoidance of
its intent could so easily be achieved would be to undermine the fundamental
principle of equal treatment of shareholders. We also note that it would be
inconsistent with Rule 61-501 which treats the combination of the Offer and the
SAT as the equivalent of a single transaction for purposes of determining
whether the Minority Approval requirement has been satisfied.
[242] As noted above in the context of the consideration of the Vornado Agreement,
consideration is not a defined term under the Act. In the case of Currie v. Misa,
an English court provided a definition of consideration which has frequently been
cited with approval by courts in Canada. It was said to consist in "some right,
interest, profit or benefit accruing to the one party or some forbearance,
detriment, loss or responsibility, given, suffered, or undertaken by the other."
(Currie v. Misa (1875), L.R. 10 Exch. 153; affirmed (1876), 1 App. Cas. 554
(H.L.). Consideration has been held by the courts to mean something which is of
value in the eyes of the law and could include an act, or promise of an act, which
is incapable of being given a monetary value, though it has some value or
benefit in the sense of advantage for the party who is the present or future
recipient or beneficiary of the act. (Thom as v. Thom as (1842), 2. Q.B.851 at
859; Meisner v. Bourgaux Estate (1994), 131 N.S.R. (2d) 244 (N.S.S.C); Bank of
Nova Scotia v. MacLellan (1977), 78 D.L.R. (3d) 1 (N.S.S.C)).
[243] Commission Staff take the position that the Support Agreements violate the
Collateral Benefits Prohibition. They reject the arguments of Sears Holdings and
the Banks to the contrary for a number of reasons including the following:


Sears Holdings took into account the tax objectives of a select group of
Sears Canada shareholders whose votes it required and not those of all
other shareholders;



if the Collateral Benefits Prohibition were to be interpreted as focusing
only on the identical consideration issue, this would make subsection
97(1), which sets out the basic requirement for identical consideration,
superfluous; and



it is clear from the evidence that the Banks would have suffered severe
tax losses if the Offer and the SAT had been completed within the
timeframe and in the form originally contemplated by Sears Holdings and
if Sears Holdings had chosen not to enter into the Support Agreements
and had simply raised the bid price under the Offer.

[244] Counsel for the Pershing Group submits that, at the end of the day, the effect of
the Support Agreements was to do exactly what subsection 97(2) of the Act is
directed at preventing. The Banks agreed to support the SAT in circumstances
where they would not, in fact, have tendered to the bid because they received
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[245] We agree. The consideration of greater value that was received by the Banks in
this case consisted of the promise of the Offer Extension, the SAT Election and
the Liquidity Consultation Provision which, in turn, ensured that the Banks would
be in a position to preserve and realize millions of dollars worth of tax benefits.
By entering into the Support Agreements, the Banks were able to negotiate
these revised terms of the Offer which ensured that they would not be forced to
tender into the bid prior to December, 2006 and thereby lose these tax benefits.
By entering into the Support Agreements, the Banks were able to ensure that
the form of the SAT, which would otherwise have been at the option of Sears
Holdings to choose from among the four possibilities outlined in the Bid Circular,
was one which would be advantageous to the Banks from a tax point of view.
The Support Agreements also provided the Banks with the benefit of the
Liquidity Consultation Provision, described above, which was not available to
other shareholders of Sears Canada. This commitment on the part of Sears
Holdings to consult with BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC as to future steps that
might be taken to enable them to dispose of their shares in the event that the
SAT was not successfully completed by December, 2006, appears to provide
consideration of greater value than that offered to other Sears Canada
shareholders particularly in light of Sears Holdings' persistent warnings that the
Sears Canada shares would be very illiquid upon completion of the Offer. No
evidence was offered to the contrary. In return for the Banks support of the SAT,
Sears Holdings promised to take the foregoing actions which constituted
consideration that was of considerable value to the Banks in ensuring that they
would not be effectively forced to tender to the Offer and thereby lose the tax
benefits that they wished to preserve and realize.
[246] We have concluded, for the reasons and based on the analysis set out above,
that the effect of the Support Agreements was to provide consideration of
greater value to the Banks than that offered to other Sears Canada shareholders.
We are satisfied that no other conclusion, in the unique circumstances of this
case, would be consistent with the wording, spirit and intent underlying the
Collateral Benefits Prohibition which is a fundamental element of the protections
afforded under Part XX of the Act.
(iv)

What is the Appropriate Remedy in Relation to the Vornado
Agreement and the Support Agreements?
(a)

Extending the Release to Sears Canada Shareholders

[247] Given our finding that the Vornado Agreement contravened subsection 97(2) of
the Act, what is the appropriate remedy? Counsel for the Pershing Group submits
that the votes attached to the Sears Canada shares acquired by Sears Holdings
from Vornado pursuant to the Deposit Agreement ought not to be included in the
minority for purposes of the minority approval of the SAT. They say that
exemptive relief under subsection 104(2) of the Act could not have been
available to Sears Holdings had it been sought as the Deposit Agreement was
not made for reasons other than to increase the value of the consideration paid
to Vornado.
[248] Sears Holdings submits that the relief sought by the Pershing Group is
disconnected from and disproportionate to the alleged wrong. They say that a
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Agreements.
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[249] Commission Staff maintain that it is unclear how providing a similar release to
other Sears Canada shareholders would eliminate the benefit received by
Vornado when the release is likely to have greater value for Vornado than any
other Sears Canada shareholder.
[250] Deposit agreements, support agreements, and lock-up agreements are all
contemplated by the Act and Rule 61-501 and are not, in and of themselves,
objectionable or illegal. As counsel for RBC pointed out to us in closing
submissions, such agreements are a common and accepted tool for bidders in
this jurisdiction. Insider bidders are also entitled to lock-up a majority of the
minority votes and to have those votes count in a second stage transaction.
Although we must analyze the Vornado Agreement and the Support Agreements
separately, they were, as counsel for Sears Holdings put it, in the nature of a
"package deal." Another description offered was of a "three legged stool." It was
Vornado that was successful in negotiating for an increase in the bid price from
$16.86 per share to $18.00 per share. As counsel for Sears Holdings put it in
closing submissions: "Mr. Roth knew he had Sears Holdings where he wanted
them, and he had the ability to extract the last nickel out of Sears Holdings, and
he did it...And he was probably, in the circumstances, the only person who could
have done that."
[251] The remedy we fashion must be preventive and protective in nature and not
punitive. In balancing the nature and effect of the collateral benefit provided by
Sears Holdings to Vornado, the extent of the preferential treatment afforded to
Vornado in the form of the Release, the impact of the granting of the Release on
the integrity of the process and shareholder confidence against the increase in
the bid price that resulted from the Vornado negotiations to the benefit of all
Sears Canada minority shareholders, we are of the view that, in order to address
the inherent unfairness of the Release having been granted only to Vornado,
Sears Holdings ought to amend the Take-Over Bid Circular in respect of the Offer
to disclose the existence and terms of the Release grant ed to Vornado pursuant
to the Vornado Agreement and grant the same Release to other shareholders
whose shares were or are acquired under the bid or the proposed SAT.
[252] Vornado clearly negotiated in its own commercial self-interest and the result of
that negotiation was a higher bid price that accrued to the benefit of all Sears
Canada shareholders including the Pershing Group.
[253] The nature of the collateral benefit that was obtained by Vornado is such that it
can feasibly and pragmatically be extended to all shareholders of Sears Canada
whose shares were or are acquired under the Offer. We are of the view that
extending the release to other shareholders of Sears Canada whose shares are
acquired under the bid or under the proposed SAT is appropriate and fair in t he
circumstances and consistent with the principle of equal treatment of all
shareholders under a bid. To do so is also consistent with the animating principle
underlying s. 97(3) of the Act.
[254] We are equally of the view, however, that on its own, this remedy is inadequate
and fails to redress the real harm which has been done by Sears Holdings in
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more appropriate remedy, if one is required at all, would be for Sears Holdings
to issue a Notice of Variation pursuant to subsection 98(4) of the Act to extend
the same release, in effect, to all other shareholders whose shares are acquired
pursuant to the Offer.

granting the release to Vornado in the context of negotiating the Deposit
Agreement. Merely granting the Release to other Sears Canada shareholders will
not, of course, result in equal treatment. These shareholders do not have the
opportunity that Vornado had to make their decision to tender to the bid
conditional upon the receipt of a satisfactory form of Release. From the evidence,
we know that receipt of the Release was important to Vornado in its decision to
tender to the bid. Accordingly, we must address the impact, if any, that the
tendered Vornado shares ought to have on the minority approval of the SAT
required to be obtained in accordance with the terms of Rule 61-501 and its
Companion Policy. This matter is addressed immediately below.
(b)

The Minority Approval Requirement of Rule 61-501

[255] Our overriding obligation must be to ensure that the consequences to the Offer
and the SAT that result from our findings above are consistent with the spirit and
intent of the equal treatment requirements which govern insider bids under the
Act and consistent with the Minority Approval requirement which is a key
protective pillar under Rule 61-501.
[256] The SAT is a business combination under Rule 61-501 because it is a transaction
by which Sears Holdings intends to acquire any Sears Canada shares that are not
tendered to it under the Offer. The Companion Policy to Rule 61-501 states that
the Commission does not consider the types of transactions covered by Rule 61501 to be inherently unfair. However, the Policy notes that such transactions are
capable of being abusive and unfair and that the Commission has therefore
adopted the protections set out in the Rule animated by the principles set out in
the Companion Policy to Rule 61-501. In order for the SAT to proceed, it must be
approved by the minority shareholders in accordance with the provisions of the
Rule.
[257] The votes attached to the Sears Canada shares which were tendered to the Offer
may generally be included in determining whether Minority Approval of the SAT
has been obtained under Rule 61-501 with numerous exceptions. Votes attached
to shares ofjoint actors would have to be excluded. In addition, votes attached to
shares of a party that received a collateral benefit under the bid would also have
to be excluded. For purposes of Rule 61-501, which focuses on related party
transactions, the definition of "collateral benefit" differs from that under the Act
and applies to "related parties". The Rule 61-501 definition of "collateral benefit"
is not applicable in this case as none of BNS, Scotia Capital, RBC or Vornado are
"related parties" as therein defined.
[258] We are therefore left to determine the appropriate remedy based on the
application of the policy and principles which underlie the Minority Approval
requirement to these circumstances where collateral benefits have been granted
to non-related third parties. In responding to comments received on the
proposed January 2004 amendments to Rule 61-501, Commission Staff stated as
follows:
In the case of a business combination, where a majority of
security holders can force the minority to relinquish their
securities against their will, it is important that this majority
be comprised, to the extent possible, of security holders who
are voting solely on the merits of the business combination.
(emphasis added)
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[259] In its Notice of Amendments to Rule 61-501, in commenting on the nature of the
Minority Approval requirement, the Commission expressed the expectation that
those voting have interests which are as aligned and as free from conflicts as
possible:
...when a majority vote of security holders can force the
minority to relinquish their securities against their will at a
price they may regard as inadequate, it is reasonable to
require that the security holders comprising the majority be
as free from conflicts as possible so that their interests are
aligned with those of the minority. (emphasis added).
(Notice of Amendments to Rule 61-501 (2004), 27 O.S.C.B.
4483 at 4486).
[260] In recently introducing the definition of collateral benefits for purposes of Rule
61-501, the Commission noted that collateral benefits can, in fact or perception,
induce the recipient shareholders to tender to a bid or to support a business
combination. Even where motives are above reproach, the Commission further
noted that collateral benefits can cause a transaction to have economic
consequences that vary among security holders entitled to vote on the
transaction. This can have a distortional impact on the required minority vote.
[261] These principles are applicable in the instant case. It is clear that the Banks
agreed to support the SAT in return for the collateral benefits which they
received as outlined above. In the case of the Vornado Agreement, we do not
know what role the Release played in Vornado's decision to tender to an $18.00
bid price. We know from Mr. Roth's statement in Vornado Annual Report that he
believed there was more value there. The result of the Vornado Agreement and
the Support Agreements – the "package deal" that Sears Holdings had
negotiated with select shareholders – was to ensure the success of the vote on
the SAT. This result was prejudicial to the remaining shareholders of Sears
Canada who not only had lost their collective leverage with respect to the bid
price but also were certain to lose their shares despite how they might otherwise
have been inclined to vote on the SAT. We have concluded that, to permit the
votes attached to the Vornado shares tendered to Sears Holdings and the votes
committed in favour of the SAT under the Support Agreements to count as part
of the Minority Approval would be to distort the outcome of the Minority Approval
process and vitiate its intended benefit.
[262] Finally, subsection 2.1 (5) of the Companion Policy to Rule 61-501 expressly
contemplates the possibility of Commission intervention on public interest
grounds where an arm's length security holder is receiving preferential treatment
in return for its support of a business combination: "...giving a security holder
preferential treatment in order to obtain that holder's support of the transaction
will not normally be considered justifiable." Commission Staff submit, and we
agree, that the preferential treatment extended by Sears Holdings to the Banks
in order to accommodate their legitimate tax planning objectives in the context
of a bid that did not otherwise appear to be succeeding affords a basis to
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[263] As the Act prohibits agreements with specific shareholders which have the effect
of providing consideration of greater value than that offered to other
shareholders, we also considered whether to allow the Offer to proceed in
circumstances where it has been determined that collateral benefits have been
provided to certain shareholders. The Commission may grant exemptions from
the Collateral Benefits Prohibition if it is satisfied that it would not be prejudicial
to the public interest and the collateral agreement was made for reasons other
than to increase the value of consideration paid for the securities of a selling
security holder (subsection 104(2)(a)). This determination would be based
primarily on the business purpose for providing the benefit. There was no basis
for granting exemptions in this case. However, we decided that a permanent
cease-trade order of the Offer would not be an appropriate remedy given the
stage of the bid, the nature of the collateral benefits and their effect on other
shareholders and taking into account that such a remedy was not put forward by
any of the parties, including Commission Staff, in their final submissions to us. In
fashioning an appropriate remedy in this case, we are mindful of the challenges
we face in attempting to redress various aspects of Sears Holdings' conduct in
the pursuit of its Offer given the stage of the Offer and the fact that so many
shareholders have already traded or tendered their shares. The Order we are
making will ensure that if Sears Holdings does proceed with a SAT, that they
must be scrupulous in ensuring that the decision on the SAT is determined by
the minority shareholders of Sears Canada uninfluenced by the inclusion of
shares or votes secured by conferring collateral benefits and preferential
treatment to specific shareholders.
[264] Therefore, we conclude that the Take-Over Bid Circular in respect of the Offer
ought to be amended to disclose that Sears Holdings will exclude from the
calculation of the majority of the minority, on the anticipated SAT, the shares of
Sears Canada acquired by Sears Holdings from Vornado pursuant to the Vornado
Agreement and the shares of Sears Canada held by or acquired from Scotia
Capital, BNS and RBC, which are the subject of the Support Agreements,
including on any other offer or SAT in the future.
E.

Was the Conduct of Sears Holdings in Connection with its Offer
Coercive and/or Abusive?

[265] The Pershing Group submits that, in considering all of the circumstances of this
case, the bid of Sears Holdings is coercive and/or abusive of the minority
shareholders of Sears Canada and contrary to the public interest. Counsel for
Pershing provided the panel with a summary document enumerating all aspects
of the conduct at issue in this matter which they allege, when viewed as a whole,
amounts to coercive and abusive conduct. We deal with these complaints below.
[266] Counsel for Sears Holdings urged us to be cautious in applying words like
"coercive" and "abusive" to the Offer as these words are often applied loosely
and strategically by those who stand in opposition to an offeror and its bid.
According to the Webster's Dictionary, "coercive" means to dominate or control
especially by exploiting fear or anxiety. The dictionary definition of "abusive"
which is relevant in this context means to mistreat. Not surprisingly, previous
Commission decisions have not attempted to define these terms in the abstract
but rather, have applied the Commission's public interest jurisdiction in the
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favour of the SAT pursuant to the Support Agreements.
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context of particular transactions and circumstances that call out for a remedy.
This approach is, perhaps, analogous to the manner in which the Courts have
been reluctant to define pornography but, rather, "know it when they see it."
The Absence of a "Minimum Tender Condition"

[267] The Pershing Group takes issue with the fact that the Offer does not contain a
minimum tender condition despite the earlier public representation by Sears
Holdings to the contrary. They say this is coercive because, in the circumstances,
shareholders may well feel pressured to tender for fear of holding shares in an
even less liquid post-bid entity.
[268] Sears Holdings submits that their bid is not a partial bid but is, rather, an allcash premium bid for all outstanding Sears Canada shares and therefore cannot
be said to be coercive.
[269] We cannot conclude that the absence of a minimum tender condition is
necessarily coercive on its own. There is no obligation to include a minimum
tender condition in every offer and nothing, per se, improper with announcing
the intention to include such a condition but subs equently deciding not to include
it once the bid is formally launched. We also note that even where take-over bids
do include such a condition, the condition can typically be waived in the sole
discretion of the offeror.
[270] However, liquidity concerns on the part of shareholders who would prefer not to
tender to the Offer which lacks the protection of a minimum tender condition can
create pressure on shareholders to tender despite their views as to the adequacy
of the offer. On its own, this does not warrant Commission intervention but it is a
factor to bear in mind in considering the other claims of coercive or abusive
conduct relating to the Offer.
(ii)

The Offer Was at a Price Below the Genuity Valuation

[271] There is nothing inherently improper about an offeror deciding to make a bid at a
price which is less than the valuation range of the independent valuator. The role
of the Commission is not to form an opinion as to the fair value of Sears Canada
shares. Similarly, our role is not to weigh in as to the relative merits of the
Genuity Valuation or the financial adequacy of the Sears Holdings' bid price. That
is for the shareholders of Sears Canada to decide with the benefit of the required
valuation and the views of the Special Committee formed pursuant to the
requirements of Rule 61-501.
[272] Provided that shareholders have had the benefit of an independent valuation
conducted in accordance with the terms of Rule 61-501 and a meaningful
opportunity to accept or reject the bid, there is no basis for the Commission to
intervene on the basis that the bid is lower than the lowest end of the
independent valuation range.

(iii)

Interference with the Genuity Valuation Process

[273] Sears Holdings had several meetings with Genuity, organized by the Special
Committee, in an effort to ensure that Genuity was aware of information that
Sears Holdings believed ought to be considered by Genuity in formulating its
valuation opinion. The fact that such discussions took place and that Sears
Holdings was desirous of communicating with Genuity prior to completion of the
valuation should not be viewed as objectionable or coercive. That such meetings

COMP-422

2006 ONSEC 13 (CanLII)

(i)

56

[274] Following the issuance of the Genuity Valuation, Sears Holdings was openly
critical of Genuity, accusing it of having made indefensible assumptions and of
ignoring highly relevant factors which it ought to have considered and which
Sears Holdings had brought to its attention. There is nothing wrong with parties
disagreeing on the question of fair market value – in fact, this is to be expected.
However, the manner in which Sears Holdings chose to attack the int egrity of the
Genuity Valuation is reflective of the manner in which they dealt with others –
such as the Special Committee and the Pershing Group – who got in the way of
the successful completion of their bid.
(iv)

Decision by Sears Holdings to Cease Dividend Payments

[275] On March 20, 2006, Sears Holdings issued a press release stating that: "in the
event that Sears Holdings does not acquire a majority of the minority of Sears
Canada shares, Sears Canada will face the increasingly competitive Canadian
retail environment without the financial and operating benefits of being owned
100% by Sears Holdings. Therefore, Sears Holdings, consistent with its practice
in the United States, will support the elimination of the recent practice of Sears
Canada of paying quarterly dividends of C$0.06. In addition, Sears Holdings
would not support any extraordinary dividend or distribution to public
shareholders in 2006."
[276] Mr. Crowley explained in his Affidavit that Sears Holdings made this public
statement of what its intentions were with respect to the payment of dividends.
He further explained that Sears Holdings does not pay quarterly dividends and
believed that a consistent practice was appropriate for Sears Canada.
[277] Mr. Crowley's characterization of the reasons underlying this public statement by
Sears Holdings in the course of its insider bid flies in the face of
contemporaneous non-public communications from Mr. Rudka, financial advisor
to Sears Holdings, to his colleagues at Scotia Capital. From these e-mails, it is
clear that Mr. Crowley intended to use the threat that Sears Holdings would
eliminate the Sears Canada dividend in order to exert pressure, or coerce, the
shareholders of Sears Canada to tender into the insider bid. The e-mail dated
March 13, 2006, from Mr. Rudka to Messrs. Vaux and Asmundson at Scotia
Capital states as follows: "Crowley called. ...He wants to send out a press release
this week reminding people to tender and perhaps threatening no 2006
dividend." (emphasis added)
[278] Sears Holdings followed up on this "threat" by issuing the March 20 press release
which announced the intention to eliminate dividend payments at Sears Canada.
In so doing, it is noteworthy that Sears Holdings mischaracterized quarterly
dividend payments as a "recent practice" when, in fact, Sears Canada had been
paying dividends for the past 20 years.
[279] Subsequently, on April 3, 2006, Sears Holdings announced that its Offer had
been amended to provide that any dividend paid by Sears Canada after the date
of the Offer, including regular quarterly dividends, would have to be remitted to
Sears Holdings by shareholders who tender. An e-mail sent April 26, 2006, to
Mr. Crowley from Mr. William Phelan, VP & Controller of Sears Holdings stated as
follows:
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took place would not, absent other conduct, afford a basis to conclude that there
was any improper attempt to influence or intimidate Genuity. Proof of the latter
would, of course, raise significant concerns.

"From my perspective, the key point is that the majority of
the minority have already accepted the $18.00 offer and all
shareholders can receive their $18.00 immediately (actually
ten days after) when they tender. To pay a dividend would
provide a mixed message to these shareholders, giving them
a reason to hold the shares longer and delay the process.
That would not be in the best interest of Sears Canada, its
associates or the shareholders."
[280] Viewed in the context of events that were unfolding in relation to the Offer, the
statements relating to the non-payment of dividends could be construed as
threatening in nature and, together with other "warnings" relating to decreased
liquidity and the increasingly competitive Canadian retail environment, intended
to exert pressure on the minority shareholders to tender to the bid. Despite the
business purpose advanced by Sears Holdings in explaining their decision to
announce the cessation of dividend payments to Sears Canada shareholders, we
do not regard it as co-incidental that this announcement was issued at a time
when it appeared that minority shareholders were unwilling to tender at the then
bid price.
(v)

Sears Holdings' Dealings with the Special Committee of
Sears Canada

[281] The Pershing Group raised several complaints relating to the manner in which
Sears Holdings dealt with the Special Committee of Sears Canada. They submit
that this conduct is remarkable and should be deeply troubling to the
Commission. In evaluating the validity of these complaints, we had the benefit of
the testimony of Mr. William Anderson, the Chair of the Special Committee. All of
the parties, including Sears Holdings, acknowledged Mr. Anderson to be a very
credible and impressive witness. We found Mr. Anderson to be a credible witness
who gave his evidence in a straightforward, thoughtful and balanced fashion.
[282] It is important to set out the factual background to the complaints made in this
regard. On February 21, 2006, Sears Canada mailed its Directors' Circular
concerning the insider bid. The voting members of Sears Canada's board (i.e. t he
six independent directors comprising the Special Committee) recommended
unanimously that the shareholders of Sears Canada reject the Offer of Sears
Holdings and not tender their shares to the insider bid. The mere fact that Sears
Holdings chose to pursue a bid which the Special Committee considered to be
inadequate does not, in our view, constitute evidence of coercive conduct as
suggested by the Pershing Group.
[283] In support of this recommendation to reject the Offer, the Special Committee
noted, among other things, that:
(a)

the Offer of Sears Holdings was financially inadequate;

(b)

the consideration offered by Sears Holdings was significantly below the
valuation range of Genuity;

(c)

c) the consideration offered by Sears Holdings was at a significant
discount to the average trading price of the shares of Sears Canada on
the Toronto Stock Exchange over the period following the initial
announcement of the Offer on December 5, 2005;
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(d)

the Offer was made at a time when the impact of the steps being taken by
Sears Canada in the last half of 2005 to reduce costs and improve the
company's financial results had not yet become evident; and

(e)

the Offer did not reflect the benefits and savings that would be realized by
Sears Holdings if its Offer was successful.

[284] In addition, the Special Committee also expressed their view that the Offer had
been "opportunistically timed" and that it "exerts pressure" on Sears Canada and
its minority shareholders as evidenced by a number of factors including Sears
Holdings' application for exemptive relief to permit it to mail its Circular without
including the required formal valuation as well as the absence of a minimum
tender condition under the Offer.
[285] This set off a chain of events. On February 22, 2006, Sears Holdings issued a
press release in response to the Directors' Circular. This press release quoted
Alan Lacy, the Vice Chairman of Sears Holdings as follows:
"We are disappointed that the Special Committee has
recommended against our Offer; however we recognize that
the Special Committee was constrained in its ability to
recommend that shareholders accept our offer as a result of
the valuation range contained in what we believe to be a
flawed valuation report."
[286] Having in essence attacked the basis for the Special Committee's
recommendation as being "flawed", Sears Holdings went on in their press release
to set out a detailed chronology of the purchases and sales of Sears Canada
shares by members of the Special Committee in the three years prior to the
issuance of the Directors' Circular. They suggest in their press release that
shareholders should consider whether these actions of the individual members of
the Special Committee are "consistent with the Genuity valuation report, which is
the principal underpinning of the Special Committee's recommendation." Mr.
Anderson, in giving his evidence, made it clear that he felt that these comments
were unfair and misleading in that they did not reflect the fact that some
members of the Special Committee were precluded from buying Sears Canada
shares as a result of trading restrictions during the relevant time period. We
have concluded that the purpose of these statements in the Sears Holdings press
release was to call into question the good faith and bona fides of the Special
Committee members by underscoring the perceived inconsistency between their
recommendation with regard to the Offer and their own past trading practices
with regard to the shares of Sears Canada.
[287] The Sears Holdings press release also attributed to members of the Special
Committee concerns pertaining to the financial condition and stability and the
ongoing business prospects of Sears Canada. Mr. Anderson's evidence before us
was that these statements were taken out of context. We have concluded that
Sears Holdings used these prior statements out of context and in a misleading
fashion in an effort to pressure the shareholders of Sears Canada to tender to its
bid.
[288] Mr. Anderson made it clear that despite numerous requests made to Sears
Holdings for access to information which the Special Co mmittee felt they needed
in order to fulfill their statutory mandate, access to this information and
documentation was either delayed or never provided at all. Into the latter
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[289] In the cross-examination of Mr. Anderson, we learned that the draft Notice of
Change to Directors' Circular originally described the insider bid of Sears
Holdings as "coercive". The final version of the Notice of Change to Directors'
Circular dated April 12, 2006, did not include that word. Mr. Anderson conceded
that the Special Committee agreed to take that reference out of the final version
of their Directors' Circular as a result of requests made by representatives of
Sears Holdings. However, his evidence was that the Special Committee was not
coerced into doing so.
[290] Subsequently, on February 27, 2006, Sears Canada issued a press release
announcing that all six of the independent directors on its board did no t intend to
stand for re-election at the next annual meeting of shareholders in the spring,
2006. These six directors constituted the members of the Special Committee. At
this time, Mr. Vaux of Scotia M & A sent an e-mail dated February 28, 2006, to
Mr. Crowley and others in which he stated as follows:
"If there was a time to issue a press release about Holdings
intending to put forth its own slate of directors and to effect
some changes, this is probably it. Just try to sound
disappointed with their actions and again let's raise the
inconsistencies about how this obviously further distances
them from their reject recommendation."
[291] The day after the announcement was made that the independent directors would
not stand for re-election, Mr. Lacy, the representative of Sears Holdings on the
Sears Canada board, approached the independent directors to ask them if they
would resign immediately instead of waiting for the annual general meeting on
May 9, 2006. The independent directors refused to do so because of the fiduciary
obligations they owed to Sears Canada. That Sears Holdings would seek the
early resignation of the members of the Special Committee in the midst of an
insider bid in respect of which the Special Committee had expressed serious
reservations is of significant concern to the panel. It is also noteworthy that
someone at Sears Holdings apparently leaked to the media the message that the
independent directors of Sears Canada were "running for the hills" which
appeared in a subsequent news report.
[292] Following the increase of the Sears Holdings Offer to $18.00 a share in
conjunction with the announcement of the Vornado Agreement and the Support
Agreements, the Special Committee received an updated Valuation and
Inadequacy Opinion from Genuity which re-affirmed Genuity's prior valuation
range for the Sears Canada shares. The Special Committee issued a Notice of
Change of Directors' Circular in response to the revised Offer in which they
continued to express a number of reservations "with respect to, or arising in light
of, the revised Offer" of Sears Holdings but unanimously determined not to make
a recommendation concerning the revised Offer. In their Notice, the Special
Committee stated as follows:
"The Special Committee has not been provided with copies
of the support agreements pursuant to which certain
Minority Shareholders have agreed to vote their Common
Shares in favour of a going private transaction or the names
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[293] We do not and cannot know what impact the provision of the requested
information and documentation might have had on the Special Committee's
consideration of the revised Offer or on their determination not to make any
recommendation to the Sears Canada minority shareholders with respect
thereto. The result of Sears Holdings' refusal to pro vide this information to the
Special Committee on the basis, as counsel to Sears Holdings submitted to us,
that they had no specific statutory obligation to do so, was that the minority
shareholders of Sears Canada were effectively denied the opportunity t o know
what impact the information might have had on the Special Committee's
consideration of the revised Offer and on their determination to proceed with a
neutral recommendation.
[294] As the Commission emphasized in the context of the Hollinger decision, the role
of the Special Committee in the context of an insider bid is a critical component
of the protections afforded to minority shareholders pursuant to Rule 61-501 (Re
Hollinger Inc. (2005), 28 O.S.C.B. 3309). It is understandable that all bidders,
including insider bidders, will want to successfully complete their bid at the
lowest price reasonably possible in the circumstances. In fact, it is to be
expected that parties will act rationally and in their own economic interests. For
this very reason, minority shareholders cannot be expected to look to the insider
making the bid to protect their rights and interests. Rather, it is the statutorily
mandated role of the Special Committee in such circumstances to safeguard the
rights and interests of the public shareholders of the company during the course
of an insider bid by, among other things, obtaining a formal valuation from an
independent valuator of its choice and making an informed recommendation to
the shareholders in relation to the insider bid.
[295] Insiders who wish to make an insider bid for a public company and take it
private assume an obligation to co-operate with the Special Committee as it
discharges its important and statutorily mandated function. We do not know to
what extent Sears Holdings' actions and public attacks on the members of the
Special Committee played a role in the individual decisions of the members not
to seek re-election. We do know that, had the members of the Special
Committee resigned immediately as Sears Holdings requested, that wo uld have
left no-one on the board of Sears Canada to protect the rights and interests of
that company's minority shareholders during the pendency of the insider bid. We
are of the view that the conduct of Sears Holdings as regards their dealings with
the Special Committee, formed in accordance with the requirements of Rule 61501, fell far short of the conduct we would expect of even the most determined
offeror in the pursuit of its insider bid.

(vi)

Dissent Rights

[296] The February 22 press release of Sears Holdings quotes Mr. Lacy as saying: "On
March 17, 2006, shareholders will have two choices: either tender to the Sears
Holdings offer or continue to hold shares, which we believe will thereafter trade
at a significant discount to our offer." Counsel for Sears Holdings, BNS and
Scotia Capital and RBC all urged us to bear in mind that those shareholders who
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of such shareholders. As a result, the Special Committee is
unable to assess whether the Common Shares subject to
such agreements may be voted as part of the minority with
respect to a going private transaction involving Sears
Canada." (emphasis added).

are unhappy with the Offer can exercise their dissent and appraisal rights under
Canadian corporate law. We agree. It is noteworthy that this choice was not
mentioned as an option for shareholders in the February 22 press release. We
cannot do more than speculate as to whether this omission reflects Sears
Holdings' view as expressed by Mr. Crowley in a February 24 e-mail to Mr.
Lampert that "dissenters rights in Canada do not work well for the dissenter in
practice. It can take years for the dissenter to get the money (10 years in one
case). Not a practical solution for shareholders." It is worth noting that, by
extending the expiry date of the Offer to August 31, 2006, and the closing date
for the proposed SAT to mid-December 2006, in accordance with the terms of
the Support Agreements, there is resulting delay to other Sears Canada
shareholders who might wish to commence the dissent and appraisal process.
(vii)

Exemption Application in Relation to the Valuation

[297] As noted earlier in these Reasons, Sears Holdings applied to the Commission and
other securities regulators for relief from the requirement to include a formal
valuation of the Sears Canada shares in its Take-Over Bid Circular on the basis
that the Genuity Valuation was not being prepared quickly enough. The
resolution of the exemption request is described earlier in these Reasons and
need not be repeated here. While the Valuation was, of course, critical
information for minority shareholders to have, Sears Holdings considered it
appropriate to seek exemptive relief to dispense with the need to include the
Valuation in its Circular so that they could proceed with its mailing.
(viii) Threatening Legal Action Against Desjardins
[298] When Sears Holdings took note of Mr. Mayers comments in the press in which he
was generally critical of the bid price under the Offer, Sears Holdings took steps
to commence a libel action against Desjardins. Desjardins subsequently issued a
public apology for the previous comments of Mr. Mayers, one of their executives.
We are unable to conclude, based on the little we know about what precipitated
these events, that this action on the part of Sears Holdings provides evidence of
coercive conduct.

(ix)

April 20 Complaint Against the Principal of Pershing

[299] On April 20, 2006, Sears Holdings filed a complaint with Commission Staff in
relation to the conduct of the Pershing Group. This complaint had two
components to it. The first of these components outlined allegat ions of breaches
of the act against the Pershing Group which have been fully addressed earlier in
these Reasons. The other component of the complaint related to the past
conduct of Mr. Ackman. Sears Holdings included with their complaint a number
of articles and U.S. court decisions concerning Gotham Partners L.P., a public
and private equity partnership that Mr. Ackman had co-managed before he
launched Pershing in January 2004. Mr. Ackman, through his counsel, took
objection to what he characterized as a pre-emptive, personal attack based on
his past business dealings which were unrelated to Pershing, Sears Holdings or
Sears Canada. Mr. Ackman's response to the complaint made against him
underscored the selective and misleading nature of the materials that were filed
with Commission Staff. The Commission takes complaints which are filed with it
seriously and we expect that all market participants, acting directly or through
their counsel, will be duly diligent in ensuring that information filed in support of
such complaints is balanced, accurate and not misleading.
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Other Complaints

[300] The Pershing Group made a number of other complaints in support of their claim
that the Offer is coercive and abusive which relate to the fact that Sears Holdings
entered into the Vornado Agreement and the Support Agreements, provided
inadequate and deficient disclosure and generally took steps designed to coerce
minority shareholders to tender into their insider bid. We need not address these
complaints here as they are dealt with elsewhere in these Reasons.
(xi)

What is the Appropriate Remedy?

[301] The Commission may make an order under subsection 127(1) of the Act that
trading in any securities by or of a person or company cease permanently or for
such period as may be specified (the cease trade order) where, in its opinion, it
is in the public interest to do so.
[302] The Commission's public interest jurisdiction is derived from the broad mandate
conferred upon it under the Act to provide protection to investors from unfair,
improper, or fraudulent practices and to foster fair and efficient capital market
and confidence in their integrity (section 1.1 of the Act).
[303] In Re Cablecasting Ltd., (1978) O.S.C.B. 37, the Commission applied its public
interest jurisdiction to a "going private transaction" effected in compliance with
the requirements of the Ontario Business Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. B.16
but not in compliance with the disclosure requirements applicable to issuer bids
under the predecessor policy to Rule 61-501. In its decision, the Commission
balanced the need for intervention where a transaction was inconsistent with the
best interests of investors against a preference for a policy oriented solution but,
ultimately, did not have to issue a cease trade order because the respondent
undertook to obtain minority approval. The Commission, however, provided
guidance on when it was more likely to intervene under the rubric of its public
interest jurisdiction despite the absence of any breach of Ontario securities law:
"If the transaction under attack was of an entirely novel
nature, Commission action might seem more appropriate.
Another relevant consideration in assessing whether to act
against a particular transaction is whether the principle of
the new policy ruling that would be required to deal with the
transaction is foreshadowed by principles already enunciated
in the Act, the regulations or prior policy statements. Where
this is the case the Commission will be less reluctant to
exercise its discretionary authority than it will be in cases
that involve an entirely new principle." (Re Cablecasting,
supra, at page 43).
[304] The frequently cited Canadian Tire decision established that the Commission can
and will intervene on public interest grounds even if there is no breach of the
Act, the regulations or Commission policies. In such circumstances, the
Commission's public interest jurisdiction will be invoked where necessary to
prevent an otherwise abusive transaction from occurring. Accordingly, the
standard for intervention in such circumstances is more than a complaint of
unfairness and will generally involve some showing of a broader impact on the
operation of the capital markets (Re Canadian Tire Corp. (1987), 10 O.S.C.B.
858 at 948, affirmed (1987) 37 D.L.R (4 th) 94 (Div. Ct).
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"Finally, Middlefield's conduct seems to us to be clearly
abusive of the integrity of the capital markets, which have
every right to expect that market participants like
Middlefield will adhere to both the letter and spirit of the
rules that are intended to guarantee equal treatment of
offerees in the course of a take-over bid..." (Re H.E.R.O.
Industries Ltd. (1990), 13 O.S.C.B. 3775 at page 3795).
[306] The parties in this case, including Commission Staff, all agreed that in the
absence of any contravention of Ontario securities law, a finding that the conduct
of Sears Holdings in relation to their Offer was abusive of the capital markets
would be required in order to warrant an order being made to cease trade the
Offer under section 127 of the Act.
[307] In view of the fact that we have found that the Vornado Agreement and the
Support Agreements were entered into in contravention of subsection 97(2) of
the Act, it is unnecessary for us to make a finding that the conduct of Sears
Holdings in connection with their insider bid or the bid itself was "abusive" in
order to support the exercise of our public interest jurisdiction under section 127
of the Act.
[308] Although it is unnecessary for us to do so, we find that elements of the conduct
of Sears Holdings in pursuing their Offer were coercive and abusive of the
minority shareholders of Sears Canada and the capital markets generally. Our
finding in this regard is based on the detailed analysis and assessment of the
conduct of Sears Holdings considered in totality as described in detail above.
[309] Sears Holdings relied upon the Support Agreements as a means of obtaining
assurance of the necessary shareholder approval of a SAT. The purpose and
effect of the Support Agreements are well described in an e-mail dated April 6,
2006, from Mr. Rudka to Mr. Crowley and Mr. Lacy of Sears Holdings after Sears
Holdings had issued its press release announcing the Support Agreements. The
e-mail congratulates Sears Holdings on its success and states:
"Today's announcement will surprise the market and, given
our conversations with the analysts and institutional
shareholders, it will catch most off-guard. In fact, the rather
unique tactic of securing the support of the majority through
the derivatives trades and support agreements will make
this transaction one of the most intriguing Canadian M & A
trades in a long time."
[310] Sears Holdings and their financial advisor were aware that the approach they
had employed to ensure the success of their Offer was "unique." Despite the
unique and novel nature of the approach, the principle of fair and equal
treatment to all minority shareholders without preference to some shareholders
over others is a well-enunciated principle in Ontario securities law in the bid
context and we therefore have no hesitation in applying this principle to this
transaction in accordance with the Commission's guidance in the Cablecasting
decision cited above.
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[305] In the H.E.R.O. Industries case, the Commission intervened in the public interest
to stop a transaction where a market participant initiated a transaction that was
purposefully designed to exploit a loophole in securities legislation. The
Commission stated that:

[311] In this case, had we found that subsection 97(2) had not, technically, been
contravened and despite the absence of a finding of joint actor st atus, we would
nonetheless have determined that an order under section 127 of the Act was
warranted to ensure that the votes attached to the shares that are the subject of
the Support Agreements as well as the votes attached to the shares acquired by
Sears Holdings pursuant to the Vornado Agreement ought not to count in the
majority of the minority vote required on the SAT.
[312] Such intervention would be justified in the public interest in the circumstances of
this case and consistent with our mandate under the Act. The purpose and effect
of the Support Agreements was to secure the votes of a select few shareholders
– namely, BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC – in connection with the SAT in return for
which a deal was negotiated with respect to the Offer that ensured that the
interests of these parties was addressed through the terms of the Offer. While
there is nothing wrong with BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC wanting to ensure that
the Offer was structured in the most advantageous manner possible from their
particular tax perspective, allowing their votes to count in the majority of the
minority vote on the SAT in these circumstances would be to turn a blind eye to
the overriding principle underlying Rule 61-501 that all shareholders be treated,
and be seen to be treated, fairly and equally unless differential treatment is
reasonably justified. In our view, the same rationale applies to the Vornado
shares. As subsection 2.1(5) of the Companion Policy to Rule 61-501 provides,
giving a security holder preferential treatment in order to obtain that holder's
support of the transaction will not normally be considered justifiable.
[313] Although we find that certain aspects of Sears Holdings' conduct in connection
with the Offer was unfair, coercive, and at times abusive, we are not o f the view
that the transaction as a whole is so abusive of the minority shareholders or the
capital markets as to warrant an order cease trading the Offer entirely. Rather,
we believe that a more proportionate and appropriate remedy is to order that
Sears Holdings comply with all of its obligations under Ontario securities law in
relation to its Offer and to cease trade the Offer subject to certain conditions.
These conditions include a requirement that Sears Holdings amend its Take-Over
Bid Circular in respect of the Offer and disclose that the votes attached to the
shares of BNS, Scotia Capital and RBC as well as the Vornado shares previously
tendered to Sears Holdings will be excluded for purposes of the required minority
vote in connection with the SAT under Rule 61-501.
[314] The Pershing Group has requested that the Support Agreements be terminated
as a term and condition of the cease trade order. Commission Staff urged us to
carefully consider whether our jurisdiction to impose terms and conditions
pursuant to section 127 extends so far as to permit us to effectively order that
legal agreements between the bidder and third parties be terminated. Counsel
for the Pershing Group maintains that they are not seeking an order that the
Support Agreements be terminated. Rather, they are seeking an order that the
bid be cease traded unless and until the Support Agreements are terminated.
They argue that termination of the Support Agreements is therefore not a
mandatory term of the order.
[315] The parameters of the Commission's jurisdiction to impose term's and conditions
under a section 127 order was addressed by both the Ontario Court of Appeal
and the Supreme Court of Canada in the Asbestos decision. The Supreme Court
there stated as follows:
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(Com m ittee in the Equal Treatm ent of Asbestos Minority
Shareholders v. Ontario (Securities Com m ission, [2001] 2
S.C.R. 132 at page 149).
[316] The Court went on to say that the nature of any section 127 order and the terms
and conditions that may attach to it must be consistent with the Commission's
overall mandate under the Act.
[317] While we take significant comfort from the broad interpretation given to our
section 127 authority by the Supreme Court of Canada, it is unnecessary in this
case to test the precise limits of that jurisdiction. Counsel for the Pershing Group
explained in their closing submissions the reason they are seeking the
termination condition as follows: "If the order simply excludes from voting the
shares of the banks, then one likely outcome is that we will then proceed to a
subsequent acquisition transaction. The vote may well fail...Holdings is then
perfectly at liberty to commence another offer, and our read of the support
agreements is that they continue. There is no obvious termination provision,
based on our understanding of these agreements, and so the banks would
continue to be bound to support that subsequent offer. We think that would have
the effect of vitiating the order we have asked you to make today."
[318] It is a legitimate concern that the Order be cast broadly enough to ensure that
the votes attached to the shares held by the parties to the Support Agreements,
and to which the Support Agreements relate, are not included in calculating
whether minority approval of any SAT has been achieved. As the Order refers to
the Offer and any other offer made or to be made by Sears Holdings or any
affiliate for the shares of Sears Canada, it appears to us broad enough to
address this concern without including a condition that the Support Agreements
be terminated. The issue of the continued effectiveness of the Support
Agreements is not a matter that we need to address and is best left to the
parties to deal with. Our Order makes it clear that Sears Holdings cannot include
the votes attached to the shares of Scotia Capital, BNS or RBC to which the
Support Agreements relate in the required minority approval under Rule 61-501
in the context of this Offer or any future offer which they may launch for the
shares of Sears Canada. W e believe that the desired result is achieved by cease
trading the Offer or any future offer to be made by Sears Holdings for the shares
of Sears Canada unless and until Sears Holdings abides by the condition set out
immediately above and discloses the same in their Take-Over Bid Circular
relating to this Offer or any future offer for the shares of Sears Canada.
DATED at Toronto this 8 th day of August, 2006.
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"The breadth of the OSC's discretion to act in the public
interest is also evident in the range and potential
seriousness of the sanctions it can impose under s. 127(1).
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unrestricted discretion to attach terms and conditions to any
order made under s. 127(1)."
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1.
This was a hearing under sections 198, 199 and 202 of the Securities Act (Alberta)
(the Act), pursuant to a notice of hearing dated June 26, 2003, to determine whether it is
in the public interest to make any orders against Luciano John Podorieszach (John
Podorieszach or John) and Secondo Pietro Podorieszach (Peter Podorieszach or Peter)
(together, the Respondents).
2.
An earlier notice of hearing in this matter had been issued on April 23, 2003
against Roche Securities Limited (RSL) and Francis Roche (Roche) (together, the Roche
Respondents), Nino Belvedere (Belvedere) and John Thomas (Thomas) (together, the
Belvedere/Thomas Respondents) and the Respondents. The Roche Respondents applied
for an order to sever, and to direct a separate hearing of, the allegations against them, as
set out in the notice of hearing, from those relating to the Belvedere/Thomas Respondents
and the Podorieszach Respondents. The Belvedere/Thomas Respondents similarly
applied for an order to sever, and to direct a separate hearing of, the allegations against
them from those relating to the Roche Respondents and the Respondents. On June 6,
2003, the Commission granted the applications. We ordered the allegations severed and
directed that three separate hearings be held. That decision and our reasons can be found
at [2003] ABSECCOM REA #1292910v1.

OVERVIEW OF STAFF ALLEGATIONS
3.
The notice of hearing sets out allegations by Commission staff (Staff) relating to
certain purchases by the Respondents of securities of Anthony Clark International
Insurance Brokers Ltd. (ACL). Staff alleged that on several occasions from April 18 to
July 31, 2000 (the Relevant Trading Period) the Respondents purchased common shares
of ACL (ACL Shares) at a price higher than the previous trade price (an uptick) on The
Toronto Stock Exchange (the TSE) and caused their purchases to be the last trade of the
day on the TSE. Staff further alleged that the Respondents made these purchases when
they knew or ought reasonably to have known that the purchases created or may have
resulted in an artificial price for the ACL Shares, and that in so doing they each
contravened subsection 93(b) of the Act and the public interest.

EVIDENCE AT HEARING
4.
The parties presented a statement of agreed facts and entered a number of agreed
exhibits (the Agreed Exhibits). We heard oral testimony of both Respondents and of five
witnesses called by staff: three former employees of RSL; one individual who had been a
client of RSL and of Peter Podorieszach; and one expert witness.
5.

The following is a summary of the evidence and the facts as we have found them.
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A.
Background
The Parties
6.
John Podorieszach was the president, compliance officer and a director of Great
Western Financial Corporation (Great Western), a mutual fund dealer. He was also the
compliance officer for the mutual fund activities carried out by CanAlta Insurance Ltd.,
which shared office premises and a receptionist with Great Western. During the Relevant
Trading Period, John maintai ned eleven brokerage accounts through which he traded for
himself, his company and his family. He acknowledged that he was sophisticated and
experienced in securities trading.
7.
Peter Podorieszach, brother of John Podorieszach, was a mutual fund salesperson
with Great Western. Peter Podorieszach was also the sole director of Great Western
Securities Inc., a company owned by ACL, from 1993 until 1995, when it ceased
operations. During the Relevant Trading Period he maintained at least ten brokerage
accounts through which he traded for himself, his company and his family. Peter
Podorieszach also acknowledged that he was sophisticated and experienced in securities
trading.
ACL
8.
ACL was engaged in the insurance brokerage business. The agreed facts state that
ACL's founders were the two Respondents and their brother Primo Podorieszach (who is
not a respondent in these proceedings and from whom we did not hear).
9.
Primo Podorieszach was the president, chief executive officer and a director of
ACL. John and Peter Podorieszach were both officers and directors of ACL until
approximately 1996. During the Relevant Trading Period, neither Respondent was an
insider of ACL.
10.
ACL conducted an initial public offering of its securities in 1999 (its IPO). RSL
was the underwriter. Before the IPO, the Respondents each owned 25 per cent of the
outstanding ACL Shares. After the IPO and until shortly before the Relevant Trading
Period, each Respondent owned in excess of 350,000 ACL Shares, or approximately five
to six per cent of the total shares outstanding.
11.
During the Relevant Trading Period ACL Shares were listed and traded on the
TSE. ACL Shares were thinly traded. There were often substantial bid-ask spreads;
seldom were more than 2,000 to 3,000 shares bid for or offered at one time; and it was
not uncommon to see bids for only one "board lot" (the minimum number of shares that
could be bought or sold over the TSE, which in ACL's case was 100 shares).
12.
On March 21, 2000 ACL issued a news release announcing that it had reached an
agreement with RSL to act as its lead agent for a brokered private placement of up to
1,580,000 special warrants at a price of $5.70 each (the Special Warrant Private
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Placement) to be completed on a best efforts basis for gross proceeds of approximately $9
million. Each special warrant unit consisted of one ACL Share and one-half of a
warrant. Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase an additional ACL Share at
a price of $6.50 per share for up to one year from the Special Warrant Private Placement
closing date. The closing date was anticipated to be April 28, 2000. On March 24, 2000
ACL issued a news release announcing a change in the warrant exercise price to $6.70
per ACL Share for 18 months from the closing date. On May 16, 2000 ACL announced
that the Special Warrant Private Placement had closed on May 15, 2000 raising $3.36
million.
13.
On April 14, 2000 the TSE approved ACL's request to conduct a normal course
issuer bid, permitting it to re-acquire up to 354,703 previously issued ACL Shares,
commencing April 18, 2000.
14.
On April 5 and May 23, 2000 ACL issued news releases announcing its intention
to launch an innovative Internet-based service, designed to complement its insurance
business and generate additional revenue by directing orders for goods or services to be
purchased in connection with property insurance claims to suppliers identified on the
website.
Great Western
15.
Great Western, the mutual fund dealer that employs both Respondents, had been
founded in 1986 by the Respondents and their brother Primo Podorieszach. Initially each
was a director of Great Western, and each owned a one-third interest. In 1997 Peter
Podorieszach ceased to be a director of Great Western. In 2001 ownership changed, so
that John and Peter each became owners of 50 per cent of the voting shares, while Primo,
John and Peter Podorieszach each retained ownership of one-third of its non-voting
shares.
16.
Great Western, ACL and two other insurance and mutual fund companies shared
office premises and a receptionist but ACL and Great Western kept their portions of the
premises separate. Great Western, ACL and one of the other insurance and mutual fund
companies affiliated with ACL also shared an accountant. The majority of staff on the
combined premises were ACL personnel not involved with Great Western, although four
brokers dually licensed as mutual fund and insurance salespersons did business with both
Great Western and ACL.

B.
The Respondents and ACL
17.
John Podorieszach testified that since 1996, even before ACL became a public
company in 1999, he had held no "position, affiliation or connection with" ACL other
than continuing as a shareholder. He further testified that he never held himself out as
having any other relationship with ACL. Peter testified to similar effect.
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18.

There was, however, evidence to the contrary.

Perception of Others
19.
We heard testimony that a number of ACL shareholders and RSL personnel knew
of links between the Respondents and ACL: that they were brothers of Primo
Podorieszach, ACL's President; that they were founders and former directors of ACL;
and that they were significant ACL shareholders. It was clear to us from the testimony of
witnesses that some of them understood the Respondents to have been closely connected
to ACL even after its IPO. For example, witnesses described the Respondents as
"principals" of ACL and as having a "vested interest" in ACL.
20.
A former client of both RSL and Peter Podorieszach testified that he had
maintained contact with Peter Podorieszach and often consulted him about the investment
merits of ACL even after having moved his investment account from Great Western to
RSL. He referred not only to Peter Podorieszach's standing as a "major shareholder of
ACL" but also to his "intimate connection with family in the whole company".
Facilitating Private Placement
21.
We heard testimony from RSL staff to the effect that the Respondents assisted
with paperwork and dealings with financial institutions to enable investors to complete
their purchases under the Special Warrant Private Placement. The Respondents had
provided similar services to investors in connection with the ACL IPO, facilitating the
opening of full-service brokerage accounts with RSL through which their mutual fund
clients could participate in the ACL IPO. The continuing hands-on involvement of the
Respondents in the handling or processing of securities offerings by ACL – when their
only formal connection to ACL was as shareholders and when they were not registered to
trade in or give advice about ACL Shares – was noteworthy.
Promotion or Advice
22.
Client Testimony - A former client testified that he kept in touch with Peter
Podorieszach after moving his investment account from Peter at Great Western to RSL.
He described Peter as "a friend and … my main contact to keep informed about
unfoldings with ACL" He identified three separate incidents in which he said that Peter
Podorieszach contacted him and solicited his interest in purchasing ACL securities: in
March 1999 in connection with the IPO; and subsequently in Spring 2000 in connection
with both an additional purchase of ACL Shares and the Special Warrant Private
Placement. The client responded favourably to these approaches and purchased ACL
securities on each occasion.
23.
In his evidence Peter Podorieszach acknowledged speaking to the former client
about ACL Shares and the Special Warrant Private Placement. However, he denied that
he called the client about the additional purchase of ACL Shares in April 2000. Peter
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said that he did recall the client calling him from San Francisco to discuss the Special
Warrant Private Placement with him. Peter testified that he gave no advice to the client
but told the client to contact RSL.
24.
While the precise details of the conversations that took place between the former
client and Peter Podorieszach are in dispute, we find the client's testimony on this issue
more believable. We believe that the client and Peter Podorieszach maintai ned periodic
contact and that the client looked to Peter for information and advice about ACL and the
merits of investing further in ACL securities. We believe that the former client did so,
not because he was a client (he no longer was) but first, because of his understanding of
Peter's close and continuing connection with ACL, and second, as demonstrated by the
continuing contact, because Peter provided the client with information about ACL that he
found useful.
25.
We believe that Peter Podorieszach did provide advice and that he did solicit the
client's interest in buying additional ACL Shares and investing in the Special Warrant
Private Placement.
26.
Internet Postings - During the Relevant Trading Period and for the following
month, John Podorieszach was active in posting numerous messages on Internet bulletin
boards, using the aliases "vegasdude" and “goldflo". These messages encouraged readers
to purchase ACL Shares. They can only be described as promotional. To take one
example, he posted the following on June 7, 2000:
There are some very nieve [sic] ACL investors out there. ACL management has been sucking
back the stock from you scaredy cat investors at low low low prices. Hang on for the ride and
enjoy a rich heaven. Better yet everyone who owns ACL stock, go and BUY an extra 500 to
1000 shares each and just see what happens to this tight stock. This is the time to BUY BUY
BUY BUY BUY BUY BUY.

27.
Finding Concerning Promotional Activity - We find as a fact that both
Respondents were active in promoting ACL and the sale of its securities.
Market Activity
28.
We heard testimony as to the Respondents' monitoring of, and interventions in,
ACL trading activity.
29.
A former corporate finance employee of RSL testified that for about 18 to 24
months after the IPO closed, he discussed market and trading activity for ACL Shares
with the Respondents. Such discussions might not be unusual between an underwriter's
corporate finance department and senior management of an issuer, but it strikes the panel
that RSL would be unlikely to consult the Respondents about these matters unless their
connection to ACL was much closer than suggested by their shareholdings alone.
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30.
We also heard testimony from a former RSL salesperson about a heated telephone
conversation he had with John Podorieszach in the fall of 1999. According to the
witness, he was about to place a large client sell order for ACL Shares at $4.00 per share
when he received a call from John Podorieszach who had apparently learned about the
imminent sell order. He described John as very angry and abusive "because I was …
going to sell a bunch of shares off". The witness told us that, shortly after the call when
he went to place the sell order, he saw that all the $4.00 "bids" had disappeared, leaving
only $4.00 "asks", but that he made clear that he would place the $4.00 sell order
anyway, something very likely to drive the share price even lower. Shortly thereafter, he
said, the $4.00 bids suddenly re-appeared in the market. He then placed his client's sell
order, which was filled.
31.
John Podorieszach disputed the version of these events as described by this
witness. John testified that the witness had telephoned him to ask him for names of
potential buyers of ACL Shares. He stated that he had become angry with the witness,
telling him that it was his job to find buyers for the stock and that he should not be
attempting to have John Podorieszach do the witness' job for him.
32.
The panel found the witness' version of this incident to be more credible than John
Podorieszach's version. Irrespective of whose version is to be believed, unexplained is
why this conversation would have been held with Mr. Podorieszach at all. We believe
that this Respondent was and was seen to be much more closely and actively involved
with ACL's affairs than would be expected of someone who was simply a shareholder
with no executive capacity.
No Contact with ACL President?
33.
John Podorieszach testified that since 1999 he had never discussed any ACL
business with his brother Primo Podorieszach, the president of ACL. Peter testified to
similar effect.
34.
The Respondents did not limit their denial to discussions of confidential material
corporate information, which of course as knowledgeable market participants they would
know ought to be handled with caution. Their categorical denial extended to even
general discussions of business prospects and development.
35.
Such a distancing from ACL – a company that they helped build, in which they
remained he avily invested, and which they continued to follow closely – and such
delicacy in their dealings with their own brother, would be surprising in most
circumstances. In our view their testimony on this point was not credible. We do not
believe the Respondents.
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Finding
36.
None of the incidents described above is put forward, itself, as a contravention of
the Act. Taken together, however, and notwithstanding disputes as to detail, the evidence
demonstrates to us a much more active, close and continuing connection between the
Respondents and ACL than they would have us believe. Their activities went beyond
those to be expected of passive five to six per cent shareholders.
37.
We find that throughout the Relevant Trading Period the Respondents were acting,
with and for ACL, as a promotional group.

C.
ACL Share Transactions
Overview
38.
We now examine the Respondents' trading activities that are the subject of this
hearing.
39.
The Agreed Exhibits included TSE trading history reports from April 18 to Au gust
31, 2000 (Tab 6), TSE stock price information (Tab 7) and telephone transcripts from
Royal Bank Action Direct Inc. (Action Direct) (Tab 9). The transcripts are of a number of
April 2000 conversations in which one or the other of the Respondents placed orders
directly to a broker at Action Direct; the transcripts show the time of each conversation.
Those times correspond to the execution times shown on the trading history reports and
the stock price information. Additional trading information was entered into evidence as
part of the expert opinion of Dean Holley (Exhibit 5), discussed below.
40.
The panel noted what appear to be discrepancies between some of the trading
information disclosed in the various Exhibits. However, we heard no argument from the
parties about these seeming discrepancies. After analysing the various sets of data in
considerable detail, we concluded that the apparent discrepancies were not so significant
as to affect our findings. For ease of reference, the trading information referred to below
was derived from the information contained in Exhibit 5.
41.
We have evidence concerning John Podorieszach's trading activity in ACL Shares
from March to July 2000. As can be seen from the following summary:
•

On April 3, the first trading day of that month, he placed a total of up to 22 sell
orders and sold a total of 9,100 ACL Shares at prices ranging from $15.00 to
$13.00 per share.

•

For the balance of the period his activity, with the sole exception of a sale of 500
ACL Shares on J une 21 at $9.05, consisted exclusively of purchases:
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•
•

On five days from April 4 to April 17, he placed a total of up to 29 buy
orders and purchased a total of 20,800 ACL Shares at prices ranging from
$14.25 to $8.00 per share.
On 15 days during the Relevant Trading Period, from April 18 to July 31,
he placed a total of 16 buy orders and purchased a total of 2,800 ACL
Shares at prices ranging from $9.20 to $7.75 per share.

42.
We also have evidence concerning Peter Podorieszach's trading activity during the
same time interval:
•

On April 3, the first trading day of that month, he placed up to six sell orders and
sold a total of 5,500 ACL Shares at prices ranging from $14.60 to $14.70 per
share.

•

For the balance of the period his activity, with the sole exception of a sale of 1,000
ACL Shares on June 16 at $9.00, consisted exclusively of purchases:
•
On four days from April 4 to April 17, he placed a total of up to 17 buy
orders and purchased a total of 10,800 ACL Shares at prices ranging from
$13.75 to $8.00 per share.
•
On 19 days during the Relevant Trading Period, from April 18 to July 31,
he placed a total of up to 38 buy orders and purchased a total of 4,500 ACL
Shares at prices ranging from $9.25 to $7.70 per share.

43.
Each Respondent effected all his transactions through an account he maintained
with Action Direct.
44.
The majority of trading activity by each Respondent took place shortly after the
opening, or shortly before the close, of the TSE trading day.
The Impugned ACL Share Transactions
45.
The impugned transactions were all small purchases (generally one or two board
lots) made during the Relevant Trading Period at or near the close of the trading day. We
now examine them in more detail.
(a)
John Podorieszach's Purchases
46.
John Podorieszach admitted that on seven separate days during the Relevant
Trading Period he purchased one board lot of ACL Shares (100 shares) in each of the
following trades (all times Eastern time):
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

April 28, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $9.20 at 15:57:58
May 10, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $7.95 at 15:56:45
May 11, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $7.95 at 15:52:12
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(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

May 12, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $7.95 at 15:59:37
May 16, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.10 at 15:24:04
July 7, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.85 at 15:54:22
July 31, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.65 at 14:45:04

47.

The evidence shows that each purchase was the last trade of the trading day.

(b)
Peter Podorieszach's Purchases
48.
Peter Podorieszach admitted that on nine separate days during the Relevant
Trading Period he purchased one or two board lots of ACL Shares at a time in each of the
following trades (all times Eastern time):
(i)
(ii)

April 18, 2000: purchase of 200 shares of ACL at $9.25 at 15:58:55
May 1, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $9.00 at 15:56:34 and 100 shares
at $9.00 at 15:57:54
(iii) May 2, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.90 at 15:56:46
(iv) May 4, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.75 at 15:52:41
(v)
May 8, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.25 at 15:56:28
(vi) May 9, 2000: purchase of 200 shares of ACL at $7.95 at 15:59:16 and 100 shares
at $8.00 at 15:59:57
(vii) May 18, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $7.95 at 15:35:13
(viii) July 12, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.80 at 15:21:31
(ix) July 14, 2000: purchase of 100 shares of ACL at $8.75 at 15:32:37
49.
As was the case with John Podorieszach, the evidence shows that Peter's final
purchase each day (except on July 12, when one purchase was made after his) was the
last trade of the trading day.
50.
Peter Podorieszach's testimony was consistent with the agreed exhibits that
showed a correspondence between the timing of calls to Action Direct and the time trades
were executed. He confirmed that, although he might call Action Direct at different
times of the day, he was not suggesting that he would make an order in the morning and
it would get posted at the end of the day.
(c)
Summary of the Impugned Transactions
51.
The impugned purchases of ACL Shares are summarized on the following
calendar (the Calendar).
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Sunday

Monday

Tuesday

Wednesday
Key

April 2000

Thursday

Friday

Purchaser
Time Bought
Number Bought
Price
Price Change

Saturday
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

26

27

28

Peter
15:58:55
100 + 100
$9.25
+ $0.25

23

24

25

29
John
15:57:58
100
$9.20
+ $0.40

30
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Sunday

Monday

Tuesday

Wednesday
Key

May 2000
1

2

Peter
15:56:34 15:57:54
100
100
$9.00
$9.00
+$0.25
nil

7

8

15

Saturday

4

5

6

Peter
15:52:41
100
$8.75
+$0.25

10

Peter
15:59:16 15:59:57
100+100 100
$7.95
$8.00
nil
+$0.05

16

Friday

Purchaser
Time Bought
Number Bought
Price
Price Change

Peter
15:56:46
100
$8.90
+$0.05

9
Peter
15:56:28
100
$8.25
+$0.05

14

3

Thursday

11
John
15:56:45
100
$7.95
+$0.25

17

12
John
15:52:12
100
$7.95
+$0.20

18

John
15:24:04
100
$8.10
+$0.35

13
John
15:59:37
100
$7.95
+$0.05

19

20

26

27

Peter
15:35:13
100
$7.95
+$0.05

21

22

23

24

28

29

30

31
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Sunday

Monday

Tuesday

Wednesday
Key

June 2000

Thursday

Friday

Saturday

Purchaser
Time Bought
Number Bought
Price
Price Change
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30
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Sunday

Monday

Tuesday

Wednesday

Thursday

Friday

Saturday
1

Key

July 2000
2

3

4

Purchaser
Time Bought
Number Bought
Price
Price Change

5

6

7

8
John
15:54:22
100
$8.85
+$0.25

9

10

11

12

13

Peter
15:21:31
100
$8.80
+$0.05 to +$0.30

14

15

Peter
15:32:37
100
$8.75
+$0.25

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31
John
14:45:04
100
$8.65
+$0.35

The Expert's Opinion
52.
Dean Holley was accepted by the panel as an expert in the area of trading
activities, market manipulation and securities regulation, and he was qualified to provide
opinion evidence on the trading activities of the Respondents in ACL Shares during the
Relevant Trading Period.
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53.
Mr. Holley in his testimony and written report (Exhibit 5) discussed the concepts
of "high closing", "artificial pricing" and manipulative or deceptive methods of trading.
54.

Mr. Holley defined "high closing" as:
…the practice of entering one or a series of purchase orders for a publicly traded
security for the purpose of raising the closing trade price or the closing bid price
for the security from what it otherwise would be if left to the ordinary forces of
supply and demand.

55.
Mr. Holley testified that closing trade and bid prices are important for publicly
traded securities because these prices are published in the media and, therefore, are
visible to other investors. Further, these prices are used for valuation purposes at
specified times such as month-end or year-end. He also gave an inexhaustive list of
reasons why individuals may be motivated to high close a listed security:
• increases the apparent value of their securityholdings used in calculating
their margin requirements
• improves the apparent performance of any portfolio that holds the security
• creates the appearance of relative strength or stability in the market for the
security, encouraging others to invest in the security
• creates an uptick in the price of the security that may impact short-selling
because short sales cannot be executed on a down tick (at a price below the
last trade price) on the TSE.
56.
Mr. Holley acknowledged that not every trade that results in a price increase at the
close of the trading day is a high close. Some are bona fide trades. In his view, what
creates a high close is the purchaser's intent to create artificially a higher price or to
"paint the ticker tape for other market observers".
57.
In conducting his analysis, Mr. Holley considered Rule 4-202 Manipulative or
Deceptive Method of Trading of the TSE (TSE Rule 4-202) and supporting TSE Policy 4202 (TSE Policy 4-202), dealing with fair trading. These instruments prohibited
manipulative or deceptive methods of trading. They identified artificial pricing as a form
of manipulative or deceptive trading. TSE Rule 4-202, as it read in 2000, stated as
follows:
No Participating Organization or Approved Person shall use or knowingly participate in
the use of any manipulative or deceptive method of trading in connection with the
purchase or sale of any listed security which creates a false or misleading appearance of
trading activity or an artificial price for the said security.
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58.

TSE Policy 4-202 included the following commentary:
[(1)] …Without limiting the generality of the Rule, the following are examples of
manipulative or deceptive methods of trading:
…
(f) entering an order for the client account when there is reason to believe that the
intended purpose of the order is to establish an artificial price or quotation in a listed
security, or to effect a high or low closing price or closing quotation in a listed security;
[emphasis added by Mr. Holley]
…

59.

Under the heading “Artificial Pricing”, TSE Policy 4-202 went on to say:
[(2)] For the purposes of Policies [4-202(1)(f)] …, a price will be considered artificial if
it is not justified by real demand or supply in a stock. Whether or not a particular price or
quotation is "artificial" depends on the particular circumstances. A price may be artificial
if it is higher or lower than the previous price and the market immediately returns to that
previous price following the trade. A quotation may be artificial if it raises or lowers the
bid or offering, is the only bid or offering at that price and is removed without trading.
However, these factors are only indications and are not on their own evidence that a
given price or quotation is artificial. Consideration will also be given to whether any
Participating Organization or account involved in the order has any motivation to
establish an artificial price.
Some of the relevant considerations in determining whether an order is proper are:
(a)

the prices of the immediately preceding and succeeding trades;

(b)

the change in price or quotation that would result from carrying the instruction or
entering the order;

(c)

the time the order is entered, or any instructions relevant to the time of executing
the order;

…
(e)

whether or not the person entering the order is associated with a promotional
group or other group with an interest in effecting an artificial price, either for
banking and margin purposes or for purposes of effecting a distribution of the
securities of the issuer. …

60.
Mr. Holley testified that ACL Shares were thinly traded throughout the Relevant
Trading Period. An average of only 6,147 shares traded each day, and it was not
uncommon to see bids for a single board lot. During the Relevant Trading Period, at least
one board lot of ACL Shares was traded on 66 of the available 72 trading days, and on 57
of those 66 days (86 per cent), the closing price for ACL Shares ended on an uptick - a
trade that is made at a price higher than the last sale.
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61.
Mr. Holley analyzed the trading in ACL Shares by each of the Respondents. He
noted that the Respondents' buy orders were for one or two board lots, each representing
a minuscule fraction (0.03 per cent to 0.06 per cent) of their overall holdings. He also
noted that on 11 of the 16 dates considered, the Respondents placed purchase orders in
the last ten minutes of the trading session. According to Mr. Holley "Small orders
entered very late in the trading day with a predictable and …very significant increase in
the market price of ACL" are indicia of high closing transactions.
62.
In Mr. Holley's view, the Respondents' purchases of ACL Shares that were the last
trade of the day evidenced their intent to improve the closing or quotation price by having
the market for ACL Shares close on an uptick, creating the impression of market strength.
In his opinion, the Respondents' purchases of ACL Shares during the Relevant Trading
Period did not reflect economically sensible attempts by them to increase their investment
in ACL. Mr. Holley concluded that the Respondents' purchases of ACL Shares during
the Relevant Trading Period were high closing transactions that were contrary to the
accepted principles of fair trading.
Respondents' Explanation
63.
The Respo ndents denied that they had any intent to create a high close or artificial
price or otherwise to manipulate the price for ACL Shares. They also denied discussing
the timing of, or coordinating, their trading in ACL Shares, with each other or with
anyone at ACL, including their brother Primo.
64.
John Podorieszach testified that his only intent in purchasing the ACL Shares
during the Relevant Trading Period was to accumulate ACL Shares and to do so at prices
lower than he had realized when he sold ACL Shares prior to April 7, 2000. He believed
that ACL stock was a good buy during the Relevant Trading Period because the stock
price had fallen, the company's e-commerce strategy had just been announced, the
company was pursuing the possibility of listing on a United States exchange, and it was a
solid company with recurrent revenue.
65.
John Podorieszach defended the manner in which he purchased the ACL Shares
during the Relevant Trading Period. He said that his trading strategy was economically
sensible. He explained that his trading strategy was "picking away" at the market with
low volume orders because if he were to place a buy order for a large volume, the effect
in a thinly traded market would be to "overly increase" the price of the ACL Shares. He
also stated that he generally traded in ACL Shares at the start or the end of the day
because that was when there was the most activity in the ACL Shares. John denied ever
giving any instructions to his broker to execute his purchase order at the end of the day or
to create an uptick. He also testified as to difficulties during the Relevant Trading Period
in reaching Action Direct by telephone – claiming that it sometimes took a half-hour or
hour of dialing to get through to his broker on the telephone and place his buy order. He
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said that this explained why some of his ACL Share purchases became the last trade of
the day.
66.
Peter Podorieszach's testimony was essentially the same as that of his brother
John, and included similar explanations as to why on nine days throughout the Relevant
Trading Period he purchased only one or two board lots of ACL Shares, as the last trade
of the day.

ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS
A.
Standard of Proof
67.
Staff has the burden of proving that the Respondents breached subsection 93(b) of
the Act, and that their conduct was contrary to the public interest. It is well established
that the standard of proof required in administrative proceedings is the balance of
probabilities.
68.
This is a case where the consequences of our decision, to the Respondents, could
be grave. They are registrants; it is conceivable that any orders that might be made in this
case could affect their ability to continue in their chosen livelihood. In such a case we
scrutinize the evidence with particul ar care to determine whether allegations have been
proved on the balance of probabilities. See Re Ringrose and College of Physicians and
Surgeons of Alberta (No. 2) (1978), 83 D.L.R. (3d) 680 (Alta. S.C., App. Div.). As this
Commission said in Re Lamoureux, [2001] ABSECCOM REA - #813127v2 at 5, we look
for “clear and convincing proof based on cogent evidence”.
B.
Analysis of Subsection 93(b) of the Act
General Discussion
69.
Our securities regulatory regime is designed to protect investors and to foster fair
and efficient capital markets and investor confidence in those markets. The achievement
of these objectives turns on the integrity of the capital markets and those who participate
in them. It is essential to the integrity of the capital markets that the price of publicly
traded securities reflects true market supply and demand, not deception or manipulation.
70.
If market participants improperly interfere with the price of securities, that price is
no longer a true reflection of genuine market suppl y or demand. Not only might
investors unknowingly pay or receive a distorted price for a security but, more broadly,
the fair and efficient functioning of the capital market and investor confidence in the
market are placed in jeopardy. As Judge Woolsey said in United States v. Brown, 5 F.
Supp. 81 (S.D.N.Y. 1933) at 85, affirmed on other grounds, 79 F.2d 321 (2nd Cir. 1935):
When an outsider, a member of the public, reads the price quotations of a stock listed on an
exchange, he is justified in supposing that the quoted price is an appraisal of the value of that
stock due to a series of actual sales between various persons dealing at arm's length in a free and
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open market on the exchange, and so represents a true chancering of the market value of that
stock thereon under the process of attrition due to supply operating against demand.

71.
Section 93 of the Act prohibits manipulative conduct that undermines the fair
trading in capital markets. Among those prohibitions, subsection 93(b) provides:
93

No person or company shall, directly or indirectly, trade in or purchase a security or an
exchange contract if the person or company knows or ought reasonably to know that the
trade or purchase does one or more of the following:
…
(b)
creates or may result in an artificial price for a security or an exchange contract;

…
72.
In considering whether this provision has been contravened, we consider three
elements:
•
Was there a trade or purchase of a security?
•
If so, did the trade or purchase create or potentially result in an artificial price for a
security?
•
If so, did the person making the trade or purchase know, or ought the person
reasonably to have known, that an artificial price would be created or might have
resulted from that trade or purchase?
73.
If, but only if, the answer to all of these questions is "yes", then there has been a
contravention of subsection 93(b) of the Act.
Mens Rea or Intent
74.
The Respondents argued that a contravention of subsection 93(b) of the Act can
occur only with mens rea (a positive state of mind; intent). Staff suggested that
subsection 93(b) imposes strict liability in the sense that a contravention does not require
mens rea but conceded that the term "artificial" may connote an element of motive or
intent.
75.
It appears that the parties do not disagree fundamentally on this point. In any case,
we believe that, understood in context, motive or intent is relevant to the determination of
whether the second element of subsection 93(b) is present, namely whether an artificial
price is created or might result.
Circumstantial Evidence
76.
A consideration of allegations of improper trading activity more often than not
turns on circumstantial evidence, requiring us to draw inferences from facts. Often,
simply because there has been no admission, we are asked to infer motive, intent or
knowledge. In those cases we may begin by considering factual evidence as to actions
and consequences, such as an unusual trading pattern or an unusual change in a reported
price. We then consider whether it is reasonable to infer from those facts the requisite
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intent or knowledge. This approach can be seen in a number of decisions; for example,
see Re Health and Environment Technologies Inc. (1989), 12 O.S.C.B. 3283 at 3309-10;
and Re Edward J. Mawod & Co., 46 SEC 865 (1977), affirmed 591 F.2d 588 (10th Cir.
1979) (Mawod), in which the court stated that inference is normally required because
“[m]anipulators seldom publicize their intentions” (at 870, note 22).
77.

Knowledge or intent can, therefore, be inferred from circumstantial evidence.

78.
It is of course open to a respondent to argue that particular circumstantial evidence
does not support a particular inference, or that it is capable of supporting different
inferences. If the contravention of a provision requires there to have been improper
intent, it might be that the circumstantial evidence could be consistent with either
improper intent or an innocent intent. The decision-maker in such a case is not precluded
from drawing any inference as to intent. Rather, in analysing the circumstantial evidence,
the decision-maker must consider the alternative possible inferences. Applying the
degree of care and the standard of proof appropriate to a case such as the one before us, it
would be insufficient to conclude that two alternative inferences are equally plausible and
then to infer the improper intent. The evidence would have to clearly and cogently
support the inference of improper intent.

C.
Did the Respondents Act Contrary to Subsection 93(b) of the Act?
79.
Staff alleged that the Respondents' purchases of ACL Shares during the Relevant
Trading Period were high closes that created, and that they knew or ought reasonably to
have known would create or might result in, an artificial price for ACL Shares, contrary
to subsection 93(b) of the Act.
Was There a Trade or Purchase of ACL Shares?
80.
The first issue is whether the Respondents traded in or purchased ACL Shares.
81.
There was no dispute that Peter Podorieszach made the nine impugned purchases
of ACL Shares during the Relevant Trading Period and that John Podorieszach made the
seven impugned purchases of ACL Shares during the Relevant Trading Period.
82.

We therefore find that the first element of subsection 93(b) is proved.

Did the Purchases Create or Might They Have Resulted in an Artificial Price for ACL
Shares?
83.
The second element of subsection 93(b) requires a determination of whether the
purchases of ACL Shares by the Respondents created or might have resulted in an
artificial price for the ACL Shares. For this purpose we must first understand what is
meant by "artificial price".
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(a)
What is an Artificial Price?
84.
The Act does not define "artificial price", and we found few helpful cases on this
point. In our view, the meaning can best be determined by considering it in the context
of the Act and the framework of securities regulation established by the Act. As we said
earlier, that framework is designed to protect investors and to foster fair, efficient capital
markets and confidence in those markets, all of which turn on the integrity with which the
market and market participants operate. Key to that market integrity is that the market be
able to operate on real information.
85.
Viewing subsection 93(b) in this context, an artificial price can be described as a
price that differs from the price that would result from the market operating freely and
fairly on the basis of information concerning true market supply and demand.
86.
The capital market is the venue in which buyers and sellers come together and
trade on the basis of their own investment decisions, assessments and preferences. The
accumulation of their interactions makes up market supply and demand and establishes
market prices. Any transactions between buyer and seller can affect market price.
Normal-course transactions between buyers and sellers, operating at arm's length, reflect
real demand and supply; whatever the effect on price, it can be said to be a genuine
market effect. If, however, demand or supply is distorted, then price will likely also be
distorted – no longer reflective of real market demand and supply, it will be artificial.
87.
Investors must have confidence that they can trade in a marketplace in which the
available information properly reflects genuine trading activity. Investors in the capital
market base their behaviour and their investment decisions on posted trading prices.
They are entitled to assume that the posted prices reflect bona fide transactions in a
market operating free of improper influence. Their own transactions are then reflected in
subsequent prices. If any investor makes an investment decision in reliance on a posted
price that does not reflect genuine trading activity, that investor may be harmed.
Subsequent transactions could also be materially affected by that single instance of a
misleading posted price. The result could be harm to investors generally and the
undermining of investor confidence in the marketplace.
88.
An individual's trading activity may have the intended effect of raising or lowering
the price of a security to a level different than it would be under normal market
conditions. Alternatively, the trading activity may maintain a price when it would
otherwise have risen or fallen. In our view, both situations create an artificial price
because the price is not reflective of the market's unimpeded judgment of the value of the
security being traded. Such conduct that is designed to affect artificially the prices on the
market is contrary to the public interest because it misleads other buyers and sellers. As
the US Securities and Exchange Commission observed in Mawod at 871-72:
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When investors and prospective investors see activity, they are entitled to assume that it is real
activity. They are also entitled to assume that the prices that they pay and receive are determined
by the unimpeded interaction of real supply and real demand so that those prices are the collective
marketplace judgments that they purport to be. Manipulations frustrate these expectations. They
substitute fiction for fact. …The vice is that the market has been distorted and made into 'A
stagemanaged performance'.

89.
Our conclusion is that in assessing whether a price is artificial, it is relevant to
consider whether one party or another to a transaction is or is not acting in response to
real demand for or supply of a security. For this purpose, the circumstances surrounding a
transaction, including any special attributes of the parties and the manner in which it is
carried out, can indicate whether or not the transaction reflects or does not reflect real
demand and supply.
90.
Others have reached a similar conclusion. For example, the TSE in its TSE Policy
4-202 said, in the portion reproduced earlier, essentially that an artificial price is one not
justified by supply or demand having regard to the particular circumstances involved in
the trade. One relevant circumstance to consider is whether the person entering the order
is associated with a promotional group that may have an interest in effecting an artificial
price; for example, to affect margin calculations; to impact valuation of portfolio
holdings; or to facilitate the distribution of a security.
91.
The TSE Rules and Policies only apply to "Participating Organizations" as defined
under the Rules. As such, they do not apply to the Respondents, who are not Participating
Organizations. The TSE Rules and Policies are, however, helpful in that they not only
confirm our view of what is meant by "artificial price" but also indicate that the securities
industry is of the same understanding.
(b)
The Respondents' Trading Activities
92.
We considered whether any of the circumstances here indicated something other
than genuine demand for ACL Shares and, t herefore, whether the resulting prices differed
from what would have resulted from trading in the marketplace by investors with bona
fide investment intent.
93.
When we reviewed the Respondents’ trading activities, we found a clear pattern to
their purchases of ACL Shares.
94.

Peter Podorieszach sold 10,500 ACL Shares over three days in March and April:
• March 16 - 2,000 ACL Shares
• March 17 - 3,000 ACL Shares
• April 3 - 5,500 ACL Shares
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95.
Immediately prior to the Relevant Trading Period, Peter began to re-acquire ACL
Shares. On four days from April 10 to 14 he purchased a total of 10,800 ACL Shares, in
some cases in blocks of 1,000 shares and on one occasion in a block of 2,000 shares.
96.
John Podorieszach's trading pattern was similar. He sold 15,400 ACL Shares over
five days in March and April:
•
•
•
•
•

March 13 - 200 ACL Shares
March 15 - 2,500 ACL Shares
March 17 - 1,600 ACL Shares
March 27 - 2,000 ACL Shares
April 3 - 9,100 ACL Shares

97.
Again, immediately prior to the Relevant Trading Period, John also began to reacquire ACL Shares. In less than a week, from April 7 to 13, he purchased 20,800 ACL
Shares, in several cases in blocks of 1,000 shares and on one occasion in a block of 4,400
shares.
98.
This trading pattern dramatically change d for both Peter and John in the middle of
April.
99.
On 19 days during the Relevant Trading Period, Peter made a total of 38 purchases
of ACL Shares, all but five in single board lots. Of those 38 purchases, a small number
may have resulted from a slightly larger order being filled in two tranches, but it is clear
to us that the great majority of these purchases (over 30) corresponded exactly to the
amounts ordered.
100. Over that 3½-month period, with his 38 purchases, Peter acquired in total only
4,500 ACL Shares. On 18 of the 19 days (over 94 per cent) on which he bought, he
purchased at an uptick (above the most recent trade price). On some days (for example,
May 4 and 9), he made more than one purchase at an uptick. The increases ranged from
$0.05 to $1.00. On seven of the 19 days, Peter's final purchases were made with less than
ten minutes remaining in the trading day.
101. On 15 days during the Relevant Trading Period, John made 16 different purchase
orders for ACL Shares, each for only a single board lot with the exception of one
purchase order for 1,300 shares on April 18.
102. Over that 3½-month period, with his 16 purchases, John acquired in total only
2,800 ACL Shares. On 13 of the 15 days (over 86 per cent) on which he bought, he
purchased at an uptick. The increases ranged from $0.05 to $0.50. On five of the 15
days, John's final purchases were made with less than ten minutes remaining in the
trading day.
Podorieszach, Luciano John and Secondo Pietro

(2004) ABSECCOM REA-#1459118 v1

COMP-456

103. Staff alleged that the Respondents' trading activities on 16 days during the
Relevant Trading Period constituted "high closings" and that, as such, they resulted in an
artificial price for ACL Shares.
104. We gave careful consideration to Mr. Holley's opinion on the issue of whether the
Respondents' trading activities created or might have resulted in an artificial price
contrary to subsection 93(b) of the Act. However, because the scope of his opinion was
restricted by the limited assumptions on which it was based, we placed less weight on
Mr. Holley's opinion than we might otherwise have done. Nonetheless we found helpful
Mr. Holley's expert testimony concerning high closings as a method of market
manipulation as well as his trade analysis.
105. The Respondents noted that the alleged "high closes'' for each day were not always
the highest price at which ACL Shares had traded during that day, and that in most cases
the high close for a day did not exceed the previous day's closing price. They argued that
in those circumstances there was no "high close" and, therefore, that the transactions
could not be considered to have created artificial prices.
106. We disagree. Ultimately the issue here is whether any price has been distorted.
As stated by Mr. Holley, a high close is one that raises the daily closing price from what
it would have otherwise been. That is not at all the same as saying that there can be never
be a high close if there is a higher price reached earlier in the day or on the preceding
day. The real question is: but for this particular final trade of the day, would the closing
price have been lower?
107. The Respondents also argued that each of the impugned purchases involved a real
purchaser paying a real price to a real seller, and hence there was no "artificial price". In
effect, the argument seems to have been that a completed transaction involving the
payment of real consideration to an arm's length seller precludes a finding that the price
was artificial.
108. Again, we disagree. That argument suggests that no transaction in which
economic interests change and ownership genuinely passes from seller to buyer, acting in
a market, could contravene subsection 93(b) of the Act. That in turn implies that only a
sham transaction – for example, a "wash trade" – could contravene subsection 93(b).
That is not correct. While sham transactions can manipulate the markets and contravene
the provision, it does not follow that those are only types of transactions that can do so.
109. As we said above, the key to subsection 93(b) of the Act is that transactions must
reflect real supply and real demand. If either is missing – if either supply or demand is
distorted or misrepresented – the result may be an artificial price.
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110. The evidence showed that the Respondents repeatedly over the course of the
Relevant Trading Period entered purchase orders that were, in most cases:
• for only one or two board lots of ACL Shares, a departure from their earlier
trading that typically involved larger blocks
• at a price higher than the previous purchase price
• entered shortly before the close of trading
• filled as the final trade, setting the closing price for the day
111. This was true for each Respondent individually, and was even more apparent
when we considered their combined trading activities. That pattern was particularly
apparent in the Calendar reproduced above.
112. We find from these facts that on at least nine days during the Relevant Trading
Period, one or the other of the Respondents engaged in "high closing" purchases of ACL
Shares. Clear examples of high closes, each involving purchases of only one or two
board lots in the last 10 minutes of trading, were on April 18 (purchased by Peter); April
28 (purchased by John); May 1 (Peter); May 2 (Peter); May 9 (Peter); May 10 (John);
May 11 (John); May 12 (John); and July 7 (John).
113. Given that clear evidence, it was not necessary for us to make a finding about
other impugned purchases within the Relevant Trading Period. In the absence of more
compelling evidence we drew no inferences concerning the purchases by Peter in the
final four to eight minutes of trading on May 4 and 8 (there was some evidence that
might suggest that those purchases resulted from buy orders entered earlier on each of
those days). In addition, although (as Mr. Holley pointed out) in a thinly-traded security
one might be able to affect the closing price even by an order placed some time before
the close, given the findings we have already made we do not find it necessary to make a
finding in respect of impugned purchases made somewhat earlier in the trading day
(purchases by John on May 16 at 15:24:04 and on July 31 at 14:45:04, and purchases by
Peter on May 18 at 15:35:13 and July 14 at 15:32:37).
114. We do not find Peter's purchase on July 12 at 15:21:31 to have been a high close
because it was followed by both another trade and two more bids.
(c)
Motive or Intent
115. The Respondents argued that they did not contravene subsection 93(b) of the Act
because they lacked the motive or intent to engage in high closings and, therefore, to
create an artificial price.
116. They offered explanations for their trading activities in support of their argument.
Staff disagreed with the Respondents' explanations. We now examine those explanations.
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(i)
Economically Sensible?
117. The Respondents argued that the purpose of their purchases during the Relevant
Trading Period was to accumulate ACL Shares at a time when they thought them a good
buy. In other words, they had ordinary bona fide investment intent. They also argued
that the manner in which they purchased ACL Shares – "picking away” at the market
with low volume orders, in order that in a thinly traded market the price not be increased
too much – made economic sense.
118. That explanation would have been more credible had it more closely matched the
facts.
119. An intention simply to accumulate additional ACL Shares for investment
purposes, and a strategy of "picking away" with a number of low volume purchases in
order to avoid driving up the price, are difficult to reconcile with the facts. All their
activity during the Relevant Trading Period (a large number of trades over more than
three months) resulted in total purchases of only 4,500 ACL Shares, for Peter, and 2,800
ACL Shares for John – a very small increment to their existing holdings (over 350,000
ACL Shares each) before that time.
120. In many instances during the Relevant Trading Period, the Respondents' small
(one or two board lots) purchases were made a time when considerably larger volumes
were on offer at the same price. They could, at the prices they paid, have bought far
more than they did. For example, at 10:43 on April 19 the Action Direct transcript and
the trading data in Exhibit 5 show that Peter placed an order to buy, and did buy, 200
ACL Shares at $9.00 when 2,200 ACL Shares were on offer at that price. Had he bought
all of the shares then on offer; he would have acquired in minutes almost half the number
of ACL Shares that he in fact acquired over the course of the Relevant Trading Period.
121. Their explanation is also inconsistent with their own trading practice before the
Relevant Trading Period. Each Respondent both purchased and sold much larger blocks
of ACL Shares immediately before the Relevant Trading Period. From April 7 to 14,
Peter purchased a total of 10,800 ACL Shares, in blocks as large as 2,000 ACL Shares,
and John purchased a total of 20,800 ACL Shares in blocks as large as 4,400 ACL
Shares. The volumes they purchased on some of those days approached or exceeded the
total volume each acquired during the entire 3½-month Relevant Trading Period; on
April 12, John alone purchased more (11,000 ACL Shares) than both brothers purchased
in the aggregate throughout the Relevant Trading Period.
122. The intensity of their purchasing activity during the Relevant Trading Period, in
contrast to the very small volumes involved, belies their argument that they were acting
simply to accumulate. This was even more apparent when compared to their large,
existing shareholdings. The contrast was particularly evident when the volumes they
purchased during the Relevant Traded Period were compared with the numbers of ACL
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Shares they bought and sold just prior to the Relevant Trading Period, and with the
volumes on offer during that time. Even if "picking away" were an economically
sensible strategy, it does not explain why they were satisfied with "picking away" in
much larger volumes before April 18, but not after.
123. We do not find the Respondents' explanations credible.
(ii)
No Profit?
124. The Respondents noted that there was no evidence that either Respondent (or
ACL) benefited from any of the high closings. However, the issue here is their intention
not their success. The fact that we have no evidence that the Respondents realized a
profit or gain does not determine the issue. In any event, direct profit on a particular
transaction is not necessarily the only motive for market manipulation.
(iii) Timing
125. The Respondents offered two explanations for the timing of the transactions.
126. First, they claimed that they were unable to get through on the telephone lines for
lengthy periods, resulting in the late purchase times. For a number of reasons, we do not
accept that as an explanation.
127. If the Respondents really did encounter such repeated and prolonged difficulties,
one would have expected them to have been extremely frustrated, as they claimed in their
testimony. However, the Action Direct transcripts contained no mention by the
Respondents of any delay or difficulty. In the revealing transcript of a telephone call
beginning at 15:57 on April 28, 2000, John Podorieszach mentioned no delay in getting
through, but did ostentatiously prolong the conversation until even closer to the end of
the trading day to make his and the day's last purchase order. Even were we to accept
that the Respondents encountered some delay in connecting with their broker, it defies
belief that this happened to both of the Respondents on every one of the days on which
we identified high closings. We do not accept that they were ultimately able to connect
on every one of those days but that in every case, by chance, they did so only within the
last few minutes of the trading day.
128. Second, the Respondents stated that their trades happened to be at the end of the
day because they traded early or late in the trading day as that when the market was most
active. That may be. Such a practice might on occasion result in the day's final trade
and, in itself, that might not necessarily be objectionable. Their argument, however, does
not explain their repeated success during the Relevant Trading Period in having their
purchase orders filled as the last trade of the day. In any case, experienced market
participants must be particularly careful when trading near the end of the day for their
own account so that they do not inadvertently engage in a high closing. In Re Schiesser

Podorieszach, Luciano John and Secondo Pietro

(2004) ABSECCOM REA-#1459118 v1

COMP-460

(1994), 3 A.S.C.S. 2151 (at para. 106), this Commission stated, "Engaging in a single
'last trade of the day' that moves the market is unwise for a professional trader …".
(iv) Finding Concerning Motive or Intent
129. We do not agree with the Respondents' contention that they had no improper
motive or intent for their trading activity during the Relevant Trading Period. We find
that the Respondents acted with the improper motive and intent inherent in the concept of
artificial price.
130. Staff's expert witness, Mr. Holley, cited a number of examples of possible
motivations for high closings, a number of which we think plausible in this case:
• to improve the performance of any portfolio that holds the security (both
Respondents had sizeable holdings of ACL Shares)
• to increase the value of their securityholdings used in calculating their
margin requirements (both Respondents maintained margin accounts with
Action Direct)
• to create the appearance of strength or stability in the market for the
security, encouraging others to invest in the security (ACL's announced
Special Warrant Private Placement, scheduled to close April 28, 2000 was
delayed until May 15, 2000 – that extension coincided with the period
during which the Respondents concentrated their high closing activities).
131. In our view, the facts amply demonstrate that the Respondents had reasons for
buying ACL Shares when and in the manner they did. Those reasons were not the
simple, bona fide investment purpose of profiting on those small purchases from a broad,
genuine increase in the market price.
132. The Respondents' ties to ACL both predated and extended beyond their interest as
buyers in these small transactions. To begin with, they quite simply had a great deal
already invested in ACL. Unlike other significant shareholders of other public
companies, they also had intimate access and connection to the company's leadership
(their brother Primo was the president) and profound understanding of its business (they
were founders). Those connections gave them not only an enormous incentive to see the
share price sustained or increasing, but also considerable opportunity to make that
happen. They took that opportunity.
133. The facts show that the Respondents were actively engaged in promoting and
supporting both ACL and investment in ACL Shares. We referred earlier to their
continuing hands-on involvement with new ACL financings. They were perceived by
others as "principals" of ACL. John Podorieszach actively, indeed aggressively, but
under pseudonyms, promoted ACL Shares on the Internet. Peter Podorieszach solicited
interest in the Special Warrant Private Placement from a former client.
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134. The purchases in question occurred precisely as ACL was seeking new capital in
the Special Warrant Private Placement. That offering of ACL Shares and warrants,
announced in March 2000, was intended to raise up to $9 million and was anticipated to
close on April 28, 2000. The offering did not, however, close until May 15, 2000 and it
raised only $3.36 million.
135. In other words, despite the deferred closing date, which extended the selling
period, the proceeds realized still fell much below the maximum originally announced. It
is clear to us that, before and into the Relevant Trading Period, sales under the Special
Warrant Private Placement were disappointing. It is equally clear to us that ACL, and the
Respondents, took action in an effort to bolster the selling effort.
136. The evidence shows that, shortly before the originally anticipated closing date for
the Special Warrant Private Placement, ACL had obtained TSE approval to buy back
ACL Shares under a normal course issuer bid, a mechanism widely used to help stabilize
the market for a security or offset dilution. ACL could begin the normal course issuer bid
on April 18, 2000. April 18 was also the date of the first of the impugned purchases of
ACL Shares, by Peter Podorieszach. The ensuing weeks saw the most intense
concentration of the two Respondents' impugned purchasing activity. One or the other of
the Respondents purchased ACL Shares, in impugned transactions, on nine of the 12
trading days from April 28 (the originally anticipated Special Warrant Private Placement
closing date) to May 15, 2000 (the actual closing date), and at least seven of those
purchases were, as we found above, high closes.
137. We do not believe that this alignment in the timing of the Special Warrant Private
Placement, the normal course issuer bid and the impugned trading activity was a
coincidence.
138. We believe that the Respondents were keenly interested in the success of ACL
and, particularly, in the success of the Special Warrant Private Placement . We believe
that many of their actions at and about that time were motivated by their desire to bolster
the offering. It is very often the case with new offerings of securities that selling efforts
can be assisted by market impressions of a liquid market for the securities, buying
interest in the securities and market support for the price. Promotion and active buying
by investors, as well as a normal course issuer bid, can strengthen these types of market
impressions. We are convinced that generating such a positive market impression toward
ACL Shares, in connection with ACL’s new financing and its longer-term prospects – of
ultimate benefit to significant shareholders like the Respondents – was the motive for the
Respondents' own trading and promotional activity at the time in question.
139. The Respondents had argued that their intent was simply to accumulate ACL
Shares at a time when they were a good buy – in other words, a bona fide investment
intent. Their method, however, departed from their earlier trading practices. They
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switched to a concentrated series, at times daily, of very small purchases (one or two
board lots, even when larger volumes were on offer at the same price), very late in the
trading day, such that their prices became the daily closing prices. As discussed earlier,
we found this method not economically sensible, and their explanation not believable.
140. The Respondents' changed approach to investing was inconsistent with a simple
intent to accumulate shares at the best possible price. Their method was not
economically sensible, and it increased only minutely the size of their already very large
shareholdings, but it affected the market price of ACL Shares.
141. We do not believe that the Respondents' purchases of ACL Shares during the
Relevant Trading Period were made with bona fide investment intent.
142. By structuring their purchases as they did, in small volumes late in the trading day
and in most cases as the last trade of the day, the Respondents created, and intended to
create, a false impression of demand for ACL Shares. While they followed up that
impression of demand and bought the shares they bid for, it is our conclusion that the
transactions were not designed to effect a purchase but, rather, the purchases we re
designed to affect the price.
143. We conclude from the evidence as a whole that the Respondents intended to create
the appearance of relative strength or stability in the market for ACL Shares, encouraging
others to invest in ACL Shares generally or more specifically in the securities offered in
the Special Warrant Private Placement. More specifically, they intended that the closing
prices of ACL Shares during the Relevant Trading Period be something other than prices
determined by the interaction of real market supply and demand. They intended either to
raise the ACL Share price or to prevent an orderly fall to a level where bona fide
investors acting at arm's length would buy up the shares.
144. In short, we find from the evidence that the Respondents had ample motive – a
desire that ACL generally, and the Special Warrant Private Placement specifically,
succeed – to create an artificial price for ACL Shares. We find, too, that it was their
intention to follow through on that motive, by creating ACL Share closing prices not
reflective of real market demand and supply. The price resulting from their actions was,
accordingly, "artificial".
(d)
Finding Concerning Artificial Price
145. At least nine of the Respondents' purchases of ACL Shares during the Relevant
Trading Period were high closings. The resulting closing prices for ACL Shares did not
reflect the interaction of real supply and demand motivated by investment intent.
146. For these reasons, we find that those purchases created or resulted in an artificial
price for ACL Shares.
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147. We therefore find that the second element of subsection 93(b) is proved.
Did the Respondents Know, or Ought They to Have Known, the Result of Their
Purchases?
148. We now consider the third and final element of subsection 93(b). The issue is
whether the Respondents knew or ought to have known that their high closings of ACL
Shares during the Relevant Trading Period would create or might result in an artificial
price for ACL Shares.
149. The Respondents were registrants and businessmen with long experience in the
securities industry and capital markets. They acknowledged that they were sophisticated
and experienced in securities trading.
150. Daily closing prices of publicly traded securities are quoted in the financial press
and widely disseminated. Closing prices can be taken as evidence of market sentiment,
and changes in closing prices can give an impression of changed market sentiment.
Market participants use such information in making investment decisions.
151. A high closing of a security naturally and predictably increases its closing price.
That is, after all, what a high closing is.
152. We have no doubt that the Respondents, as sophisticated and experienced market
participants, knew or ought to have known both the importance of closing prices to
investors and capital markets, and that their high closings would be reasonably likely to
affect ACL Share closing prices.
153. We therefore find that the Respondents knew, or ought reasonably to have known,
that their high closing purchases of ACL Shares would create or result in an artificial
price for ACL Shares. The third and final element of subsection 93(b) is proved.
Finding Concerning Subsection 93(b) of the Act
154. We find that, as all three elements of the provision have been proved in respect of
each Respondent, each Respondent has contravened subsection 93(b) of the Act.
D.
Did the Respondents Act Together?
155. We have found that each Respondent contravened subsection 93(b). Although
Staff did not allege that the Respondents acted in concert in their impugned activities, the
Respondents in their testimony denied having coordinated their purchases of ACL Shares
during the Relevant Trading Period.
156. While it is not necessary for us to make a finding on this point, we think it
important that we set out our views.
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157. When we reviewed the evidence we were struck by the pronounced similarity in
the activities of both Respondents during the Relevant Trading Period, as can readily be
seen from the information set out in the Calendar reproduced above. Beginning late in
April 2000 and most noticeable in the first half of May 2000, we see a concentrated series
of purchases made by one or the other of the Respondents late in the day and in small
(typically single board lot) volumes. Also notable is the fact that on most of the trading
days during those weeks, one or the other Respondent purchased ACL Shares as the last
trade of the day, on an uptick.
158. While these facts have been discussed earlier, what the Calendar presents most
starkly is the combined effect of their high closings. Looking at their trading together,
we see that they were active on 11 of the 15 trading days from April 28 to May 18, or to
put it another way, they were active on nine of the 12 trading days from April 28 (the
initially anticipated closing date of the Special Warrant Private Placement) to May 15
(the actual closing date). On most of the trading days during that interval, and on every
trading day for part of the interval, one or the other of the Respondents was active in
placing late-day orders, but only very rarely were they both doing so on the same day.
159. Their activity, both during and shortly before this interval, was extremely similar:
•
both made large sales in the same time frame (John sold 6,300 ACL Shares
between March 13 and March 27; Peter sold 10,500 ACL Shares between
March 16 and April 3).
•
both purchased large volumes of ACL Shares in the same time frame (John
bought 20,800 ACL Shares between April 7 and April 13; Peter bought
10,800 ACL Shares between April 10 and April 14).
•
both changed their trading practice and began buying very small (one or
two board lot) quantities at approximately the same time (John began April
13; Peter began April 18).
160. In short, both brothers began a concentrated burst of high closings, following the
same techniques, during the same period. Between them, and with little overlap, they
covered most of the trading days in the interval of most intense activity.
161. Both Respondents testified that they did not act together, or even communicate
with each other, about these activities. We do not believe them.
162. In our view, the facts are consistent only with consultation and cooperation, not
coincidence. We therefore believe that the Respondents acted together to create an
artificial price for the ACL Shares.
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E.
Was the Respondents' Conduct Contrary to the Public Interest?
163. Staff alleged that the Respondents' conduct alleged in the notice of hearing was
contrary to the public interest.
164. We discussed earlier how important it is that participants in the capital markets
conduct themselves with integrity, to protect investors and to ensure that the markets
operate fairly, efficiently and with the confidence of investors. We stressed how
important it is that trading information (bids for and offers of securities) reflect real
demand and supply and genuine investment decisions of market participants. When that
information is manipulated or distorted, individual investors are placed in jeopardy and
the integrity of the market as a whole is impaired.
165. We found that the Respondents purchased ACL Shares when they knew or ought
to have known that their purchases would create or might result in an artificial price for
ACL Shares, contrary to subsection 93(b) of the Act. We believe that they set out to
distort the market for their own purposes, and that they knew what they were doing when
they manipulated the market.
166. The Respondents were not ordinary investors. They were registrants – not, it is
true, brokers registered at the time in question to trade in and advise specifically on
securities like ACL Shares – but registrants nonetheless. As such, they had a special and,
in some ways, privi leged place in our capital markets.
167. Our securities regulatory framework relies on registrants, and their competence
and ethics, to promote the protection of investors, market fairness and efficiency, and
investor confidence. When registrants use their knowledge and expertise to manipulate
the capital markets, the harm to public confidence and the public interest is magnified.
168. In light of the evidence and our findings above, we find that the Respondents'
conduct was contrary to the public interest.
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
169. In summary, we find that Respondents:
• purchased ACL Shares when they knew or ought to have known that their
purchases would result in artificial prices for the ACL Shares, contrary to
subsection 93(b) of the Act; and
• acted contrary to the public interest.
170. We make no orders at this time. Before doing so, we give the parties an
opportunity to make further submissions as to what, if any, orders we ought to make in
the public interest.
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171. If the parties wish to make wr itten submissions, we direct Staff to file their
submissions and send a copy to the Respondents' counsel by April 8, 2004. If the
Respondents wish to file a submission, we direct them to file their submission with the
Secretary to the Commission and send a copy to Staff by April 19, 2004. If the parties
wish to make oral submissions, we direct them to contact the Secretary to the
Commission before April 1, 2004 to fix a date for the hearing of those submissions.
172. March 17, 2004.
173. For the Commission:
"original signed by"
Glenda A. Campbell, Q.C., Vice-Chair
"original signed by"
Stephen R. Murison, Vice-Chair
"original signed by"
John W. Cranston, Member
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Heard: April 1, 2003

On appeal from the order of Justice Nancy L. Backhouse of the Superior Court of
Justice dated June 20, 2002.
McMURTRY C.J.O.:

OVERVIEW
[1]
This is an appeal from the order of Backhouse J. dated June 20, 2002 striking out
the appellants’ claim for libel as disclosing no reasonable cause of action. The appellants
who are all practitioners of Falun Gong, allege that they were libeled by an article
published in the respondent’s newspaper, the Sing Tao Daily. The motions judge also
struck the appellants claims for “incitement of hatred”, “crimes against humanity” and
“negligent research” as disclosing no reasonable cause of action.

THE FACTS
[2]
The respondent, Sing Tao Daily, publishes a Chinese language daily newspaper
sold in Canada. On September 20, 2001, in the aftermath of the terrorist attack on the
World Trade Centre, the respondent published an article under the headline “Radical
Religious Groups Advocate Destroying the World (“the Article”). The Article profiles a
number of groups, with accompanying photographs, including the Branch Dividians,
Solar Temple, the World Trade Centre bombers and Falun Gong. The appellants are all
practitioners of Falun Gong.
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(a) Under the heading “Falun Gong”, as translated, the Article states:

Founded by Li Hongzhi, Falun Dafa is aimed at
cultivating the ultimate qualities of the
Universe—“Truth-Compassion-Tolerance”.
Falun Gong insists that it is intended to
cultivate mind nature, thus is beneficial in
improving physical health, mental clarity and
morality, however, in Li Hongzhi’s Dafa
(teachings), it has always laid emphasis on antiscience, anti-society and anti-civilization. He
also claim to the followers that the earth will
inevitably have a big explosion, that is to say
the end of the world; yet he has the power to put
off the explosion for 30 years. Falun Gong
allegedly lead people to superstition, delude
people into setting themselves alight, and selfmutilation, in order to achieve the
“consummation” to ascend to heaven. As a
result, Falun Gong has been defined as an evil
cult in China.

(b) Under the heading “Religious incident involving deaths and injuries”,
the Article states:
Falun Gong: According to reports from
mainland China, Falun Gong has caused more
than 1700 deaths in Mainland China, either
from delay of medical treatments or suicide
acts, even self-mutilations, because it is antiscience and anti-society. In January this year on
Tienanmen Square, five Falun Gong followers
posted a quigong stance, shouted “Falun Dafa is
good”, then set fire to themselves in an
attempted group suicide, which left one dead,
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[3]
The following segments of the Article as translated contain the references in their
entirety to the Falun Gong.

Page: 5

[4]
The appellants do not include three of the plaintiffs in this action who are
identifiable in a photograph accompanying the Article which is the subject matter of the
action. The libel claims of these three plaintiffs were permitted to proceed.
[5]
The Falun Gong originated in China but has practitioners or adherents throughout
the world. In 1999 the Chinese government estimated that there were 100 million Falun
Gong practitioners.
[6]
All of the plaintiffs are resident in Canada except the three plaintiffs shown in the
photograph, which was part of the Article, who live in Hong Kong. It will be noted that
the words complained of in the Article do not refer specifically to any members of the
Falun Gong in Canada. Indeed, the Article makes references only to events that allegedly
occurred in China.
ISSUES
[7]

There are two issues on this appeal:
(1)
Did the motions judge err in striking out the libel claims of the appellants?
(2)
Did the motions judge err in striking out the appellants’ claims for
“incitement of hatred”, “crimes against humanity” and “negligent
research”?

ANALYSIS
Issue 1—The Libel Claims
[8]
The motions judge found that the appellants could not succeed in their libel action,
because the libel was not “of and concerning” the plaintiffs. The appellants argue that
while they are not individually named in the article, they are nonetheless each singled out
by the statements about Falun Gong. They plead in their statement of claim as follows:
all Falun Gong (Da Fa) practitioners, due to their
unique activities, physical exercises, meditation, and
dissemination of literature, are readily and instantly,
identifiable as practitioners, particularly within, but not
restricted to, the Chinese community in Canada.
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four injured. The four injured lost the outward
form of a man as a result of burns. CNN TV at
the scene filmed the entire course of the
incident.

[9]
The appellants therefore submit that they meet the “of and concerning”
requirement for libel, because as identifiable practitioners of Falun Gong, the Article’s
general statements concerning Falun Gong attach to them as individuals.

[10] An action in libel is a personal action based upon injury to one’s own reputation.
Thus, it is necessary to show that an allegedly libelous publication points to the plaintiff
as a particular individual. However, the appellants submit that this does not mean that an
individual cannot be defamed as member of a group that is targeted by a publication.

[11] The appellants rely on the decision in Lennon v. Harris (1999), 45 O.R. (3d) 84
(Sup. Ct. Jus.), in which the court refused to strike a claim by several union leaders, who
claimed to have been defamed by certain statements about “teachers’ unions” and “union
bosses”, made by the Premier and the Minister of Education of Ontario, in the context of
a dispute over changes to the education system. While the plaintiffs were not named in
the statements, the motions judge concluded that in the circumstances he could not
conclude that the words complained of were not spoken “of and concerning” them.

[12] In my view, this decision does not assist the appellants. The union leaders in
Lennon were not claiming to have been libeled merely on the basis of their status as
“union bosses”, but rather as the particular union leaders that were engaged in a dispute
with the defendants. They were the specific target of the statements. In the present
appeal, there is nothing that identifies the appellants in a similar manner.
[13] In Seafarers International Union of Canada et al v. Lawrence (1979) 24 O.R. (2d)
257, MacKinnon A.C.J.O. at 263 underlines the personal nature of a libel action as
follows:
The words to be actionable must be understood as
being published of and concerning the plaintiff. It is
pointed out in Gatley, supra, p. 139, para 283:
Where the words complained of reflect on a body
or class of persons generally, such as lawyers,
clergymen, publicans or the like, no particular
member of the body or class can maintain an
action. “If” said Willes J. in Eastwood v. Holmes,
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Viscount Simon, L.C. in Knupffer v. London Express
Newspaper Ltd., [1944] AC 116 at p. 118, in opening
his speech stated: “My Lords, it is an essential
element of the cause of action for defamation that the
words complained of should be published ‘of the
plaintiff’.” Lord Russell of Killowen said, in the same
case (p.123):
The crucial question in these cases in which an
individual…sues in respect of defamation of a
class or group of individuals is whether on their
true construction the defamatory words were
published of and concerning the … plaintiff.

[14] There is nothing to distinguish the appellants from the class of all Falun Gong
practitioners throughout the world. In this context, I am of the view that, the succinct
endorsement of Justice Zuber in Sun Tanner’s Image v. White (12 September 2000),
Windsor 00-GD-4893 (Sup. Ct. Jus.), affirmed at [2001] O.J. No. 1661 (C.A.), provides a
helpful approach:
It is necessary that the plaintiffs show that they are
identified or singled out. The words clearly do not
identify the plaintiffs. Further it is not pleaded that the
class is so small that the plaintiffs are necessarily
identified and would lead one to believe that the
plaintiffs are the target of the words. As a result this
action must fail and the claim is dismissed.

[15] I agree with the respondent that where a matter is allegedly libelous of a
substantially large and indeterminate group of persons, it does not give rise to a cause of
action for any specific member of that group or class unless it can be shown that the libel
complained of points to a particular member or particular members of the group.
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[(1858) 1F & F347 at 349] “a man wrote that all
lawyers were thieves, no particular lawyer could
sue him unless there was something to point to the
particular individual.”

[16] I am also of the opinion that a reasonable reader of the respondent’s Article would
likely interpret the reference to the “Falun Gong” as referring to Falun Gong practitioners
living in China.
[17] For these reasons, I would therefore dismiss the appeal with respect to the order
striking out the appellants’ claim for libel.
Issue 2—The Remaining Claims

[18] The motions judge found that the claim for “negligent research” was simply
another way of framing the libel action, and could stand on no better ground. She
dismissed the claims for “incitement of hatred” and “crimes against humanity” for the
same reason, noting also that such conduct may be prosecuted in a criminal court and/or
under Human Rights Legislation. The appellants submit that there should be a civil
remedy to correspond with the criminal offence of inciting hatred, and that their claims
fall outside the ambit of the Human Rights Code, R.S.O. 1990, c.H.19, which is not
concerned with intentional torts.

[19] I agree with the motions judge’s decision that these claims can only be properly
addressed under the law of defamation. In pursuing their claim for defamation, the
appellants also seek to create new causes of action. In Frame v. Smith (1987), 42 D.L.R.
(4th) 81 (S.C.C.) at 114, LaForest J. warns of the danger inherent in this course, noting
that novel and ill-defined causes of action, no matter how well intentioned, may cause
more harm than the wrong they seek to address.

[20] In my view, the concerns articulated by LaForest J. are applicable in the instant
appeal. The appellants argue, for example, that the respondents are liable for the conduct
of, among others, the government of the People’s Republic of China. The scope of
potential liability under the proposed causes of action is unclear at best, and the need for
the establishment of new causes of action has not been established.

[21] I am also of the view that the statement of Montgomery J. in Elliott v. Canadian
Broadcasting Corp. (1993), 16 O.R. (3d) 677 is relevant to the other causes of action that
are advanced on behalf of the appellants when he stated at p. 689:
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In my view, the whole claim rests on the publication of
the film and the book. Attempts to find another cause
of action inexorably lead back to the alleged harm and
damage to reputation by the words claimed of. The socalled subsidiary torts are nothing more or less than
defamation.
DISPOSITION
[22] For these reasons, I would dismiss the appeal with costs payable to the respondent
on a partial indemnity basis in the amount of $6,000.

“R. Roy McMurtry C.J.O.”
“I agree. Doherty J.A.”
“I agree. E. E. Gillese J.A.”

RELEASED: May 20, 2003 “RRM”
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Inaccurate Statements in Plaintiffs’ Anti-SLAPP Factum (Conspiracy)
Paragraph
of Plaintiffs’
Anti-SLAPP
Factum
(Conspiracy)

Relevant Excerpt from
Plaintiffs’ Anti-SLAPP Factum
(Conspiracy)

Response

35

“…Voorheis and Anderson
arranged a ‘bonus’ payment to
Anderson for shorting
opportunities.”

Anderson’s uncontradicted evidence is that
he “had no compensation arrangement with
[Voorheis] relating to Callidus nor any
bonus opportunity relating to Callidus”, and
more generally, that he had no arrangement
with Voorheis related to shorting Callidus.
See Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held April 28, 2021, pp.
348-349, q. 1124-1129.

57

“There is no direct evidence of
who StoptheScandal suggested
Anderson to contact. Anderson’s
production of his exchanges with
StoptheScandal is incomplete.
Levitt similarly has not produced
any of his communications as
StoptheScandal. The failure to
produce these documents
underscores Levitt and
Anderson’s lack of credibility.”

This incorrectly suggests that Anderson has
withheld or otherwise refused to produce
these Twitter exchanges. In fact, they are
not in his power, possession or control.
Anderson’s evidence is that, presumably
due to the passage of time, these Twitter
conversations are no longer available in his
Twitter account. No issue of credibility
arises. See the Supplementary Affidavit of
Nathan Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at
para 68, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, pp.
611-612.

82

“Anderson has not produced any
of his phone records from the key
period of July 9 – August 9,
2017.”

This incorrectly suggests that Anderson has
withheld or otherwise refused to produce
these records. In fact, they are not in his
power, possession or control, and despite
his attempts to obtain them from a third
party, he has been unable to do so. See Mr.
Lung’s letter to Mr. Dearden dated April 27,
2021, outlining the extensive efforts made
by Anderson to try to obtain these phone
records from Verizon, with no success. See
also Anderson’s explanation of his failed
attempts to obtain the records in the
Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held April 28, 2021, pp.
356-358, q. 1140. This evidence is
uncontradicted.

96

“Anderson acknowledged during
his cross-examination that
Langstaff, Levitt, McFarlane,
Spears, Boland, Panet, and

This is directly contradicted by Anderson’s
evidence. Anderson testified that he spoke
with Boland and Panet, but that overall,
“they didn’t provide much” (Transcript of the
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Voorheis were all sources who
provided information to ‘aid’
Anderson with an ‘eye’ to
preparing the whistleblower
complaint.”

Cross-Examination of Nathan Anderson
held November 20, 2020, pp. 78-79, q.
173). With respect to Langstaff, Levitt,
Voorheis and Spears, Anderson’s evidence
was that he was gathering information from
them as sources, but specifically denied
that he was relying on them to provide him
information for the purposes of filing his
whistleblower complaint. He testified that
his purpose of communicating with them
was the seeking of information to aid in his
research for eventually preparing a
whistleblower report (Transcript of the
Cross-Examination of Nathan Anderson
held November 20, 2020, pp. 133-134, q.
355-360; pp. 138-139, q. 383-385).

97

“In preparation for his meetings in
Toronto, Anderson spoke to
Boland, Voorheis, McFarlane,
and Langstaff on February 27,
2017.”

There is no evidence that these
conversations were “in preparation for”
Anderson’s meetings in Toronto; merely
that phone records indicated that there
were calls on that date.

109

Further, after McFarlane’s
meeting with Langstaff, Kassam
of Anson wrote to Langstaff on
March 23 (the same day that
Boland contacted Livesey),
asking for a “draft” – presumably
of the whistleblower complaint
that McFarlane said was 2-3
weeks away from being filed:
“Any draft for me?”

There is no evidence or any other indication
that Kassam’s request for a “draft” was in
reference to Anderson’s whistleblower
submissions. The Plaintiffs could have, but
did not, seek to examine Kassam or
Langstaff to obtain their evidence of what
was meant by this request.

117

“Anderson asserted that he had
no knowledge or involvement
relating to any complaints to the
Police. However, documents now
produced show that Anderson
made arrangements to have his
lawyer, Bryan Wood, speak to
the Toronto Police.”

This omits Anderson’s uncontradicted
evidence that Mr Wood in fact never spoke
to the Toronto Police in relation to this
matter. See the Supplementary Affidavit of
Nathan Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at
para 70, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, p.
612.

135

“As Reuters had not published an
article about the Whistleblower
Complaints as anticipated,
Anderson closed out his entire
short position on July 13, 2017.”

There is no evidence that Anderson’s
closing out of his short position on that date
was in any way related to the publication (or
lack thereof) of an article by Reuters. The
events occurred on the same date, but
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there is no evidence of any causal
connection between them.
141

“Anderson was texting Copeland
arranging for him to publish a
story on the whistleblower
complaint…”

Anderson’s clear evidence is that he did not
“arrange” for any story to be published by
Copeland. He had no control over whether
a story would be published in the Wall
Street Journal, or what any story could look
like. He had no control over or input into the
content of the article ultimately published,
he did not review it prior to its publication,
and he gave no instructions or suggestions
as to the timing of its release. See the
Affidavit of Nathan Anderson sworn
November 8, 2019 at para 32, Motion
Record of Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc.,
tab 2, pp. 23-24.

151

“Despite being informed of
Anderson’s short position,
Copeland provided advance
notice to Anderson of when his
fraud article was going to be
published. Copeland sent a text
message to Anderson on July 27,
2017 at 6:17 PM ET informing
him that the ‘Story should be out
Tuesday’ ‘Don’t tell the
conspiracy of short sellers!’”

This is incorrect, as Copeland’s article in
fact was not published on the date indicated
by Copeland (August 1, 2017). The article
ultimately was published on August 9, 2017.

152

“Anderson has not produced any
chat logs of his communications
with Copeland. The destruction of
such key evidence is telling and
weighs against Anderson and his
credibility.“

There is no evidence that Anderson
destroyed or deleted his communications
with Copeland. His uncontradicted evidence
is that these messages were no longer
stored on his phone, and that his belief is
that they may have deleted automatically
with the passage of time. He has
specifically confirmed that there was no
deliberate deletion of those messages. See
the Supplementary Affidavit of Nathan
Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at para
17, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, p.
587. No credibility issues are engaged. In
any event, the text messages between
Anderson and Copeland have been
produced by Copeland, so the Plaintiffs
have been deprived of no information in this
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respect.
173

“However, [Voorheis’] records do
show a ‘bonus’ owing to ‘Nate’ of
USD$50,000. Anderson admitted
that he and Voorheis discussed
shorting opportunities and
bonuses to Anderson for
opportunities he presented, but
he denied that the bonus related
specifically to Callidus.”

Anderson did not admit that he and
Voorheis discussed shorting opportunities;
he indicated that they had discussed
“research opportunities”, including
compensation arrangements for those
research opportunities. Further, as noted
above, Anderson’s evidence is that he “had
no compensation arrangement with
[Voorheis] relating to Callidus nor any
bonus opportunity relating to Callidus”, and
more generally, that he had no arrangement
with Voorheis related to shorting Callidus.
See Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held April 28, 2021, pp.
348-349, q. 1124-1129.

189(f)

“communications amongst
themselves were deleted. Known
examples include Panet’s
deletion of his email exchange
with Levitt regarding the ‘Callidus
Catalyst Fraud Outline’ for the
OSC, and Anderson’s deletion of
his ‘whole chat log’ with
Copeland.’ Indeed, Anderson has
not produced any text
messages.”

As noted above, Anderson’s uncontradicted
evidence is that his messages with
Copeland could not be produced because
were no longer stored on his phone, and
that his belief is that they may have deleted
automatically with the passage of time. He
has specifically confirmed that there was no
deliberate deletion of those messages. See
the Supplementary Affidavit of Nathan
Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at para
17, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, p.
587. In any event, the text messages
between Anderson and Copeland have
been produced by Copeland, so the
Plaintiffs have been deprived of no
information in this respect.

232

“Callidus was placed on the
Refilings and Correction of Errors
List in 2017 and 2018 because
Callidus had amended its
disclosure of forward-looking
information relating to
unrecognized yield
enhancements, a forwardlooking, non-IFRS disclosure
measure, in its MD&As”

This misrepresents the OSC’s own
communications about the basis for
Callidus’ placement on the Refilings and
Errors List. Callidus did not amend its
disclosure voluntarily; it did so because of
deficiencies in its disclosures, particularly
the OSC’s expressed concerns that
Callidus’ public disclosures were potentially
misleading to investors. For example, the
OSC required Callidus to disclose publicly
that its “disclosure enhancements” were
being done in connection with a review by
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OSC staff, and that such disclosure was
consistent with the OSC’s view that Callidus
should be placed on the Refilings and
Errors list. Indeed, the Refilings and Errors
List provides a “Description of Deficiency” to
explain Callidus’ placement on the list. See
Email from Michael Tang to Dan Nohdomi
dated July 31, 2017, CAT_D_00000989;
Screenshot of Callidus entry on OSC
Refilings and Errors List, Supplementary
Motion Record of Anderson and
ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3G, p. 709.
252(c)(ii)

275(b)

“Anderson has not produced any
phone records from and after
July 8, 2017 which he admitted
are necessary to have a full
picture of his communications
with Copeland, McFarlane, Levitt,
Langstaff, Voorheis, and
Livesey.”

As noted above, this incorrectly suggests
that Anderson has withheld or otherwise
refused to produce these records. In fact,
they are not in his power, possession or
control, and despite his attempts to obtain
them from a third party, he has been unable
to do so. See Mr. Lung’s letter to Mr.
Dearden dated April 27, 2021, outlining the
extensive efforts made by Anderson to try
to obtain these phone records from Verizon,
with no success. See also Anderson’s
explanation of his failed attempts to obtain
the records in the Transcript of the CrossExamination of Nathan Anderson held April
28, 2021, pp. 356-358, q. 1140. This
evidence is uncontradicted.
Further, Anderson did not admit that these
records are necessary to have a full picture
of his communications with these
individuals. He simply agreed that these
records would permit a “better
understanding” of his communications with
these individuals during the period from July
13 to August 9, 2017. See the Transcript of
the Cross-Examination of Nathan Anderson
held April 28, 2021, p. 328, q. 1045-1046.

“Anderson connected Levitt,
McFarlane, and Baumann with
Copeland to collaborate and aid
in WSJ’s publication of the
defamatory complaint.”

The text messages that the Plaintiffs cite for
this statement contain no indication
whatsoever that Anderson connected any of
these individuals to Copeland at all, let
alone for the purpose of aiding in the
publication of an article.
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“[Anderson] also had an ulterior
motive to have the defamatory
complaints published – his own
self-interest to profit from the
harm caused by the publication
of the defamatory complaint.“

Self-interest was not an “ulterior motive” – it
was his primary motive. At all times,
Anderson’s primary goal was to generate
an accurate and reasonably supported
whistleblower submission, with a view to
having the best chance of receiving a
whistleblower award (which could amount
to substantially more than he earned from
his nominal short-selling). There is no
evidence that Anderson had any motive of
causing harm to Catalyst or Callidus;
indeed, his uncontradicted evidence is that
he had never even heard of Callidus before
his whistleblower research. See the
Supplementary Affidavit of Nathan
Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at paras
16, 21-22, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, pp.
586, 588-589.

289

“Anderson told Anson at a
barbeque about EROS, a
company that he ‘crushed’ and
‘beat up’, and undoubtedly told
Anson that Copeland was writing
a story about Callidus and
Catalyst.”

It is not “undoubtable” that Anderson told
Anson about Copeland writing an article
about Catalyst and Callidus. This
disregards Anderson’s evidence that he has
no recollection of what he actually
discussed with Anson at that barbecue.
Anderson’s evidence was simply that it was
“possible” he had mentioned that Copeland
was looking into Catalyst and Callidus. See
the Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held November 20, 2020,
pp. 230-231, q. 770-772.

290

“They negotiated compensation
or a ‘bonus’ payment to
Anderson for other opportunities
Anderson presented to Voorheis.
Anderson denies that the bonus
related specifically to Callidus.”
[Anderson Continued CXM, p.
349, q. 1128]

Anderson’s uncontradicted evidence was
simply that he and Voorheis discussed
research opportunities, and had
compensation arrangements for some such
opportunities, but that no such
arrangements existed in respect of Callidus.
See Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held April 28, 2021, pp.
348-349, q. 1124-1129.

305

“Anderson was tipped by
Copeland as to the timing of the
release of the WSJ Fraud Article
(even though he knew of a

As noted above, Copeland’s “tip” was not
accurate: the Wall Street Journal article was
not released until over a week later.
Anderson’s uncontradicted evidence is that
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‘conspiracy of short sellers’), and
immediately took a short position
in Callidus.”

he was never told when or whether an
article was actually going to come out: see
Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held November 20, 2020,
pp. 197-198, q. 634.
Further, this fails to acknowledge the
evidence that the “conspiracy of short
sellers” phrase was used facetiously,
consistent with the general tone of
Anderson’s communications with Copeland.
See the Supplementary Affidavit of Nathan
Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at para
16, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, p.
586.

305

“Minutes after the Article was
released, Anderson closed out
his entire short position and
secured a ‘quick hit’.”

This statement disregards Anderson’s
uncontradicted evidence of why he closed
out his short position when he did.
Anderson’s evidence is clear that he did not
know when the Wall Street Journal article
would be published (if ever), though he had
a sense of when an article could be coming
out solely based on the types of questions
Copeland had been asking him. Once the
article was released, Anderson closed out
his short position because he was
concerned that the stock had overreacted to
the Wall Street Journal article; he expected
that the share price would likely recover
once Callidus had released a response.
Anderson also specifically disagreed with
the use of the term “hit” to describe his
shorting. See the Transcript of the CrossExamination of Nathan Anderson held
November 20, 2020, pp. 196-200, q. 625643.

305

“Voorheis also shorted Callidus
and other targets of Anderson,
for which Anderson and Voorheis
unquestionably negotiated a
‘bonus’ payment.”

This is directly contradicted by Anderson’s
uncontradicted evidence that he “had no
compensation arrangement with [Voorheis]
relating to Callidus nor any bonus
opportunity relating to Callidus”, and more
generally, that he had no arrangement with
Voorheis related to shorting Callidus. See
Transcript of the Cross-Examination of
Nathan Anderson held April 28, 2021, pp.
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348-349, q. 1124-1129.
355

“In this case, Anderson acted
with an ‘indirect motive or ulterior
purpose’ that ‘conflicts with the
sense of duty or mutual interest
with the occasion created’.”

As noted above, self-interest was not an
“indirect motive or ulterior purpose” for
Anderson – it was his primary motive. At all
times, Anderson’s primary goal was to
generate an accurate and reasonably
supported whistleblower submission, with a
view to having the best chance of receiving
a whistleblower award (which could amount
to substantially more than he earned from
his nominal short-selling). There is no
evidence that Anderson had any motive of
causing harm to Catalyst or Callidus;
indeed, his uncontradicted evidence is that
he had never even heard of Callidus before
his whistleblower research. This is entirely
consistent with the interest created by the
occasion of his communication. See the
Supplementary Affidavit of Nathan
Anderson sworn August 20, 2020 at paras
16, 21-22, Supplementary Motion Record of
Anderson and ClaritySpring Inc., tab 3, pp.
586, 588-589.

359

“As set out above, in making and
disseminating these allegations
to the media, Anderson relied
and collaborated with parties who
either had an animus against
Catalyst and Callidus or who
were themselves well-known
short-sellers who would profit
from the publication of fraud
allegations. His purported
research was aimed to make and
disseminate fraud allegations to
the media for publication for
profit. His ‘research’ was not
impartial but rather the partial
activities of a professional short
seller and whistleblower.”

This contradicts Anderson’s uncontradicted
evidence that he did not “rely” on parties
like Langstaff, Levitt, Boland and Spears to
provide him information for the purposes of
his whistleblower complaint; they were
merely sources as part of his due diligence
and research. See the Transcript of the
Cross-Examination of Nathan Anderson
held November 20, 2020, pp. pp. 138-139,
q. 383.
This also ignores the evidence of the nature
of his sources. He did not only speak with
parties who were short-sellers or held an
animus against the Plaintiffs; he spoke with
a variety of past employees and investors of
the Plaintiffs, as well as industry sources
and company executives. See the
spreadsheet of Anderson’s contact
attempts, Brief of Transcripts and Answers
to Undertakings, tab 1B.

390

“Anderson and West Face also

The evidence of Juneja to which the
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fail to avert to the fact that
Callidus’s share price already
reflected the impact of factors
other than the WSJ Fraud Article,
before the ‘hit’ it took upon the
publication of the article. These
factors were taken into account
by Juneja when she assessed
that Callidus suffered a loss of
approximately C$144 to C$161
million solely as a result of the
WSJ Articles.”

Plaintiffs cite for this statement says nothing
about Juneja having accounted for factors
prior to the Wall Street Journal article in her
analysis. The line of questioning cited
instead relates to the impact of Callidus’
earnings release the day after the Wall
Street Journal article was published.
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